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PART 1—FINANCIAL INFORMATION

As used in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, STERIS plc and its consolidated subsidiaries together are called “STERIS,” the “Company,” “we,” “us,” or “our,” unless otherwise noted.

ITEM 1.    FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

STERIS PLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands)

 
June 30,


2024
March 31,


2024
  (Unaudited)  

Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 198,328  $ 207,020 
Accounts receivable (net of allowances of $23,681 and $22,984 respectively) 892,606  1,008,315 
Inventories, net 698,587  674,535 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 150,973  174,349 
Current assets held for sale —  804,904 

Total current assets 1,940,494  2,869,123 
Property, plant, and equipment, net 1,834,216  1,765,180 
Lease right-of-use assets, net 165,020  173,201 
Goodwill 4,056,754  4,070,712 
Intangibles, net 2,048,990  2,119,282 
Other assets 63,127  66,199 
Total assets $ 10,108,601  $ 11,063,697 

Liabilities and equity
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 231,720  $ 251,723 
Accrued income taxes 57,000  13,640 
Accrued payroll and other related liabilities 149,372  164,831 
Short-term lease obligations 29,705  31,239 
Short-term indebtedness 80,000  85,938 
Accrued expenses and other 286,563  319,744 
Current liabilities held for sale —  64,012 

Total current liabilities 834,360  931,127 
Long-term indebtedness 2,235,601  3,120,162 
Deferred income taxes, net 456,465  479,688 
Long-term lease obligations 139,362  145,828 
Other liabilities 72,368  71,546 
Total liabilities $ 3,738,156  $ 4,748,351 
Commitments and contingencies (see Note 10)
Ordinary shares, with $0.001 par value; 500,000 shares authorized; 98,799 and 98,883 ordinary shares issued and outstanding,
respectively 4,499,580  4,543,176 
Retained earnings 2,178,087  2,087,645 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (323,070) (328,657)
Total shareholders’ equity 6,354,597  6,302,164 
Noncontrolling interests 15,848  13,182 
Total equity 6,370,445  6,315,346 
Total liabilities and equity $ 10,108,601  $ 11,063,697 



See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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STERIS PLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

(Unaudited)
 

  Three Months Ended June 30,
  2024 2023
Revenues:

Product $ 656,293  $ 612,702 
Service 623,209  570,684 

Total revenues 1,279,502  1,183,386 
Cost of revenues:

Product 340,420  320,479 
Service 366,652  333,903 

Total cost of revenues 707,072  654,382 
Gross profit 572,430  529,004 
Operating expenses:

Selling, general, and administrative 335,626  306,530 
Research and development 25,573  24,694 
Restructuring expenses 25,700  19 

Total operating expenses 386,899  331,243 
Income from operations 185,531  197,761 
Non-operating expenses, net:

Interest expense 30,384  32,357 
Interest and miscellaneous income (1,309) (1,377)
Gain on sale of business (18,803) — 

Total non-operating expenses, net 10,272  30,980 
Income from continuing operations before income tax expense 175,259  166,781 
Income tax expense 35,310  36,200 
Income from continuing operations, net of income tax 139,949  130,581 
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of income tax 5,592  (6,791)
Net income 145,541  123,790 
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests 140  236 
Net income attributable to shareholders $ 145,401  $ 123,554 

Net income (loss) per share attributable to shareholders - Basic:
Continuing Operations $ 1.41  $ 1.32 
Discontinued Operations $ 0.06  $ (0.07)
Total $ 1.47  $ 1.25 

Net income (loss) per share attributable to shareholders - Diluted:
Continuing Operations $ 1.41  $ 1.31 
Discontinued Operations $ 0.06  $ (0.07)
Total $ 1.46  $ 1.25 

Cash dividends declared per share ordinary outstanding $ 0.52  $ 0.47 

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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STERIS PLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(in thousands)
(Unaudited)






Three Months Ended June 30,
2024 2023

Net income $ 145,541  $ 123,790 
  Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling
  interests 140  236 
Net income attributable to shareholders 145,401  123,554 

Other comprehensive income (loss)
Defined benefit plan changes (net of taxes of $(14) and $(17), respectively) (164) 58 
Change in cumulative foreign currency translation adjustment 5,751  9,793 
Total other comprehensive income 5,587  9,851 
Comprehensive income $ 150,988  $ 133,405 

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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STERIS PLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)
(Unaudited)

  Three Months Ended June 30,
  2024 2023
Operating activities:

Net income $ 145,541  $ 123,790 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation, depletion, and amortization 112,698  137,925 
Deferred income taxes (22,121) (445)
Share-based compensation expense 11,460  11,579 
Loss on the disposal of property, plant, equipment, and intangibles, net 2,151  93 
Gain on sale of businesses, net (10,960) — 
Other items (2,451) 1,995 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects of acquisitions:
Accounts receivable, net 107,683  42,446 
Inventories, net (34,134) (67,956)
Other current assets 9,438  14,355 
Accounts payable (17,122) (20,572)
Accruals and other, net 1,560  37,919 

Net cash provided by operating activities 303,743  281,129 
Investing activities:

Purchases of property, plant, equipment, and intangibles, net (108,083) (66,601)
Proceeds from the sale of property, plant, equipment, and intangibles —  5 
Proceeds from the sale of businesses 809,571  — 
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired (13,659) — 

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 687,829  (66,596)
Financing activities:

Payments on term loans (638,125) (15,000)
Payments under credit facilities, net (253,200) (144,651)
Acquisition related deferred or contingent consideration (87) (89)
Repurchases of ordinary shares (64,203) (8,724)
Cash dividends paid to ordinary shareholders (51,436) (46,427)
Contributions from noncontrolling interest holders 2,532  — 
Stock option and other equity transactions, net 5,587  1,254 

Net cash used in financing activities (998,932) (213,637)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (1,332) (639)
(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (8,692) 257 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 207,020  208,357 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 198,328  $ 208,614 

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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STERIS PLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

(Unaudited)



Three Months Ended June 30, 2024

Ordinary Shares
Retained


Earnings

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss

Non-controlling

Interest

Total

Equity

   Number Amount  
Balance at March 31, 2024 98,883  $ 4,543,176  $ 2,087,645  $ (328,657) $ 13,182  $ 6,315,346 
Comprehensive income:

Net income —  —  145,401  —  140  145,541 
Other comprehensive income —  —  —  5,587  —  5,587 

Repurchases of ordinary shares (322) (60,680) (3,523) —  —  (64,203)
Equity compensation programs and other 238  17,084  —  —  —  17,084 
Cash dividends - $0.52 per ordinary share —  —  (51,436) —  —  (51,436)
Contributions from noncontrolling interest holders —  —  —  —  2,532  2,532 
Other changes in noncontrolling interest holders —  —  —  —  (6) (6)

Balance at June 30, 2024 98,799  $ 4,499,580  $ 2,178,087  $ (323,070) $ 15,848  $ 6,370,445 








Three Months Ended June 30, 2023

Ordinary Shares
Retained


Earnings

Accumulated

Other


Comprehensive

Loss

Non-controlling

Interest

Total

Equity

   Number Amount  
Balance at March 31, 2023 98,629  $ 4,486,375  $ 1,911,533  $ (320,710) $ 9,974  $ 6,087,172 
Comprehensive income:

Net income —  —  123,554  —  236  123,790 
Other comprehensive income —  —  —  9,851  —  9,851 

Repurchases of ordinary shares (52) (997) (7,727) —  —  (8,724)
Equity compensation programs and other 204  12,834  —  —  —  12,834 
Cash dividends – $0.47 per ordinary share —  —  (46,427) —  —  (46,427)
Other changes in noncontrolling interest —  —  —  —  (124) (124)

Balance at June 30, 2023 98,781  $ 4,498,212  $ 1,980,933  $ (310,859) $ 10,086  $ 6,178,372 






See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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STERIS PLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)
For the Three Months Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

(dollars in thousands, except as noted)

1. Nature of Operations and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

STERIS is a leading global provider of products and services that support patient care with an emphasis on infection prevention. WE HELP OUR CUSTOMERS CREATE A HEALTHIER AND
SAFER WORLD by providing innovative healthcare and life science products and services around the globe. We offer our Customers a unique mix of innovative products and services. These
include: consumable products, such as detergents, endoscopy accessories, barrier products, instruments and tools; services, including equipment installation and maintenance, microbial reduction of
medical devices, instrument and scope repair, laboratory testing, and outsourced reprocessing; capital equipment, such as sterilizers, surgical tables, and automated endoscope reprocessors; and
connectivity solutions such as operating room (“OR”) integration.

We operate and report our financial information in three reportable business segments: Healthcare, Applied Sterilization Technologies ("AST"), and Life Sciences. Previously, we had four
reportable business segments, however, as a result of the divestiture of our Dental segment, Dental is presented as discontinued operations. Historical information has been retrospectively adjusted to
reflect these changes for comparability purposes, as required. We describe our business segments in Note 11 titled "Business Segment Information."

Our fiscal year ends on March 31. References in this Quarterly Report to a particular “year” or “year-end” mean our fiscal year. The significant accounting policies applied in preparing the
accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Company are summarized below:

Interim Financial Statements

We prepared the accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements of the Company according to accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“U.S. GAAP”) for interim
financial information and the instructions to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and Rule 10-01 of Regulation S-X. This means that they do not include all of the information and footnotes required
by U.S. GAAP for complete financial statements. Our unaudited interim consolidated financial statements contain all material adjustments (including normal recurring accruals and adjustments)
management believes are necessary to fairly state our financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows for the periods presented.

These interim consolidated financial statements should be read together with the consolidated financial statements and related notes included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended March 31, 2024, which was filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") on May 29, 2024. The Consolidated Balance Sheet at March 31, 2024 was derived from the audited
consolidated financial statements at that date but does not include all of the information and footnotes required by U.S. GAAP for complete financial statements.

Principles of Consolidation

We use the consolidation method to report our investment in our subsidiaries. Therefore, the accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-
owned and majority-owned subsidiaries. We eliminate intercompany accounts and transactions when we consolidate these accounts. Investments in equity of unconsolidated affiliates, over which the
Company has significant influence, but not control, over the financial and operating polices, are accounted for primarily using the equity method. These investments are immaterial to the Company's
consolidated financial statements.
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STERIS PLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)—(Continued)
For the Three Months Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

(dollars in thousands, except as noted)

Discontinued Operations

On April 11, 2024, the Company announced its plan to sell substantially all of the net assets of its Dental segment for total cash consideration of $787,500, subject to customary adjustments, and
up to an additional $12,500 in contingent payment should the Dental business achieve certain revenue targets in fiscal 2025. The transaction was structured as an equity sale and closed on May 31,
2024. A component of an entity is reported in discontinued operations after meeting the criteria for held for sale classification if the disposition represents a strategic shift that has (or will have) a
major effect on the entity's operations and financial results. We analyzed the quantitative and qualitative factors relevant to the divestiture of our Dental segment and determined that those conditions
for discontinued operations presentation had been met prior to March 31, 2024. The Dental segment results of operations were reclassified to income (loss) from discontinued operations in the
Consolidated Statements of Income for all periods presented, and we classified the Dental segment's assets and liabilities as held for sale for the year ended March 31, 2024 in the accompanying
Consolidated Balance Sheets. Due to the transaction closing in the first quarter of fiscal 2025, the held for sale assets and liabilities were classified as current as of March 31, 2024. Our Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows include the financial results of the Dental segment for all periods presented. For additional information regarding this transaction and its effect on our financial reporting,
refer to Note 4 titled, "Discontinued Operations" and Note 11 titled, "Business Segment Information."

Use of Estimates

We make certain estimates and assumptions when preparing financial statements according to U.S. GAAP that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the financial statement dates
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the periods presented. These estimates and assumptions involve judgments with respect to many factors that are difficult to predict and are
beyond our control. Actual results could be materially different from these estimates. We revise the estimates and assumptions as new information becomes available. This means that operating
results for the three month period ended June 30, 2024 are not necessarily indicative of results that may be expected for future quarters or for the full fiscal year ending March 31, 2025.

Revenue Recognition and Associated Liabilities

Revenue is recognized when obligations under the terms of the contract are satisfied and control of the promised products or services have transferred to the Customer. Revenues are measured at
the amount of consideration that we expect to be paid in exchange for the products or services. Product revenue is recognized when control passes to the Customer, which is generally based on
contract or shipping terms. Service revenue is recognized when the Customer benefits from the service, which occurs either upon completion of the service or as it is provided to the Customer. Our
Customers include end users as well as dealers and distributors who market and sell our products. Our revenue is not contingent upon resale by the dealer or distributor, and we have no further
obligations related to bringing about resale. Our standard return and restocking fee policies are applied to sales of products. Shipping and handling costs charged to Customers are included in Product
revenues. The associated expenses are treated as fulfillment costs and are included in Cost of revenues. Revenues are reported net of sales and value-added taxes collected from Customers.

We have individual Customer contracts that offer discounted pricing. Dealers and distributors may be offered sales incentives in the form of rebates. We reduce revenue for discounts and
estimated returns, rebates, and other similar allowances in the same period the related revenues are recorded. The reduction in revenue for these items is estimated based on historical experience and
trend analysis to the extent that it is probable that a significant reversal of revenue will not occur. Estimated returns are recorded gross on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

In transactions that contain multiple performance obligations, such as when products, maintenance services, and other services are combined, we recognize revenue as each product is delivered
or service is provided to the Customer. We allocate the total arrangement consideration to each performance obligation based on its relative standalone selling price, which is the price for the product
or service when it is sold separately.

Payment terms vary by the type and location of the Customer and the products or services offered. Generally, the time between when revenue is recognized and when payment is due is not
significant. We do not evaluate whether the selling price contains a financing component for contracts that have a duration of less than one year.

We do not capitalize sales commissions as substantially all of our sales commission programs have an amortization period of one year or less.
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STERIS PLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)—(Continued)
For the Three Months Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

(dollars in thousands, except as noted)

Certain costs to fulfill a contract are capitalized and amortized over the term of the contract if they are recoverable, directly related to a contract and generate resources that we will use to fulfill
the contract in the future. At June 30, 2024, assets related to costs to fulfill a contract were not material to our consolidated financial statements.

Refer to Note 11 titled, "Business Segment Information" for disaggregation of revenue.

Product Revenues

Product revenues consist of revenues generated from sales of consumables and capital equipment. These contracts are primarily based on a Customer’s purchase order and may include a
Distributor, Dealer or Group Purchasing Organization ("GPO") agreement. We recognize revenue for sales of products when control passes to the Customer, which generally occurs either when the
products are shipped or when they are received by the Customer. Revenue related to capital equipment products is deferred until installation is complete if the capital equipment and installation are
highly integrated and form a single performance obligation.

Service Revenues

Within our Healthcare and Life Sciences segments, service revenues include revenue generated from parts and labor associated with the maintenance, repair and installation of capital equipment.
These contracts are primarily based on a Customer’s purchase order and may include a Distributor, Dealer, or GPO agreement. For maintenance, repair and installation of capital equipment, revenue
is recognized upon completion of the service. Healthcare service revenues also include outsourced reprocessing services and instrument repairs. Contracts for outsourced reprocessing services are
primarily based on an agreement with a Customer, ranging in length from several months to 15 years. Outsourced reprocessing services revenue is recognized ratably over the contract term using a
time-based input measure, adjusted for volume and other performance metrics, to the extent that it is probable that a significant reversal of revenue will not occur. Contracts for instrument repairs are
primarily based on a Customer’s purchase order, and the associated revenue is recognized upon completion of the repair.

We also offer preventive maintenance and separately priced extended warranty agreements to our Customers, which require us to maintain and repair products over the duration of the contract.
Generally, these contract terms are cancellable without penalty and range from one to five years. Amounts received under these Customer contracts are initially recorded as a service liability and are
recognized as service revenue ratably over the contract term using a time-based input measure.

Within our AST segment, service revenues include contract sterilization and laboratory services. Sales contracts for contract sterilization and laboratory services are primarily based on a
Customer’s purchase order and associated Customer agreement, and revenues are generally recognized upon completion of the service.

Contract Liabilities

Payments received from Customers are based on invoices or billing schedules as established in contracts with Customers. Deferred revenue is recorded when payment is received in advance of
performance under the contract. Deferred revenue is recognized as revenue upon completion of the performance obligation, which generally occurs within one year. During the first three months of
fiscal 2025, $45,996 of the March 31, 2024 deferred revenue balance was recorded as revenue. During the first three months of fiscal 2024, $42,300 of the March 31, 2023 deferred revenue balance
was recorded as revenue.

Refer to Note 8 titled, "Additional Consolidated Balance Sheet Information" for deferred revenue balances.

Service Liabilities

Payments received in advance of performance for cancellable preventive maintenance and separately priced extended warranty contracts are recorded as service liabilities. Service liabilities are
recognized as revenue as performance is rendered under the contract.

Refer to Note 8 titled, "Additional Consolidated Balance Sheet Information" for service liability balances.

Remaining Performance Obligations

Remaining performance obligations reflect only the performance obligations related to agreements for which we have a firm commitment from a Customer to purchase, and exclude variable
consideration related to unsatisfied performance obligations. With regard to products, these remaining performance obligations include orders for capital equipment and consumables where control of
the products has not passed to the customer. With regard to service, these remaining performance obligations primarily include installation, certification, and outsourced reprocessing services. As of
June 30, 2024, the transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations was approximately $1,499,543. We expect to recognize
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STERIS PLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)—(Continued)
For the Three Months Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

(dollars in thousands, except as noted)

approximately 53% of the transaction price within one year and approximately 38% beyond one year. The remainder has yet to be scheduled for delivery.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards Impacting the Company

Recently Issued Accounting Standards Impacting the Company are presented in the following table:

Standard Date of Issuance Description
Date of

Adoption
Effect on the financial statements or other

significant matters
Standards that have not yet been adopted

ASU 2023-07 "Segment
Reporting (Topic 280)


Improvements to Reportable
Segment Disclosures."

November 2023 The standard provides guidance to enhance disclosures related to reportable
segment expenses, including requirements to disclose significant segment
expenses that are regularly provided to the Chief Operating Decision Maker
("CODM"), the title and position of the CODM and a description of how the
CODM uses the information to make decisions regarding the allocation of
resources. The standard also requires disclosure of certain segment
information currently required annually to be reported on an interim basis.
The amendments in this standard are effective for annual periods beginning
after December 15, 2023 and interim periods within fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2024.

NA We are currently assessing the impact of this
standard update on our disclosures in the notes
to the consolidated financial statements.

ASU 2023-09 "Income Taxes
(Topic 740) Improvements to
Income Tax Disclosures."

December 2023 The standard provides guidance to enhance disclosures related to income
taxes paid (net of refunds), requiring disaggregation by federal, state, and
foreign, and disclosure of income taxes paid (net of refunds received) by
individual jurisdictions that represent greater than 5% of the total. The
standard also requires disclosure of income (loss) from continuing
operations before income taxes, disaggregated between domestic and
foreign, and income tax expense (or benefit) disaggregated by federal, state,
and foreign. Finally, the standard removes the requirement for certain
disclosures related to changes in unrecognized tax benefits and certain
amounts of temporary differences. The amendments in this standard are
effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2024.

NA We are currently assessing the impact of this
standard update on our disclosures in the notes
to the consolidated financial statements.

A detailed description of our significant and critical accounting policies, estimates, and assumptions is included in our consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended March 31, 2024, which was filed with the SEC on May 29, 2024. Our significant and critical accounting policies, estimates, and assumptions have not changed materially
from March 31, 2024.
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STERIS PLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)—(Continued)
For the Three Months Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

(dollars in thousands, except as noted)

2. Restructuring

In May 2024, we adopted and announced a targeted restructuring plan (the "Restructuring Plan"). This plan includes a strategic shift in our approach to the Healthcare surgical business in Europe,
as well as other actions including the impairment of an internally developed X-ray accelerator, product rationalizations and facility consolidations. Fewer than 300 positions are being eliminated.
These restructuring actions are designed to enhance profitability and improve efficiency, and we expect these actions to be substantially complete by the end of fiscal 2025.

The following tables summarize our total pre-tax restructuring expenses recorded in fiscal 2025 related to the Restructuring Plan:

Three Months Ended June 30, 2024 Restructuring Plan
Severance and other compensation related costs $ 21,480 
Lease and other contract termination costs 2,970 
Product rationalization 2,382 
Accelerated depreciation and amortization 1,250 
Total Restructuring Expense $ 28,082 

(1) Recorded in Cost of revenues on the Consolidated Statements of Income.

The Restructuring Plan expenses incurred during the three months ended June 30, 2024 primarily related to actions taken within our Healthcare segment. Total pre-tax restructuring expense of
$72,472 has been recorded relating to the Restructuring Plan since inception, of which $20,702 has been recorded in Cost of revenues. We expect to incur additional costs through the remainder of
fiscal 2025 for severance and other compensation related costs and lease and other contract termination and other costs, of approximately $28,000.

Liabilities related to restructuring activities are recorded as current liabilities in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets within "Accrued payroll and other related liabilities" and
"Accrued expenses and other." The following table summarizes our restructuring liability balances:

Restructuring Plan
Balance at March 31, 2024 $ 678 
Fiscal 2025 Charges 24,450 
Payments (3,753)
Balance at June 30, 2024 $ 21,375 

(1)

12



Table of Contents
STERIS PLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)—(Continued)
For the Three Months Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

(dollars in thousands, except as noted)

3. Business Acquisitions and Divestitures

Acquisitions

During the first three months of fiscal 2025, we completed several tuck-in acquisitions, which continued to expand our product and service offerings in the Healthcare and AST segments. Total
aggregate consideration was approximately $13,659.

On June 20, 2023, we entered into a definitive agreement to purchase the surgical instrumentation, laparoscopic instrumentation and sterilization container assets from Becton, Dickinson and
Company (NYSE: BDX) ("BD"). The transaction was completed on August 2, 2023, and the acquired assets from BD were integrated into our Healthcare segment.

The purchase price of the BD acquisition was $539,758. The acquisition also qualified for a tax benefit related to tax deductible goodwill, with a present value of approximately $60,000. The
purchase price of the acquisition was financed with borrowings from our existing Revolving Credit Facility. For more information, refer to Note 7 titled, "Debt."

The table below summarizes the allocation of the purchase price to the net assets acquired from BD based on fair values at the acquisition date.

September 30, 2023 

(As Previously Reported) Adjustments Final

Inventory 27,006  4,821  31,827 
Property, plant, and equipment 6,755  1,109  7,864 
Lease right-of-use assets, net —  1,737  1,737 
Intangible assets 303,598  (598) 303,000 
Goodwill 202,399  (5,332) 197,067 
Total assets acquired 539,758  1,737  541,495 
Lease obligations —  1,737  1,737 
Total liabilities assumed —  1,737  1,737 
Net assets acquired $ 539,758  $ —  $ 539,758 

 Includes estimated fair values of $238,000 for Customer relationships (13 years estimated useful life), $50,000 for Patents and technology (13 years estimated useful life), and $15,000 for Trademarks and tradenames
(15 years estimated useful life) as of June 30, 2024.

 No additional adjustments made during the first three months of fiscal 2025.

Acquisition and integration expenses totaled $2,254 and $2,237 for the three months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Acquisition and integration expenses are reported in the Selling,
general and administrative expenses line of our Consolidated Statements of Income and include, but are not limited to, investment banker, advisory, legal and other professional fees, and certain
employee-related expenses.

Divestitures

On April 11, 2024, the Company announced its plan to sell its Dental segment for total cash consideration of $787,500, subject to customary adjustments, and up to an additional $12,500 in
contingent payment should the Dental business achieve certain revenue targets in fiscal 2025. The transaction was structured as an equity sale and closed on May 31, 2024. The disposal of the Dental
segment met the criteria to be presented as a discontinued operation. For more information refer to Note 4 titled "Discontinued Operations."

On April 1, 2024, we completed the sale of the Controlled Environment Certification Services business. We recorded net proceeds of $41,546 and recognized a pre-tax gain on the sale of $18,803
in the first quarter of fiscal 2025. The business generated approximately $35,000 in revenues in fiscal 2024.

(2)

(1)

(1)

(2)
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4. Discontinued Operations

On April 11, 2024, the Company announced its plan to sell substantially all of the net assets of its Dental segment for total cash consideration of $787,500, subject to customary adjustments, and
up to an additional $12,500 in contingent payment should the Dental business achieve certain revenue targets in fiscal 2025. The transaction was structured as an equity sale and closed on May 31,
2024. A component of an entity is reported in discontinued operations after meeting the criteria for held for sale classification if the disposition represents a strategic shift that has (or will have) a
major effect on the entity's operations and financial results. We analyzed the quantitative and qualitative factors relevant to the divestiture of our Dental segment and determined that those conditions
for discontinued operations presentation had been met prior to March 31, 2024. The Dental segment results of operations were reclassified to income (loss) from discontinued operations in the
Consolidated Statements of Income for all periods presented, and we classified the Dental segment's assets and liabilities as held for sale as of March 31, 2024 in the accompanying Consolidated
Balance Sheets. Due to the transaction closing in the first quarter of fiscal 2025, the held for sale assets and liabilities were classified as current as of March 31, 2024. Our Consolidated Statements of
Cash Flows include the financial results of the Dental segment for all periods presented. A majority of the proceeds received from the sale were utilized to pay off existing debt.

The following table summarizes the major classes of assets and liabilities of the Dental business segment that were classified as held for sale in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of March 31,
2024:

 
March 31,


2024
   

Assets
Assets held-for-sale:

Accounts receivable, net $ 48,590 
Inventories, net 89,345 
Property, plant, and equipment, net 73,395 
Lease right-of-use assets, net 22,822 
Intangibles, net 770,731 
Prepaid expenses and other assets 2,953 
Loss accrued on classification as held for sale (202,932)

Total assets held-for-sale $ 804,904 
Liabilities

Liabilities held-for-sale:
Accounts payable $ 10,580 
Accrued income taxes 433 
Accrued payroll and other related liabilities 13,683 
Lease obligations 23,722 
Accrued expenses and other 15,594 

Total liabilities held-for-sale $ 64,012 
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The following table summarizes the major line items constituting pre-tax income of discontinued operations associated with the Dental segment for the three months ending June 30, 2024 and
2023:

  Three Months Ended June 30,
  2024 2023
Revenues:

Product $ 63,936  $ 101,156 
Cost of revenues:

Product 35,146  56,699 
Gross profit: 28,790  44,457 
Operating expenses:

Selling, general, and administrative 13,466  52,528 
Research and development 369  808 

Income (loss) from operations 14,955  (8,879)
Non-operating expenses (income), net 1  (12)
Pre-tax loss on sale (7,843) — 
Income (loss) before income tax expense 7,111  (8,867)

Income tax expense (benefit) 1,519  (2,076)
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of income tax 5,592  (6,791)

 Income from operations for the three month period ended June 30, 2024 includes two months of operating results prior to the transaction close on May 31, 2024 and excludes depreciation and amortization of property,
plant, equipment, and intangible assets subsequent to the held for sale classification as of March 2, 2024.

The effective income tax rates for the three month periods ending June 30, 2024 and 2023 from discontinued operations were 21.4% and 23.4%, respectively.

Significant non-cash operating items and capital expenditures related to discontinued operations are reflected in the statement of cash flows as follows:

  Three Months Ended June 30,
  2024 2023
Operating activities of discontinued operations:

Depreciation, depletion, and amortization $ —  $ 30,744 
Investing activities of discontinued operations:

Purchases of property, plant, equipment, and intangibles, net $ (433) $ (2,129)

5. Inventories, Net

Inventories are stated at the lower of their cost and net realizable value determined by the first-in, first-out (“FIFO”) cost method. Inventory costs include material, labor, and overhead.
Inventories, net consisted of the following:

 
June 30,


2024
March 31,


2024

Raw materials $ 257,023  $ 245,942 
Work in process 111,297  98,304 
Finished goods 372,330  374,182 
Reserve for excess and obsolete inventory (42,063) (43,893)
Inventories, net $ 698,587  $ 674,535 

(1)

(1)
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6. Property, Plant, and Equipment

Information related to the major categories of our depreciable assets is as follows:

 
June 30,


2024
March 31,


2024
Land and land improvements $ 99,000  $ 90,134 
Buildings and leasehold improvements 755,596  724,492 
Machinery and equipment 1,105,315  1,075,082 
Information systems 256,637  256,671 
Radioisotope 700,397  692,642 
Construction in progress 522,825  500,106 
Total property, plant, and equipment 3,439,770  3,339,127 
Less: accumulated depreciation and depletion (1,605,554) (1,573,947)
Property, plant, and equipment, net $ 1,834,216  $ 1,765,180 

Land is not depreciated. Construction in progress is not depreciated until placed in service.

7. Debt

Indebtedness was as follows:

 
June 30,


2024
March 31,


2024

Short-term debt
Term loan, current portion $ —  $ 41,250 
Delayed draw term loan, current portion —  44,688 
Private Placement Senior Notes 80,000  — 

Total short-term debt $ 80,000  $ 85,938 

Long-term debt
Private Placement Senior Notes $ 670,751  $ 751,433 
Revolving Credit Facility 231,278  484,529 
Deferred financing costs (16,428) (17,988)
Term loan —  3,750 
Delayed draw term loan —  548,438 
Senior Public Notes 1,350,000  1,350,000 

Total long-term debt $ 2,235,601  $ 3,120,162 
Total debt $ 2,315,601  $ 3,206,100 

Additional information regarding our indebtedness is included in the notes to our consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31,
2024, which was filed with the SEC on May 29, 2024.

(1)

(1)

(1)
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8. Additional Consolidated Balance Sheet Information

Additional information related to our Consolidated Balance Sheets is as follows:

 
June 30,


2024
March 31,


2024
Accrued payroll and other related liabilities:

Compensation and related items $ 85,059  $ 48,152 
Accrued vacation/paid time off 17,078  16,140 
Accrued bonuses 28,484  61,669 
Accrued employee commissions 15,666  35,980 
Other postretirement benefit obligations-current portion 994  994 
Other employee benefit plans obligations-current portion 2,091  1,896 

Total accrued payroll and other related liabilities $ 149,372  $ 164,831 
Accrued expenses and other:

Deferred revenues $ 69,323  $ 70,460 
Service liabilities 94,301  92,590 
Self-insured risk reserves-current portion 17,431  13,303 
Accrued dealer commissions 32,934  33,277 
Accrued warranty 14,570  15,388 
Asset retirement obligation-current portion 507  510 
Accrued interest 18,007  11,109 
Other 39,490  83,107 

Total accrued expenses and other $ 286,563  $ 319,744 
Other liabilities:

Self-insured risk reserves-long-term portion $ 21,647  $ 21,646 
Other postretirement benefit obligations-long-term portion 5,428  5,159 
Defined benefit pension plans obligations-long-term portion 3,024  2,727 
Other employee benefit plans obligations-long-term portion 1,314  1,321 
Accrued long-term income taxes 6,427  6,508 
Asset retirement obligation-long-term portion 13,249  13,148 
Other 21,279  21,037 

Total other liabilities $ 72,368  $ 71,546 

9. Income Taxes

Our effective tax rate is affected by (i) the tax rates in Ireland (our country of domicile), the United States, and other jurisdictions in which we operate, and (ii) the relative amount of income
before income taxes by geography.

The effective income tax rates for the three month periods ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 from continuing operations were 20.1% and 21.7%, respectively. The fiscal 2025 effective tax rate
decreased when compared to fiscal 2024, primarily due to changes in geographic mix of projected profits and an increase in favorable discrete items.

Income tax expense is provided on an interim basis based upon our estimate of the annual effective income tax rate, adjusted each quarter for discrete items. In determining the estimated annual
effective income tax rate, we analyze various factors, including projections of our annual earnings and taxing jurisdictions in which the earnings will be generated, the impact of state and local
income taxes, our ability to use tax credits and net operating loss carry forwards, and available tax planning alternatives.

We operate in numerous taxing jurisdictions and are subject to regular examinations by various United States federal, state and local, as well as foreign jurisdictions. We are no longer subject to
United States federal examinations for years before fiscal 2018 and, with limited exceptions, we are no longer subject to United States state and local, or non-United States, income tax
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examinations by tax authorities for years before fiscal 2018. We remain subject to tax authority audits in various jurisdictions wherever we do business.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2021, we completed an appeals process with the U.S. Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”) regarding proposed audit adjustments related to deductibility of interest
paid on intercompany debt for fiscal years 2016 through 2017. An agreement was reached on final interest rates, which also impacted subsequent years through 2020. The total federal, state, and local
tax impact of the settlement including interest is approximately $12,000 for the fiscal years 2016 through 2020, materially all of which has been paid through June 30, 2024.

In November 2023, we received two Notices of Deficiency from the IRS regarding the previously disclosed deemed dividend inclusions and associated withholding tax matter. The notices relate
to the fiscal and calendar year 2018. The IRS adjustments would result in a cumulative tax liability of approximately $50,000. We are contesting the IRS’s assertions and have filed petitions with the
U.S. Tax Court. We have not established reserves related to these notices. An unfavorable outcome is not expected to have a material adverse impact on our consolidated financial position but could
be material to our consolidated results of operations and cash flows for any one period.

10. Commitments and Contingencies

We are, and will likely continue to be, involved in a number of legal proceedings, government investigations, and claims, which we believe generally arise in the course of our business, given our
size, history, complexity, and the nature of our business, products, Customers, regulatory environment, and industries in which we participate. These legal proceedings, investigations and claims
generally involve a variety of legal theories and allegations, including, without limitation, personal injury (e.g., slip and falls, burns, vehicle accidents), product liability or regulation (e.g., based on
product operation or claimed malfunction, failure to warn, failure to meet specification, or failure to comply with regulatory requirements), product exposure (e.g., claimed exposure to chemicals,
gases, asbestos, contaminants, radiation), property damage (e.g., claimed damage due to leaking equipment, fire, vehicles, chemicals), commercial claims (e.g., breach of contract, economic loss,
warranty, misrepresentation), financial (e.g., taxes, reporting), employment (e.g., wrongful termination, discrimination, benefits matters), and other claims for damage and relief.

We believe we have adequately reserved for our current litigation and claims that are probable and estimable, and further believe that the ultimate outcome of these pending lawsuits and claims
will not have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position or results of operations taken as a whole. Due to their inherent uncertainty, however, there can be no assurance of the
ultimate outcome or effect of current or future litigation, investigations, claims or other proceedings (including without limitation the matters discussed below). For certain types of claims, we
presently maintain insurance coverage for personal injury and property damage and other liability coverages in amounts and with deductibles that we believe are prudent, but there can be no
assurance that these coverages will be applicable or adequate to cover adverse outcomes of claims or legal proceedings against us.

Civil, criminal, regulatory or other proceedings involving our products or services could possibly result in judgments, settlements or administrative or judicial decrees requiring us, among other
actions, to pay damages or fines or effect recalls, or be subject to other governmental, Customer or other third party claims or remedies, which could materially affect our business, performance,
prospects, value, financial condition, and results of operations.

For additional information regarding these matters, see the following portions of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2024, which was filed with the SEC on May 29,
2024, Item 1 titled "Business - Information with respect to our Business in General - Government Regulation" and the "Risk Factors" in Item 1A titled "Product and service related regulations and
claims."

From time to time, STERIS is also involved in legal proceedings as a plaintiff involving contract, patent protection, and other claims asserted by us. Gains, if any, from these proceedings are
recognized when they are realized.

We are subject to taxation from United States federal, state and local, and foreign jurisdictions. Tax positions are settled primarily through the completion of audits within each individual
jurisdiction or the closing of statutes of limitation. Changes in applicable tax law or other events may also require us to revise past estimates. We describe income taxes further in Note 9 to our
consolidated financial statements titled, “Income Taxes” in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
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11. Business Segment Information

We operate and report our financial information in three reportable business segments: Healthcare, AST, and Life Sciences. Previously, we had four reportable business segments, however, as a
result of the divestiture of our Dental segment, Dental is presented as discontinued operations. Historical information has been retrospectively adjusted to reflect these changes for comparability, as
required. For more information, refer to Note 4 titled, "Discontinued Operations." Non-allocated operating costs that support the entire Company and items not indicative of operating trends are
excluded from segment operating income.

Our Healthcare segment provides a comprehensive offering for healthcare providers worldwide, focused on sterile processing departments and procedural centers, such as operating rooms and
endoscopy suites. Our products and services range from infection prevention consumables and capital equipment, as well as services to maintain that equipment; to the repair of re-usable procedural
instruments; to outsourced instrument reprocessing services. In addition, our procedural solutions also include endoscopy accessories, instruments, and capital equipment infrastructure used primarily
in operating rooms, ambulatory surgery centers, endoscopy suites, and other procedural areas.

Our AST segment supports medical device and pharmaceutical manufacturers through a global network of contract sterilization and laboratory testing facilities, and integrated sterilization
equipment and control systems. Our technology-neutral offering supports Customers every step of the way, from testing through sterilization.

Our Life Sciences segment provides a comprehensive offering of products and services designed to support biopharmaceutical and medical device research and manufacturing facilities, in
particular those focused on aseptic manufacturing. Our portfolio includes a full suite of capital equipment, consumable products, equipment maintenance and specialty services.

We disclose a measure of segment income that is consistent with the way management operates and views the business. The accounting policies for reportable segments are the same as those for
the consolidated Company.

For the three months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, revenues from a single Customer did not represent ten percent or more of the Healthcare, AST or Life Sciences segment revenues.

Additional information regarding our segments is included in our consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2024, which was
filed with the SEC on May 29, 2024.
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Financial information for each of our segments is presented in the following table:

  Three Months Ended June 30,
  2024 2023
Revenues:

Healthcare $ 901,221  $ 818,874 
AST 249,803  233,099 
Life Sciences 128,478  131,413 

Total revenues $ 1,279,502  $ 1,183,386 
Operating income (loss):

Healthcare $ 216,887  $ 198,182 
AST 117,714  109,590 
Life Sciences 52,584  49,841 
Corporate (101,748) (91,873)

Total operating income $ 285,437  $ 265,740 
Less: Adjustments

Amortization of acquired intangible assets $ 67,661  $ 64,092 
Acquisition and integration related charges 2,254  2,237 
Tax restructuring costs 518  9 
Amortization of inventory and property "step up" to fair value 1,391  1,622 
Restructuring charges 28,082  19 

Income from operations $ 185,531  $ 197,761 

 For more information regarding our recent acquisitions and divestitures, refer to Note 3 titled, "Business Acquisitions and Divestitures."
 Acquisition and integration related charges include transaction costs and integration expenses associated with acquisitions.
 Costs incurred in tax restructuring.
 For more information regarding our restructuring efforts, refer to Note 2 titled, "Restructuring."

 (1)

(2)

(3)

(1)

(4)

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)
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Additional information regarding our fiscal 2025 and fiscal 2024 revenue is disclosed in the following tables:

  Three Months Ended June 30,
  2024 2023
Healthcare:

Capital equipment $ 214,639  $ 238,099 
Consumables 343,354  280,281
Service 343,228  300,494 

Total Healthcare Revenues $ 901,221  $ 818,874 
AST:

Capital equipment $ 1,088  $ 874 
Service 248,715  232,225 

Total AST Revenues $ 249,803  $ 233,099 
Life Sciences:

Capital equipment $ 26,476  $ 30,991 
Consumables 69,818  61,698 
Service 32,184  38,724 

Total Life Sciences Revenues $ 128,478  $ 131,413 
Total Revenues $ 1,279,502  $ 1,183,386 

Three Months Ended June 30,
2024 2023

Revenues:
Ireland $ 22,194  $ 20,036 
United States 946,890  855,788 
Other locations 310,418  307,562 

Total Revenues $ 1,279,502  $ 1,183,386 

12. Shares and Preferred Shares

Ordinary shares

We calculate basic earnings per share based upon the weighted average number of shares outstanding. We calculate diluted earnings per share based upon the weighted average number of shares
outstanding plus the dilutive effect of share equivalents calculated using the treasury stock method. Income from continuing operations is used as the benchmark to determine whether share
equivalents are dilutive or anti-dilutive. Earnings per share is calculated independently for earnings per share from continuing operations and earnings per share from discontinued operations. The
sum of earnings per share from continuing operations and earnings per share from discontinued operations may not equal total company earnings per share due to rounding.

The following is a summary of shares and share equivalents outstanding used in the calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share:

  Three Months Ended June 30,
Denominator (shares in thousands): 2024 2023
Weighted average shares outstanding—basic 98,869  98,708 
Dilutive effect of share equivalents 507  531 
Weighted average shares outstanding and share equivalents—diluted 99,376  99,239 
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Options to purchase the following number of shares were outstanding but excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share because the combined exercise prices, unamortized fair
values, and assumed tax benefits upon exercise were greater than the average market price for the shares during the periods, so including these options would be anti-dilutive:

  Three Months Ended June 30,
(shares in thousands) 2024 2023
Number of share options 665  668 

Additional Authorized Shares

 The Company has an additional authorized share capital of 50,000,000 preferred shares of $0.001 par value each, plus 25,000 deferred ordinary shares of €1.00 par value each, in order to satisfy
minimum statutory capital requirements for all Irish public limited companies.

13. Repurchases of Ordinary Shares

On May 3, 2023 our Board of Directors terminated the previous share repurchase program and authorized a new share repurchase program for the purchase of up to $500,000 (net of taxes, fees
and commissions). As of June 30, 2024, there was $443,876 (net of taxes, fees and commissions) of remaining availability under the Board authorized share repurchase program. The share repurchase
program has no specified expiration date.

Under the repurchase program, the Company may repurchase its shares from time to time through open market purchases, including 10b5-1 plans. Any share repurchases may be activated,
suspended or discontinued at any time.

During the first three months of fiscal 2025, we repurchased 251,507 of our ordinary shares for the aggregate amount of $56,124 (net of fees and commissions) pursuant to authorizations, under
the share repurchase program. During the first three months of fiscal 2024, we had no share repurchase activity.

During the first three months of fiscal 2025, we obtained 69,780 of our ordinary shares in the aggregate amount of $10,256 in connection with share-based compensation award programs. During
the first three months of fiscal 2024, we obtained 51,494 of our ordinary shares in the aggregate amount of $8,724 in connection with share-based compensation award programs.

14. Share-Based Compensation

We maintain a long-term incentive plan that makes available shares for grants, at the discretion of the Board of Directors or Compensation and Organizational Development Committee of the
Board of Directors, to officers, directors, and key employees in the form of stock options, restricted shares, restricted share units, stock appreciation rights and share grants. We satisfy share award
incentives through the issuance of new ordinary shares.

Stock option awards to employees generally vest and become nonforfeitable in increments of 25% per year over a four-year period, with full vesting four years after the date of grant. Historically,
restricted stock awards to employee recipients generally cliff vested on the fourth anniversary of the grant date if the recipient remained in continuous employment through that date. Beginning with
fiscal 2024 grants, Company restricted stock (and restricted stock units) generally cliff vest over a three year period after the grant date. However, employees who are grantees of restricted stock and
have attained age 55 and been employed for at least five years at the time of the grant or meet these criteria during the term of the grant and are employed in the U.S. or in a few other foreign
jurisdictions, or employees who have 25 years of service at the time of grant or meet that criterion during the term of the grant, will be subject to installment vesting rules over the applicable vesting
period. Awards to certain employees in the U.S. or a few other jurisdictions may provide for continued vesting after “retirement,” if certain conditions are met. As of June 30, 2024, 2,028,765
ordinary shares remained available for grant under the long-term incentive plan.

The fair value of share-based stock option compensation awards was estimated at their grant date using the Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing model. This model was developed for use in
estimating the fair value of traded options that have no vesting restrictions and are fully transferable, characteristics that are not present in our option grants. If the model permitted consideration of
the unique characteristics of employee stock options, the resulting estimate of the fair value of the stock options could be different. The value of the portion of the award that is ultimately expected to
vest is recognized as expense over the requisite service periods in our Consolidated Statements of Income. The expense is classified as Cost of revenues or Selling, general, and administrative
expenses in a manner consistent with the employee’s compensation and benefits.
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The following weighted average assumptions were used for options granted during the first three months of fiscal 2025 and 2024:

  Fiscal 2025 Fiscal 2024
Risk-free interest rate 4.20 % 3.57 %
Expected life of options 6.0 years 5.9 years
Expected dividend yield of stock 0.94 % 1.08 %
Expected volatility of stock 28.47 % 27.98 %

The risk-free interest rate is based upon the U.S. Treasury yield curve. The expected life of options is reflective of historical experience, vesting schedules and contractual terms. The expected
dividend yield of stock represents our best estimate of the expected future dividend yield. The expected volatility of stock is derived by referring to our historical stock prices over a time frame
similar to that of the expected life of the grant. An estimated forfeiture rate of 2.07% and 2.22% was applied in fiscal 2025 and 2024, respectively. This rate is calculated based upon historical activity
and represents an estimate of the granted options not expected to vest. If actual forfeitures differ from this calculated rate, we may be required to make additional adjustments to compensation
expense in future periods. The assumptions used above are reviewed at the time of each significant option grant, or at least annually.

A summary of share option activity is as follows:

 
Number of


Options

Weighted

Average


Exercise

Price Per Share

Average

Remaining


Contractual

Term

Aggregate

Intrinsic

Value
Outstanding at March 31, 2024 1,869,871  $ 168.22 
Granted 206,432  251.35 
Exercised (81,378) 81.57 
Forfeited (654) 219.97 
Expired (512) 250.06 
Outstanding at June 30, 2024 1,993,759  $ 180.32  6.3 years $ 92,209 
Exercisable at June 30, 2024 1,418,051  $ 157.46  5.3 years $ 91,771 

We estimate that 559,526 of the non-vested stock options outstanding at June 30, 2024 will ultimately vest.

The aggregate intrinsic value in the table above represents the total pre-tax difference between the $219.54 closing price of our ordinary shares on June 30, 2024 over the exercise prices of the
stock options, multiplied by the number of options outstanding or outstanding and exercisable, as applicable. The aggregate intrinsic value is not recorded for financial accounting purposes and the
value changes daily based on the daily changes in the fair market value of our ordinary shares.

The total intrinsic value of stock options exercised during the first three months of fiscal 2025 and fiscal 2024 was $12,372 and $4,831, respectively. Net cash proceeds from the exercise of stock
options were $5,587 and $1,254 for the first three months of fiscal 2025 and fiscal 2024, respectively.

The weighted average grant date fair value of stock option grants was $66.87 and $53.45 for the first three months of fiscal 2025 and fiscal 2024, respectively.
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A summary of the non-vested restricted share and share unit activity is presented below:

 

Number of

Restricted

Shares

Number of Restricted Share
Units

Weighted Average

Grant Date


Fair Value
Non-vested at March 31, 2024 463,381  28,348  $ 200.04 
Granted 151,638  9,855  228.50 
Vested (124,462) (4,923) 183.06 
Forfeited (24,655) (1,339) 205.12 
Non-vested at June 30, 2024 465,902  31,941  $ 213.46 

Restricted shares and restricted share unit grants are valued based on the closing stock price at the grant date. The value of restricted shares and units that vested during the first three months of
fiscal 2025 at the time of grant was $23,694.

As of June 30, 2024, there was a total of $93,968 in unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested share-based compensation granted under our share-based compensation plans. We
expect to recognize the cost over a weighted average period of 1.8 years.

15. Financial and Other Guarantees

We generally offer a limited parts and labor warranty on capital equipment. The specific terms and conditions of those warranties vary depending on the product sold and the countries where we
conduct business. We record a liability for the estimated cost of product warranties at the time product revenues are recognized. The amounts we expect to incur on behalf of our Customers for the
future estimated cost of these warranties are recorded as a current liability on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. Factors that affect the amount of our warranty liability include the
number and type of installed units, historical and anticipated rates of product failures, and material and service costs per claim. We periodically assess the adequacy of our recorded warranty liabilities
and adjust the amounts as necessary.

Changes in our warranty liability during the first three months of fiscal 2025 were as follows:

Warranties
Balance at March 31, 2024 $ 15,388 
Warranties issued during the period 3,456 
Settlements made during the period (4,274)
Balance at June 30, 2024 $ 14,570 
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16. Derivatives and Hedging

From time to time, we enter into forward contracts to hedge potential foreign currency gains and losses that arise from transactions denominated in foreign currencies, including intercompany
transactions. We may also enter into commodity swap contracts to hedge price changes in nickel that impact raw materials included in our Cost of revenues. During the first quarter of fiscal 2025, we
also held forward foreign currency contracts to hedge a portion of our expected non-U.S. dollar-denominated earnings against our reporting currency, the U.S. dollar. These foreign currency exchange
contracts will mature in fiscal 2025. We did not elect hedge accounting for these forward foreign currency contracts; however, we may seek to apply hedge accounting in future scenarios. We do not
use derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.

These contracts are not designated as hedging instruments and do not receive hedge accounting treatment; therefore, changes in their fair value are not deferred but are recognized immediately in
the Consolidated Statements of Income. At June 30, 2024, we held net foreign currency forward contracts to buy 50.0 million British pounds sterling; and to sell 100.0 million Mexican pesos, 25.0
million Canadian dollars, 18.2 million euros, and 15.0 million Australian dollars. At June 30, 2024, we held commodity swap contracts to buy 591.8 thousand pounds of nickel.

  Asset Derivatives Liability Derivatives
Fair Value at Fair Value at Fair Value at Fair Value at

Balance sheet location June 30, 2024 March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 March 31, 2024
Prepaid & other $ 389  $ 208  $ —  $ — 
Accrued expenses and other $ —  $ —  $ 427  $ 1,014 

The following table presents the impact of derivative instruments and their location within the Consolidated Statements of Income:

 
Location of gain (loss)


recognized in income

Amount of gain (loss) recognized in income

Three Months Ended June 30,
2024 2023

Foreign currency forward contracts Selling, general and administrative $ 386  $ 1,458 
Commodity swap contracts Cost of revenues $ 241  $ (1,034)
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17. Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or that would be paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
We estimate the fair value of financial assets and liabilities using available market information and generally accepted valuation methodologies. The inputs used to measure fair value are classified
into three tiers. These tiers include Level 1, defined as observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets; Level 2, defined as inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that are either
directly or indirectly observable; and Level 3, defined as unobservable inputs in which little or no market data exists, therefore requiring the entity to develop its own assumptions.

The following table shows the fair value of our financial assets and liabilities at June 30, 2024 and March 31, 2024:

    Fair Value Measurements

 

Carrying Value

Quoted Prices

in Active Markets


for Identical Assets
Significant Other


Observable Inputs

Significant

Unobservable


Inputs
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

June 30, March 31, June 30, March 31, June 30, March 31, June 30, March 31,

Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 198,328  $ 207,020  $ 198,328  $ 207,020  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ — 
Forward and swap contracts 389  208  —  —  389  208  —  — 
Equity investments 4,816  4,767  4,816  4,767  —  —  —  — 
Other investments 2,880  2,902  2,880  2,902  —  —  —  — 

Liabilities:
Forward and swap contracts $ 427  $ 1,014  $ —  $ —  $ 427  $ 1,014  $ —  $ — 
Deferred compensation plans 1,175  1,186  1,175  1,186  —  —  —  — 
Debt 2,315,601  3,206,100  —  —  2,001,665  2,895,784  —  — 
Contingent consideration obligations 11,204  11,000  —  —  —  —  11,204  11,000 

 The fair values of forward and swap contracts are based on period-end forward rates and reflect the value of the amount that we would pay or receive for the contracts involving the same notional amounts and maturity
dates.
We maintain a frozen domestic non-qualified deferred compensation plan covering certain employees, which allowed for the deferral of payment of previously earned compensation for an employee-specified term or
until retirement or termination. Amounts deferred can be allocated to various hypothetical investment options (compensation deferrals have been frozen under the plan). We hold investments to satisfy the future
obligations of the plan. Employees who made deferrals are entitled to receive distributions of their hypothetical account balances (amounts deferred, together with earnings (losses)). Changes in the fair value of these
investments are recorded in the "Interest and miscellaneous income" line of the Consolidated Statement of Income. During the first three months of fiscal 2025 and 2024, we recorded gains of $53 and $73, respectively,
related to these investments.
We estimate the fair value of our debt using discounted cash flow analyses, based on estimated current incremental borrowing rates for similar types of borrowing arrangements. The fair values of our Senior Public
Notes are estimated using quoted market prices for the Senior Public Notes.
 Contingent consideration obligations arise from prior business acquisitions. The fair values are based on discounted cash flow analyses reflecting the possible achievement of specified performance measures or events
and captures the contractual nature of the contingencies, commercial risk, and the time value of money. Contingent consideration obligations are classified in the consolidated balance sheets as accrued expense (short-
term) and other liabilities (long-term), as appropriate based on the contractual payment dates.

(1)

(2)

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(1)

(2) 

(3) 

(4)
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The changes in Level 3 assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis at June 30, 2024 are summarized as follows:

Contingent Consideration
Balance at March 31, 2024 $ 11,000 
Additions 223 
Payments (19)
Balance at June 30, 2024 $ 11,204 
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18. Reclassifications Out of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Amounts in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) are presented net of the related tax. Currency Translation is not adjusted for income taxes. Changes in our Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income (Loss) balances, net of tax, for the three months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 were as follows:

Defined Benefit Plans Currency Translation 
Total Accumulated Other

Comprehensive Loss
Balance at March 31, 2024 $ (724) $ (327,933) $ (328,657)
Other Comprehensive (Loss) Income before reclassifications (91) 5,751  5,660 
Amounts reclassified from Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss (73) —  (73)
Net current-period Other Comprehensive (Loss) Income (164) 5,751  5,587 
Balance at June 30, 2024 $ (888) $ (322,182) $ (323,070)

 The amortization (gain) of defined benefit pension items is reported in the Interest and miscellaneous (income) expense line of our Consolidated Statements of Income.
 The effective portion of gain or loss on net debt designated as non-derivative net investment hedging instruments is recognized in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income and is reclassified to income in the same
period when a gain or loss related to the net investment is included in income.

Defined Benefit Plans Currency Translation 
Total Accumulated Other

Comprehensive Loss
Balance at March 31, 2023 $ 12  $ (320,722) $ (320,710)
Other Comprehensive Income before reclassifications 418  9,793  10,211 
Amounts reclassified from Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss (360) —  (360)
Net current-period Other Comprehensive Income 58  9,793  9,851 
Balance at June 30, 2023 $ 70  $ (310,929) $ (310,859)

 The amortization (gain) of defined benefit pension items is reported in the Interest and miscellaneous (income) expense line of our Consolidated Statements of Income.
 The effective portion of gain or loss on net debt designated as non-derivative net investment hedging instruments is recognized in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income and is reclassified to income in the same
period when a gain or loss related to the net investment is included in income.

(1) (2)

(1)

(2)

(1) (2)

1)

(2)
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm






To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of STERIS plc:

Results of Review of Interim Financial Statements

We have reviewed the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of STERIS plc and subsidiaries (the Company) as of June 30, 2024, the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive
income, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the three-month periods ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated interim financial
statements”). Based on our reviews, we are not aware of any material modifications that should be made to the consolidated interim financial statements for them to be in conformity with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles.

We have previously audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated balance sheet of the Company as of
March 31, 2024, the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income (loss), shareholders' equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes and schedule (not
presented herein); and in our report dated May 29, 2024, we expressed an unqualified audit opinion on those consolidated financial statements. In our opinion, the information set forth in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of March 31, 2024, is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the consolidated balance sheet from which it has been derived.

Basis for Review Results

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the
Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the SEC and the PCAOB. We conducted our review in accordance with the standards of the
PCAOB. A review of interim financial statements consists principally of applying analytical procedures and making inquiries of persons responsible for financial and accounting matters. It is
substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB, the objective of which is the expression of an opinion regarding the financial statements taken as a
whole. Accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Cleveland, Ohio
August 8, 2024
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ITEM 2.    MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Introduction

In Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (the “MD&A”), we explain the general financial condition and the results of operations for STERIS
including:

• what factors affect our business;
• what our earnings and costs were in each period presented; 

• why those earnings and costs were different from prior periods;
• where our earnings came from;
• how this affects our overall financial condition;
• what our expenditures for capital projects were; and
• where cash will come from to fund future debt principal repayments, growth outside of core operations, repurchases of shares, cash dividends and future working capital needs.

As you read the MD&A, it may be helpful to refer to information in our consolidated financial statements contained herein, which present the results of our operations for the first quarter of
fiscal 2025 and fiscal 2024. It may also be helpful to refer to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2024, which was filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
("SEC") on May 29, 2024, including information in Item 1, "Business," Part I, Item 1A, "Risk Factors," and Note 12 to our consolidated financial statements titled, "Commitments and
Contingencies," and Part II, Item 1A, "Risk Factors" of this Quarterly Report, for a discussion of some of the matters that can adversely affect our business and results of operations.

In the MD&A, we analyze and explain the period-over-period changes in the specific line items in the Consolidated Statements of Income. This information, discussion, and analysis may be
important to you in making decisions about your investments in STERIS.

Financial Measures

In the following sections of the MD&A, we may, at times, refer to financial measures that are not required to be presented in the consolidated financial statements under accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States ("U.S. GAAP"). We sometimes use the following financial measures in the context of this report: backlog; debt-to-total capital; and days sales outstanding. We
define these financial measures as follows:

• Backlog – We define backlog as the amount of unfilled capital equipment purchase orders at a point in time. We use this figure as a measure to assist in the projection of short-term financial
results and inventory requirements.

• Debt-to-total capital – We define debt-to-total capital as total debt divided by the sum of total debt and shareholders’ equity. We use this figure as a financial liquidity measure to gauge our
ability to borrow and fund growth.

• Days sales outstanding (“DSO”) – We define DSO as the average collection period for accounts receivable. It is calculated as net accounts receivable divided by the trailing four quarters’
revenues, multiplied by 365 days. We use this figure to help gauge the quality of accounts receivable and expected time to collect.

We, at times, may also refer to financial measures which are considered to be “non-GAAP financial measures” under SEC rules. We have presented these financial measures because we believe
that meaningful analysis of our financial performance is enhanced by an understanding of certain additional factors underlying that performance. These financial measures should not be considered an
alternative to measures required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. Our calculations of these measures may differ from calculations of similar measures used by other
companies, and you should be careful when comparing these financial measures to those of other companies. Additional information regarding these financial measures, including reconciliations of
each non-GAAP financial measure, is available in the subsection of MD&A titled, "Non-GAAP Financial Measures."

Revenues – Defined

As required by Regulation S-X, we separately present revenues generated as either product revenues or service revenues on our Consolidated Statements of Income for each period presented.
When we discuss revenues, we may, at times, refer to revenues summarized differently than the Regulation S-X requirements. The terminology, definitions, and applications of terms that we use to
describe revenues may be different from terms used by other companies. We use the following terms to describe revenues:

• Revenues – Our revenues are presented net of sales returns and allowances.
• Product Revenues – We define product revenues as revenues generated from sales of consumable and capital equipment products.
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• Service Revenues – We define service revenues as revenues generated from parts and labor associated with the maintenance, repair, and installation of our capital equipment. Service
revenues also include outsourced reprocessing services and instrument and scope repairs, as well as revenues generated from contract sterilization and laboratory services offered through our
Applied Sterilization Technologies ("AST") segment.

• Capital Equipment Revenues – We define capital equipment revenues as revenues generated from sales of capital equipment, which includes steam and gas sterilizers, low temperature liquid
chemical sterilant processing systems, pure steam/water systems, surgical lights and tables, and integrated operating rooms ("OR").

• Consumable Revenues – We define consumable revenues as revenues generated from sales of the consumable family of products, which includes dedicated consumables used in our V-PRO
sterilizers and automated endoscope reprocessors, SYSTEM 1 and 1E consumables, gastrointestinal endoscopy accessories, instruments and tools, sterility assurance products, barrier
protection solutions, and cleaning consumables.

• Recurring Revenues – We define recurring revenues as revenues generated from sales of consumable products and service revenues.

General Company Overview and Executive Summary

STERIS is a leading global provider of products and services that support patient care with an emphasis on infection prevention. WE HELP OUR CUSTOMERS CREATE A HEALTHIER AND
SAFER WORLD by providing innovative healthcare and life science products and services around the globe. We offer our Customers a unique mix of innovative products and services. These
include: consumable products, such as detergents, endoscopy accessories, barrier products, instruments and tools; services, including equipment installation and maintenance, microbial reduction of
medical devices, instrument and scope repair, laboratory testing, and outsourced reprocessing; capital equipment, such as sterilizers, surgical tables, and automated endoscope reprocessors; and
connectivity solutions such as OR integration.

We operate and report our financial information in three reportable business segments: Healthcare, Applied Sterilization Technologies ("AST"), and Life Sciences. Previously, we had four
reportable business segments; however, as a result of the divestiture of our Dental segment, Dental is presented as discontinued operations. Historical information has been retrospectively adjusted to
exclude discontinued operations for comparability, as required. For more information, refer to Note 4 to our consolidated financial statements titled, "Discontinued Operations." Non-allocated
operating costs that support the entire Company and items not indicative of operating trends are excluded from segment operating income. We describe our business segments in Note 11 to our
consolidated financial statements titled, "Business Segment Information."

The bulk of our revenues are derived from healthcare, medical device and pharmaceutical Customers. Much of the growth in these industries is driven by the aging of the population throughout
the world, as an increasing number of individuals are entering their prime healthcare consumption years, and is dependent upon advancement in healthcare delivery, acceptance of new technologies,
government policies, and general economic conditions.

In addition, there is increased demand for medical procedures, including preventive screenings such as endoscopies and colonoscopies; and a desire by our Customers to operate more efficiently,
all of which are driving increased demand for many of our products and services.

Acquisitions and Divestitures. During the first three months of fiscal 2025, we completed several tuck-in acquisitions, which continued to expand our product and service offerings in the
Healthcare and AST segments. Total aggregate consideration was approximately $13.7 million.

On June 20, 2023, we entered into a definitive agreement to purchase the surgical instrumentation, laparoscopic instrumentation and sterilization container assets from Becton, Dickinson and
Company (NYSE: BDX) ("BD"). The transaction was completed on August 2, 2023, and the acquired assets from BD were integrated into our Healthcare segment.

The purchase price of the BD acquisition was $539.8 million. The acquisition also qualified for a tax benefit related to tax deductible goodwill, with a present value of approximately $60.0
million. The purchase price of the acquisition was financed with borrowings from our existing Revolving Credit Facility. For more information, refer to Note 7 titled, "Debt."

Acquisition and integration expenses totaled $2.3 million and $2.2 million for the three months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Acquisition and integration expenses are reported in
the Selling, general and administrative expenses line of our Consolidated Statements of Income and include, but are not limited to, investment banker, advisory, legal and other professional fees, and
certain employee-related expenses.

On April 1, 2024, we completed the sale of the Controlled Environment Certification Services business. We recorded net proceeds of $41.5 million and recognized a pre-tax gain on the sale of
$18.8 million in the first quarter of fiscal 2025. The business generated approximately $35.0 million in revenues in fiscal 2024.

For more information regarding our recent acquisitions, see Note 3 to our consolidated financial statements titled, "Business Acquisitions and Divestitures."
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Discontinued Operations. On April 11, 2024, the Company announced its plan to sell substantially all of the net assets of its Dental segment for total cash consideration of $787.5 million,
subject to customary adjustments, and up to an additional $12.5 million in contingent payment should the Dental business achieve certain revenue targets in fiscal 2025. The transaction was
structured as an equity sale and closed on May 31, 2024. A component of an entity is reported in discontinued operations after meeting the criteria for held for sale classification if the disposition
represents a strategic shift that has (or will have) a major effect on the entity's operations and financial results. We analyzed the quantitative and qualitative factors relevant to the divestiture of our
Dental segment and determined that those conditions for discontinued operations presentation had been met prior to March 31, 2024. The Dental segment results of operations were reclassified to
income (loss) from discontinued operations in the Consolidated Statements of Income for all periods presented, and we classified the Dental segment's assets and liabilities as held for sale as of
March 31, 2024 in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. Due to the transaction closing in the first quarter of fiscal 2025, the held for sale assets and liabilities were classified as current as
of March 31, 2024. Our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows include the financial results of the Dental segment for all periods presented. A majority of the proceeds received from the sale were
utilized to pay off existing debt.

For more information, see Note 4 to our consolidated financial statements titled, "Discontinued Operations."

Highlights. Revenues increased 8.1% to $1,279.5 million for the three months ended June 30, 2024, as compared to $1,183.4 million for the same period in the prior year. The increases reflect
higher volume, including the added volume from the acquisition of assets from BD in the Healthcare segment, and pricing.

Gross profit percentage was 44.7% for both of the first three months of fiscal 2025 and fiscal 2024. Favorable impacts from pricing and material costs were offset by unfavorable impacts from
labor costs and adjustments and other charges.

Income from operations for the first three months of fiscal 2025 was $185.5 million, compared to income from operations of $197.8 million for the first three months of fiscal 2024. The decrease
in income from operations for the three month periods is primarily due to restructuring expenses associated with the restructuring plan adopted in May 2024, as well as other compensation related
expenses, which was partially offset by the benefits of higher volume and pricing as well as added volume from the acquisition of assets from BD.

Cash flows from operations were $303.7 million and free cash flow was $195.7 million for the first three months of fiscal 2025 compared to cash flows from operations of $281.1 million and free
cash flow of $214.5 million for the first three months of fiscal 2024 (see the subsection below titled "Non-GAAP Financial Measures" for additional information and related reconciliation of cash
flows from operations to free cash flow). The fiscal 2025 increase in cash flows from operations resulted from the increase in cash provided by working capital, primarily driven by higher collection
on accounts receivable and improved inventory level management when compared to the same prior year period. The fiscal 2025 decrease in free cash flow is primarily due to the timing of capital
spending.

Our debt-to-total capital ratio was 26.7% at June 30, 2024 and 33.7% at March 31, 2024. During the first three months of fiscal 2025, we declared and paid cash dividends totaling $0.52 per
ordinary share.

Additional information regarding our financial performance during the first quarter of fiscal 2025 is included in the subsection below titled “Results of Operations.”

NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES

We, at times, refer to financial measures which are considered to be “non-GAAP financial measures” under the Securities and Exchange Commission rules. We, at times, also refer to our results of
operations excluding certain transactions or amounts that are non-recurring or are not indicative of future results, in order to provide meaningful comparisons between the periods presented.

These non-GAAP financial measures are not intended to be, and should not be, considered separately from or as an alternative to the most directly comparable U.S. GAAP financial measures.

These non-GAAP financial measures are presented with the intent of providing greater transparency to supplemental financial information used by management and the Board of Directors in their
financial analysis and operational decision-making. These amounts are disclosed so that the reader has the same financial data that management uses with the belief that it will assist investors and
other readers in making comparisons to our historical operating results and analyzing the underlying performance of our operations for the periods presented.

We believe that the presentation of these non-GAAP financial measures, when considered along with our U.S. GAAP financial measures and the reconciliation to the corresponding U.S. GAAP
financial measures, provides the reader with a more complete understanding of the factors and trends affecting our business than could be obtained absent this disclosure. It is important for the reader
to note that the non-GAAP financial measures used may be calculated differently from, and therefore may not be comparable to, similarly titled measures used by other companies.

32



Table of Contents

We define free cash flow as net cash provided by operating activities as presented in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows less purchases of property, plant, equipment, and intangibles
(capital expenditures) plus proceeds from the sale of property, plant, equipment, and intangibles, which are also presented within investing activities in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.
We use this as a measure to gauge our ability to pay cash dividends, fund growth outside of core operations, fund future debt principal repayments, and repurchase shares.

The following table summarizes the calculation of our free cash flow for the three months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023: 
  Three Months Ended June 30,
(dollars in thousands) 2024 2023
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 303,743  $ 281,129 
Purchases of property, plant, equipment, and intangibles, net (108,083) (66,601)
Proceeds from the sale of property, plant, equipment, and intangibles —  5 
Free cash flow $ 195,660  $ 214,533 

Results of Operations

In the following subsections, we discuss our earnings and the factors affecting them for the first three months of fiscal 2025 compared to the same fiscal 2024 period. We begin with a general
overview of our operating results and then separately discuss earnings for our operating segments.

Revenues. The following table compares our revenues for the three months ended June 30, 2024 to the revenues for the three months ended June 30, 2023:

  Three Months Ended June 30,
(dollars in thousands) 2024 2023 Change Percent Change

Total revenues $ 1,279,502  $ 1,183,386  $ 96,116  8.1 %

Revenues by type:
Service revenues 623,209  570,684  52,525  9.2 %
Consumable revenues 414,090  342,738  71,352  20.8 %
Capital equipment revenues 242,203  269,964  (27,761) (10.3)%

Revenues by geography:
Ireland revenues 22,194  20,036  2,158  10.8 %
United States revenues 946,890  855,788  91,102  10.6 %
Other foreign revenues 310,418  307,562  2,856  0.9 %

Revenues increased 8.1% to $1,279.5 million for the three months ended June 30, 2024, as compared to $1,183.4 million for the same period in the prior year. The increases reflect higher
volume, including the added volume from the acquisition of assets from BD in the Healthcare segment, and pricing.

Service revenues increased 9.2% for the three months ended June 30, 2024, as compared to the same period in the prior year, reflecting growth in the Healthcare and AST segments, which was
partially offset by a decline in the Life Sciences segment caused by the divestiture of the Controlled Environment Certification Services ("CECS") business. Consumable revenues increased by 20.8%
for the three months ended June 30, 2024, as compared to the same period in the prior year, reflecting growth in the Healthcare and Life Sciences segments. Capital equipment revenues decreased
10.3% for the three months ended June 30, 2024, as compared to the same period in the prior year, reflecting declines in the Healthcare and Life Sciences segments.

Ireland revenues increased 10.8% to $22.2 million for the three months ended June 30, 2024, as compared to $20.0 million for the same period in the prior year, reflecting growth in consumable
and service revenues, partially offset by a decline in capital equipment revenues.

United States revenues increased 10.6% to $946.9 million for the three months ended June 30, 2024, as compared to $855.8 million for the same period in the prior year, reflecting growth in
consumable and service revenues, partially offset by a decline in capital equipment revenues.
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Revenues from other foreign locations increased 0.9% to $310.4 million for the three months ended June 30, 2024, as compared to $307.6 million for the same period in the prior year. The
increase reflects growth within the EMEA region, which was partially offset by declines primarily in the Asia Pacific region.

Gross Profit. Our gross profit is affected by the volume, pricing, and mix of sales of our products and services, as well as the costs associated with the products and services that are sold. The
following tables compare our gross profit for the three months ended June 30, 2024 to the three months ended June 30, 2023:

  Three Months Ended June 30,
Change

Percent

Change(dollars in thousands) 2024 2023

Gross profit:
Product $ 315,873  $ 292,223  $ 23,650  8.1 %
Service 256,557  236,781  19,776  8.4 %

Total gross profit $ 572,430  $ 529,004  $ 43,426  8.2 %
Gross profit percentage:

Product 48.1 % 47.7 %
Service 41.2 % 41.5 %

Total gross profit percentage 44.7 % 44.7 %

Gross profit percentage was 44.7% for both of the first three months of fiscal 2025 and fiscal 2024. Favorable impacts from pricing (140 basis points), material costs (70 basis points), and
divestitures (20 basis points) were offset by unfavorable impacts from labor costs (130 basis points), adjustments and other charges (70 basis points), productivity (20 basis points), and acquisitions
(10 basis points).

Operating Expenses. The following table compares our operating expenses for the three months ended June 30, 2024 to the three months ended June 30, 2023:

   Three Months Ended June 30,
Change

Percent

Change(dollars in thousands) 2024 2023

Operating expenses:
Selling, general, and administrative $ 335,626  $ 306,530  $ 29,096  9.5 %
Research and development 25,573  24,694  879  3.6 %
Restructuring expenses 25,700  19  25,681  nm

Total operating expenses $ 386,899  $ 331,243  $ 55,656  16.8 %

nm - not meaningful

Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses. Significant components of total selling, general, and administrative expenses (“SG&A”) are compensation and benefit costs, fees for professional
services, travel and entertainment expenses, facility costs, gains or losses from divestitures, and other general and administrative expenses. SG&A increased 9.5% in the first three months of fiscal
2025 over the same prior year period. The fiscal 2025 increase is primarily attributable to increased compensation, including incentive compensation and benefit costs, as well as increases in
professional fees.

Research and Development. Research and development expenses increased 3.6% in the first three months of fiscal 2025 over the same prior year period. Research and development expenses are
influenced by the number and timing of in-process projects and labor hours and other costs associated with these projects. Our research and development initiatives continue to emphasize new
product development, product improvements, and the development of new technological platform innovations. During fiscal 2025, our investments in research and development have continued to be
focused on, but were not limited to, enhancing capabilities of sterile processing combination technologies, procedural products and accessories, and devices and support accessories used in
gastrointestinal endoscopy procedures.

Restructuring Expenses. In May 2024, we adopted and announced a targeted restructuring plan (the "Restructuring Plan"). This plan includes a strategic shift in our approach to the Healthcare
surgical business in Europe, as well as other actions including the impairment of an internally developed X-ray accelerator, product rationalizations and facility consolidations. Fewer than 300
positions are being eliminated. These restructuring actions are designed to enhance profitability and improve efficiency, and we expect to be substantially complete with the actions by the end of
fiscal 2025. We anticipate improvements in income from operations of approximately $25.0 million per year, with the majority of the benefit being in fiscal 2026 and beyond due to timing of actions.
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The following tables summarize our total pre-tax restructuring expenses recorded in fiscal 2025 related to the Restructuring Plan:

Three Months Ended June 30, 2024 Restructuring Plan
Severance and other compensation related costs $ 21,480 
Lease and other contract termination costs 2,970 
Product rationalization 2,382 
Accelerated depreciation and amortization 1,250 
Total Restructuring Expense $ 28,082 

(1) Recorded in Cost of revenues on the Consolidated Statements of Income.

The Restructuring Plan expenses incurred during the three months ended June 30, 2024 primarily related to actions taken within our Healthcare segment. Total pre-tax restructuring expense of
$72.5 million has been recorded relating to the Restructuring Plan since inception, of which $20.7 million has been recorded in Cost of revenues. We expect to incur additional costs through the
remainder of fiscal 2025 for severance and other compensation related costs and lease and other contract termination and other costs, of approximately $28.0 million.

Liabilities related to restructuring activities are recorded as current liabilities in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets within "Accrued payroll and other related liabilities" and
"Accrued expenses and other." The following table summarizes our restructuring liability balances:

Restructuring Plan
Balance at March 31, 2024 $ 678 
Fiscal 2025 Charges 24,450 
Payments (3,753)
Balance at June 30, 2024 $ 21,375 

Non-Operating Expenses, Net. The following tables compare our net non-operating expenses for the three months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023:

  Three Months Ended June 30,  
(dollars in thousands) 2024 2023 Change
Non-operating expenses, net:

Interest expense $ 30,384  $ 32,357  $ (1,973)
Interest and miscellaneous income (1,309) (1,377) 68 
Gain on sale of business (18,803) $ —  (18,803)

Non-operating expenses, net $ 10,272  $ 30,980  $ (20,708)

Non-operating expenses, net consists of interest expense on debt, offset by interest earned on cash, cash equivalents, short-term investment balances, and other miscellaneous (income) expense.

Interest expense decreased $2.0 million during the first three months of fiscal 2025 as compared to the prior year period, primarily due to the lower principal amount of debt outstanding. For more
information, refer to Note 7 to our consolidated financial statements titled, "Debt."

Interest and miscellaneous income decreased $0.1 million during the first three months of fiscal 2025 as compared to the prior year period.

Gain on sale of business during the first three months of fiscal 2025 was $18.8 million and relates to the sale of our CECS business. For more information, refer to Note 3 to our consolidated
financial statements titled, "Business Acquisitions and Divestitures."

(1)
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Income Taxes. The following tables compare our tax expense and effective income tax rates for the three months ended June 30, 2024 and June 30, 2023:

  Three Months Ended June 30,
Change

Percent

Change(dollars in thousands) 2024 2023

Income tax expense $ 35,310  $ 36,200  $ (890) (2.5)%
Effective income tax rate 20.1 % 21.7 %

We record income tax expense during interim periods based on our estimate of the annual effective income tax rate, adjusted each quarter for discrete items. We analyze various factors to
determine the estimated annual effective income tax rate, including projections of our annual earnings and taxing jurisdictions in which the earnings will be generated, the impact of state and local
income taxes, our ability to use tax credits and net operating loss carryforwards, and available tax planning alternatives.

The effective income tax rates from continuing operations for the three month periods ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 were 20.1% and 21.7%, respectively. The fiscal 2025 effective tax rate
decreased when compared to fiscal 2024, primarily due to changes in geographic mix of projected profits and an increase in favorable discrete items.

Business Segment Results of Operations.

We operate and report our financial information in three reportable business segments: Healthcare, AST, and Life Sciences. Previously, we had four reportable business segments; however, as a
result of the divestiture of our Dental segment, Dental is presented as discontinued operations. Historical information has been retrospectively adjusted to reflect these changes for comparability, as
required.

Our Healthcare segment provides a comprehensive offering for healthcare providers worldwide, focused on sterile processing departments and procedural centers, such as operating rooms and
endoscopy suites. Our products and services range from infection prevention consumables and capital equipment, as well as services to maintain that equipment; to the repair of re-usable procedural
instruments; to outsourced instrument reprocessing services. In addition, our procedural solutions also include endoscopy accessories, instruments, and capital equipment infrastructure used primarily
in operating rooms, ambulatory surgery centers, endoscopy suites, and other procedural areas.

Our AST segment supports medical device and pharmaceutical manufacturers through a global network of contract sterilization and laboratory testing facilities, and integrated sterilization
equipment and control systems. Our technology-neutral offering supports Customers every step of the way, from testing through sterilization.

Our Life Sciences segment provides a comprehensive offering of products and services designed to support biopharmaceutical and medical device research and manufacturing facilities, in
particular those focused on aseptic manufacturing. Our portfolio includes a full suite of consumable products, equipment maintenance, specialty services, and capital equipment.

We disclose a measure of segment income that is consistent with the way management operates and views the business. The accounting policies for reportable segments are the same as those for
the consolidated Company.

For the three months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, revenues from a single Customer did not represent ten percent or more of the Healthcare, AST or Life Sciences segment revenues.

Additional information regarding our segments is included in our consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2024, which was
filed with the SEC on May 29, 2024.

The following tables compare business segment revenues as well as impacts from acquisitions, divestitures, and foreign currency movements for the three and three months ended June 30,
2024 and 2023.

36



Table of Contents

Three Months Ended June 30, (unaudited)

As reported, U.S. GAAP
Impact of

Acquisitions
Impact of

Divestitures

Impact of Foreign
Currency

Movements
U.S. GAAP

Growth Organic Growth

Constant
Currency Organic

Growth
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2024 2024 2024

Segment revenues:
Healthcare $ 901,221  $ 818,874  $ 40,976  $ —  $ (1,197) 10.1 % 5.1 % 5.2 %
AST 249,803  233,099  —  —  (1,313) 7.2 % 7.2 % 7.7 %
Life Sciences 128,478  131,413  —  (7,881) (366) (2.2)% 4.0 % 4.3 %

Total $ 1,279,502  $ 1,183,386  $ 40,976  $ (7,881) $ (2,876) 8.1 % 5.4 % 5.6 %

Note: Organic revenue growth and constant currency organic revenue growth are non-GAAP financial measures of revenue performance. Organic revenue growth is calculated by removing the
impact of acquisitions and divestitures for one year following the respective transaction from the GAAP revenue growth. Constant currency organic revenue growth is subject to a further adjustment
to eliminate the impact of foreign currency movements.

Healthcare revenues increased 10.1% to $901.2 million for the three months ended June 30, 2024, as compared to $818.9 million for the same prior year period. This increase reflects growth in
consumable and service revenues of 22.5% and 14.2%, respectively, which was partially offset by a decline in capital equipment revenues of 9.9%. The constant currency organic growth of 5.2% is
primarily due to increased volume, impacting revenues by a low single digit percentage, as well as increased pricing.

The Healthcare segment's backlog at June 30, 2024 was $362.0 million. The Healthcare segment's backlog at June 30, 2023 was $491.7 million. The decrease is due to shortened lead times in
fiscal 2024 due to improving supply chains, which drove strong shipments throughout fiscal 2024.

AST revenues increased 7.2% to $249.8 million for the three months ended June 30, 2024, as compared to $233.1 million for the same prior year period. The constant currency organic growth of
7.7% is primarily due to increased pricing, impacting revenues by a mid-single digit percentage, as well as increased volume.

Life Sciences revenues decreased 2.2% to $128.5 million for the three months ended June 30, 2024, as compared to $131.4 million for the same prior year period. This decrease is partially due to
the sale of the CECS business during the first quarter of fiscal 2025, which impacted service revenue, resulting in a decline of 16.9%. This decrease also reflects declines in capital equipment
revenues of 14.6% and was partially offset by an increase in consumable revenues of 13.2%. The constant currency organic growth of 4.3% is primarily due to increased pricing, impacting revenues
by a low single digit percentage.

The Life Sciences backlog at June 30, 2024 was $72.2 million. The Life Sciences backlog at June 30, 2023 was $104.9 million. The decrease is primarily due to softening demand, as anticipated.
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The following table compares business segment and Corporate operating income for the three months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023.

  Three Months Ended June 30,
  2024 2023
Segment operating income (loss):

Healthcare $ 216,887  $ 198,182 
AST 117,714  109,590 
Life Sciences 52,584  49,841 
Corporate (101,748) (91,873)

Total segment operating income $ 285,437  $ 265,740 
Less: Adjustments

Amortization of acquired intangible assets $ 67,661  $ 64,092 
Acquisition and integration related charges 2,254  2,237 
Tax restructuring costs 518  9 
Amortization of inventory and property "step up" to fair value 1,391  1,622 
Restructuring charges 28,082  19 

Total income (loss) from operations $ 185,531  $ 197,761 

 For more information regarding our recent acquisitions and divestitures, refer to Note 3 titled, "Business Acquisitions and Divestitures."
 Acquisition and integration related charges include transaction costs and integration expenses associated with acquisitions.
 Costs incurred in tax restructuring.
 For more information regarding our restructuring efforts, refer to Note 2 titled, "Restructuring."

The Healthcare segment’s operating income increased 9.4% to $216.9 million for the three months ended June 30, 2024, as compared to $198.2 million in the same prior year period. The
segment's operating margins were 24.1% and 24.2% for the first three months of fiscal 2025 and 2024, respectively. The increase in operating income for the three months ended June 30, 2024 is
primarily due to the benefits of higher volume, including added volume from the acquisition of assets from BD, and pricing, which were partially offset by increased compensation costs. The
decrease in operating margin for the three months ended June 30, 2024 is primarily due to increased compensation costs, primarily due to increased headcount.

The AST segment's operating income increased 7.4% to $117.7 million for the three months ended June 30, 2024, as compared to $109.6 million during the same prior year period. The segment's
operating margins were 47.1% and 47.0% for the first three months of fiscal 2025 and 2024, respectively. The increase in operating income and operating margin for the three months ended June 30,
2024 is primarily due to favorable pricing, which was partially offset by increased labor costs.

The Life Sciences segment’s operating income increased 5.5% to $52.6 million for the three months ended June 30, 2024, as compared to $49.8 million for the same prior year period. The
segment's operating margins were 40.9% and 37.9% for the first three months of fiscal 2025 and 2024, respectively. The increase in operating income and operating margin for the three months ended
June 30, 2024 is primarily due to favorable pricing and mix following the divestiture of CECS.

 (1)

(2)

(3)

(1)

(4)

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

The following table summarizes significant components of our cash flows for the three months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023:

  Three Months Ended June 30,
(dollars in thousands) 2024 2023
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 303,743  $ 281,129 
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities $ 687,829  $ (66,596)
Net cash used in financing activities $ (998,932) $ (213,637)
Debt-to-total capital ratio 26.7 % 32.2 %
Free cash flow $ 195,660  $ 214,533 

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities – The net cash provided by our operating activities was $303.7 million for the first three months of fiscal 2025 and $281.1 million for the first three
months of fiscal 2024. The fiscal 2025 increase in cash flows from operations resulted from the increase in cash provided by working capital, primarily driven by higher collection on accounts
receivable and improved inventory level management when compared to the same prior year period.

Net Cash Provided by/Used In Investing Activities – The net cash provided by investing activities totaled $687.8 million for the first three months of fiscal 2025 and net cash used in investing
activities totaled $66.6 million for the first three months of fiscal 2024. The following discussion summarizes the significant changes in our investing cash flows for the first three months of fiscal
2025 and fiscal 2024:

• Purchases of property, plant, equipment, and intangibles, net – Capital expenditures totaled $108.1 million for the first three months of fiscal 2025 and $66.6 million during the same prior
year period. The fiscal 2025 increase is due to the timing of capital spending.

• Proceeds from the sale of businesses – During the first three months of fiscal 2025, we received proceeds of $809.6 million from the sale of our Dental segment and the sale of our CECS
business. For more information, refer to Note 3 to our consolidated financial statements titled "Business Acquisitions and Divestitures" and Note 4 to our consolidated financial statements
titled "Discontinued Operations."

• Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired – During the first three months of fiscal 2025, we used $13.7 million to acquire businesses. For more information, refer to Note 3 to our
consolidated financial statements titled, "Business Acquisitions and Divestitures."

Net Cash Used In Financing Activities – The net cash used in financing activities amounted to $998.9 million and $213.6 million for the first three months of fiscal 2025 and fiscal 2024,
respectively. The following discussion summarizes the significant changes in our financing cash flows for the first three months of fiscal 2025 and fiscal 2024:

• Payments on term loans – During the first three months of fiscal 2025 and 2024, we repaid $638.1 million and $15.0 million, respectively, of our term loans. The fiscal 2025 increase was
primarily due to the use of proceeds from the sale of the Dental segment to pay off our outstanding term loans. For more information on our term loans, refer to Note 7 to our consolidated
financial statements titled, "Debt" and to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2024, which was filed with the SEC on May 29, 2024. For more information
regarding the sale of the Dental segment, refer to Note 4 to our consolidated financial statements titled "Discontinued Operations."

• Payments under credit facilities, net – Net payments under credit facilities totaled $253.2 million and $144.7 million for the first three months of fiscal 2025 and 2024, respectively. The
fiscal 2025 increase was primarily due to the use of proceeds from the sale of the Dental segment to pay down our outstanding Revolving Credit Facility balance. For more information on
our indebtedness, refer to Note 7 to our consolidated financial statements titled, "Debt" and to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2024, which was filed with the
SEC on May 29, 2024. For more information regarding the sale of the Dental segment, refer to Note 4 to our consolidated financial statements titled "Discontinued Operations."

• Repurchases of ordinary shares – During the first three months of fiscal 2025 and 2024, we obtained 69,780 and 51,494, respectively, of our ordinary shares in connection with share-based
compensation award programs in the aggregate amount of $10.3 million and $8.7 million, respectively. During the first three months of fiscal 2025, we purchased 241,507 of our ordinary
shares for the aggregate amount of $53.9 million through our share repurchase program. During the first three months of fiscal 2024, we did not purchase any ordinary shares through our
share repurchase program. For more information on our share repurchases, refer to Note 13 to our consolidated financial
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statements titled, "Repurchases of Ordinary Shares" and to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2024, which was filed with the SEC on May 29, 2024.

• Cash dividends paid to ordinary shareholders – During the first three months of fiscal 2025, we paid total cash dividends of $51.4 million, or $0.52 per outstanding share. During the first
three months of fiscal 2024, we paid total cash dividends of $46.4 million, or $0.47 per outstanding share.

• Transactions with noncontrolling interest holders – During the first three months of fiscal 2025, we received $2.5 million in contributions from noncontrolling interest holders.

• Stock option and other equity transactions, net – We generally receive cash for issuing shares under our stock option programs. During the first three months of fiscal 2025 and fiscal 2024,
we received cash proceeds totaling $5.6 million and $1.3 million, respectively, under these programs.

Cash Flow Measures. The net cash provided by our operating activities was $303.7 million for the first three months of fiscal 2025 and $281.1 million for the first three months of fiscal 2024.
Free cash flow was $195.7 million in the first three months of fiscal 2025 compared to $214.5 million in the first three months of fiscal 2024 (see the subsection above titled "Non-GAAP Financial
Measures" for additional information and related reconciliation of cash flows from operations to free cash flow). The fiscal 2025 decrease in free cash flow is primarily due to the timing of capital
spending.

Our debt-to-total capital ratio was 26.7% at June 30, 2024 and 32.2% at June 30, 2023.

Material Future Cash Obligations and Commercial Commitments. Information related to our material future cash obligations and commercial commitments is included in our Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2024, which was filed with the SEC on May 29, 2024. Our commercial commitments were approximately $112.2 million at June 30, 2024, reflecting a net
increase of $1.8 million in surety bonds and other commercial commitments from March 31, 2024. Outstanding borrowings under our Revolving Credit Facility as of June 30, 2024 were $231.3
million. We had $12.3 million of letters of credit outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility at June 30, 2024.

Cash Requirements. We intend to use our existing cash and cash equivalent balances and cash generated from operations for short-term and long-term capital expenditures and our other liquidity
needs. Our capital requirements depend on many uncertain factors, including our rate of sales growth, our Customers’ acceptance of our products and services, the costs of obtaining adequate
manufacturing capacities, the timing and extent of our research and development projects, changes in our expenses and other factors. To the extent that existing and anticipated sources of cash are not
sufficient to fund our future activities, we may need to raise additional funds through additional borrowings or the sale of equity securities. There can be no assurance that our existing financing
arrangements will provide us with sufficient funds or that we will be able to obtain any additional funds on terms favorable to us or at all.
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Supplemental Guarantor Financial Information
STERIS plc ("Parent") and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, STERIS Limited and STERIS Corporation (collectively "Guarantors" and each a "Guarantor"), each have provided guarantees of the

obligations of STERIS Irish FinCo Unlimited Company ("FinCo", "STERIS Irish FinCo", "Issuer") a wholly-owned subsidiary issuer, under Senior Public Notes issued by FinCo on April 1, 2021
and of certain other obligations relating to the Senior Public Notes. The Senior Public Notes are guaranteed, jointly and severally, on a senior unsecured basis. The Senior Public Notes and the related
guarantees are senior unsecured obligations of FinCo and the Guarantors, respectively, and are equal in priority with all other unsecured and unsubordinated indebtedness of the Issuer and the
Guarantors, respectively, from time to time outstanding, including, as applicable, under the Private Placement Senior Notes and borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility.

All of the liabilities of non-guarantor direct and indirect subsidiaries of STERIS, other than STERIS Irish FinCo, STERIS Limited and STERIS Corporation, including any claims of trade
creditors, are effectively senior to the Senior Public Notes.

STERIS Irish FinCo’s main objective and source of revenues and cash flows is the provision of short- and long-term financing for the activities of STERIS plc and its subsidiaries.
The ability of our subsidiaries to pay dividends, interest and other fees to the Issuer and ability of the Issuer and Guarantors to service the Senior Public Notes may be restricted by, among other

things, applicable corporate and other laws and regulations as well as agreements to which our subsidiaries are or may become a party.
The following is a summary of these guarantees:
Guarantees of Senior Notes
• Parent Company Guarantor – STERIS plc
• Subsidiary Issuer – STERIS Irish FinCo Unlimited Company
• Subsidiary Guarantor – STERIS Limited
• Subsidiary Guarantor – STERIS Corporation

The guarantee of a Guarantor will be automatically and unconditionally released and discharged:
• in the case of a Subsidiary Guarantor, upon the sale, transfer or other disposition (including by way of consolidation or merger) of such Subsidiary Guarantor, other than to the Parent or a

subsidiary of the Parent and as permitted by the indenture;
• in the case of a Subsidiary Guarantor, upon the sale, transfer or other disposition of all or substantially all the assets of such Subsidiary Guarantor, other than to the Parent or a subsidiary of

the Parent and as permitted by the indenture;
• in the case of a Subsidiary Guarantor, at such time as such Subsidiary Guarantor is no longer a borrower under or no longer guarantees any material credit facility (subject to restatement in

specified circumstances);
• upon the legal defeasance or covenant defeasance of the Senior Public Notes or the discharge of the Issuer’s obligations under the indenture in accordance with the terms of the indenture;
• as described in accordance with the terms of the indenture; or
• in the case of the Parent, if the Issuer ceases for any reason to be a subsidiary of the Parent; provided that all guarantees and other obligations of the Parent in respect of all other indebtedness

under any material credit facility of the Issuer terminate upon the Issuer ceasing to be a subsidiary of the Parent; and
• upon such Guarantor delivering to the trustee an officer’s certificate and an opinion of counsel, each stating that all conditions precedent provided for in the indenture relating to such

transaction or release have been complied with.
The obligations of each Guarantor under its guarantee are expressly limited to the maximum amount that such Guarantor could guarantee without such guarantee constituting a fraudulent

conveyance. Each Guarantor that makes a payment under its guarantee will be entitled upon payment in full of all guaranteed obligations under the indenture to a contribution from each Guarantor in
an amount equal to such other Guarantor’s pro rata portion of such payment based on the respective net assets of all the Guarantors at the time of such payment determined in accordance with U.S.
GAAP.
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The following tables present summarized results of operations for the three months ended June 30, 2024 and summarized balance sheet information at June 30, 2024 and March 31, 2024 for the
obligor group of the Senior Public Notes. The obligor group consists of the Parent Company Guarantor, Subsidiary Issuer, and Subsidiary Guarantors for the Senior Public Notes. The summarized
financial information is presented after elimination of (i) intercompany transactions and balances among the guarantors and issuer and (ii) equity in earnings from and investments in any subsidiary
that is a non-guarantor or issuer. Transactions with non-issuer and non-guarantor subsidiaries have been presented separately.

Summarized Results of Operations
(in thousands) Three Months Ended

June 30,
  2024
 

Revenues $ 717,088 
Gross profit 394,099 
Operating costs arising from transactions with non-issuers and non-guarantors, net 155,405 

    Income from operations 189,329 
Non-operating income (expense) arising from transactions with subsidiaries that are non-issuers and non-guarantors, net 122,081 

    Net income $ 107,301 

Summarized Balance Sheet Information
( in thousands)

June 30, March 31,
  2024 2024
Receivables due from non-issuers and non-guarantor subsidiaries $ 19,324,244  $ 19,120,843 
Other current assets 735,044  846,149 
Total current assets $ 20,059,288  $ 19,966,992 

Non-current receivables due from non-issuers and non-guarantor subsidiaries $ 1,322,452  $ 1,797,274 
Goodwill 292,559  292,559 
Other non-current assets 643,983  642,240 
Total non-current assets $ 2,258,994  $ 2,732,073 

Payables due to non-issuers and non-guarantor subsidiaries $ 21,956,256  $ 21,415,901 
Other current liabilities 226,181  289,047 
Total current liabilities $ 22,182,437  $ 21,704,948 

Non-current payables due to non-issuers and non-guarantor subsidiaries $ 519,230  $ 598,730 
Other non-current liabilities 2,356,901  3,247,978 
Total non-current liabilities $ 2,876,131  $ 3,846,708 

Intercompany balances and transactions between the obligor group have been eliminated, and amounts due from, amounts due to, and transactions with non-issuer and non-guarantor subsidiaries
have been presented separately. Intercompany transactions arise from internal financing and trade activities.

Critical Accounting Estimates and Assumptions

Information related to our critical accounting estimates and assumptions is included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2024, which was filed with the SEC on
May 29, 2024. Our critical accounting policies, estimates, and assumptions have not changed materially from March 31, 2024.

Contingencies

We are, and will likely continue to be, involved in a number of legal proceedings, government investigations, and claims, which we believe generally arise in the course of our business, given our
size, history, complexity, and the nature of our business, products, Customers, regulatory environment, and industries in which we participate. These legal proceedings,
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investigations and claims generally involve a variety of legal theories and allegations, including, without limitation, personal injury (e.g., slip and falls, burns, vehicle accidents), product liability or
regulation (e.g., based on product operation or claimed malfunction, failure to warn, failure to meet specification, or failure to comply with regulatory requirements), product exposure (e.g., claimed
exposure to chemicals, gases, asbestos, contaminants, radiation), property damage (e.g., claimed damage due to leaking equipment, fire, vehicles, chemicals), commercial claims (e.g., breach of
contract, economic loss, warranty, misrepresentation), financial (e.g., taxes, reporting), employment (e.g., wrongful termination, discrimination, benefits matters), and other claims for damage and
relief.

We record a liability for such contingencies to the extent we conclude that their occurrence is both probable and estimable. We consider many factors in making these assessments, including the
professional judgment of experienced members of management and our legal counsel. We have made estimates as to the likelihood of unfavorable outcomes and the amounts of such potential losses.
In our opinion, the ultimate outcome of these proceedings and claims is not anticipated to have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.
However, the ultimate outcome of proceedings, government investigations, and claims is unpredictable and actual results could be materially different from our estimates. We record expected
recoveries under applicable insurance contracts when we are assured of recovery. Refer to Note 10 of our consolidated financial statements titled, "Commitments and Contingencies" for additional
information.

We are subject to taxation from United States federal, state and local, and non-U.S. jurisdictions. Tax positions are settled primarily through the completion of audits within each individual tax
jurisdiction or the closing of a statute of limitation. Changes in applicable tax law or other events may also require us to revise past estimates. The IRS routinely conducts audits of our federal income
tax returns.

Refer to Note 9 of our consolidated financial statements titled, "Income Taxes" for more information.

Forward-Looking Statements

This quarterly report may contain statements concerning certain trends, expectations, forecasts, estimates, or other forward-looking information affecting or relating to STERIS or its industry,
products or activities that are intended to qualify for the protections afforded “forward-looking statements” under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and other laws and regulations.
Forward-looking statements speak only as to the date the statement is made and may be identified by the use of forward-looking terms such as “may,” “will,” “expects,” “believes,” “anticipates,”
“plans,” “estimates,” “projects,” “targets,” “forecasts,” “outlook,” “impact,” “potential,” “confidence,” “improve,” “optimistic,” “deliver,” “orders,” “backlog,” “comfortable,” “trend,” and “seeks,”
or the negative of such terms or other variations on such terms or comparable terminology. Many important factors could cause actual results to differ materially from those in the forward-looking
statements including, without limitation, statements related to the expected benefits of and timing of completion of the Restructuring Plan, disruption of production or supplies, changes in market
conditions, political events, pending or future claims or litigation, competitive factors, technology advances, actions of regulatory agencies, and changes in laws, government regulations, labeling or
product approvals or the application or interpretation thereof. Many of these important factors are outside of STERIS’s control. No assurances can be provided as to any result or the timing of any
outcome regarding matters described in STERIS’s securities filings or otherwise with respect to any regulatory action, administrative proceedings, government investigations, litigation, warning
letters, cost reductions, business strategies, earnings or revenue trends or future financial results. References to products are summaries only and should not be considered the specific terms of the
product clearance or literature. Unless legally required, STERIS does not undertake to update or revise any forward-looking statements even if events make clear that any projected results, express or
implied, will not be realized. Other potential risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements include, without limitation, (a) the
impact of public health crises on STERIS’s operations, supply chain, material and labor costs, performance, results, prospects, or value, (b) STERIS's ability to achieve the expected benefits regarding
the accounting and tax treatments of the redomiciliation to Ireland, (c) operating costs, Customer loss and business disruption (including, without limitation, difficulties in maintaining relationships
with employees, Customers, clients or suppliers) being greater than expected, (d) STERIS’s ability to successfully integrate acquired businesses into its existing businesses, including unknown or
inestimable liabilities, impairments, or increases in expected integration costs or difficulties in connection with the integration of such businesses, (e) uncertainties related to tax treatments under the
TCJA and the IRA, (f) the possibility that Pillar Two Model Rules could increase tax uncertainty and adversely impact STERIS's provision for income taxes and effective tax rate and subject STERIS
to additional income tax in jurisdictions who adopt Pillar Two Model Rules, (g) STERIS's ability to continue to qualify for benefits under certain income tax treaties in light of ratification of more
strict income tax treaty rules (through the MLI) in many jurisdictions where STERIS has operations, (h) changes in tax laws or interpretations that could increase our consolidated tax liabilities,
including changes in tax laws that would result in STERIS being treated as a domestic corporation for United States federal tax purposes, (i) the potential for increased pressure on pricing or costs
that leads to erosion of profit margins, including as a result of inflation, (j) the possibility that market demand will not develop for new technologies, products or applications or services, or business
initiatives will take longer, cost more or produce lower benefits than anticipated, (k) the possibility that application of or compliance with laws, court rulings, certifications, regulations, or regulatory
actions, including without limitation any of the same relating to FDA, EPA or other regulatory authorities, government investigations, the outcome of any pending or
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threatened FDA, EPA or other regulatory warning notices, actions, requests, inspections or submissions, the outcome of any pending or threatened litigation brought by private parties, or other
requirements or standards may delay, limit or prevent new product or service introductions, affect the production, supply and/or marketing of existing products or services, result in costs to STERIS
that may not be covered by insurance, or otherwise affect STERIS’s performance, results, prospects or value, (l) the potential of international unrest, including the Russia-Ukraine or Israel-Hamas
military conflicts, economic downturn or effects of currencies, tax assessments, tariffs and/or other trade barriers, adjustments or anticipated rates, raw material costs or availability, benefit or
retirement plan costs, or other regulatory compliance costs, (m) the possibility of reduced demand, or reductions in the rate of growth in demand, for STERIS’s products and services, (n) the
possibility of delays in receipt of orders, order cancellations, or delays in the manufacture or shipment of ordered products, due to supply chain issues or otherwise, or in the provision of services, (o)
the possibility that anticipated growth, cost savings, new product acceptance, performance or approvals, or other results may not be achieved, or that transition, labor, competition, timing, execution,
impairments, regulatory, governmental, or other issues or risks associated with STERIS’s businesses, industry or initiatives including, without limitation, those matters described in STERIS's various
securities filings, may adversely impact STERIS’s performance, results, prospects or value, (p) the impact on STERIS and its operations, or tax liabilities, of Brexit or the exit of other member
countries from the EU, and the Company’s ability to respond to such impacts, (q) the impact on STERIS and its operations of any legislation, regulations or orders, including but not limited to any
new trade or tax legislation (including CAMT and excise tax on stock buybacks), regulations or orders, that may be implemented by the U.S. administration or Congress, or of any responses thereto,
(r) the possibility that anticipated financial results or benefits of recent acquisitions, of STERIS’s restructuring efforts, or of recent divestitures, including anticipated revenue, productivity
improvement, cost savings, growth synergies and other anticipated benefits, will not be realized or will be other than anticipated, (s) the level of STERIS’s indebtedness limiting financial flexibility or
increasing future borrowing costs, (t) rating agency actions or other occurrences that could affect STERIS’s existing debt or future ability to borrow funds at rates favorable to STERIS or at all, (u) the
effects of changes in credit availability and pricing, as well as the ability of STERIS’s Customers and suppliers to adequately access the credit markets, on favorable terms or at all, when needed, and
(v) the possibility that our expectations about the pre-tax savings resulting from the Restructuring Plan, the number of positions eliminated pursuant to the Restructuring Plan and the costs, charges
and cash expenditures associated with the announced restructuring plan may not be realized on the timeline or timelines we expect, or at all.

Availability of Securities and Exchange Commission Filings

We make available free of charge on or through our website our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to these reports
as soon as reasonably practicable after we file such material with, or furnish such material to, the SEC. You may access these documents on the Investor Relations page of our website at
http://www.steris-ir.com. The information on our website and the SEC's website is not incorporated by reference into this report.

ITEM 3.     QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

In the ordinary course of business, we are subject to interest rate, currency, and commodity risks. Information related to these risks and our management of these exposures is included in Part II,
Item 7A, “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk,” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2024, which was filed with the SEC on May 29, 2024. Our
exposures to market risks have not changed materially since March 31, 2024.

Fluctuations in currency rates could affect our revenues, Cost of revenues and income from operations and could result in currency exchange gains and losses. During the first quarter of fiscal
2025, we held forward foreign currency contracts to hedge a portion of our expected non-U.S. dollar-denominated earnings against our reporting currency, the US dollar. These foreign currency
exchange contracts will mature during fiscal 2025. We did not elect hedge accounting for these forward currency contracts; however, we may seek to apply hedge accounting in future scenarios. As a
result, we may experience volatility due to (i) the timing mismatch of unrealized hedge gains or losses versus recognition of the underlying hedged earnings, and (ii) the impact of unrealized and
realized hedge gains or losses being reported in selling, general and administrative expenses, whereas the offsetting economic gains and losses of the underlying hedged earnings are reported in the
various line items of our Consolidated Statements of Income.

We also enter into foreign currency forward contracts to hedge monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, including inter-company transactions. We do not use derivative
financial instruments for speculative purposes. At June 30, 2024, we held net foreign currency forward contracts to buy 50.0 million British pounds sterling; and to sell 100.0 million Mexican pesos,
25.0 million Canadian dollars, 18.2 million euros, and 15.0 million Australian dollars,

We are dependent on basic raw materials, sub-assemblies, components, and other supplies used in our operations. Our financial results could be affected by the availability and changes in prices
of these materials. The costs of these materials can rise suddenly and result in significantly higher costs of production. Where appropriate, we enter into long-term supply contracts as a basis to
guarantee a reliable supply. We may also enter into commodity swap contracts to hedge price changes in a certain commodity that impacts raw materials included in our Cost of revenues. At June 30,
2024, we held commodity swap contracts to buy 591.8 thousand pounds of nickel.
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ITEM 4.    CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Under the supervision of and with the participation of our management, including the Principal Executive Officer (“PEO”) and Principal Financial Officer (“PFO”), we evaluated the effectiveness
of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as of the end of the period
covered by this Quarterly Report. Based on that evaluation, including the assessment and input of our management, the PEO and PFO concluded that, as of the end of the period covered by this
Quarterly Report, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective.

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, that occurred during
the quarter ended June 30, 2024 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II—OTHER INFORMATION

 

ITEM 1.    LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Information regarding our legal proceedings is included in this Form 10-Q in Note 10 to our consolidated financial statements titled, "Commitments and Contingencies" and in Item 7 of Part II,
titled “Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditions and Results of Operations," of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2024, which was filed with the
SEC on May 29, 2024.

ITEM 1A.    RISK FACTORS

For a complete discussion of the Company's risk factors, you should carefully review the risk factors included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024,
which was filed with the SEC on May 29, 2024.
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ITEM 2.    UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES, USE OF PROCEEDS, AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

On May 3, 2023, our Board of Directors terminated the previous share repurchase program then in effect and authorized a new share repurchase program for the purchase of up to $500 million
(net of taxes, fees and commissions). As of June 30, 2024, there was $444 million (net of taxes, fees and commissions) of remaining availability under the Board authorized share repurchase program.
The share repurchase program has no specified expiration date.

Under the May 3, 2023 share repurchase program, the Company may repurchase its shares from time to time through open market purchases, including 10b5-1 plans. Any share repurchases may
be activated, suspended or discontinued at any time.

During the first three months of fiscal 2025, we repurchased 251,507 of our ordinary shares for the aggregate amount of $56.1 million (net of fees and commissions) pursuant to authorizations
under the share repurchase program.

During the first three months of fiscal 2025, we obtained 69,780 of our ordinary shares in the aggregate amount of $10.3 million in connection with share-based compensation award programs.

The following table summarizes the ordinary shares repurchase activity during the first quarter of fiscal 2025 under our ordinary share repurchase program:

(dollars in thousands)
Total Number of

Shares Purchased  



Average Price Paid

Per Share  

Total Number of
Shares Purchased as

Part of Publicly
Announced Plans

Maximum Dollar Value of Shares that
May Yet Be Purchased Under the

Plans at Period End (in thousands)
April 1-30 —     $ —     —  $ 500,000 
May 1-31 90,000     228.01     90,000  479,479 
June 1-30 161,507     220.44     161,507  443,876 
Total 251,507  (1) $ 223.15  (1) 251,507  $ 443,876 

 Does not include 9 shares purchased during the quarter at an average price of $217.93 per share by the STERIS Corporation 401(k) Plan on behalf of an executive officer of the Company who may be deemed to be an
affiliated purchaser.

ITEM 5.    OTHER INFORMATION

During the three months ended June 30, 2024, none of our directors or officers (as defined in Rule 16a-1(f) of the Exchange Act) adopted, modified or terminated a "Rule 10b5-1 trading
arrangement" or a "non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement" as such terms are defined under Item 408 of Regulation S-K, except as follows:

On June 6, 2024, Daniel A. Carestio, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, adopted a trading arrangement for the sale of the Company’s ordinary shares that is intended to
satisfy the affirmative defense conditions of Rule 10b5-1(c) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act” and such plan, a “Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan”). Mr. Carestio’s
Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan, which expires June 5, 2026, provides for the sale of up to 62,021 ordinary shares pursuant to the terms of such plan. The actual number of ordinary shares available to be
sold under the Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan for ordinary shares subject to unvested awards will be calculated at the time of vesting of such equity awards after withholding to satisfy tax obligations.

On May 15, 2024, Michael J. Tokich, Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, adopted a Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan. Mr. Tokich’s Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan, which
expires June 12, 2026, provides for the sale of up to 46,664 ordinary shares pursuant to the terms of such plan.

On May 15, 2024, J. Adam Zangerle, Senior Vice President, General Counsel, and Company Secretary of the Company, adopted a Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan. Mr. Zangerle’s Rule 10b5-1 Trading
Plan, which expires November 1, 2025, provides for the sale of up to 17,822 ordinary shares pursuant to the terms of such plan. The actual number of ordinary shares available to be sold under the
Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan for ordinary shares subject to unvested awards will be calculated at the time of vesting of such equity awards after withholding to satisfy tax obligations.

(1)
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ITEM 6.    EXHIBITS

Exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K
 

Exhibit
Number Exhibit Description

2.1 Equity Purchase Agreement by and between STERIS Corporation, HuFriedy Group Holding LLC, Hu-Friedy Mfg. Co. LLC and Crosstex International, Inc., dated as of April 10,
2024 (filed herewith).

3.1 STERIS plc Amended Memorandum and Articles of Association (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to STERIS plc Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2019 (Commission File No.
001-38848), and incorporated herein by reference).

15.1 Letter Re: Unaudited Interim Financial Information.
22.1 List of Guarantor Subsidiaries with respect to the 2.700% Notes due 2031 and 3.750% Notes due 2051 issued by STERIS Irish Finco Unlimited Company (filed as Exhibit 22.1 to

Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2021 (Commission File No. 001-38848), and incorporated by reference).

31.1 Certification of the Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a).
31.2 Certification of the Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a).
32.1 Certification of the Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101.SCH Inline Schema Document.
101.CAL Inline Calculation Linkbase Document.
101.DEF Inline Definition Linkbase Document.
101.LAB Inline Labels Linkbase Document.
101.PRE Inline Presentation Linkbase Document.

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101).
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SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
 

STERIS plc

/s/ KAREN L. BURTON
Karen L. Burton

Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer
August 8, 2024
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6 EQUITY PURCHASE AGREEMENT This EQUITY PURCHASE AGREEMENT, dated April 10, 2024 (this "Agreement"), is being entered into among STERIS Corporation, an Ohio corporation ("Seller"), HuFriedy Group Holding LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("Purchaser "), and solely with respect to Section 2.10, Hu-Friedy Mfg. Co., LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("Hu-Friedy"), and Crosstex International, Inc., a New York corporation ("Crosstex"). Seller and Purchaser are sometimes referred to in this Agreement individually as a "Party" and collectively as the "Parties." WHEREAS, Seller, through certain of its Subsidiaries, is engaged in, among other things, the Business (as defined herein); and WHEREAS, Seller desires to sell, or cause to be sold, to Purchaser, and Purchaser desires to purchase, from Seller or one of its Affiliates, all of the Purchased Entity Equity (as defined herein) upon the terms and subject to the conditions contained in this Agreement (the "Transaction"). NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the representations, warranties, covenants and other agreements contained in this Agreement, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, on the terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement, Seller and Purchaser, intending to be legally bound, hereby agree as follows: ARTICLE I DEFINITIONS Section 1.1 Definitions. As used herein, the following terms have the meanings set forth below when capitalized: "Accrued Income Tax Liability" means an amount (which shall not be less than zero in respect of any jurisdiction, and shall be calculated in accordance with the Transaction Accounting Principles) equal to the sum of the aggregate liability for accrued but unpaid Income Taxes of the Transferred Entities for Pre-Closing Tax Periods; provided that, for purposes of calculating such amount (a) Taxes shall be determined in accordance
with the past practices and accounting methods of the Transferred Entities, to the extent permitted by applicable Law, (b) any liabilities for accruals or reserves established or required to be established under GAAP methodologies for contingent Taxes or with respect to uncertain Tax positions shall not be treated as unpaid Taxes, (c) any items of income, expense, gain or loss solely attributable to any action taken by any Transferred Entity on the Closing Date after the Closing within control of Purchaser that is outside the ordinary course of business of the Transferred Entities and not otherwise contemplated by the Transaction Documents shall be disregarded, (d) unless otherwise included in the calculation of Working Capital, all overpayments of Income Tax, payments of estimated Income Tax and all current accrued Income Tax refunds or Tax credits, in each case, allocable to Pre-Closing Tax Periods that are, or will be, properly used under the governing Tax Law for each separate jurisdiction in question to offset Income Taxes of the Transferred Entities for Pre-Closing Tax Periods shall be taken into account as a reduction to such amount, (e) all Transaction Tax Deductions of the Transferred Entities shall be included as deductions in the calculation of



 

7 Accrued Income Tax Liability to the extent "more likely than not" deductible (or deductible at a higher confidence level) in the relevant Pre-Closing Tax Period, (f) in the case of the Straddle Period, the portion of that period ending on the Closing Date shall be treated as if it were a separate taxable period ending on the Closing Date, and Income Taxes allocable to such portion shall be determined consistent with the principles set forth in Section 6.6(d), (g) any Income Taxes of the Transferred Entity which is included in a consolidated, combined, unitary, or similar group Tax Return together with Seller or any of its Affiliates should not be treated as "Accrued Income Tax Liability," and (h) for the avoidance of doubt, no deferred Tax assets or deferred Tax liabilities shall be taken into account. "Affiliate" means, with respect to any Person, as of the time at which determination of affiliation is being made, any other Person that, directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, such Person. For purposes of this definition, "control" (including, with correlative meanings, the terms "controlled by" and "under common control with"), as used with respect to any Person means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of such Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by Contract or otherwise. For the avoidance of doubt, Seller and its respective Affiliates shall not be deemed to be Affiliates of Purchaser or, from and after the Closing, of the Business or the Transferred Entities. "Anti-Corruption Laws" means all applicable Laws, relating to the prevention of corruption and bribery, including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977 and all comparable and applicable state and foreign Laws related to the foregoing. "Approval" means any approval, authorization or consent of, filing with, notification to, or
granting or issuance of any approval, consent, license, order, permit or waiver by any Person. "Base Purchase Price" means $782,000,000. "Baseline Measurement" means $408,120,716. "Benefit Plan" means each (a) "employee benefit plan," as defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA (whether or not subject to ERISA), (b) bonus, commission, deferred compensation, pension, retirement, profit-sharing, thrift, savings, employee stock ownership, equity or equity- based, other forms of incentive compensation, retention, severance or change-in-control plans, disability benefits, supplemental unemployment benefits, vacation benefits, retirement benefits, post-employment retirement or health or welfare benefits, welfare benefit plans, and (c) each and every other written, formal or informal plan, agreement, program, policy or other arrangement providing employee benefits or other fringe benefits or any other benefits or compensation (i) that is entered into, sponsored, maintained or contributed to (or required to be contributed to) by any of the Transferred Entities, (ii) that is entered into, sponsored, maintained or contributed to (or required to be contributed to) by Seller or its Affiliates for the benefit of any Business Employee or directors, individual independent contractors or other individual service providers of the Transferred Entities or (iii) under or with respect to which any Transferred Entity has any Liability, in each case, excluding any plans, policies, or arrangements maintained by or to which contributions by an employer are mandated by a Governmental Entity.



 

8 "Business" means the business and operations of the "Dental" business segment as described and reported in the most recent annual report on Form 10-K filed by STERIS plc with the SEC and, without limiting the foregoing, includes the development, manufacturing, marketing, sale and distribution of instrumentation, infection prevention consumables and instrument management systems (including hand and electric-powered dental instruments, infection control products, conscious sedation, personal protective equipment and water quality products), in each case, for dental practitioners, dental schools, medical facilities, government institutions, education institutions and veterinary clinics. "Business Day" means any day, other than a Saturday, Sunday or day on which commercial banks are required or authorized to be closed in Cleveland, Ohio or Austin, Texas. "Business Employee" means each individual who (a) as of immediately prior to the Closing, is employed or engaged by any Transferred Entity or (b) is employed or engaged by Seller or one of its Affiliates (other than the Transferred Entities) and whose job responsibilities in the last 12 months (or such shorter period of their employment with Seller or its Affiliates (other than the Transferred Entities)) were primarily or exclusively dedicated to the Business, including all individuals set forth in Section 3.18(m) of the Disclosure Schedules and including, in each case of clauses (a) and (b), any individual who is on short-term or long-term disability or other approved leave of absence as of such time, but excluding the Excluded Employees. "Business IT Assets" means (i) Business Products and Business Product Data, and (ii) the computer systems (including the computer software, firmware and hardware), telecommunications, networks, peripherals, platforms, information, electronic data processing, servers, interfaces and other similar or related items of automated, computerized or software systems
that are primarily related to the Business (the "Business Systems"). "Business Material Adverse Effect" means any occurrence, fact, condition, event, change, effect or development that, individually or in the aggregate, has had, or would be reasonably expected to (i) have a material adverse effect on the business, assets, properties, liabilities, condition (financial or otherwise) or results of operations of the Business, taken as a whole or (ii) prevent or materially impair the ability of Seller to consummate the Transaction pursuant to the terms of this Agreement; provided that solely for the purposes of Section 3.7(a), Section 7.2(a) and Section 7.2(c) no such occurrence, fact, condition, event, change, effect or development resulting or arising from or in connection with any of the following matters shall be deemed, either alone or in combination, to constitute or contribute to a Business Material Adverse Effect or otherwise be taken into account in determining whether a Business Material Adverse Effect has occurred: (a) the general conditions in the industries in which the Business operates, including competition in any of the geographic areas in which the Business operates; (b) political, economic, business, monetary, financial, securities, supply chain or capital or credit market conditions or trends (including inflation, deflation, or any changes in the rate of increase or decrease of inflation or deflation, interest or exchange rates or the price of commodities or raw materials), including with respect to government spending, budgets and related matters or the development, continuation or worsening of supply chain disruptions; (c) geopolitical conditions, trade wars, tariffs or sanctions, any act of civil unrest, war, sabotage or terrorism (including by cyberattack or otherwise), including any geopolitical dispute and conflict between the Russian Federation and Ukraine or Israel and Hamas, and any evolution or worsening thereof, and any outbreak or



 

9 escalation of hostilities involving the United States or any other country or the declaration by the United States or any other country or jurisdiction of a national emergency or war; (d) any natural disasters or weather developments, including earthquakes, hurricanes, tsunamis, typhoons, lightning, hail storms, blizzards, tornadoes, droughts, floods, cyclones, arctic frosts, mudslides and wildfires, acts of God, or any virus, pandemic (including COVID-19), epidemic or disease or similar force majeure events, including any material worsening of such conditions; (e) the failure of the financial or operating performance of the Business to meet internal, Purchaser or analyst projections, forecasts, milestones, estimates, guidance or budgets or financial or operating predictions of revenue, earnings, cash flow or cash position for any period (provided that this clause (e) shall not be construed as implying that Seller or any of its Affiliates is making any representation or warranty herein with respect to any internal, Purchaser or analyst projections, forecasts, milestones, estimates, guidance or budgets or financial or operating predictions of revenue, earnings, cash flow or cash position for any period, and provided further that any cause underlying such failure may be taken into account in determining whether a Business Material Adverse Effect has occurred unless excluded by another clause in this definition); (f) any failure to take actions due to Purchaser unreasonably withholding, delaying or conditioning its consent thereto in violation of Section 5.2(a) or Section 5.2(b) following the written request of Seller to take such action; (g) the announcement to the extent permitted by Section 5.5 of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby; (h) the failure of the U.S. federal government to adopt a budget for a fiscal year, the extension of any effective continuing resolution under which the U.S. federal government
is operating, the shutdown of the U.S. federal government upon expiration of any continuing resolution or any delays or failure by the U.S. federal government to raise the U.S. debt ceiling; (i) changes in any Law (including any governmental or quasi-governmental action, including COVID-19 Measures, taken in connection with any virus, pandemic (including COVID-19), epidemic or disease or similar force majeure events, including any worsening of such conditions and the expiration or termination of any actions taken in response thereto, including the termination of any COVID-19 Measures), or changes in GAAP or other applicable accounting principles or standard or any generally-accepted interpretations thereof, in each case, occurring after the date hereof; or (j) the availability or cost of any financing of any kind to Purchaser or its Affiliates; provided, further, that any adverse occurrences, facts, conditions, events, changes, effects or developments resulting from the matters described in the foregoing clauses (a), (b), (c), (d), (h) or (i) may be taken into account in determining whether there has been a Business Material Adverse Effect to the extent, and only to the extent that they have a disproportionate effect on the Business in the aggregate relative to similarly situated businesses in the industries, markets or geographies in which the Business operates (in which case only such incremental disproportionate impact may be taken into account in determining whether there has been a Business Material Adverse Effect). "Business Product Data" means all data and information (including Personal Data), whether in electronic or any other form or medium, that is Processed by any of the Business Products. "Business Products" means all products and the Software embedded in such products, including any of the foregoing currently in development, in each case, from which any Transferred Entity has derived since June 2, 2021, is currently deriving or is

scheduled to derive, revenue directly from the sale, license, maintenance or other provision of such product.



 

10 "CARES Act" means the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (H.R. 748, Pub. Law 116-136). "Cash Amounts" means an amount equal to, without duplication, all unrestricted cash and cash equivalents (to the extent convertible to cash within 5 days), including cash in bank accounts, any digital or electronic "wallet" with PayPal or Shopify (to the extent irrevocably transferrable into a bank account of a Transferred Entity within 30 days), deposits in transit and certificates of deposit; provided, that Cash Amounts shall (a) include uncleared checks, wire transfers, ACH transfers and other electronic payments and deposits in transit to the Transferred Entities, in each case, except to the extent the receivables associated therewith are included in Working Capital, and (b) be reduced for (i) issued but uncleared checks, wire transfers, ACH transfers and other electronic payments from the Transferred Entities, in each case, except to the extent the payables associated therewith are included in Working Capital, and (ii) the amount equal to 25% of all cash or cash equivalents as of the Measurement Time in excess of 110% of the aggregate Minimum Cash Amount; provided, further, that the calculation of Cash Amounts (x) will exclude the aggregate amount of any cash used between the Measurement Time and the Closing (and, for the purposes of Accrued Income Tax Liability, until 11:59 p.m. Eastern Time on the Closing Date) for the payment of Indebtedness or Transaction Expenses (such excluded amount, the "Cash Pay Off"), and (y) will not reflect any item to the extent already included within the calculations of Working Capital, Indebtedness or Transaction Expenses, in each case, in accordance with the definitions herein. "Cash Repatriation Actions" has the meaning set forth on Section 1.1(a) of the Disclosure Schedules. "Closing Cash Amounts" means an amount equal to the sum of the Cash Amounts of the Transferred Entities as of the
Measurement Time. "Closing Indebtedness" means an amount equal to the sum of the Indebtedness as of immediately prior to the Closing, excluding, for the avoidance of doubt, any such amounts subject to any Cash Pay Off. "Closing Purchase Price" means (a) the Base Purchase Price, plus (b) the Estimated Closing Cash Amounts, plus (c) the Estimated Working Capital Adjustment Amount (which may be a positive or negative number), minus (d) the Estimated Closing Indebtedness, and minus (e) the Estimated Closing Transaction Expenses. "Closing Transaction Expenses" means an amount equal to the sum of the Transaction Expenses of the Transferred Entities that have not been paid as of immediately prior to the Closing, excluding, for the avoidance of doubt, any such amounts subject to any Cash Pay Off. "Closing Working Capital" means the Working Capital as of the Measurement Time. "Code" means the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986. "Commingled Contract" means a Contract with a third-party that both Seller or any of its Affiliates (other than the Transferred Entities), on the one hand, and any of the Transferred Entities,



 

11 on the other hand, are party to that relates to both the Business and the Retained Business, other than any Transaction Document. "Competition/Foreign Investment Law" means (a) the HSR Act, (b) any federal, state or foreign antitrust, competition or trade regulation Law that prohibits, restricts or regulates actions having the purpose or effect of monopolization, restraint of trade or lessening competition through merger or acquisition, or (c) any Laws with respect to foreign investment. "Confidential Information" means "Information" as defined in the Confidentiality Agreement. "Connecticut Transfer Act" means the Connecticut Property Transfer Act (Connecticut General Statutes Section 22a-134 et seq.). "Contract" means any agreement between two or more parties creating obligations that are enforceable under applicable law, including any contract, commitment, credit agreement, indenture, license, sublicense, lease or sublease or loan, to which any Transferred Entity is a party or any of its assets are bound. "COTS Software" means a "shrink-wrap," "click-through" or "off-the-shelf" Software non-exclusive license, or any other non-exclusive license of Software that is commercially available to the public generally, with one-time or annual license, maintenance, support and other fees of $1,000,000 or less. "COVID-19" means SARS-CoV-2 or COVID-19, and any evolutions, variants or mutations thereof or related or associated epidemics, pandemics or disease outbreaks. "COVID-19 Measures" means any quarantine, "shelter in place," "stay at home," social or physical distancing, shutdown, closure, sequester, safety or similar Law, directive, guidelines or recommendations promulgated by any industry group, nationally or internationally recognized organization or any Governmental Entity, including the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and the World Health Organization, in each case, in connection with or in response to COVID-19,
including the CARES Act, Families First Act and American Rescue Plan Act of 2021. "Data Protection Requirements" means, collectively, all of the following to the extent relating to the Processing of Protected Data or otherwise relating to privacy, security, or security breach notification requirements and applicable to the Transferred Entities or the conduct of the Business:  (a) the Transferred Entities', or Seller's and its Subsidiaries' as it relates to the Business, own rules, policies, and procedures (including all website privacy policies and internal information security procedures); (b) all applicable Laws, rules and regulations relating to the protection or processing of Personal Data, data privacy or cybersecurity in any relevant jurisdiction (including, as applicable, HIPAA, the California Consumer Privacy Act of 2018, the California Privacy Rights Act of 2020, the General Data Protection Regulation (Regulation (EU) 2016/679) ("EU GDPR"), the EU GDPR as it forms part of the laws of England and Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland by virtue of section 3 of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 and the UK Data Protection Act 2018, the Controlling the Assault of Non-Solicited Pornography And Marketing Act of 2003 (CAN-SPAM), the Telephone Consumer Protection Act (TCPA), the Illinois Biometric Information Privacy Act (BIPA), and the NY SHIELD Act) and all guidance issued by any



 

12 applicable Governmental Entity having the force of law, and including any predecessor, successor or implementing legislation of the foregoing, and any amendments or re-enactments of the foregoing; (c) industry standards applicable to the industry in which the Business operates (including, if applicable, the PCI DSS); and (d) Contracts into which the Transferred Entities, or Seller or any of its Subsidiaries (other than the Transferred Entities) as it relates primarily to the Business, has entered or by which it is otherwise bound. "Dayton Incentive Agreements" means those agreements set forth on Section 1.1(b) of the Disclosure Schedules. "Debt Financing Sources" means the Persons that have committed to provide or otherwise entered into agreements in connection with the Debt Financing in connection with the Transactions, including the parties named in the Debt Commitment Letter and any joinder agreements or credit agreements (including any other definitive agreements) entered into pursuant thereto or relating thereto together with their Affiliates, officers, directors, employees and representatives involved in the Debt Financing and their successors and assigns; provided that neither Purchaser nor any Affiliate of Purchaser shall be a Debt Financing Source. "Deferred Purchase Price" means an amount equal to $5,500,000, payable in accordance with Section 2.8. "Derivatives" means all modifications, corrections, translations, enhancements, upgrades updates, adaptations and other derivative works and improvements of any Licensed Seller Intellectual Property. "Disclosure Schedules" means those certain Disclosure Schedules, dated as of the date hereof, provided by Seller to Purchaser. "Earnout Period" means the 12-month period ending March 31, 2025. "Employee Hire Date" has the meaning given to such term in the Transition Services Agreement. "Employee Transfer Legislation" means (a) in relation to any European Union member states, the
Transfers of Undertakings/Acquired Rights Directive (2001/23/EC), together with any national legislation implementing the Transfers of Undertakings/Acquired Rights Directive (2001/23/EC), and (b) in relation to any non- European Union member state, any national, provincial or local legislation that is broadly similar in effect to the provisions of the Transfers of Undertakings/Acquired Rights Directive (2001/23/EC). "Environment" means soil, surface water, groundwater, stream sediment, land surface or subsurface strata, drinking water supply, natural resources and ambient (indoor or outdoor) air. "Environmental Claim" means any written notice, claim, demand, action, suit, complaint, Judgment or Proceeding by any Person alleging any actual or potential Liability under or violation of any Environmental Law.



 

13 "Environmental Law" means any Law concerning pollution, public or worker health or safety (with respect to exposure to hazardous or toxic substances), or protection of the Environment. "ERISA" means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974. "ERISA Affiliate" means, with respect to any entity, trade or business, any other entity, trade or business that is a member of a group described in Section 414(b), (c), (m) or (o) of the Code or Section 4001(b)(1) of ERISA that includes the first entity, trade or business, or that is a member of the same "controlled group" as the first entity, trade or business pursuant to Section 4001(a)(14) of ERISA. "Escrow Agent" means Citibank, N.A. "Escrow Agreement" means the Escrow Agreement in the form mutually agreed upon by the Parties prior to the Closing Date. "Escrow Amount" means $7,500,000. "Excluded Employees" means the individuals set forth on Section 1.1(c) of the Disclosure Schedules. "FDA" means the U.S. Food and Drug Administration. "FDA Laws" means all applicable Laws administered by FDA or comparable state or foreign Governmental Entities related to the design, development, testing, clinical investigation, clearance, approval, authorization, registration, and listing, manufacture, packaging, labeling, storage, advertising and promotion, import and export, reporting and recordkeeping, and sale and distribution of medical devices and their component parts including the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act (21 U.S.C. § 301, et seq.), including, as applicable, requirements relating to good manufacturing practices (21 C.F.R. Part 820), and all comparable and applicable state and foreign Laws related to the foregoing, including Directive 93/42/EEC concerning medical devices and its local transposing laws, and Regulation (EU) 2017/745 on medical devices. "Fraud" means actual common law fraud under Delaware law with respect to the making of the representations and
warranties expressly set forth in, as applicable, Article III (as modified by the Disclosure Schedules) or Article IV and requires (a) such representation and warranty is false or incorrect, (b) actual knowledge that such representation and warranty is false or incorrect, (c) intention to induce such Party to whom such representation and warranty is made to act or refrain from acting, (d) such Party to whom such representation and warranty is made to have acted or refrained from acting in justifiable reliance upon such false or incorrect representation and warranty, and (e) such Party to whom such representation or warranty is made suffered a Loss by reason of such reliance; provided, that in no event will "Fraud" include any claim for constructive fraud, equitable fraud or reckless or negligent fraud. "GAAP" means United States generally accepted accounting principles, as in effect from time to time.



 

14 "Government Contract" means any Contract between a Transferred Entity, on the one hand, and (a) a Governmental Entity, or (b) any prime contractor of a Governmental Entity that, to the Knowledge of Seller, is acting in its capacity as a prime contractor; provided that a task, purchase, work or delivery order under a Government Contract shall not constitute a separate Government Contract, for purposes of this definition, but shall be part of the Government Contract to which it relates. "Governmental Entity" means any local, state, national or supranational government or any arbitrator or arbitral body (public or private), court or tribunal of competent jurisdiction, administrative agency or commission or other local, state, national or supranational governmental authority or instrumentality. "Governmental Health Care Program" means the Medicare and Medicaid Programs, the CHAMPUS Program, the TRICARE Program, and any other federal or state reimbursement program involving payment of governmental funds (including "Federal Health Care Programs" as defined in 42 U.S.C. § 1320a 7b(f)). "Hazardous Material" means any material, substance or waste that is listed or defined as a "hazardous substance," "hazardous waste," "toxic substance" or any other term of similar import under, or which is regulated by or may give rise to Liability or standards of conduct pursuant to, any Environmental Law, including petroleum or petroleum byproducts, asbestos, toxic mold, per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances, ethylene oxide and polychlorinated biphenyls. "Health Care Laws" means applicable Laws relating to the operation of the Business, including the licensure, or certification of manufacturers of dental instruments, dental infection prevention and control products, and conscious sedation equipment, including: (a) the federal Anti- Kickback Statute (42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7b(b)), the Civil Monetary Penalties Law (42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7a), the civil False Claim
Act (31 U.S.C. § 3729 et seq.), and the Exclusion Laws (42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7); (b) HIPAA; (c) the HITECH Act; (d) quality and safety Laws relating to the regulation, provision or administration of, or payment for, dental instruments, dental infection prevention and control products and conscious sedation equipment; (e) Laws relating to Health Care Permits; (f) Laws relating to the regulation, provision or administration of, or payment for, dental instruments, dental infection prevention and control products, and conscious sedation equipment; (g) the Stark Law (42 U.S.C. §§ 1395nn and 1396b); (h) Section 6002 of the Affordable Care Act; (i) the Physician Payments Sunshine Act (42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7h); (j) all comparable and applicable foreign laws related to the foregoing, and (k) all applicable Laws related to the reporting of manufacturers' payments or transfers of value and commercial benefits to healthcare professionals, healthcare associations, hospitals, clinics, patient associations and patients. "Health Care Permits" means all Permits required to legally operate the Business with respect to any Health Care Laws or any FDA Laws. "HIPAA" means the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, Public Law 104-191 as amended by the American Recovery and Reimbursement Act of 2009.



 

15 "HITECH Act" means the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act of the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 (as amended and codified at 45 C.F.R. Parts 160, 162 and 164). "HSR Act" means the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976. "Improvements" means all appurtenances, buildings, fixed equipment, fixed machinery, fixtures, parking lots, roadways, sidings and structures situated on, in, under, over or forming part of, any real property. "Income Taxes" means all Taxes that are in whole or in part based upon, measured by, imposed on, or calculated with respect to gross or net income, receipts or profits or other similar Tax (including any capital gains, or minimum Tax and any franchise Tax, margin Tax, gross receipts Tax or business profits Tax imposed in lieu of such income Tax, but not including any sales, use, value added, employment, real or personal property, transfer or similar Taxes). "Indebtedness" means, without duplication, the aggregate amount of all liabilities and obligations of the Transferred Entities with respect to: (a) the outstanding principal amount of any indebtedness for borrowed money (other than trade payables arising in the ordinary course of business and included in Working Capital in accordance with the Transaction Accounting Principles), including (with respect to this clause (a) and clause (b) of this definition) all accrued or unpaid interest thereon and any prepayment or early termination penalties, premiums, breakage fees or other fees, costs, expenses or other amounts payable with respect thereto upon the repayment thereof at the Closing; (b) the outstanding principal amount of all other obligations evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes or similar instruments of indebtedness; (c) all obligations under letters of credit, acceptances or similar obligations (including surety or performance bonds) and any reimbursement agreements with respect thereto, in each case
solely to the extent drawn, if applicable; (d) leases classified as a capital or finance lease in the Business Financial Statements; (e) (w) unpaid severance in respect of former employees of the Transferred Entities whose employment terminated prior to the Closing, (x) the Specified 2024 Bonus Amount (without duplication of any amounts of the Specified 2024 Bonus Amount payable under the Dayton Incentive Agreements, it being understood that such amounts will be paid, as applicable, pursuant to the applicable Dayton Incentive Agreements and in accordance with Section 5.6(g)(ii)); provided that such amount will be no less than the amount set forth on Section 1.1(d) of the Disclosure Schedules, but only to the extent such amounts are not paid by Seller or its Affiliates prior to or as of the Closing; (y) the Specified Dayton Incentive Agreement Amount; provided that such amount will be no less than the amount set forth on Section 1.1(e) of the Disclosure Schedules, but only to the extent such amount is paid by Purchaser and not reimbursed by Seller or its Affiliates pursuant to Section 5.6(g)(ii); and (z) the employer portion of any payroll, employment or similar Taxes related to any of the foregoing clauses (w), (x), and (y); (f) unfunded or underfunded defined contribution or defined benefit pension, deferred compensation, gratuity, retiree or post-termination health or welfare plans or arrangements; (g) Accrued Income Tax Liability; (h) deferred rent for any Business Leased Real Property; (i) guarantees or other assurances by any Transferred Entity to pay another Person's debt for borrowed money or to perform another Person's obligation in the case of default (determined at the face value thereof); (j) the deferred purchase price for any asset, business (including any earn-out), property, security or services, in each case, calculated as the maximum amount payable under or pursuant to such



 

16 liability; (k) amounts payable or owed by a Transferred Entity to any Related Party (including Seller or any of its Affiliates (other than the Transferred Entities)), excluding any amounts payable or owed by a Transferred Entity (x) as trade payables to Seller or its Affiliates in connection with any Transferred Entity's purchase of products with respect to the Business, which products are more particularly identified in the Supply Agreements and (y) arising from Excluded Affiliate Transactions; (l) $2,000,000 which is the agreed amount with respect to unfunded or deferred capital expenditures; (m) the cost to service deferred revenue of the Business, which shall be determined by multiplying 23.6% by the aggregate amount of such deferred revenue existing as of the Measurement Time; (n) declared and unpaid dividends or distributions; (o) the net settlement amount of any forward, swap or other similar contract or hedge, assuming settlement as of immediately prior to Closing, including any breakage or other costs associated with terminating such contract or hedge (whether in whole or in part as it relates to the Transferred Entities) and (p) $349,000, which is the agreed amount with respect to the Parkside Lane, Arizona and Julius Wirth duplicate lease arrangements; provided that in no event shall Indebtedness include any (i) Liabilities to be repaid or extinguished pursuant to this Agreement prior to the Closing (so long as such Liabilities are actually repaid or extinguished prior to the Closing), (ii) Liability to the extent already included within the definition of Transaction Expenses, (iii) intercompany amounts owed from one Transferred Entity to any other Transferred Entity, (iv) obligations of any Transferred Entity under any operating lease (to the extent reflected in Working Capital in accordance with the definition thereof), or (v) Liability in respect of amounts payable in respect of the Earnout Payment or the Deferred Purchase Price. "Intellectual
Property Rights" means any and all common law or statutory rights anywhere in the world, including rights provided by international treaties and conventions, arising under or associated with: (a) patents, patent applications, statutory invention registrations, registered designs, and similar or equivalent rights in inventions and designs ("Patents"); (b) trademarks, service marks, trade dress, trade names, logos and other designations of origin ("Trademarks"); (c) Internet domain names, uniform resource locators, internet protocol addresses, social media handles and other names, identifiers and locators associated with Internet addresses, sites and services; (d) copyrights and any other equivalent rights in works of authorship (including rights in software as a work of authorship) and any other related rights of authors ("Copyrights"); (e) trade secrets and industrial secret rights, and rights in know-how, data and confidential or proprietary business or technical information that derives independent economic value, whether actual or potential, from not being known to other persons ("Trade Secrets"); and (f) other similar or equivalent intellectual property rights anywhere in the world, together with the goodwill associated with any of the foregoing, and all applications, registrations and renewals thereof. "Intercompany Agreements" means all Contracts that are solely between or among Seller or its Affiliates (other than the Transferred Entities) on the one hand, and any of the Transferred Entities, on the other hand, other than the Organizational Documents of the Transferred Entities. "International Trade Laws" means: (a) the Arms Export Control Act (22 U.S.C. §§ 2778 et seq.); (b) the Export Administration Act (50 U.S.C. App. §§ 2401 et seq.), as continued in force by presidential order; (c) the Export Control Reform Act of 2018 (Pub. L. 115-232), and the Export Administration Regulations; (d) any applicable trade, economic and financial sanctions programs,

including those administered, enacted or enforced by the U.S. (including the Department of the Treasury and U.S. Department of State, including those promulgated under the International



 

17 Emergency Economic Powers Act (50 U.S.C. §§ 1701-1706), the National Emergencies Act (50 U.S.C. §§ 1601-1651), and the Trading with the Enemy Act (50 U.S.C. App. §§ 5, 16)), the European Union and enforced by its member states, the United Nations or His Majesty's Treasury; and (e) applicable Laws relating to export, re-export, transfer or import control, including customs and import Laws administered by U.S. Customs and Border Protection and 22 C.F.R. Part 447, as administered by the Department of Justice, Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives. "IRS" means the U.S. Internal Revenue Service. "Italy Equity Purchase Agreement" means that certain Deed of Sale and Purchase of Equity Interests (Atto Di Compravendita Di Partecipazioni Sociali) in the form of Exhibit A to transfer to Purchaser (or its designee) all right, title and interest in and to the equity interests of Omnia S.r.l. owned by Cantel Medical (Italy) S.r.l. "Judgment" means any permanent or preliminary injunction or other decree, determination, order, judgment, writ, stipulation, award or temporary restraining order of any Governmental Entity. "Knowledge" means the actual knowledge, after reasonable due inquiry, of any Person listed in Section 1.1(f) of the Disclosure Schedules. "Law" means any common law, code, Judgment, law, ordinance, directive, regulation, rule or statute of any Governmental Entity. "Leases" means all Contracts pursuant to which any Transferred Entity holds any Business Leased Real Property, including the right to all security deposits and other amounts and instruments deposited by or on behalf of any Transferred Entity thereunder. "Liabilities" means all assurances, commitments, debts, guarantees, liabilities and obligations of any kind, whether fixed, absolute or contingent, asserted or unasserted, matured or unmatured, liquidated or unliquidated, accrued or not accrued, known or unknown, due or to become due, disputed or
undisputed, whenever or however arising (including whether arising out of any Contract or tort based on negligence or strict liability). "Licensed Seller Intellectual Property" means the Intellectual Property Rights owned by Seller and its Affiliates (other than the Transferred Entities) as of the Closing and that have been used, held for use in, or is necessary for the conduct of the Business in the 12-month period immediately preceding the Closing Date, including any Software or documentation owned or developed by Seller and its Affiliates (other than the Transferred Entities) and used, held for use in, or is necessary for the conduct of the Business in the 12-month period immediately preceding the Closing Date, but, in each case, excluding the Names. "Lien" means any charge, easement, lien, mortgage, pledge, security interest, or similar encumbrance of any kind, other than restrictions on transfer arising under applicable securities Laws.



 

18 "Loss" means any and all claims, damages, deficiencies, fines, Liabilities, losses, payments (including those arising out of any settlement or Judgment relating to any Proceeding), penalties, reasonable attorneys' and accountants' fees and disbursements, and Taxes. "Measurement Time" means 12:01 a.m. Eastern Time on the Closing Date. "Milestone Measurement" has the meaning given to such term in Section 2.7 of the Disclosure Schedules. "Minimum Cash Amounts" means the amounts corresponding to each applicable jurisdiction as set forth in Section 1.1(g) of the Disclosure Schedules. "Open Source Software" means any Software that is licensed pursuant to: (a) any license that is a license now or in the future approved by the Open Source Initiative and listed at http://www.opensource.org/licenses/alphabetical, (including all versions of the GNU General Public License (GPL), the GNU Lesser General Public License (LGPL), the GNU Affero GPL, the MIT license, the Eclipse Public License, the Common Public License, the CDDL, the Mozilla Public License (MPL), the Artistic License, the Netscape Public License, the Sun Community Source License (SCSL), and the Sun Industry Standards License (SISL)); (b) any license to Software that is considered "free" or "open source software" by the Open Source Foundation or the Free Software Foundation, or (c) any Reciprocal License, in each case whether or not source code is available or included in such license. "Organizational Documents" means, with respect to a Person, the certificate of incorporation or formation, bylaws or limited liability company agreement, or equivalent governing documents, as applicable, of such Person. "Permits" means any approvals, authorizations, certificates, clearances, consents, licenses, permits, registrations, accreditations, enrollments, filings and other certifications, concessions, variances, permissions, and exemptions granted or issued by any Governmental Entity
"Permitted Liens" means the following Liens: (a) Liens for Taxes, assessments or other governmental charges or levies that are not yet due or payable or that are being contested by appropriate Proceedings, in each case, for which an adequate reserve has been established and reflected in the Business Financial Statements; (b) statutory Liens of landlords and Liens of carriers, warehousemen, mechanics, materialmen, workmen, repairmen and other Liens imposed by Law in the ordinary course of business; (c) Liens incurred or deposits made in the ordinary course of business in connection with workers' compensation, unemployment insurance or other types of social security; (d) with respect to any owned or leased real property of the Business or the Transferred Entities: (i) easements, declarations, covenants, rights-of-way, restrictions and other similar matters of record affecting title to real estate; (ii) zoning ordinances, variances, conditional use permits and similar regulations, permits, approvals and conditions which are not violated by the current use or occupancy of the real estate; and (iii) Liens not created by Seller or any of its Affiliates that affect the underlying fee interest of any leased real property, including master leases or ground leases and any minor encroachments that an accurate up-to-date survey would show; provided that with respect to this clause (d), any such item does not materially interfere with the ordinary conduct of the Business; (e) non-exclusive licenses of Intellectual



 

19 Property Rights granted to customers in the ordinary course of business; (f) Liens set forth in the Organizational Documents of any Person; (g) Liens set forth on Section 1.1(h) of the Disclosure Schedules, (h) Liens deemed to be created by any of the Transaction Documents, and (i) Liens which will be released at or prior to the Closing. "Person" means any individual, firm, corporation, limited liability company, partnership, trust, joint venture, association, unincorporated organization or Governmental Entity. "Personal Data" means any information about an identifiable natural person that alone or in combination with other information identifies, or could be used to identify, a natural person, and includes information that is defined as "personal data," "personally identifiable information," "individually identifiable health information," "protected health information" or "personal information" under any applicable Law or Data Protection Requirements and that is processed by or in the control of a Transferred Entity. "Post-Closing Tax Period" means a taxable period beginning after the Closing Date including the portion of the Straddle Period beginning on the date after the Closing Date. "Pre-Closing Tax Period" means a taxable period ending on or prior to the Closing Date including the portion of any Straddle Period ending on the Closing Date. "Proceeding" means any judicial, administrative or arbitral action, claim, litigation, charge, audit, investigation, inquiry, proceeding or suit by or before any Governmental Entity. "Process" means the access, creation, collection, use, storage, maintenance, processing, recording, sharing, distribution, transfer, transmission, receipt, import, export, protection, safeguarding, access, disposal or disclosure or other activity regarding data (whether electronically or in any other form or medium). "Protected Data" means Personal Data and all data and information for which any Transferred Entity, or Seller and its Subsidiaries as
it relates to the Business, is required by Law, rules, regulation, industry standard agreement, or privacy policy to safeguard and/or keep confidential or private. "Purchased Entities" means the entities listed on Section 1.1(i) of the Disclosure Schedules. "Purchased Entity Equity" means the outstanding equity interests of the Purchased Entities. "Purchaser Supply Agreement" means that certain Purchaser Supply Agreement, to be entered into and dated as of the Closing Date, by and between Seller and Purchaser (or its designee(s)), in the form of Exhibit B. "Reciprocal License" means a license of an item of Software that requires or that conditions any rights granted in such license upon:  (i) the disclosure, distribution or licensing of any other Software (other than such item of Software as provided by a third party in its unmodified form); (ii) a requirement that any disclosure, distribution or licensing of any other Software (other



 

20 than such item of Software in its unmodified form) be at no charge; (iii) a requirement that any other licensee of the Software be permitted to access the source code of, modify, make derivative works of, or reverse-engineer any such other Software; (iv) a requirement that such other Software be redistributable by other licensees; or (v) the grant of any patent rights (other than patent rights in such item of Software), including non-assertion or patent license obligations (other than patent obligations relating to the use of such item of Software). "Registered Intellectual Property Rights" means all Intellectual Property Rights that are the subject of registration or an application for registration, including domain names. "Regulatory Approvals" means the expiration or termination of any waiting period applicable to the Transaction under the HSR Act and all Approvals from Governmental Entities that are required under applicable Law (including pursuant to any Competition/Foreign Investment Law) to permit the consummation of the Transaction and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement. "Release" means any deposit, discharge, dispersal, disposal, dumping, emission, emitting, emptying, escaping, injection, leaching, leaking, migration, presence, pouring, pumping, release or spill into or migration through the Environment. "Representatives" of a Person means any officer, director or employee of such Person or any investment banker, attorney, accountant or other advisor or representative of such Person. "Retained Business" means all businesses of Seller and its Affiliates other than the Business, including the "Healthcare", "Applied Sterilization Technologies" and "Life Sciences" segments as reported in the most recent quarterly or annual report on Form 10-Q or Form 10-K, as applicable, filed by STERIS plc with the SEC. "SEC" means the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission. "Seconded Employee" has the meaning given to such term in
the Transition Services Agreement. "Seconded Employee Term" has the meaning given to such term in the Transition Services Agreement. "Section 338(g) Eligible Subsidiaries" means the Transferred Entities that are set forth in Section 1.1(j) of the Disclosure Schedules. "Section 338(h)(10) Transferred Entities" means the Transferred Entities that are set forth in Section 1.1(k) of the Disclosure Schedules. "Securities Act" means the U.S. Securities Act of 1933. "Security Breach" means any actual (a) security breach or unauthorized access or use of any of the Business Systems, (b)  unauthorized access, acquisition, destruction, damage, disclosure, loss, corruption, alteration, or use of any Protected Data or the Transferred Entities' own confidential or proprietary information, or (c) unauthorized interference with system



 

21 operations or security safeguards of the Business Systems, including any phishing incident or ransomware attack. "Seller Benefit Plan" means each Benefit Plan that is not a Transferred Entity Benefit Plan. "Seller Fundamental Representations" means the representations and warranties made by Seller in Section 3.1(a) (Organization, Standing and Power), Section 3.2 (Purchased Entities and Transferred Entities), Section 3.3 (Authority; Execution and Delivery; Enforceability), clause (a) of Section 3.4 (No Conflicts; Consents; Governmental Authorization) and Section 3.23 (Brokers). "Seller Supply Agreement" means that certain Seller Supply Agreement, to be entered into and dated as of the Closing Date, by and between Seller and Purchaser (or its designee(s)), in the form of Exhibit C. "Software" means all computer software (in object code or source code format), data and databases, and related documentation and materials. "Straddle Period" means any taxable period beginning on or prior to the Closing Date and ending after the Closing Date. "Subsidiary" means, with respect to any Person, any corporation, partnership, limited liability company, branch or other entity whether incorporated or unincorporated, of which (a) such first Person directly or indirectly owns or controls at least a majority of the securities or other interests having by their terms ordinary voting power to elect a majority of the board of directors or others performing similar functions or (b) such first Person is a general partner or managing member. For the avoidance of doubt, from and after the Closing, no Transferred Entity will be deemed to be a Subsidiary of Seller or any of its Affiliates. "Supply Agreements" means that certain Purchaser Supply Agreement and that certain Seller Supply Agreement. "Target Working Capital" means $112,866,000. "Tax" means any U.S. federal, state, local, provincial, or non-U.S. tax imposed by a Taxing Authority, including any net income, gros
receipts, sales, use, value-added, goods and services, registration, profits, license, withholding, payroll, employment, employer health, excise, premium, property, capital gains, transfer, stamp, environmental, alternative or add-on minimum, ad valorem, occupation, and franchise tax, and any other duty, assessment or governmental charge of any kind whatsoever in the nature of taxes, together with any interest and penalties imposed with respect to such amounts, and any transferee or successor liability in respect of any or all of the above. "Tax Proceeding" means any audit, examination, contest or other Proceeding with or against any Taxing Authority. "Tax Return" means any return, declaration, report, notice, estimate, claim for refund or information return, statement or other documents (including any related or supporting information)



 

22 filed or required to be filed with any Taxing Authority relating to Taxes, including any schedule or attachment thereto and any amendment thereof. "Taxing Authority" means any Governmental Entity responsible for the administration or the imposition of any Tax. "Technology" means embodiments of Intellectual Property Rights, including in the form of documentation, data, databases, software and know-how and knowledge of employees relating to, embodying, or describing products, articles, apparatuses, devices, processes, methods, designs, formulae, recipes or other technical information. "Transaction Accounting Principles" has the meaning set forth on Section 2.4(a) of the Disclosure Schedules. "Transaction Documents" means this Agreement, the Transition Services Agreement, the Italy Equity Purchase Agreement, the Escrow Agreement, the Supply Agreements and each other agreement, document, certificate or instrument delivered pursuant to, or in connection with, this Agreement. "Transaction Expenses" means, without duplication, all fees, costs and expenses incurred, payable or reimbursable by, or on behalf of, or to be paid by (or otherwise in respect of services provided prior to the Closing to), the Transferred Entities, that remain unpaid as of immediately prior to the Closing, in each case, in connection with the Transaction, the sale process, any negotiation, preparation or execution of this Agreement or the Transaction Documents or the performance or consummation of the Transaction or other transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, including (a) the aggregate amount of fees, costs, commissions, and expenses of any financial advisor, law firm, accounting or audit firm, brokers, finders, consultants or similar advisors or service providers and (b) any retention, sale, severance, transition, transaction, change in control bonuses or other similar compensatory payments or benefits triggered prior to or on the Closing Date that are payable
by the Transferred Entities on or after the Closing Date or similar payments due and payable by the Transferred Entities in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and committed to or entered into by Seller or any of its Affiliates prior to the Closing, and the employer portion of any related payroll, employment or similar Taxes, including Medicare, social security, and unemployment Taxes, in connection therewith; provided, that, for the avoidance of doubt, in no event shall "Transaction Expenses" include (i) fees, costs and expenses owed, paid or payable to any Person to the extent incurred at the direction of Purchaser or any of its Affiliates or otherwise relating to Purchaser's or any of its Affiliates' financing for the Transaction or other transactions contemplated hereby or any indebtedness arranged by Purchaser or any of its Affiliates, (ii) any Liability to the extent included within the definition of Indebtedness, or (iii) any Liability in respect of any amounts payable in respect of the Earnout Payment or the Deferred Purchase Price, or (iv) any fees, costs or expenses payable by any Transferred Entity under the Supply Agreements or the Transition Services Agreement. "Transaction Tax Deductions" means, without duplication, the aggregate Income Tax deductions permitted to be taken on a Tax Return of Seller or any of its Affiliates (including the Transferred Entities prior to the Closing) at a "more likely than not" (or higher) level of comfort and resulting from or attributable to (a) the deductible portion of all Transaction Expenses



 

23 (provided, however, that for this purpose Seller or any of its Affiliates (including the Transferred Entities prior to the Closing), as may be applicable, shall be deemed to have elected to treat 70% of the amount of any success-based fee as an amount that does not facilitate the transaction pursuant to the safe harbor in Revenue Procedure 2011-29, 2011-1 C.B. 746), and (b) the payment of fees, expenses, compensatory payments and interest (including amounts treated as interest for Tax purposes) incurred by Seller or any of its Affiliates (including the Transferred Entities prior to the Closing) with respect to the satisfaction of Indebtedness pursuant to this Agreement. "Transfer Taxes" means any U.S. federal, state, local, county, state, provincial, federal, non-U.S. and other sales, use, transfer (including real property transfer), registration, documentary, stamp, stamp duty, land, value added, goods and services, recording, conveyance or similar Taxes and related fees and costs imposed on or payable in connection with the transactions contemplated by any Transaction Documents or the recording of any sale, transfer, conveyance, lease, sublease or assignment of property (or any interest therein) effected pursuant to or contemplated by any Transaction Documents. "Transferred Entity" means each of the Subsidiaries of Seller set forth on Section 1.1(l) of the Disclosure Schedules. "Transferred Entity Benefit Plan" means each Benefit Plan that is identified as a Transferred Entity Benefit Plan on Section 3.18(b)(ii) of the Disclosure Schedules that is (a) sponsored, maintained or contributed to solely by one or more Transferred Entities or (b) entered into between a Transferred Entity and Business Employees for the exclusive benefit of the Business Employees, excluding, in each case, each such Benefit Plan for which Seller or one of its Affiliates is retaining sole Liability in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. "Transition Services Agreement" means the
transition services agreement, dated as of the Closing Date, to be entered into by Seller and Purchaser (or its designee(s)), in the form of Exhibit D. "Treasury Regulations" means the final and temporary regulations issued under the Code. "WARN" means the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act, 29 U.S.C. Section 2101 et seq or any similar Laws applicable to the Business Employees. "Willful Breach" means an action or failure to act by one of the Parties that constitutes a material breach or material violation of any covenant or agreement set forth in this Agreement, and such action was taken or such failure occurred with such Party's knowledge or intention that such action or failure to act constituted or would cause a material breach or material violation of such covenant or agreement set forth in this Agreement. "Working Capital" means, as of any time, the consolidated net working capital of the Transferred Entities calculated by subtracting (a) the sum of the amounts as of such time for the consolidated current liability line items shown on the Illustrative Working Capital Calculation for the Transferred Entities from (b) the sum of the amounts as of such time for the consolidated current asset line items shown on the Illustrative Working Capital Calculation for the Transferred Entities, in each case calculated in a manner consistent with the Transaction Accounting Principles; provided that in no event shall Working Capital include (i) any amount included within



 

24 the definitions of Cash Amounts, Indebtedness or Transaction Expenses, (ii) any amounts with respect to current Income Tax assets, deferred Tax assets, current Income Tax liabilities or deferred Tax liabilities or (iii) assets or contra liabilities relating to Indebtedness (such as amortized debt issuance costs). "Working Capital Adjustment Amount" means an amount, which may be positive, negative or zero, equal to (a) the Closing Working Capital minus (b) the Target Working Capital (the "Working Capital Difference"); provided, that if the absolute value of the result of the foregoing calculation is (i) less than $2,000,000 (such absolute value, the "Collar Amount"), then the Working Capital Adjustment Amount shall be zero or (ii) greater than the Collar Amount, then the Working Capital Adjustment Amount shall be (A) if the Working Capital Difference is positive, an amount equal to the Working Capital Difference or (B) if the Working Capital Difference is negative, a negative number equal to the absolute value of the Working Capital Difference. Section 1.2 Other Defined Terms. In addition, the following terms shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the corresponding Section of this Agreement when capitalized: Term Section Acquiror ................................................................................................................................. 5.20(f) Affiliate Agreement ................................................................................................................... 3.24 Agreement .......................................................................................................................... Preamble Allocation ................................................................................................................................. 2.5(b) Allocation Schedule ................................................................................................................. 2.5(a) Alternative Financing............................................................................................................. 5.13(c) Business Employee List ......................................................................................................... 3.18(o) Business Financial Statements
................................................................................................. 3.5(a) Business Financial Statements Date ........................................................................................ 3.5(a) Business Intellectual Property Rights ...................................................................................... 3.9(c) Business Leased Real Property .............................................................................................. 3.11(a) Business Owned Real Property .............................................................................................. 3.11(b) Business Registered Intellectual Property Rights .................................................................... 3.9(a) Cash Incentive Compensation.............................................................................................. 5.6(g)(i) Cash Pay Off .................................................................................. See definition of Cash Amounts Closing ......................................................................................................................................... 2.2 Closing Date................................................................................................................................. 2.2 Closing Statement .................................................................................................................... 2.4(b) Collar Amount ........................................... See definition of Working Capital Adjustment Amount Collective Bargaining Agreement.......................................................................................... 3.18(a) Commitment Letters ................................................................................................................ 4.4(b) Competitive Operations .................................................................................................... 5.20(g)(ii) Confidentiality Agreement........................................................................................................... 5.3 Continuation Period ................................................................................................................. 5.6(b) Continuing Asset Employees ............................................................................................... 5.6(a)(i) Copyrights ................................................................. See definition of Intellectual Property Rights Crosstex.............................................................................................................................. Preamble



 

25 Current Representation .......................................................................................................... 9.16(a) D&O Indemnified Party ............................................................................................................. 5.12 Debt Commitment Letter ......................................................................................................... 4.4(a) Debt Financing ......................................................................................................................... 4.4(a) Definitive Agreements ...................................................................................................... 5.13(a)(ii) Designated Person .................................................................................................................. 9.16(a) Dispute Notice ......................................................................................................................... 2.4(d) Dispute Resolution Period ....................................................................................................... 2.4(d) Disputed Item ........................................................................................................................... 2.4(d) Earnout Measurement .............................................................................................................. 2.7(b) Earnout Payment ...................................................................................................................... 2.5(b) Earnout Statement .................................................................................................................... 2.7(b) Equity Commitment Letter ...................................................................................................... 4.4(b) Equity Financing ...................................................................................................................... 4.4(b) Equity Investors ....................................................................................................................... 4.4(b) Estimated Closing Cash Amounts ........................................................................................... 2.4(b) Estimated Closing Indebtedness .............................................................................................. 2.4(b) Estimated Closing Transaction Expenses ................................................................................ 2.4(b) Estimated Working Capital Adjustment Amount .................................................................... 2.4(b) EU GDPR.............................................................. See definition of Data Protection Requirements
Excluded Affiliate Transactions ................................................................................................ 3.24 Excluded Benefits .................................................................................................................... 5.6(b) Existing Claims .......................................................................................................................... 5.21 Fair Value............................................................................................................................... 4.10(c) Final Allocation ....................................................................................................................... 2.5(b) Final Purchase Price ................................................................................................................. 2.4(f) Financing.................................................................................................................................. 4.4(b) Financing Amounts .................................................................................................................. 4.4(e) Foreign Benefit Plan .............................................................................................................. 3.18(k) General Enforceability Exceptions .............................................................................................. 3.3 Guarantee ..................................................................................................................................... 4.5 Guaranteed Obligations ............................................................................................................. 2.10 Hu-Friedy ........................................................................................................................... Preamble Illustrative Working Capital Calculation ................................................................................. 2.4(a) Independent Accounting Firm ................................................................................................. 2.4(d) Latest Financial Statements ..................................................................................................... 3.5(a) Lenders ..................................................................................................................................... 4.4(a) LTD Employee.......................................................................................................................... 5.6(j) Material Contracts .................................................................................................................. 3.12(a) Material Customer ................................................................................................................. 3.25(a) Material

Supplier ................................................................................................................... 3.25(a) Misallocated Asset ................................................................................................................. 5.15(c) Names ...................................................................................................................................... 5.8(a) Non-Party Affiliate ...................................................................................................................... 9.7 Outside Date............................................................................................................................. 8.1(d) Owned Intellectual Property .................................................................................................... 3.9(c)



 

26 Parties ................................................................................................................................. Preamble Party ................................................................................................................................... Preamble Patents ....................................................................... See definition of Intellectual Property Rights Personnel IP Assignments........................................................................................................ 3.9(e) Policies ....................................................................................................................................... 3.20 Post Closing Statement ............................................................................................................ 2.4(c) Post-Closing Insurance Matters ................................................................................................. 5.21 Post-Closing Representation .................................................................................................. 9.16(a) Pre-Closing Actions ................................................................................................................... 5.19 Pre-Closing Insurance Matters ................................................................................................... 5.21 Privileged Communications ................................................................................................... 9.16(b) Prohibited Modifications ....................................................................................................... 5.13(b) Purchaser ............................................................................................................................ Preamble Purchaser 401(k) Plan .............................................................................................................. 5.6(b) Purchaser Benefit Plans ........................................................................................................... 5.6(d) Purchaser Guarantor................................................................................................................... 2.10 R&W Insurance Policy .............................................................................................................. 5.10 Related Party .............................................................................................................................. 3.24 Released Parties ................................................................................................................... 8.2(c)(i) Releasing Parties .................................................................................................................. 8.2(c)(i)
Releasor.................................................................................................................................... 9.8(a) Required Permits .................................................................................................................... 3.13(b) Restricted Period .................................................................................................................... 5.20(a) Restrictive Covenants ............................................................................................................. 5.20(i) Reverse Termination Fee ......................................................................................................... 8.2(b) Sale Trigger .......................................................................................................................... 2.7(d)(i) Sanctioned Person .................................................................................................................. 3.13(d) Section 245A Elections ............................................................................................................ 6.5(d) Section 245A Subsidiaries ....................................................................................................... 6.5(d) Section 338 Forms ................................................................................................................... 6.5(c) Section 338(g) Elections .......................................................................................................... 6.5(c) Section 338(g) Forms ............................................................................................................... 6.5(c) Section 338(h)(10) Elections ................................................................................................... 6.5(b) Section 338(h)(10) Forms ........................................................................................................ 6.5(b) Seller .................................................................................................................................. Preamble Seller Persons ............................................................................................................................. 5.10 Seller’s Allocation Notice ........................................................................................................ 2.5(b) Shortfall Amount ..................................................................................................................... 2.4(g) Specified 2024 Bonus Amount ............................................................................................ 5.6(g)(i) Specified Dayton Incentive Agreement Amount ................................................................ 5.6(g)(ii)

Subrogation Waiver ................................................................................................................... 5.10 Tax Elections ........................................................................................................................... 6.5(d) Tax Refund............................................................................................................................... 6.1(e) Total Purchase Price .................................................................................................................... 2.9 Trade Secrets ............................................................. See definition of Intellectual Property Rights Trademarks ............................................................... See definition of Intellectual Property Rights



 

27 Transaction ......................................................................................................................... Preamble Transferred Business Employee ........................................................................................ 5.6(a)(iv) Working Capital Difference ....................... See definition of Working Capital Adjustment Amount ARTICLE II PURCHASE AND SALE; CLOSING Section 2.1 Purchase and Sale. On the terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement, at the Closing, Seller shall sell, transfer and deliver to Purchaser, or shall cause to be sold, transferred and delivered to Purchaser, and Purchaser shall purchase from Seller or its Affiliates, free and clear of all Liens, all of the Purchased Entity Equity. Section 2.2 Closing Date. The closing of the Transaction (the "Closing") shall take place by means of a virtual closing through electronic exchange of documents and signatures (including by email) on (a) the later of (x) the third Business Day following the date on which the last of the conditions set forth in Article VII (other than those conditions that are to be satisfied by action taken at the Closing, but subject to the satisfaction or waiver of such conditions at the Closing) have been satisfied (or, to the extent permitted, waived by the Party or Parties entitled to the benefits thereof) and (y) the date that is 45 days following the date hereof or (b) at such other place, time and date as may be agreed by the Parties. The date on which the Closing occurs is referred to in this Agreement as the "Closing Date." Section 2.3 Closing Deliveries. (a) At the Closing, Purchaser shall deliver, or cause to be delivered, to Seller the following: (i) payments by wire transfer in immediately available funds and otherwise in accordance with the directions provided in the Closing Statement, as follows: (A) an amount equal to the Closing Purchase Price minus the Escrow Amount, to Seller; (B) the Escrow Amount, to the Escrow Agent; and (C) the Estimated Closing Transaction Expenses payable at
Closing to the applicable payees; provided, that any Estimated Closing Transaction Expenses of a compensatory nature shall be paid to the applicable Transferred Entity for further payment through such Transferred Entity's payroll to the intended recipients thereof; (ii) the certificate to be delivered pursuant to Section 7.3(c); (iii) a counterpart to the Escrow Agreement, duly executed by Purchaser (or its designee); (iv) a counterpart of the Italy Equity Purchase Agreement, duly executed by Purchaser (or its designee);



 

28 (v) a counterpart of the Purchaser Supply Agreement, duly executed by Purchaser (or its designee); (vi) a counterpart of the Seller Supply Agreement, duly executed by Purchaser (or its designee); (vii) a counterpart of the Transition Services Agreement, duly executed by Purchaser (or its designee); and (viii) properly completed and duly executed Section 338(h)(10) Elections, Section 338(g) Elections and Section 338 Forms as contemplated by Section 6.5(b) and Section 6.5(c). (b) At the Closing, Seller shall deliver, or cause to be delivered by one of its Affiliates, to Purchaser the following: (i) the certificate to be delivered pursuant to Section 7.2(d); (ii) a counterpart of the Escrow Agreement, duly executed by Seller; (iii) a counterpart of the Italy Equity Purchase Agreement, duly executed by the applicable Affiliate of Seller; (iv) a counterpart of the Purchaser Supply Agreement, duly executed by Seller; (v) a counterpart of the Seller Supply Agreement, duly executed by Seller; (vi) a counterpart of the Transition Services Agreement, duly executed by Seller or one or more of its Affiliates; (vii) customary stock powers, or physical stock or other equity interest certificates, if applicable, representing all of the outstanding shares or capital stock or other equity interests of the Purchased Entities, duly endorsed in blank or duly executed in proper form for transfer, or other customary evidence of assignment in form and substance reasonably acceptable to Purchaser, in each case, in compliance with applicable Law and the applicable Organizational Documents; (viii) written resignations of each of the directors and officers of the Transferred Entities as reasonably requested at least five Business Days prior to the Closing Date by Purchaser from such offices and positions with the respective Transferred Entities, duly executed by each such resigning individual; (ix) a duly executed IRS Form W-9 for Seller and a duly executed IRS Form W- 8 for Cantel Medical
(Italy) S.r.l; (x) a certificate from Omnia LLC dated as of the Closing Date certifying that Omnia LLC is not a "United States real property holding corporation" within the meaning of Section 897(c)(2) of the Code and a notice of such certification to be provided to the



 

29 IRS in accordance with the requirements of Treasury Regulations Section 1.897-2(h)(2); and (xi) properly completed and duly executed counterpart signatures to the Section 338(h)(10) Elections, Section 338(g) Elections, and Section 338 Forms as contemplated by Section 6.5(b) and Section 6.5(c). Section 2.4 Adjustments to Base Purchase Price. (a) Section 2.4(a) of the Disclosure Schedules sets forth an illustrative calculation of the Working Capital (the "Illustrative Working Capital Calculation"), as of January 31, 2024 which is included in this Agreement for illustration purposes only. (b) At least three Business Days prior to the Closing Date, Seller shall cause to be prepared and delivered to Purchaser a closing statement (the "Closing Statement") setting forth Seller's good-faith estimates of (i) the Closing Working Capital and the Working Capital Adjustment Amount (such estimate, the "Estimated Working Capital Adjustment Amount"), (ii) the Closing Cash Amounts (such estimate, the "Estimated Closing Cash Amounts"), (iii) the Closing Indebtedness (such estimate, the "Estimated Closing Indebtedness"), (iv) the Closing Transaction Expenses (such estimate, the "Estimated Closing Transaction Expenses") and (v) the resulting calculation of the Closing Purchase Price to be paid by Purchaser to Seller at the Closing, in each case, together with reasonable supporting documentation. The Closing Statement shall set forth the calculations of such amounts in a manner consistent with applicable definitions herein and be prepared, where applicable, in accordance with the Transaction Accounting Principles. Seller shall consider in good faith Purchaser's comments to the Closing Statement for the purposes of ensuring the accuracy of the amounts set forth thereon and the payments to be made at the Closing; provided that, for the avoidance of doubt, Seller shall be under no obligation to accept any of Purchaser's comments to the Closing Statement that Selle
determines in good faith are not appropriate and Purchaser hereby acknowledges that the acceptance of any such proposed comments shall not constitute a condition to Purchaser's obligations to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. Notwithstanding any input Purchaser may have with respect to the amounts reflected in the Closing Statement, no position or agreement taken or made by any of the Parties with respect to the amounts reflected therein or any accompanying calculations shall preclude any such Party from taking any other position with respect to the Post- Closing Statement and accompanying calculations, except that all positions taken must be in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, including the applicable definitions herein and the Transaction Accounting Principles, where applicable. (c) Within 120 days after the Closing Date, Purchaser shall cause to be prepared and delivered to Seller a written statement (the "Post-Closing Statement"), setting forth Purchaser's calculation of the Closing Working Capital, Working Capital Adjustment Amount, the Closing Cash Amounts, the Closing Indebtedness, the Closing Transaction Expenses and the resulting calculation of the Closing Purchase Price. The Post-Closing Statement shall be prepared in accordance with the applicable definitions herein including, where applicable, the Transaction Accounting Principles. Seller and Purchaser agree that the purpose of preparing the Post-Closing Statement and determining the Closing Working Capital, the Working Capital Adjustment Amount, the Closing Cash Amounts, the Closing Indebtedness and the Closing Transaction



 

30 Expenses is to measure variations in the components taken into consideration in determining the estimates delivered pursuant to Section 2.4(b) compared to the actual values, and, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, such process is not intended to permit the introduction of accounting principles different from those described in the Transaction Accounting Principles. (d) Within 60 days following receipt by Seller of the Post-Closing Statement, Seller shall deliver written notice to Purchaser of any dispute Seller has with respect to the preparation or content of the Post-Closing Statement (the "Dispute Notice"); provided that if Seller does not deliver any Dispute Notice to Purchaser within such 60-day period, the Post-Closing Statement will be final, conclusive and binding on the Parties and if Seller delivers a Dispute Notice within such deadline, all items that are not disputed in such Dispute Notice shall be deemed final, conclusive and binding on the Parties. The Dispute Notice shall set forth in reasonable detail the basis for any disputed item included therein (each, a "Disputed Item"), the amounts involved and Seller's determination of the Closing Working Capital, the Working Capital Adjustment Amount, the Closing Cash Amounts, the Closing Indebtedness and the Closing Transaction Expenses; provided that any Disputed Item shall be limited to the determination of the Closing Working Capital, the Working Capital Adjustment Amount, the Closing Cash Amounts, the Closing Indebtedness and the Closing Transaction Expenses. Upon receipt by Purchaser of a Dispute Notice, Purchaser and Seller shall negotiate in good faith to resolve any Disputed Items and amounts set forth therein, and each of Purchaser and Seller agrees that other than the Disputed Items, the Post-Closing Statement will be final, conclusive and binding on the Parties. If Purchaser and Seller, such good faith effort notwithstanding, fail to resolve any Disputed Items
within 30 days following receipt by Purchaser of the Dispute Notice (the "Dispute Resolution Period"), then Purchaser and Seller jointly shall engage, within 10 Business Days following the expiration of the Dispute Resolution Period, an independent and internationally recognized accounting firm selected jointly by Seller and Purchaser (the "Independent Accounting Firm") to resolve any such Disputed Items (and only such unresolved Disputed Items). The Independent Accounting Firm shall act as an expert, not as an arbitrator, in resolving the Disputed Items. Purchaser and Seller may not conduct any ex parte communications with the Independent Accounting Firm. The scope of the disputes to be resolved by the Independent Accounting Firm shall be limited to the Disputed Items submitted to Independent Accounting Firm. As promptly as practicable, and in any event not more than 15 days following the engagement of the Independent Accounting Firm, Purchaser and Seller shall each prepare and submit a written presentation detailing each Party's complete statement of proposed resolution of each Disputed Item to the Independent Accounting Firm. Purchaser and Seller shall cause the Independent Accounting Firm to, as soon as practicable after the submission of the presentations described in the immediately preceding sentence and in any event not more than 30 days following submission by the Parties of such presentations to the Independent Accounting Firm, make a final determination, binding on the Parties, of the appropriate amount of each Disputed Item. With respect to each Disputed Item, such determination, if not in accordance with the position of either Seller or Purchaser, shall not be in excess of the higher, nor less than the lower, of the amounts advocated by Purchaser or Seller, as applicable, in the Post-Closing Statement or Dispute Notice, as applicable. The scope of the disputes to be resolved by the Independent Accounting Firm shall be

limited to whether any determination of the Closing Working Capital, the Working Capital Adjustment Amount, the Closing Cash Amounts, the Closing Indebtedness and the Closing Transaction Expenses was properly calculated in accordance with the terms of this Agreement (including the Transaction Accounting Principles, as applicable) and not on the basis of an independent determination not



 

31 consistent with such terms. The fees, expenses and costs of the Independent Accounting Firm will be borne by Seller, on the one hand, and Purchaser, on the other hand, in inverse proportion to their relative success in the dispute as determined by the Independent Accounting Firm; provided that any initial engagement fees owed to the Independent Accounting Firm will be initially paid 50% by Seller and 50% by Purchaser. For example, should the aggregate items in dispute total $1,000 and the Independent Accounting Firm award $600 in favor of Seller's position, Purchaser would pay 60% of the costs of the Independent Accounting Firm's review and Seller would pay 40% of the costs of the Independent Accounting Firm's review. All determinations made by the Independent Accounting Firm, and the Post-Closing Statement, as modified by the Independent Accounting Firm, will be final, conclusive and binding on the Parties in the absence of fraud or manifest error. The Parties acknowledge and agree that the adjustment procedures set forth in this Section 2.4 are not intended to permit the introduction of judgments, accounting methods, policies, practices, procedures, classifications, valuation practices or estimation methodologies for the purpose of determining the Final Purchase Price that are different from or inconsistent with the terms of this Agreement, including the applicable definitions herein and the Transaction Accounting Principles, where applicable. This Section 2.4 is not intended as a remedy for any misrepresentation or breach of any representation and warranty made by Seller in Article III. (e) Subject to Section 6.1(b), for purposes of complying with the terms set forth in this Section 2.4, from and after the Closing until the time at which any Disputed Items are submitted to the Independent Accounting Firm for resolution, Seller and Purchaser shall reasonably cooperate with and make available to each other and each of their respective
Representatives all information and documents reasonably requested, in each case to the extent related to the Closing Working Capital, the Working Capital Adjustment Amount, the Closing Cash Amounts, the Closing Indebtedness or the Closing Transaction Expenses, and shall permit access to their relevant respective personnel, as may be reasonably required during normal business hours in connection with the preparation, analysis and review of the Post-Closing Statement and the resolution of any Disputed Item. From and after the time at which any Disputed Items are submitted to the Independent Accounting Firm for resolution, Seller and Purchaser shall reasonably coordinate with and make available to the Independent Accounting Firm all information and documents reasonably requested, in each case to the extent related to a Disputed Item. (f) The "Final Purchase Price" means the Base Purchase Price, plus (i) the Closing Cash Amounts, plus (ii) the Working Capital Adjustment Amount (which may be a positive or negative number or zero), minus (iii) the Closing Indebtedness, and (iv) minus the Closing Transaction Expenses, in the case of each of clauses (i), (ii), (iii) and (iv), as finally determined pursuant to Section 2.4. (g) If the Final Purchase Price is less than the Closing Purchase Price (such shortfall amount, if any, the "Shortfall Amount"), then Purchaser and Seller shall promptly instruct the Escrow Agent to release to Purchaser from the Escrow Amount an aggregate amount equal to the lesser of (i) the Shortfall Amount and (ii) the Escrow Amount, and to release to Seller the remainder of the Escrow Amount, if any. If the Shortfall Amount exceeds the Escrow Amount, then Seller shall promptly pay to Purchaser such excess amount. If the Final Purchase Price exceeds the Closing Purchase Price (such excess amount, if any, the "Excess Amount"), then Purchaser shall promptly pay or cause to be paid an amount in cash equal to such Excess

Amount



 

32 to Seller by wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account designated in writing by Seller to Purchaser and Purchaser and Seller shall promptly instruct the Escrow Agent to release to Seller the entirety of the Escrow Amount. If the Closing Purchase Price is equal to the Final Purchase Price, then Purchaser and Seller shall promptly instruct the Escrow Agent to release to Seller the entirety of the Escrow Amount but otherwise neither Seller nor Purchaser will be required to pay any additional amount in cash to the other Party in respect thereof. Any such payment pursuant to this Section 2.4(g) is to be made within five Business Days of the date on which the Final Purchase Price is finally determined pursuant to this Section 2.4. (h) The process set forth in this Section 2.4 shall be the sole and exclusive remedy of the Parties and their respective Affiliates for any disputes related to the calculation of the Closing Working Capital, the Working Capital Adjustment Amount, the Closing Cash Amounts, the Closing Indebtedness, the Closing Transaction Expenses and any related adjustments to the Closing Purchase Price or the Final Purchase Price and the calculations and amounts on which they are based or set forth in the related statements and notices delivered in connection therewith. (i) Any payments made pursuant to this Section 2.4 shall be treated as an adjustment to the Total Purchase Price by the Parties for Tax purposes, unless otherwise required by Law. Section 2.5 Purchase Price Allocation. (a) Seller and Purchaser agree to allocate and, as applicable, to cause their relevant Affiliates to allocate, the Final Purchase Price and any other items that are treated as additional consideration for Tax purposes among any assets that, for U.S. income Tax purposes, are treated as assets purchased by Purchaser (or its relevant Affiliates) pursuant to this Agreement and any other Transaction Document in accordance with Exhibit E attached hereto (the
"Allocation Schedule"). As a result of the Section 338(g) Elections and the Section 338(h)(10) Elections, Purchaser and Seller agree that the "aggregate deemed sales price" (as defined in Treasury Regulations Section 1.338-4) and the "adjusted gross-up basis" (as defined in Treasury Regulations Section 1.338-5) shall be allocated among the assets of each applicable Section 338(h)(10) Transferred Entities and Section 338(g) Eligible Entities in accordance with the Allocation Schedule and Treasury Regulations Sections 1.338-6 and 1.338-7. (b) No later than 120 days after the date on which the Total Purchase Price is finally determined, Purchaser shall deliver to Seller a proposed allocation of the Total Purchase Price and any other items that are treated as additional consideration for U.S. income Tax purposes among Seller and its relevant Affiliates pursuant to this Agreement and any other Transaction Document and among the assets of each applicable Transferred Entity that is classified as an entity disregarded as separate from Seller (or its relevant Affiliate) or with respect to which the Section 338(h)(10) Election or Section 338(g) Election is made, in each case, determined in a manner consistent with Section 1060 of the Code and the Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder (including Section 338 of the Code and the Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder), any other relevant provisions of applicable Law, and the Allocation Schedule ("Allocation"). If Seller disagrees with the Allocation, Seller may, within 30 days after receipt of the Allocation, deliver a notice ("Seller's Allocation Notice") to Purchaser to such effect, specifying those items as to which Seller disagrees and setting forth Seller's proposed allocation. If the Seller's Allocation Notice is duly delivered, Seller and Purchaser shall, during the 30 days



 

33 immediately following such delivery, use commercially reasonable efforts to reach agreement on the disputed items or amounts in order to determine the allocation of the Total Purchase Price and any other items that are treated as additional consideration for U.S. income Tax purposes. Notwithstanding any other provision in this Agreement to the contrary, if Seller and Purchaser are unable to resolve any such dispute within the 30-day period following the delivery of the Seller's Allocation Notice, then all matters in dispute relating to such allocation shall be submitted to and resolved by the Independent Accounting Firm based upon the Allocation Schedule and in accordance with the procedures set forth in Section 2.4(d) applied mutatis mutandis (including the provisions set forth therein for the sharing of costs), and any determination by the Independent Accounting Firm shall be final. The Independent Accounting Firm shall be directed to resolve any items in dispute within 20 days of having such items referred to it pursuant to such procedures as it may require. Seller, Purchaser and the applicable Purchased Entities agree to be bound by the Allocation, as finally determined (the "Final Allocation"). (c) Neither Seller nor Purchaser shall (and they shall cause their respective Affiliates not to) take any position for income Tax purposes inconsistent with the Final Allocation on any Tax Return (including any IRS Form 8594 and Section 338 Election Form, if applicable) or in any Tax Proceeding or otherwise, in each case, except to the extent otherwise required pursuant to a "determination" within the meaning of Section 1313(a) of the Code (or any analogous provision of state, local or non-U.S. Law). Seller and Purchaser agree to modify the Final Allocation to reflect any adjustments made to the Final Purchase Price pursuant to this Agreement (including as a result of the Earnout Payment or the Deferred Purchase Price) as mutually agreed upon by Purchase
and Seller in good faith (and, if applicable, consistent with the prior allocation of similar items in the Final Allocation). Seller and Purchaser shall file (or shall cause their respective Affiliates to file) an amendment to Form 8594 or Section 338 Election Form, as may be applicable, to reflect any adjustments made to the Final Allocation pursuant to this Section 2.5(c). If the Final Allocation Schedule (including any amendments thereto pursuant to this Section 2.5(c)) is disputed by any Taxing Authority, the Party receiving notice of such dispute shall promptly notify the other Party, and the Parties agree (and shall cause their respective Affiliates) to use their commercially reasonable efforts to defend such Final Allocation in any audit or similar proceeding. Section 2.6 Withholding. Purchaser, the Purchased Entities or their designees, and any other applicable withholding agent shall be entitled to deduct and withhold from any consideration payable pursuant to this Agreement to any Person any Taxes or other amounts required under the Code or any other applicable Law to be deducted and withheld, and to request any reasonably necessary Tax forms or any similar information for purposes of determining whether such withholding is required; provided that so long as Seller delivers the documents described in Section 2.3(b)(ix), the Parties agree that no withholding shall be required with respect to any payment made to Seller pursuant to this Agreement. The Parties acknowledge that withholding may be required with respect to payments in the nature of compensation, including payments made by the Transferred Entities to their employees or former employees. To the extent that any such amounts are so deducted or withheld and paid over to the appropriate Governmental Entity, such amounts will be treated for all purposes of this Agreement as having been paid to the Person in respect of whom such deduction or withholding was made.



 

34 Section 2.7 Earnout. (a) As additional purchase price consideration, after Closing, Purchaser shall pay or cause to be paid an amount, if any (an "Earnout Payment"), equal to the amount payable upon the Business achieving the applicable Milestone Measurement in the Earnout Period, subject to the terms and conditions of and in accordance with the procedures set forth in this Section 2.7 and on Section 2.7 of the Disclosure Schedules. (b) Not later than 90 days following the end of the Earnout Period, Purchaser shall prepare and deliver to Seller a statement setting forth, in reasonable detail and accompanied by applicable supporting information, Purchaser's good faith determination of the Milestone Measurement in respect of the Earnout Period (the "Earnout Measurement") and any resulting Earnout Payment due, prepared in accordance with Section 2.7 of the Disclosure Schedules (the "Earnout Statement"). (c) If Seller does not deliver a written objection to Purchaser within 60 days following receipt of the Earnout Statement, then the Earnout Measurement (and resulting Earnout Payment) will be final, conclusive and binding on the Parties. To the extent that the Seller disputes any portion of the Earnout Statement, Section 2.4(d) and Section 2.4(e) shall apply mutatis mutandis to this Section 2.7 and the Earnout Statement (and the calculations of the Earnout Measurement and resulting Earnout Payment), shall be finally determined and any dispute regarding any matter set forth in the Earnout Statement shall be resolved in accordance therewith. After the final resolution of any dispute in respect of the Earnout Statement (and the calculations of the Earnout Measurement and Earnout Payment), the Earnout Payment, if any, will be paid promptly (and in any event within five Business Days thereof) by Purchaser by wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account designated in writing by Seller to Purchaser. (d) From Closing until the end of the
Earnout Period, (i) Purchaser and its applicable Affiliates, including the Transferred Entities following the Closing, shall not take or fail to take any action with the purpose (and not merely the effect) of preventing the achievement of the full Earnout Payment hereunder. For the avoidance of doubt, notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, (A) Purchaser and its Affiliates shall otherwise be entitled to run and operate the Business and conduct its operations in their sole discretion, (B) Purchaser and its Affiliates shall not have any duty or obligation, expressed or implied, to own, use, or otherwise operate the assets of the Business in order to maximize or expedite the payments described in this Section 2.7, (C) Purchaser and its Affiliates shall owe no duty, as a fiduciary or otherwise, to Seller or its Affiliates in connection with its operation of the Business following the Closing, and (D) there is no assurance that Seller will receive any payment described in this Section 2.7; and (ii) in the event of any direct or indirect sale of more than 50% of the equity interests or substantially all of the assets of Purchaser or the Business (whether by merger, sale of stock, sale of assets or otherwise) to any unaffiliated third party (each, a "Sale Trigger"), Purchaser shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to cause such third party to expressly assume any then remaining obligations set forth in this Section 2.7; provided,



 

35 however, that, Purchaser shall provide written notice to Seller of any Sale Trigger as soon as Purchaser is able to do so without violating applicable Law. (e) Any payment made pursuant to this Section 2.7 shall be treated as an adjustment to the Total Purchase Price by the Parties for Tax purposes, unless otherwise required by Law. Section 2.8 Deferred Purchase Price. (a) In addition to the payments under Section 2.3, Section 2.4 and Section 2.7 (if applicable), as additional purchase price consideration, Purchaser shall pay or cause to be paid to Seller, the Deferred Purchase Price on the date that is the first anniversary of the Closing Date by wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account designated in writing by Seller to Purchaser. Purchaser shall have the right, but not the obligation, to prepay to Seller all of the Deferred Purchase Price at any time prior to the first anniversary of the Closing Date. (b) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the Deferred Purchase Price shall become immediately due and payable if Purchaser, the Transferred Entities or the Business: (a) is dissolved or liquidated or takes any action for such purpose; (b) becomes insolvent or is generally unable to pay, or fails to pay, its debts as they become due; (c) files or has filed against it a petition for voluntary or involuntary bankruptcy or otherwise becomes subject, voluntarily or involuntarily, to any proceeding under any domestic or foreign bankruptcy or insolvency law; (d) makes or seeks to make a general assignment for the benefit of creditors; (e) applies for or has a receiver, trustee, custodian, or similar agent appointed by order of any court of competent jurisdiction to take charge of or sell any material portion of its property or business, or (f) suspends or ceases, or threatens to suspend or cease, carrying on all or a substantial part of its business. (c) The payment made pursuant to this Section 2.8 shall be treated as an adjustment to the Total Purchase Price by th
Parties for Tax purposes, unless otherwise required by Law. Section 2.9 Total Purchase Price. The "Total Purchase Price" means the Final Purchase Price, plus (i) the Earnout Payment, if any, plus (ii) the Deferred Purchase Price. Section 2.10 Purchased Entity Limited Guarantee. Hu-Friedy and Crosstex (each, a "Purchaser Guarantor") hereby jointly and severally absolutely, irrevocably and unconditionally guarantee to Seller, as primary obligor and not as surety merely, the due and punctual payment in full of the Earnout Payment, if any, and the Deferred Purchase Price (collectively, the "Guaranteed Obligations"), as and when due and payable pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement. Each Purchaser Guarantor hereby agrees that the obligations of such Purchaser Guarantor hereunder shall not be released or discharged, in whole or in part, in each case, or otherwise affected by: (a) the failure or delay on the part of Seller to assert any claim or demand or to enforce any right or remedy against Purchaser or Purchaser Guarantors; (b) any change in the time, place or manner of payment of any of the Guaranteed Obligations, or any rescission, waiver, compromise, consolidation or other amendment or modification of any of the terms or provisions of this Agreement or any other agreement entered into in connection with the Guaranteed Obligations, or (c) any insolvency, bankruptcy, reorganization or other similar proceeding instituted by or against Purchaser or any other Person now or hereafter liable with respect to the Guaranteed Obligations. Each Purchaser Guarantor hereby waives promptness, diligence, presentment, demand for



 

36 payment, notice of non-performance, default, dishonor and protest, notice of any Guaranteed Obligations incurred and all other notices of any kind, all defenses which may be available by virtue of any stay, moratorium or other similar Law now or hereafter in effect or any right to require the marshaling of assets of Purchaser or any other Person now or hereafter liable with respect to the Guaranteed Obligations. ARTICLE III REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF SELLER Except as set forth in, or qualified by any matter set forth in, the Disclosure Schedules, Seller hereby represents and warrants to Purchaser the following statements are true and correct: Section 3.1 Organization, Standing and Power. (a) Seller is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of Ohio and each Transferred Entity is duly formed, organized or incorporated, validly existing and, to the extent such concept is applicable in the relevant jurisdiction, in good standing or duly registered (or any similar concept) under the Laws of its jurisdiction of formation, organization or incorporation, as applicable, and each other jurisdiction in which the ownership or operation of its assets or businesses requires it to be in good standing or registered (or any similar concept), except as would not have a material effect on the Business, and each Transferred Entity has all necessary organizational power and authority to carry on the Business as presently conducted, except as would not have a material effect on the Business. (b) True, correct and complete copies of the Organizational Documents of each Transferred Entity have been made available to Purchaser. Section 3.2 Purchased Entities and Transferred Entities. All of the Purchased Entity Equity and all of the equity securities of the Transferred Entities have been duly authorized and validly issued and are fully paid and non-assessable and are held of record and beneficially by Affiliates of Seller as set forth on
Section 3.2 of the Disclosure Schedules. The Purchased Entity Equity collectively constitutes all of the issued and outstanding equity interests of the Purchased Entities. There are no outstanding options, warrants, call rights, purchase rights, subscription rights, exchange rights, preemptive rights, put rights, pledges, convertible securities, rights of first refusal, equity appreciation rights, phantom equity, profit participation rights, profits interests or other similar rights, convertible securities, agreements or commitments of any kind pursuant to which any of the Transferred Entities is or may become obligated to (a) issue, transfer, grant, sell or otherwise dispose of any of its equity interests, or (b) redeem, purchase or otherwise acquire any outstanding Purchased Entity Equity or any equity securities of the Transferred Entities, as applicable, in each case, other than as may be set forth in the Organizational Documents of such Purchased Entity or Transferred Entity. There are no written or, to the Knowledge of Seller, other claims by any current or former holder of Purchased Entity Equity or equity securities of any Transferred Entity against or involving Seller or any of its Affiliates in respect of any Purchased Entity Equity or any equity securities of any Transferred Entity currently or formerly held by such Person. There are no bonds, debentures, notes or other indebtedness of any Transferred Entity outstanding having the right to vote (or convertible into, or exchangeable for, securities having the right to vote) on any matters on which any equityholders of such Transferred Entity may vote. No



 

37 Transferred Entity is bound by any Contract or otherwise has any obligation to acquire any equity securities of, or make any investment in or loan or capital contribution to, any other Person, excluding any other Transferred Entity. Section 3.3 Authority; Execution and Delivery; Enforceability. Seller has all requisite power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and each other Transaction Document to which it is or will be a party and to consummate the Transaction and the other transactions contemplated hereby and thereby. The execution and delivery by Seller and its Affiliates of this Agreement and each other Transaction Document to which they are, or will be, a party and the consummation by Seller and its Affiliates of the Transaction and the other transactions contemplated hereby and thereby have been, or will be, as applicable, duly and validly authorized by all requisite action of Seller and its Affiliates pursuant to the Organizational Documents of Seller and its Affiliates, as applicable, and applicable law. Seller has duly executed and delivered this Agreement, and assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by Purchaser, this Agreement will constitute Seller's valid and binding obligation, enforceable against Seller in accordance with its terms, subject to the effect of any Laws relating to bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency, moratorium, fraudulent conveyance or preferential transfers, or similar Laws relating to or affecting the enforcement of creditors' rights generally and subject, as to enforceability, to the effect of general principles of equity (regardless of whether such enforceability is considered in a Proceeding in equity or at law) (collectively, the "General Enforceability Exceptions"). Section 3.4 No Conflicts; Consents; Governmental Authorization. The execution and delivery by Seller of this Agreement does not, and the execution by Seller of the other Transaction Documents to which it is, or will be, a party will not,
and the consummation of the Transaction and the other transactions contemplated hereby and thereby and compliance by Seller with the terms hereof and thereof will not, conflict with, or result in any violation of, breach or default (with or without notice or lapse of time, or both) under, or result in (or give rise to a right to) any termination, cancellation, modification, amendment, suspension, revocation, or acceleration of any right, benefit or obligation under, or result in the creation of any Lien (other than Permitted Liens) upon any assets of a Transferred Entity, any Purchased Entity Equity or any equity securities of any Transferred Entity, in each case, under, any provision of (a) the Organizational Documents of Seller or any Transferred Entity, (b) any Judgment or Law applicable to the Business, or (c) any Material Contract or Permit, except, in the case of clause (c), as would not reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to adversely affect in any material respect the business of, or result in any material liability to, a Transferred Entity. No Approval of any Governmental Entity is required to be obtained or made by or with respect to Seller or any of its Affiliates in connection with the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement, the other Transaction Documents or the consummation of the Transaction and the other transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, other than in connection, or in compliance with, the notification and waiting period requirements of the HSR Act. Section 3.5 Financial Statements. (a) Attached to Section 3.5 of the Disclosure Schedules are true, correct and complete copies of (w) the audited financial statements with respect to the "Dental" business segment as reported in the annual report on Form 10-K filed by STERIS plc with the SEC for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2023, (x) the unaudited financial statements with respect to the "Dental" business



 

38 segment as reported in the quarterly report on Form 10-Q filed by STERIS plc with the SEC for the quarterly period ended December 31, 2023, (y) the unaudited consolidated financial statements with respect to the Business, including the consolidated balance sheet as of April 30, 2022 and March 31, 2023 and consolidated income statements for the periods then ended and (z) the unaudited consolidated balance sheet and income statement of the Business as of January 31, 2024 and for the ten-month period then ended (the "Latest Financial Statements" and such date, the "Business Financial Statements Date") (such financial statements in (w), (x), (y) and (z), together with the notes and schedules thereto, if any, the "Business Financial Statements"). The Business Financial Statements (a) fairly present, in all material respects, the financial position and operating results of the Business as of their respective dates and for the periods set forth therein, and (b) have been prepared from the books and records of the Business and in accordance with GAAP (which books and records are in turn true, correct and complete in all material respects), except (i) as noted therein and (ii) in the case of the Latest Financial Statements and the quarterly report on Form 10- Q filed by STERIS plc with the SEC for the quarterly period ended December 31, 2023, as subject to normal year-end adjustments (none of which are material, individually or in the aggregate) and the absence of footnote disclosures required by GAAP (which, if included, would be consistent with the Business Financial Statements for the period ending on March 31, 2023); provided, however, that the Business Financial Statements and the foregoing representations and warranties are qualified by the fact that (A) the Business has not operated on a separate stand-alone basis and has historically been reported within Seller's or its Affiliates' combined financial statements, (B) the Business Financial Statements
may not necessarily be indicative of the results that the Business would have achieved had it operated on a separate stand-alone basis, and (C) the Business Financial Statements may assume certain allocated charges and credits which do not necessarily reflect amounts that would have resulted from arm's-length transactions or that the Business would have incurred on a stand-alone basis. (b) The Transferred Entities have, and Seller has, in respect of the Business, established and adhered to a system of internal accounting controls which is sufficient to provide reasonable assurances regarding the reliability of financial reporting. In the past three years there has been no (i) significant deficiency or material weakness in any system of internal accounting controls used by the Transferred Entities, (ii) fraud or other wrongdoing that involves any of the management or other employees who have a role in the preparation of financial statements or the internal accounting controls used by the Transferred Entities or (iii) any written (or to the Knowledge of Seller other), claim or allegation regarding any of the foregoing. Section 3.6 Absence of Undisclosed Liabilities. No Transferred Entity has any material Liabilities, except for (a) Liabilities that are accrued, reserved against or reflected in the Business Financial Statements, (b) Liabilities of the same type reflected on the Latest Financial Statements which have arisen since the Business Financial Statements Date and were incurred in the ordinary course of business (none of which is a liability resulting from, arising out of, or relating to any breach of contract, breach of warranty, tort, infringement, environmental, health or safety matter, claim, lawsuit or violation of Law), (c) Liabilities included in Closing Working Capital, Closing Indebtedness or Closing Transaction Expenses, (d) executory Liabilities disclosed in or arising pursuant to the terms of any Contract to which a Transferred Entity is a party or is otherwise

bound, but excluding such Liabilities to the extent that they are caused by a Transferred Entity's breach of such contract, or (e) Liabilities contemplated by or incurred under this Agreement or the other Transaction Documents.



 

39 Section 3.7 Absence of Changes or Events. (a) Since December 31, 2022, there has not been any Business Material Adverse Effect. (b) Since the Business Financial Statements Date, (i) each Transferred Entity has operated in the ordinary course of business, except in connection with, or in preparation for, the Transaction and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the other Transaction Documents and (ii) there has not occurred any action or event (other than any actions or events that are disclosed as a qualification to any other representation and warranty in this Article III) that, had it been taken or had it occurred after the date of this Agreement and prior to the Closing, would have required the consent of Purchaser under Section 5.2(b). Section 3.8 Title to and Sufficiency of Assets. As of the Closing, taking into account any products and services provided pursuant to this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents, (a) the Transferred Entities have good and marketable title to or, in the case of leased or licensed properties or assets, valid leasehold or license interests in, all of the assets and properties of the Business necessary to conduct the Business in the same manner in all material respects as currently conducted by them, free and clear of all Liens other than Permitted Liens, and (b) the Transferred Entities will own or have the right to use pursuant to licenses or other Contracts all of the assets, properties and rights necessary to conduct the Business in the same manner in all material respects as currently conducted by them. All assets and properties of the Business are free from material defects (patent and latent), have been maintained in all material respects accordance with Law and normal industry practice, and are, in all material respects, in good operating condition and repair (subject to normal wear and tear). Section 3.9 Intellectual Property Rights. (a) Section 3.9(a) of the Disclosure Schedules lists all Registered Intellectual
Property Rights included in the Business Intellectual Property Rights that are owned or exclusively licensed to the Transferred Entities, as of the date hereof (the "Business Registered Intellectual Property Rights"). Each item of the Business Registered Intellectual Property Rights is subsisting and, to the Knowledge of Seller, valid and, enforceable, and shall be owned or available for use by the Transferred Entities immediately after the Closing on terms and conditions identical to those under which the Transferred Entities owned or used such Business Intellectual Property Rights immediately prior to the Closing. (b) None of the Transferred Entities has: (i) received a written, or to the Knowledge of Seller, any other charge, complaint, claim, demand or notice in the last three years (and there are no Proceedings, charge, complaint, claim, demand or notice pending against any Transferred Entities) (A) that the Business Intellectual Property Rights are subject to any Judgment adversely affecting the use thereof or rights thereto by the Transferred Entities, or of any opposition or cancellation Proceeding pending against the Transferred Entities concerning the ownership, validity, or enforceability of any Business Registered Intellectual Property Rights, or (B) alleging that the possession or use of any of the Business Intellectual Property Rights infringes, misappropriates or otherwise violates the Intellectual Property Rights of any other Person; and (ii) in the last three years, made any written allegation against a third party of any infringement, misappropriation or other violation of any Business Intellectual Property Rights.



 

40 (c) All Intellectual Property Rights necessary to the operation of the Business as currently conducted are either (i) exclusively owned or purported to be owned by one of the Transferred Entities (the "Owned Intellectual Property"), free and clear of all Liens, except Permitted Liens, or (ii) are used by one of the Transferred Entities pursuant to a valid and enforceable license or other right to use (including, at the Closing, through the Transition Services Agreement) ((i) and (ii) together, "Business Intellectual Property Rights"). The Business Intellectual Property Rights and the Intellectual Property Rights of the Transferred Entities include all of the Intellectual Property Rights necessary to conduct the Business in all material respects in the manner conducted as of the date hereof (and in substantially the same manner as it has been conducted in the twelve (12) months period immediately prior to the date hereof). (d) Neither the conduct of the Transferred Entities, and the conduct of Seller and its Subsidiaries as it primarily relates to the Business, nor the conduct of the Business as currently conducted, including the provision of services and the sale or licensing of products, infringes any copyright or misappropriates any trade secret of any third party or infringes, misappropriates or otherwise violates, any other Intellectual Property Rights of any third party, nor in the last three years has infringed any copyright or misappropriated any trade secret of any third party or in the last three years infringed any trademark of any third party, or in the last six years, infringed, misappropriated or otherwise violated any Intellectual Property Rights of any third party, except in each case as would not have a material effect on the Business. To the Knowledge of Seller, as of the date hereof, no third party is infringing, misappropriating, or otherwise violating any Business Intellectual Property Rights. (e) The Transferred Entities exclusively own the material Intellectual Property
Rights developed on behalf of the Business by all current and former officers and employees of, and consultants and independent contractors to, the Transferred Entities. The Transferred Entities have entered into valid and enforceable written agreements with each of its current or former employees, contractors and consultants who have participated in the development of material Intellectual Property Rights for the Transferred Entities providing for (i) the present assignment to the Transferred Entities of all right, title and interest in and to all such developed Intellectual Property Rights and (ii) the non-disclosure by such Persons of all confidential information (collectively, the "Personnel IP Assignments"). No current or former officer or employee of, or consultant or independent contractor to, the Transferred Entities is asserting or, to the Knowledge of Seller, has grounds to assert any rights to any of the Business Intellectual Property Rights. (f) The Transferred Entities have taken commercially reasonable measures designed to protect and maintain the confidentiality of Trade Secrets, and, to the Knowledge of Seller, there have been no material unauthorized uses or disclosures of any such Trade Secrets. The Transferred Entities possess all source code and other documentation and materials proprietary to the Business and necessary or useful to compile and operate the Business Products and neither Seller and its Subsidiaries as it primarily relates to the Business nor the Transferred Entities have disclosed, delivered, licensed or otherwise made available, and Seller and its Subsidiaries primarily as it relates to the Business and the Transferred Entities do not have a duty or obligation (whether present, contingent or otherwise) to disclose, deliver, license or otherwise make available, any source code or other documentation that is proprietary to the Business and that is used for any Business Products to any Person other than Persons who have a legitimate interest to

gain access



 

41 to such source code and other documentation and who have signed appropriate confidentiality agreements. (g) Except as set forth in a Material Contract, neither the Transferred Entities nor Seller and its Subsidiaries as it primarily relates to the Business are under any obligation, whether written or otherwise, to develop any Intellectual Property Rights (including any elements of any Business Products) or customize or configure any Business IT Assets for any third party, including any customer or end user. (h) Neither Seller and its Subsidiaries as it primarily relates to the Business nor any Transferred Entity use or have used any Open Source Software or any modification or derivative thereof: (i) in a manner that would grant or purport to grant to any Person any rights to or immunities under any of the Business Intellectual Property Rights, or (ii) under any license requiring any Transferred Entity or Seller and its Subsidiaries as it primarily relates to the Business to disclose, distribute or reverse-engineer the source code that is proprietary to the Business and that is used with any of the Business Products, to license or provide the source code to any of the Business Products for the purpose of making derivative works, or to make available for redistribution to any Person such source code to any of the Business Products at no or minimal charge. The Transferred Entities and Seller and its Subsidiaries as it primarily relates to the Business are in compliance with all obligations under any agreement pursuant to which the Transferred Entities and Seller and its Subsidiaries as it primarily relates to the Business have obtained the right to use any third-party Software, including Open Source Software. Section 3.10 Information Technology; Data Protection. (a) The Transferred Entities own, lease, license, or otherwise have the legal right to use, including by taking into account the services to be provided pursuant to the Transition Services Agreement, all Business IT
Assets for the operation of the Business as it is currently conducted (and in substantially the same manner as it has been conducted in the 12 months period immediately prior to the date hereof). The Business IT Assets operate according to specifications and perform as needed by the Transferred Entities to conduct the Business as conducted as of the date hereof (and in substantially the same manner as it has been conducted in the 12 months period immediately prior to the date hereof) without material defects or errors. Each Transferred Entity is in compliance with all material obligations under any Contract pursuant to which such Transferred Entity has obtained the right to use any third-party Business IT Assets. The Seller and its Subsidiaries as it primarily relates to the Business and the Transferred Entities have taken commercially reasonable actions to protect the security and integrity of the Business IT Assets and the data stored or contained therein or transmitted thereby. In the last three years there have not been any vulnerabilities or defects that resulted in any Security Breaches or unauthorized access or other security access incidents materially affecting the Business IT Assets or requiring notification to any Person or Governmental Entity under applicable Data Protection Requirements, except as would not have a material effect on the Business. To the Knowledge of Seller, the Business IT Assets do not contain any virus, spyware, malware, worm, Trojan Horse, or other technology, disabling codes or instructions, or other similar code or software routines or hardware components that are designed or intended to (i) delete, disable, interfere with, perform unauthorized modifications to, or provide unauthorized access to any data of the Business, Personal Data or the Business IT Assets, or (ii) modify, damage or destroy the Business IT Assets.



 

42 There are no, and in the last three years there have not been, any material defects, technical concerns or problems in any Software or hardware of the Business Products currently offered or under development that would prevent the same from performing substantially in accordance with their user specifications or functionality descriptions. (b) In the last three years, (i) the Business, Seller and its Subsidiaries as it primarily relates to the Business, and the Transferred Entities are, and have been compliant with all applicable Data Protection Requirements, (ii) the Transferred Entities and Seller and its Subsidiaries as it primarily relates to the Business have implemented commercially reasonable and all legally required measures, programs, policies and procedures, relating to privacy, cybersecurity, data protection and the collection, retention, protection, transfer, use and processing of Personal Data in respect of the Business, and (iii) there has been no (A) unauthorized access, use, modification, or disclosure of any Personal Data, confidential or proprietary data, or any other sensitive information in the Business's possession or control, and no circumstances exist which are likely to result in such incidents, (B) actual or alleged Security Breaches or intrusions into any Business IT Asset, or (C) action or circumstance requiring any Transferred Entity or Seller and its Subsidiaries as it primarily relates to the Business to notify any Person or Governmental Entity of a data Security Breach or violation of any Data Protection Requirements, except in each case as would not have a material effect on the Business. (c) None of the Transferred Entities or the Seller and its Subsidiaries, as it primarily relates to the Business, has, in the last three years, received any written, or to the Knowledge of Seller, any other complaint, claim, demand, threat of investigation or notice from any Person (including applicable Governmental Entities) alleging a violation of any Data Protection
Requirements by any Transferred Entity, Seller or any of its Subsidiaries as it primarily relates to the Business, nor has any of the foregoing been threatened in writing to be charged with any such violation by any Governmental Entity. (d) The Transferred Entities and Seller or its Subsidiaries, as it primarily relates to the Business, have (i) taken all appropriate actions (including implementing and maintaining reasonable technical, organizational, physical or administrative safeguards) to protect Personal Data in their possession or under their control against any unauthorized use, modification, access or disclosure and (ii) entered into written agreements with third-party service providers, outsourcers, processors or other third parties who Process, store or otherwise handle Personal Data for or on behalf of the Business or the Transferred Entities that obligate such Persons to comply with applicable Data Protection Requirements and to take steps to protect and secure Personal Data from unauthorized use, access, modification or disclosure, and, to the Knowledge of Seller, all third parties who Process Personal Data on behalf of the Business or the Transferred Entities have done so in material compliance with applicable Laws and Data Protection Requirements. (e) The Transferred Entities exclusively own or possess all the necessary rights in and to the Business Product Data and all Personal Data primarily used by the Business, free and clear of any restrictions of any nature other than Permitted Liens, including the rights, directly or indirectly, to use or exploit the same to operate the Business Products.



 

43 Section 3.11 Real Property. (a) Section 3.11(a) of the Disclosure Schedules sets forth the addresses all of the real property leased, subleased or licensed by the Transferred Entities (together with all buildings, structures, fixtures and Improvements located thereon, the "Business Leased Real Property"). The Business Leased Real Property represents all Leases covering leased or subleased real property used in the Business. With respect to the Business Leased Real Property, (i) the Transferred Entities have valid title to the leasehold estate (as lessee), free and clear of all Liens, other than Permitted Liens; (ii) each Lease for the Business Leased Real Property is in full force and effect and is enforceable in accordance with its terms, subject to the General Enforceability Exceptions; (iii) the applicable Transferred Entity's possession and quiet enjoyment of the Business Leased Real Property under such Lease has not been disturbed, and to the Knowledge of Seller, there are no disputes with respect to such Lease; (iv) neither the applicable Transferred Entity nor, to the Knowledge of Seller, any other party to the Lease is in breach or default under such Lease, and no event has occurred or circumstance exists which, with the delivery of notice, the passage of time or both, would constitute such a breach or default, or permit the termination, modification or acceleration of rent under such Lease, and (v) no Transferred Entity has subleased, licensed or otherwise granted any Person the right to use or occupy such Business Leased Real Property or any portion thereof. (b) The Transferred Entities have good and marketable indefeasible fee simple title to the real property set forth in Section 3.11(b) of the Disclosure Schedules (the "Business Owned Real Property"), free and clear of all Liens, other than Permitted Liens. No Transferred Entity has leased or otherwise granted to any Person the right to use or occupy such Business Owned Real Property or any portion thereof.
There are no outstanding options, rights of first offer or rights of first refusal to purchase such Business Owned Real Property or any portion thereof or interest therein. There are no pending or, to the Knowledge of Seller, threatened in writing condemnation Proceedings. (c) All Improvements are in good condition and repair and sufficient for the operation of the Business immediately after the Closing in substantially the same manner as it was conducted immediately prior to Closing, subject to normal wear and tear. To the Knowledge of Seller, there are no structural deficiencies or latent defects that are material in nature affecting any of the Improvements and, there are no facts or conditions affecting any of the Improvements which would, individually or in the aggregate, interfere in any material respect with the use or occupancy of the Improvements or any portion thereof in the operation of the Business. (d) The Business Owned Real Property and Business Leased Real Property are in material compliance with all applicable Laws, and the current use or occupancy of the Business Owned Real Property and the Business Leased Real Property or operation of the Business thereon does not violate in any material respect any Laws. Section 3.12 Material Contracts. (a) Section 3.12 of the Disclosure Schedules sets forth a true, complete and correct list of all of the following Contracts (excluding open purchase or sales orders entered into in the ordinary course of business) to which a Transferred Entity is a party or by which any of them is



 

44 bound as of the date hereof (each Contract listed or required to be listed on Section 3.12 of the Disclosure Schedules, collectively, the "Material Contracts"): (i) any Contract with a Material Customer; (ii) any Contract with a Material Supplier; (iii) any Contract containing any capital expenditure obligations of the Business in excess of $3,000,000; (iv) any Contract that is a strategic alliance, an equity joint venture, partnership or other similar agreements or other agreements that involve sharing of revenues, profits, losses, costs, royalty in excess of $100,000, damages or liabilities, in each case, between a Transferred Entity and a third party; (v) any Contract pursuant to which (A) any Transferred Entity licenses from a third party Intellectual Property Rights (other than any COTS Software), or (B) a third party licenses from any Transferred Entity any Business Intellectual Property Rights (other than licenses granted in the ordinary course of business, including in connection with the sale or licensing of any products or services), in each case of clauses (A) and (B) that involve annual aggregate payments in excess of $1,000,000; (vi) any Contract relating to Indebtedness, other than any Indebtedness to the extent owing from any of the Transferred Entities to any of the other Transferred Entities or released pursuant to Section 5.11; (vii) any Contract relating to the acquisition or disposition of any business or assets (whether by merger, sale of stock, sale of assets or otherwise) other than (A) acquisitions or dispositions of inventory, or assets of no or de minimis value, in the ordinary course of business, or (B) Personnel IP Assignments; (viii) any Contract that (A) prohibits or purports to prohibit a Transferred Entity from competing in a particular geographic area during any time period or from soliciting or hiring any Person, (B) contains "most favored nation" pricing terms, exclusivity, or grants any right of first offer or right of first refusal, or (C) contains "take
or pay" or "requirements" terms; (ix) any Contract, other than a Transaction Document, (i) relating to the sharing or allocation of Intellectual Property Rights by and between the Transferred Entities, on the one hand, and Seller and its Affiliates (other than the Transferred Entities), on the other hand, or (ii) that restricts or limits the use of any Business Intellectual Property Rights that are owned or exclusively licensed to any Transferred Entity (including consent to use and co-existence agreements); (x) any Contract for the development or escrow of any Business Intellectual Property Right that is owned or exclusively licensed to any Transferred Entity or Business Product;



 

45 (xi) any Contract involving the settlement, conciliation, release, compromise or waiver of any material rights, claims, obligations, duties or liabilities (i) with any Governmental Entity pursuant to which the Transferred Entities have any outstanding liabilities or obligations or (ii) any other Person pursuant to which the Transferred Entities or the Business will have any outstanding payment obligation after the date of this Agreement in excess of $500,000; (xii) any Contract that provides for (A) the employment or engagement of any Business Employee, director or other individual contractor of the Business or the Transferred Entities on a full-time or consulting basis (x) providing annual base compensation in excess of $200,000, except for offer letters for at-will employees that do not provide for severance, change in control or similar payments or benefits or (y) that cannot be terminated upon ninety (90) days' prior notice or less without any material Liability to any Transferred Entity, or (B) accelerated vesting or any transaction, change of control, or retention bonus or payment, or other compensation or benefit that will accelerate or become due as a result of the Transaction or any other transaction contemplated by any Transaction Document; (xiii) any Collective Bargaining Agreement; (xiv) any Contract granting to any Person a first refusal, first offer or similar preferential right to purchase or acquire any equity interest of a Transferred Entity; (xv) any Government Contract with a total estimated annual value of $250,000 or more, including all options and anticipated orders; (xvi) any Contract that is an Affiliate Agreement; (xvii) any Contract that is a Commingled Contract; and (xviii) any Lease for Business Leased Real Property. (b) Other than expirations or non-renewals following the date hereof in accordance with the terms of the applicable Material Contract and in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, each Material Contract i
in full force and effect and is valid, binding and enforceable with respect to the Transferred Entity party thereto, and to the Knowledge of Seller, each of the other parties thereto in accordance with its terms, in each case, subject to the General Enforceability Exceptions. No Transferred Entity, nor to the Knowledge of Seller, any other party to a Material Contract, is in material breach or violation of, or default under, any Material Contract and no event has occurred that with or without notice or lapse of time or both would constitute a material breach or default (whether by lapse of time or notice or both). There has been no material dispute with respect to any Material Contract by the parties thereto which dispute has not been fully resolved. No Transferred Entity has received any written or, to the Knowledge of Seller, other notice of cancellation, termination or non-renewal in respect of any Material Contract from or on behalf of the other party thereto or of any material dispute with respect to any Material Contract. Prior to the execution of this Agreement, Seller has made available to Purchaser true, complete and correct copies of each Material Contract.



 

46 Section 3.13 Compliance with Applicable Laws; Permits. (a) Each Transferred Entity is, and has been, in compliance in all material respects with all Laws applicable to the conduct of the Business as conducted by such Transferred Entity, except for such non-compliance prior to June 2, 2021 as would not result in a Business Material Adverse Effect. In the past three years, (i) no Transferred Entity has received written, or to the Knowledge of Seller, other notice alleging or stating that it is under investigation or audit with respect to, or been formally charged by a Governmental Entity with, the violation of any Laws, (ii) no Transferred Entity is or was under any such investigation or audit, and (iii) no Transferred Entity has conducted any internal investigation or audit in respect of any actual or potential material violation of Law. Except as would not have a material effect on the Business, all reports required to be filed by or on behalf of a Transferred Entity in the past three years with any Governmental Entity have been filed and, when filed, were correct and complete in all material respects. (b) Each Transferred Entity possesses all Permits necessary for the conduct of the Business conducted and as proposed to be conducted by it ("Required Permits"). All Required Permits are valid and in full force and effect in all material respects. The Transferred Entities have conducted their respective businesses in accordance in all material respects with the requirements of such Required Permits. To the Knowledge of Seller, no event has occurred or condition or state of facts exists which constitutes or, after notice or lapse of time or both, would constitute, a breach of or default under any such Required Permit and no Required Permit will be subject to modification or termination by its terms as a result of, or in connection with, the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the Transaction Documents. No proceeding to modify, suspend, revoke, withdraw,
terminate, deny the continuance or renewal of or otherwise limit any such Required Permit is pending or threatened in writing or to the Knowledge of Seller, otherwise threatened. (c) None of the Transferred Entities nor any of their respective directors, managers, officers, or employees or, to the Knowledge of Seller, any agent or representative thereof, during the past five years has offered, paid, promised to pay, or authorized the payment of any money or any other thing of value to any Person (i) with the intention of inducing improper conduct on the part of the recipient or (ii) to otherwise secure an undue or improper advantage for the Transferred Entities in violation of any Anti-Corruption Law. (d) None of the Transferred Entities nor any of their respective directors, managers, officers, or employees or, to the Knowledge of Seller, any agent or representative thereof during the past five years (i) has been or is a Person (x) with whom dealings are prohibited by any International Trade Laws; (y) a Governmental Entity of, resident in, or organized under the Laws of a country or territory that is the target of comprehensive sanctions (as of the date of this Agreement, Cuba, Iran, North Korea, Syria, and the Crimea region and so-called Donetsk People's Republic and Luhansk People's Republic in Ukraine); or (z) 50% or more owned or controlled by any of the foregoing Persons (collectively, a "Sanctioned Person"); or (ii) has (acting for or on behalf of the Transferred Entities) transacted business with or for the benefit of a Sanctioned Person or otherwise violated applicable International Trade Laws. (e) None of the Transferred Entities has been, during the past five years, the subject of any written (or, to the Knowledge of Seller, other) allegation, voluntary disclosure, investigation,



 

47 prosecution or enforcement action related to any Anti-Corruption Laws or International Trade Laws. (f) Each of the Transferred Entities is in compliance with all applicable tariff Laws, including the maintenance of contemporaneous documentation substantiating the tariff practices and methodology of the applicable Transferred Entity, in all material respects. Section 3.14 Government Contracts. (a) Each Government Contract to which a Transferred Entity is a party was legally awarded; (b) no such Government Contract is the subject of bid or award protest proceedings; (c) the Transferred Entities are in material compliance with the terms and conditions of each such Government Contract; (d) in the past three years, no Transferred Entity has made any mandatory or voluntary disclosure to any Governmental Entity with respect to any alleged irregularity, misstatement, omission, fraud or price mischarging, or other violation of applicable Law, arising under or relating to a Government Contract; (e) no Transferred Entity is being or has been audited or investigated by any Governmental Entity with respect to any Government Contract; (f) no Transferred Entity has received from any Governmental Entity or any other Person any written notice of breach, cure, show cause, default, or violation of Law, or of any actual or threatened legal or administrative action, with respect to any Government Contract; (g) no Transferred Entity has had any Government Contract terminated by any Governmental Entity or any other Person for default or failure to perform; (h) no Transferred Entity has received any small business set-aside contract, any other set aside contract or other order or contract requiring small business or other preferred bidder status; (i) no Transferred Entity has entered any Government Contracts payable on a cost-reimbursement basis or on the basis of a discount or disclosure of commercial pricing practices; and (j) no Transferred Entity, nor any principal
thereof, has been debarred or suspended from participation in, or the award of, Government Contracts or is the subject of any debarment or suspension inquiry. There have been no material claims or disputes in connection with any Government Contract. Section 3.15 Environmental Matters. Except as would not have a material effect on the Business: (a) each Transferred Entity is, and for the past three years been, in compliance with all Environmental Laws applicable to it or the conduct of the Business; (b) each Transferred Entity possesses and has possessed for the past three years or has submitted a timely application for all Permits required for its operation of the Business or occupancy of its facilities under applicable Environmental Laws, and is, and for the past three years has been, in compliance with such Permits; (c) no Transferred Entity is subject to any pending or has received any unresolved Environmental Claim or has received written notice of any currently threatened Environmental Claim; (d) no Transferred Entity has by Contract or operation of Law assumed or provided an indemnity with respect to any Liability of any other Person under or relating to Environmental Laws; and (e) there has been no Release of or contamination by any Hazardous Material at, from, on or under the Business Leased Real Property, the Business Owned Real Property or any real property formerly owned, leased or otherwise operated by any Transferred Entity, and no Transferred Entity has Released, treated, stored, disposed of, arranged for or permitted the disposal of, transported, handled, manufactured, distributed, sold or exposed any person to any Hazardous Material, in each case that currently requires investigation, assessment, cleanup or remediation by or has given or would give rise to any Liabilities for any Transferred Entity pursuant to any Environmental Law. Except as would not reasonably be expected to have a Business Material Adverse Effect, neither

the Transaction nor the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement



 

48 is subject to the requirements of the Connecticut Transfer Act. The Transferred Entities have made available to Purchaser all material environmental, health or safety audits, assessments and reports and other material non-privileged documents bearing on any unresolved environmental, health or safety Liabilities that would have a material effect on the Business relating to their operations or past or current properties or facilities in their or Seller's possession or under their reasonable control. Section 3.16 Proceedings. There are no Proceedings pending or, to the Knowledge of Seller, threatened, against any Transferred Entity (or against Seller or any of its other Affiliates in respect of the Business), or any of the directors or officers of the Transferred Entities (in such capacity) or affecting any properties or assets of the Transferred Entities, nor have there been any such Proceedings in the last three years that involved any Transferred Entity (or Seller or any of its other Affiliates in respect of the Business) paying any amount in settlement thereof in excess of $500,000 or agreeing to any material limitation on or modification of the conduct of the Business. No Transferred Entity has any material Proceeding pending or planned to be brought against any Person. Section 3.17 Taxes. (a) All Tax Returns required to be filed by the Transferred Entities have been timely filed (taking into account automatic extensions) and all such Tax returns are true, correct and complete in all material respects. (b) All Taxes of the Transferred Entities (whether or not shown or required to be shown as due on any Tax Return) have been duly and timely paid by the due date thereof. (c) Each of the Transferred Entities has complied with applicable Laws relating to the collection and withholding of Taxes, and has paid over to the appropriate Governmental Entity all Taxes required by Law to be withheld or collected from amounts paid or owing to any employee, equity holder, creditor,
holder of securities or other third party, and has complied with all information reporting (including IRS Form 1099) and backup withholding requirements, including maintenance of required records with respect thereto. (d) Since June 2, 2021, none of the Transferred Entities has been a "distributing corporation" or a "controlled corporation" in a distribution intended to be governed (in whole or in part) by Section 355(a) or Section 361 of the Code. (e) None of the Transferred Entities have participated in any "reportable transaction" within the meaning of Treasury Regulations Section 1.6011-4 (or any similar or corresponding provision of state, local, or non-U.S. Law). (f) None of the Transferred Entities has waived any statute of limitations in respect of Taxes or has consented to extend the time, or is the beneficiary of any extension of time, in which any Tax may be assessed or collected by any Governmental Entity, other than any such extensions that are no longer in effect. No request for any such waiver or extension from any Taxing Authority is currently outstanding except for automatic extensions of time (which do not involve any discretion on the part of Taxing Authorities) to file Tax Returns for any Transferred Entity.



 

49 (g) None of the Transferred Entities is a party to or bound by any Tax allocation, Tax indemnification or Tax sharing agreement (other than any Contract entered into in the ordinary course of business, the primary purpose of which is not Taxes). (h) None of the Transferred Entities is or has been a member of an affiliated group within the meaning of Section 1504(a) of the Code (or any similar group defined under a similar provision of U.S. state, local, or non-U.S. Law) filing a consolidated, combined, unitary or similar Tax Return (other than a group the common parent of which is or was the applicable Transferred Entity, Seller or any of the Affiliates of Seller), nor does any Transferred Entity have any liability for the Taxes of any Person (other than any Person who is a member of an affiliated group within the meaning of Section 1504(a) of the Code (or any similar group under similar provision of U.S. state, local or non-U.S. Law) filing a consolidated, combined, unitary or similar Tax Return, the common parent of which is or was the applicable Transferred Entity, Seller or any of the Affiliates of Seller) under Section 1.1502-6 of the Treasury Regulations or any analogous or similar provision of U.S. state or local, or non-U.S. Law, or by Contract (other than any Contract entered into in the ordinary course of business, the primary purpose of which is not Taxes), as a transferee or successor, or otherwise. (i) None of the Transferred Entities or Purchaser by virtue of its ownership in the Purchased Entities will be required to include any item of income in, or exclude any item of deduction from, taxable income for any taxable period (or portion thereof) beginning after the Closing Date as a result of any (i) change in method of accounting for a taxable period ending on or prior to the Closing Date; (ii) "closing agreement" as described in Section 7121 of the Code and the Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder (or any corresponding or similar provision
of U.S. state or local or non-U.S. law) executed on or prior to the Closing Date; (iii) installment sale or open transaction disposition made on or prior to the Closing Date; (iv) intercompany transaction or excess loss account described in the Treasury Regulations under Section 1502 of the Code (or any corresponding or similar provision of state, local or foreign Tax Law) arising prior to the Closing; (v) use of an improper method of accounting for a taxable period ending on or prior to the Closing Date; (vi) prepaid amount received or deferred revenue accrued including pursuant to Revenue Procedure 2004-34 or Section 451(c) of the Code and the Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder on or prior to the Closing Date; or (vii) income under Section 951 or 951A of the Code (or any corresponding or similar provision of Law) of any Transferred Entity attributable to a taxable period (or portion thereof) ending on or prior to the Closing Date. No Transferred Entity will be required to pay any Tax after the Closing Date as a result of an election made pursuant to Section 965(h) of the Code. (j) There are no Liens for Taxes (other than Liens for Taxes not yet due and payable) upon any of the assets of any Transferred Entity. (k) No claim has ever been made by a Taxing Authority in a jurisdiction where none of the Transferred Entities files Tax Returns that any Transferred Entity is or may be subject to Tax by that jurisdiction. None of the Transferred Entities is or has ever had a taxable presence in any jurisdiction other than jurisdictions for which Tax Returns have been duly filed and Taxes have been duly and timely paid.



 

50 (l) None of the Transferred Entities has received from any Taxing Authority (including jurisdictions where no Transferred Entity has filed Tax Return) any (i) notice indicating an intent to open a Tax Proceeding or other review with respect to material Taxes, (ii) request for information related to material Tax matters, or (iii) notice of deficiency or proposed adjustment for any material amount of Tax proposed, asserted, or assessed by any Taxing Authority against any Transferred Entity, in each case, that has not been resolved. There is no outstanding or pending audit or examination, closing agreement, ruling, ruling request, request to consent to change a method of accounting, or request for information with or by any Taxing Authority with respect to any material Tax of any Transferred Entity. (m) Each of the Transferred Entities is in compliance with all applicable transfer pricing Laws (including Section 482 of the Code and its corresponding Treasury Regulations), including the maintenance of contemporaneous documentation substantiating the transfer pricing practices and methodology of the applicable Transferred Entity, in all material respects. (n) None of the Transferred Entities has used in the last three taxable years preceding the year of Closing the cash receipts and disbursements method of accounting for U.S. federal (or applicable state and local) income Tax purposes. (o) The entity classification for U.S. federal income Tax purposes pursuant to Treasury Regulation Section 301.7701-3 of each Transferred Entity is set forth on Section 3.17(o) of the Disclosure Schedule, and, unless otherwise noted on Section 3.17(o) of the Disclosure Schedules, each entity has had such classification at all times since its incorporation or formation, as applicable. (p) None of the Transferred Entities is subject to any Tax holiday or Tax incentive or grant in any jurisdiction that will terminate or adversely change as a result of the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement. (q) None of the Transferred Entities organized outside of the United States (i) is a "controlled foreign corporation" within the meaning of Section 957 of the Code, (ii) is a "passive foreign investment company" within the meaning of Section 1297 of the Code, or (iii) has ever incurred a material amount of Subpart F income within the meaning of Section 952(a) of the Code, or has any investment in "United States property" within the meaning of Section 956(c) of the Code and the Treasury Regulations thereunder, in each case, for the past three years. (r) To the Knowledge of Seller, none of the Transferred Entities holds any interest in escheatable, unclaimed or abandoned property under applicable escheatment or unclaimed property Laws. (s) None of the Transferred Entities has any unpaid payroll Taxes that were deferred under the CARES Act. Section 3.18 Labor Relations; Employees and Benefit Plans. (a) Each Collective Bargaining Agreement to which a Transferred Entity is a party to or bound by is listed on Section 3.18(a) of the Disclosure Schedules. For purposes of this Agreement, "Collective Bargaining Agreement" means any collective bargaining agreement or



 

51 other Contract with a labor union, works council, or other labor organization or employee representative. There are no Collective Bargaining Agreements or any other collective labor- related agreements or arrangements that pertain to any Business Employees, and none are currently being negotiated; and no Business Employees are represented by any labor union, labor organization, works council, employee representative or group of employees with respect to their employment with the Transferred Entities or Seller (solely with respect to the Business). (b) Each material Benefit Plan is listed on Section 3.18(b)(i) of the Disclosure Schedules, and each Benefit Plan that is a Transferred Entity Benefit Plan is separately identified in Section 3.18(b)(ii) of the Disclosure Schedules. With respect to each Transferred Entity Benefit Plan, Seller has made available to Purchaser true, accurate and correct copies of such Transferred Entity Benefit Plans (provided that agreements with individual Business Employees may be provided on an anonymized basis and templates may be provided in lieu of copies of individual agreements that conform to such templates) and (if applicable) (i) the most recent plan document (or, if unwritten, a written summary of the material terms of such plan) and any related trust or other funding agreement or arrangement, (ii) the most recent summary plan description and summaries of material modifications thereto, (iii) the annual report on IRS Form 5500 and all attachments thereto filed with the IRS with respect to such Transferred Entity Benefit Plan for the most recent year, (iv) the current determination or opinion letter, issued by the IRS and (v) any non-routine correspondence with any Governmental Entity in the last three years. With respect to each Seller Benefit Plan, Seller has provided Purchaser a written summary or description of such Benefit Plan. (c) All Transferred Entity Benefit Plans, and except as would not result in any
Liability to a Transferred Entity, each Seller Benefit Plan, has been established, maintained, funded and administered in form and operation, in all material respects in compliance with their terms and applicable requirements of Law. (d) Each Benefit Plan intended to be qualified under Section 401(a) of the Code and each trust intended to qualify under Section 501(a) of the Code has obtained a currently effective favorable determination notification, advisory and/or opinion letter, as applicable, as to its qualified status (or the qualified status of the master or prototype form on which it is established) from the IRS covering the amendments to the Code effected by the Tax Reform Act of 1986, and no amendment to such Benefit Plan has been adopted since the date of such letter covering such Benefit Plan and nothing has occurred that would adversely affect such favorable determination or the qualification of such Benefit Plan. (e) No Benefit Plan maintained, sponsored, contributed to or required to be contributed to by a Transferred Entity, Seller or any of their respective ERISA Affiliates, is, and no Transferred Entity otherwise has any Liability under or with respect to, (i) a multiemployer plan as defined in Section 3(37) of ERISA, (ii) a plan subject to Title IV of ERISA, (iii) a plan subject to the minimum funding standards of Section 412 of the Code or Section 302 of ERISA, or (iv) a multiple employer welfare arrangement as defined in Section 3(40) of ERISA. No Transferred Entity has any Liability as a consequence of at any time being considered a single employer under Section 414 of the Code with any other Person.



 

52 (f) All contributions, reserves or premium payments required to have been made or accrued, or that are due, to or with respect to any Transferred Entity Benefit Plans or arrangements maintained and to which contributions by an employer are mandated by a Governmental Entity or, except as would not result in Liability to any Transferred Entity, any Seller Benefit Plans, have been timely made or accrued in all material respects. There have been no non-exempt "prohibited transactions" within the meaning of Section 4975 or Section 406 or 407 of ERISA and not otherwise exempt under Section 408 of ERISA and no breaches of fiduciary duty (as determined under ERISA) with respect to any Benefit Plan, in each case that would result in material Liability to any Transferred Entity. (g) There are no pending or, to the Knowledge of Seller, threatened claims or Proceedings with respect to any Transferred Entity Benefit Plans (other than routine claims for benefits by participants and beneficiaries incurred in the ordinary course) or the assets or any fiduciary thereof (in that Person's capacity as a fiduciary of such Transferred Entity Benefit Plan) or, except as would not result in any material Liability to any Transferred Entity, any Seller Benefit Plan. There are no audits, inquiries or Proceedings pending or, to the Knowledge of Seller, threatened by the IRS, U.S. Department of Labor, or other Governmental Entity with respect to any Transferred Entity Benefit Plan or, except as would not result in any material Liability to any Transferred Entity, any Seller Benefit Plan. (h) No Transferred Entity Benefit Plan provides, or reflects or represents any Liability to provide, and no Transferred Entity has promised to provide, benefits (including, any post- termination, post-ownership, or retiree health or welfare benefits), whether or not insured, with respect to any Business Employee, or any spouse or dependent of any such Business Employee or any other Person, beyond
the Person's retirement or other termination of employment or service or ownership with Seller or any of its Affiliates other than coverage mandated by Part 6 of Title I of ERISA or Section 4980B of the Code or similar state Law for which the recipient pays the full cost. No Transferred Entity has incurred (whether or not assessed) or is reasonably expected to incur or to be subject to, any material Tax or penalty or other Liability under Sections 4980B, 4980D, 4980H, 6721 or 6722 of the Code. (i) The execution of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (alone or together with any other event which, standing alone, would not by itself trigger such entitlement or acceleration) could not (i) entitle any current or former Business Employee or other individual service provider of any Transferred Entity to any payment or benefit (including severance), forgiveness of indebtedness, vesting, distribution, or increase in compensation or benefits under or with respect to any Benefit Plan, (ii) otherwise trigger any acceleration (of vesting, funding or payment of compensation, benefits or otherwise) under or with respect to any Benefit Plan, or (iii) trigger any obligation to fund any Transferred Entity Benefit Plan. (j) There is no contract, plan or arrangement covering any Business Employee or other individual service provider of any Transferred Entity, that, individually or collectively, could give rise to the payment as a result of or in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement of any amount that would not be deductible by a Transferred Entity or Seller by reason of Section 280G of the Code.



 

53 (k) A list of each Transferred Entity Benefit Plan that is maintained outside the jurisdiction of the United States, or covers any employee residing or working outside the United States has been made available to Purchaser (any such Transferred Entity Benefit Plan, a "Foreign Benefit Plan"). With respect to any Foreign Benefit Plans and without limiting the representations set forth above in this Section 3.18, (i) all Foreign Benefit Plans have been established, maintained and administered in compliance in all material respects with their terms and applicable Law, and (ii) all Foreign Benefit Plans that are required to be funded are fully funded and there are no unfunded or underfunded Liabilities with respect to any Foreign Benefit Plan. (l) Except as would not have a material effect on the Business taken as a whole, during the past three years, there have been no pending, or to the Knowledge of Seller, threatened strikes, industrial or similar actions, work stoppages, slowdowns, picketing, hand billing, lockouts, or other material labor disputes against or affecting the Transferred Entities or the Business. To the Knowledge of Seller, in the past three years, there have been no labor organizing activities with respect to any Business Employees. (m) The Transferred Entities and Seller (solely with respect to the Business) have timely satisfied any legal or contractual requirement to provide notice or information to, bargain with, enter into any consultation procedure with, or obtain consent from, any labor union, works council, labor organization or employee representative, which is representing any Business Employee, or any applicable labor tribunal, in connection with the execution of this Agreement or the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. (n) Each Benefit Plan that is in any part a "nonqualified deferred compensation plan" subject to Section 409A of the Code is and has been operated and documented in compliance with Section 409A of the Code and
regulations thereunder, and no amount under any such Benefit Plan is, has been, or is reasonably expected to be, subject to any Tax under Section 409A of the Code. No Transferred Entity has any actual or potential obligation to gross-up, make-whole, reimburse, or indemnify any Person with respect to any Tax imposed under Sections 409A or 4999 of the Code. (o) Section 3.18(o) of the Disclosure Schedules sets forth a true and correct list of each Business Employee as of no earlier than seven (7) days prior to the date hereof, with the following information as applicable: (i) employee identification number, (ii) title or position, (iii) classification as exempt or nonexempt under the federal Fair Labor Standards Act and equivalent state or provincial wage and hour laws (in each case, if applicable), (iv) annual base salary, (v) the identity of the employing entity, (vi) location of employment (including, as applicable, U.S. state), (vii) hire date, (viii) active or inactive status (and as applicable, type of leave); (ix) full-time or part-time status; and (x) union or non-union status (the "Business Employee List"). The Business Employees (which includes the Seconded Employees), and after giving effect to the services to be provided pursuant to the Transition Services Agreement, are sufficient to operate the Business immediately after the Closing in substantially the same manner as it was conducted immediately prior to the Closing. Neither Seller nor any of its Affiliates employ any individuals who exclusively devote their working time to the Business but who are not Business Employees, and the Transferred Entities do not employ any individuals other than the Business Employees.



 

54 (p) To the Knowledge of Seller, no current or former employee or independent contractor of the Transferred Entities or Seller (solely with respect to the Business) is in any material respect in violation of any term of any employment agreement, nondisclosure agreement, common law nondisclosure obligation, fiduciary duty, noncompetition agreement or restrictive covenant obligation: (i) owed to the Transferred Entities or Seller (solely with respect to the Business); or (ii) owed to any third party with respect to such person's right to be employed or engaged by the Transferred Entities or Seller (solely with respect to the Business). (q) To the Knowledge of Seller, the Transferred Entities and Seller (solely with respect to the Business) have taken reasonable good faith efforts to investigate all sexual harassment, or other harassment, discrimination, retaliation or material policy violation allegations during the last three years. To the extent that such allegations were substantiated, each Transferred Entity and Seller (solely with respect to the Business) has taken appropriate corrective action reasonably calculated to prevent further improper action and enforce its policies against harassment, discrimination and retaliation. To the Knowledge of Seller, neither the Transferred Entities nor Seller (solely with respect to the Business) reasonably expects any material Liabilities with respect to any such allegations and there are no allegations of harassment or discrimination, that, if known to the public, would bring the Transferred Entities or Seller (solely with respect to the Business) into material disrepute. (r) Each Transferred Entity and Seller (solely with respect to the Business), is and in the last three years has been, in compliance in all material respects with all applicable Laws respecting labor, employment and employment practices, including all Laws respecting terms and conditions of employment, health and safety, wages and hours (including the classification of
independent contractors and exempt and non-exempt employees), immigration (including the completion of Forms I-9 for all U.S. employees and the proper confirmation of employee visas), employment discrimination, harassment, retaliation, restrictive covenants, pay transparency, disability rights or benefits, equal opportunity, plant closures and layoffs (including WARN), workers' compensation, labor relations, employee leave issues, employee trainings and notices, COVID-19, affirmative action and unemployment insurance. (s) Except as would not have a material effect on the Business, taken as a whole, during the past three years, there have been no Proceedings against any Transferred Entity pending, or to the Knowledge of Seller, threatened to be brought or filed, by or with any Governmental Entity in connection with the employment or termination of employment of any Business Employee relating to unfair labor practices, employment discrimination, harassment, retaliation, leave, accommodation, minimum wages, overtime compensation, equal pay, or any other hiring, employment, or employment termination related matter arising under applicable Laws. Section 3.19 Intercompany Agreements. Other than (a) any Intercompany Agreements that are neither material in amount in relation to the Business nor necessary for Purchaser to conduct the Business in all material respects as it is conducted as of the date hereof and (b) the Transaction Documents, Section 3.19 of the Disclosure Schedules lists all Intercompany Agreements. Section 3.20 Insurance. All insurance policies covering the assets, employees and operations of the Transferred Entities (collectively, the "Policies") are in full force and effect and,



 

55 to the Knowledge of Seller, binding against the applicable insurer, all premiums due with respect thereto have been timely paid in full, such Transferred Entity is in material compliance with the terms and provisions thereof and each Policy will continue to be in full force and effect until the Closing (or if any Policy is canceled or lapses prior to the Closing, renewals or replacements thereof will be entered into in the ordinary course of business to the extent available on commercially reasonable terms). No notice of cancellation, termination, adverse amendment, reduction of coverage, nonrenewal or material premium increase that would be material to the Transferred Entities has been received with respect to any Policy. There are no self-insurance or co-insurance arrangements by or affecting the Transferred Entities or the Business, including any reserves established therefor. The Transferred Entities have provided timely notice, to the extent required under the Policies, of any and all claims that may be insured by the Policies, and there is no claim by any Transferred Entity pending under any Policy as to which such Transferred Entity has received notice that coverage has been denied or disputed or in respect of which an insurer has reserved its rights. No Policy provides for any retrospective premium adjustment or other experience-based liability on the part of the Business. Section 3.21 Product Liability; Warranties. There are no pending, threatened in writing or, to the Knowledge of Seller, otherwise threatened, product liability, recall or warranty claims relating to the Business (whether based in contract or tort and whether relating to personal injury, including death, property damage or economic loss) arising from the sale or use of the Business's products or services, except as would not have a material effect on the Business, taken as a whole. Section 3.22 FDA and Health Care Matters. (a) During the past three years, each Transferred Entity has been in
material compliance with all Health Care Laws and FDA Laws, and no Transferred Entity has received any written or electronic notice from a Governmental Entity or Governmental Health Care Program of any alleged violation of, or any citation for noncompliance with, any Health Care Laws or FDA Laws, except as would not have a material effect on the Business, taken as a whole. (b) No Transferred Entity, nor, to the Knowledge of Seller, any of the Transferred Entities' respective current officers, directors or employees have been excluded, suspended or debarred from participation in any Federal Health Care Program (as that term is defined in 42 U.S.C. §1320a-7b(f)), nor to the Knowledge of Seller, is any such debarment, disqualification, suspension or exclusion threatened. (c) The Transferred Entities are not, and in the last three years have not been: (i) a party to, or bound by, any Judgment with any Governmental Entity concerning alleged noncompliance with Health Care Laws or FDA Laws; (ii) subject to any sanction or been indicted or convicted of a crime, or pled nolo contendere or to sufficient facts, in connection with any alleged material violation of any Health Care Law or FDA Law; (iii) convicted of any criminal offenses relating to the delivery of an item or service under any Governmental Health Care Program, Health Care Law, other Health Care Laws or FDA Laws; or (iv) subject to any reporting obligations pursuant to any corporate integrity agreement, certification of compliance agreement, deferred prosecution agreement, settlement agreement or similar agreement with any Governmental Entity.



 

56 (d) Since June 2, 2021, to the Knowledge of Seller, there have been no facts or circumstances reasonably likely to cause (i) the seizure, denial, withdrawal, recall, detention, field notification, field correction, field safety corrective action, import alert, import refusal, safety alert, or suspension of manufacturing relating to any Business Product or the Transferred Entities, or (ii) a termination, seizure or suspension of the marketing or distribution of any Business Product or the Transferred Entities. (e) All manufacturing operations relating to the Business Products and product candidates conducted by or, to the Knowledge of Seller, on behalf of the Transferred Entities for the past three years have been conducted and are being conducted in material compliance with applicable FDA Laws, including the FDA Quality Systems Regulation under 21 C.F.R. Part 820, applicable provisions of ISO 13485:2016, and applicable analogous or comparable legal requirements in other jurisdictions, in particular Directive 93/42/EEC concerning medical devices and Regulation (EU) 2017/745 on medical devices, except as would not have a material effect on the Business, taken as a whole. (f) For the past three years, all Business Products have been labeled, promoted, advertised, designed, developed, tested, investigated, manufactured, packaged, stored, imported, exported, distributed, and marketed by the Transferred Entities by or, to the Knowledge of Seller, on behalf of the Business in material compliance with applicable FDA Laws, and analogous or comparable legal requirements in other jurisdictions, including Directive 93/42/EEC concerning medical devices and Regulation (EU) 2017/745 on medical devices as well as legal requirements under federal and state consumer protection laws and labeling laws, including those of the Federal Trade Commission, except as would not have a material effect on the Business, taken as a whole. (g) For the past three years, all
investigations, tests, and preclinical and clinical studies or trials of all Business Products and product candidates, conducted by or, to the Knowledge of Seller, on behalf of the Transferred Entities, have been and are being conducted, in compliance with the applicable FDA Laws, Health Care Laws, and any other applicable Law including any applicable analogous legal requirements in other jurisdictions. To the Knowledge of Seller, there have been no notices or proceedings by any Governmental Entity responsible for oversight or enforcement of any applicable Health Care Law or FDA Law to restrict or suspend preclinical, clinical or nonclinical studies of any Business Product and product candidate or in which the Governmental Entity alleges or asserts a material failure to comply with applicable Laws. (h) Since June 2, 2021, no Transferred Entity or any of its officers has made any untrue statement of material fact or fraudulent statement to the FDA or a comparable foreign Governmental Entity, failed to disclose a material fact required to be disclosed to the FDA or a comparable foreign Governmental Entity, or committed an act, made a statement, or failed to make a statement that would reasonably be expected to provide the basis for the FDA or a comparable foreign Governmental Entity to invoke the policy respecting "Fraud, Untrue Statements of Material Facts, Bribery, and Illegal Gratuities," as set forth in 56 Fed. Reg. 46191 (September 10, 1991) or foreign comparable legal provisions. Since June 2, 2021, no Transferred Entity or any of its officers or/and representatives acting on behalf of a Transferred Entity has made any material untrue statement in violation of applicable Law regarding transfers of value or failed to disclose any transfer of value where required by Law or otherwise failed to comply with all applicable Laws related to the reporting of manufacturers' payments or transfers of value and commercial



 

57 benefits to healthcare professionals, healthcare associations, hospitals and clinics and patient association. (i) The Transferred Entities have obtained, and are in compliance with, all Health Care Permits or any other Permits necessary under any Health Care Law and/or any FDA Law to permit the Transferred Entities to own and operate the Business in the manner in which it is currently conducted, except as would not have a material effect on the Business, taken as a whole. There are no actions or, to the Knowledge of Seller, investigations by or before any Governmental Entity pending or threatened which would reasonably be expected to result in the revocation, suspension, termination or any other adverse modification of any such Health Care Permit or other Permit, except for any such revocation or termination that would not have a material effect on the Business, taken as a whole. There is no materially false or misleading information or material omission in any submission related to any Health Care Permit submitted to any Governmental Entity administering FDA Laws and Health Care Laws. (j) The Transferred Entities have not, at any time during the past three years, received written notice of any adverse inspectional finding, investigation, penalty, fine, reprimand, sanction, assessment, request for corrective or remedial action, warning letter, untitled letter, "it has come to our attention" letter, or other compliance or enforcement notice, communication, or correspondence from the FDA or any other Governmental Entity related to the Business of the Transferred Entities, except as would not have a material effect on the Business, taken as a whole. (k) In the last three years no Transferred Entity has conducted a product recall, removal, field safety corrective action, or market withdrawal or otherwise initiated an action that requires a report to FDA or a comparable foreign Governmental Entity. To the Knowledge of Seller, none of the Transferred Entities
customers have initiated any recalls related to any products manufactured by the Transferred Entities by or on behalf of the Business. Section 3.23 Brokers. Other than Guggenheim Securities, LLC, no broker, investment banker, financial advisor or other Person is entitled to any broker's, finder's, investment banker's, financial advisor's, success or other similar fee or commission in connection with the Transaction and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of Seller and its Affiliates. Section 3.24 Affiliate Transactions. No Affiliate of any Transferred Entity, no officer, director or manager of any of the foregoing, nor, to the Knowledge of Seller, any parent, spouse, sibling, or child of any of the foregoing (each a "Related Party"), is currently a party to any Contract (such Contract, an "Affiliate Agreement") with a Transferred Entity, other than (a) Contracts with employees entered into in the ordinary course of business or in respect of which liabilities are reflected in the Business Financial Statements or will be included in Closing Working Capital or (b) the Dayton Incentive Agreements (collectively, the "Excluded Affiliate Transactions"). There are no loans, advances or Indebtedness incurred or issued by any Transferred Entity from or to any Related Party, excluding for the avoidance of doubt other Transferred Entities. No Related Party (a) to the Knowledge of Seller, possesses, directly or indirectly, any financial interest in, or is a director, officer or salaried employee of, any Person, which is a supplier, customer, lessor, lessee or competitor of any Transferred Entity or (b) owns



 

58 any asset or property right, tangible or intangible, which is used by any Transferred Entity in the conduct of its business. Section 3.25 Material Customers and Suppliers. (a) Section 3.25(a) of the Disclosure Schedules sets forth: (i) the top 10 customers (by revenue for the twelve-month period ended March 31, 2023 and for the ten-month period ended January 31, 2024) of the Business (each such customer, a "Material Customer"), together with the aggregate amount of sales to each such customer during such period; and (ii) the top 20 suppliers or vendors (by expenditures for the twelve-month period ended March 31, 2023 and for the ten- month period ended January 31, 2024) of the Business (each such supplier or vendor, a "Material Supplier"), together with the aggregate amount of purchases from each such supplier or vendor during such period. (b) No Material Customer or Material Supplier has provided written or, to the Knowledge of Seller, other notice to the effect that such Material Customer or Material Supplier intends (and to the Knowledge of Seller, no Material Customer or Material Supplier otherwise intends) to cease being a customer, supplier or payor of Seller, or intends to materially decrease the rate of, or adversely change the terms with respect to, buying or supplying, as applicable, products or services from or to the Business or the Transferred Entities (whether as a result of the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or otherwise). Section 3.26 Exclusivity of Representations and Warranties. Except for the representations and warranties expressly set forth in this Article III (as qualified by the Disclosure Schedules) and the Transaction Documents, neither Seller nor any of its Affiliates, nor any of their respective Representatives has made, or is making, any representation or warranty, whether express or implied, whatsoever to Purchaser or any of its Affiliates or their respective Representatives in respect of the transaction
contemplated by this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents and neither Seller nor any of its Affiliates, nor any of their respective Representatives shall be liable in respect of the accuracy or completeness of any information (including any projections on the future performance of the Business) provided to Purchaser or any of its Affiliates, or any of their respective Representatives. ARTICLE IV REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF PURCHASER Purchaser hereby represents and warrants to Seller that the following statements are true and correct: Section 4.1 Organization, Standing and Power. Purchaser is a limited liability company duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of the jurisdiction in which it is organized and has all necessary organizational power and authority to carry on its business as presently conducted. Section 4.2 Authority; Execution and Delivery; Enforceability. Purchaser has all requisite power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and each other Transaction Document to which it is, or will be, a party and to consummate the Transaction and the other transactions contemplated hereby and thereby. The execution and delivery by Purchaser of this



 

59 Agreement and each other Transaction Document to which it is, or will be, a party and the consummation by Purchaser of the Transaction and the other transactions contemplated hereby and thereby have been, or will be, duly and validly authorized by all requisite action of Purchaser. Purchaser has duly executed and delivered this Agreement, and assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by Seller, this Agreement will constitute Purchaser's legal, valid and binding obligation, enforceable against Purchaser in accordance with its terms, subject to the General Enforceability Exceptions. Section 4.3 No Conflicts; Consents; Governmental Authorization. The execution and delivery by Purchaser of this Agreement does not, and the execution by Purchaser or its Affiliates (if applicable) of the other Transaction Documents will not, and the consummation of the Transaction and the other transactions contemplated hereby and thereby and compliance by Purchaser with the terms hereof and thereof will not, conflict with, or result in any violation of, breach or default (with or without notice or lapse of time, or both) under, or give rise to a right of termination, cancellation or acceleration of any obligation under, or result in the creation of any Lien (other than Permitted Liens) upon any of the properties or assets of Purchaser or any of its Affiliates under, any provision of (a) the Organizational Documents of Purchaser or its Affiliates, (b) any Judgment or Law applicable to Purchaser or its Affiliates, or the properties or assets of Purchaser or its Affiliates, or (c) any material Contract of Purchaser, except, in each case of clauses (b) and (c), for any such items that would not, individually or in the aggregate, prevent or delay the ability of Purchaser or its Affiliates to consummate the Transaction and the other transactions contemplated hereby. No Approval of any Governmental Entity is required to be obtained or made by or with respect to Purchaser in connection
with the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement, the other Transaction Documents or the consummation of the Transaction and the other transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, other than in connection, or in compliance with, the notification and waiting period requirements of the HSR Act. Section 4.4 Financial Ability to Perform. (a) Purchaser is a party to a fully executed commitment letter, dated as of the date hereof (together with any fee letters executed in connection therewith, all exhibits and schedules thereto, as amended, restated, waived, supplemented, replaced, extended or otherwise modified from time to time in accordance with the terms herein, the "Debt Commitment Letter") by and among the financial institutions listed on the signature pages thereof (collectively, the "Lenders") and Purchaser pursuant to which the Lenders have agreed, subject solely to the terms and conditions thereof, to provide debt financing in the amounts set forth therein. The debt financing committed pursuant to the Debt Commitment Letter is collectively referred to in this Agreement as the "Debt Financing". (b) Purchaser is a party to a fully executed equity commitment letter, dated as of the date hereof (the "Equity Commitment Letter" and, together with the Debt Commitment Letter, the "Commitment Letters"), by and among the Persons identified therein (collectively, the "Equity Investors") and Purchaser, pursuant to which the Equity Investors have agreed, on the terms and subject solely to the conditions set forth therein, to invest in Purchaser the amounts set forth therein. The Equity Commitment Letter provides that Seller is an express third-party beneficiary thereof and is entitled to enforce such agreement on the terms thereof. The equity financing committed pursuant to the Equity Commitment Letter is referred to in this Agreement as the



 

60 "Equity Financing." The Equity Financing and the Debt Financing are collectively referred to as the "Financing." (c) Purchaser has delivered to Seller true, complete and correct copies of the executed Commitment Letters and any fee letters related thereto as in effect on the date hereof, subject, in the case of such fee letters, to redaction solely of fees and other commercially sensitive information (including fees, economic terms, "market flex" and similar terms); in each case that are customarily redacted in connection with transactions of this type and that do not adversely affect the conditionality or the aggregate principal amount of the Financing. (d) As of the date of this Agreement, except as expressly set forth in the Commitment Letters, there are no conditions precedent to the obligations of the Lenders and the Equity Investors to provide the Financing that would permit the Lenders or the Equity Investors to reduce the aggregate principal amount of the Financing Amounts, including any condition relating to the amount or conditionality of the Financing pursuant to any "flex" provision. As of the date of this Agreement, assuming (x) Seller has complied with and performed its covenants and other obligations hereunder and (y) the conditions in Sections 7.1 and 7.2 are satisfied or waived, Purchaser does not have any reason to believe that it will be unable to satisfy on a timely basis all the conditions precedent to be satisfied by it in any of the Commitment Letters on or prior to the Closing Date, nor does Purchaser have Knowledge that any of the Lenders or Equity Investors will not perform their respective funding obligations thereunder or that the Financing will not be available to the Purchaser on the Closing Date. As of the date hereof, there are no written side letters, agreements or contracts of any kind in respect of the Commitment Letters or the Financing that will adversely affect the conditionality, availability or amount of the Financing. (e)
Assuming (x) Seller has complied with and performed its covenants and other obligations hereunder and (y) the conditions in Sections 7.1 and 7.2 are satisfied or waived, the aggregate proceeds from the Financing on the Closing Date, if funded in accordance with the Commitment Letters together with cash on hand, other available sources of cash and rollover (and after giving effect to any "flex" provision in or related to the Debt Commitment Letter (including with respect to fees and original issue discount)), shall provide Purchaser with cash proceeds on the Closing Date sufficient for Purchaser to satisfy all of its obligations under this Agreement, to pay the Closing Purchase Price and any fees and expenses of or payable by Purchaser or any Affiliate of Purchaser, as contemplated by this Agreement, any other Transaction Document or the Commitment Letters, in each case which are required to be paid on the Closing Date (such amounts, collectively, the "Financing Amounts"). (f) As of the date of this Agreement, the Commitment Letters are in full force and effect and constitute the valid, binding and enforceable obligations of Purchaser and, to the knowledge of the Purchaser, all the other parties thereto, subject to the General Enforceability Exceptions. As of the date hereof, no event has occurred which constitutes (i) a failure to satisfy a condition precedent to the Financing under the terms and conditions of the Commitment Letters or (ii) a material breach by Purchaser, or to the knowledge of Purchaser, by any Debt Financing Source, of the terms and conditions of the Commitment Letters. As of the date of this Agreement, assuming (x) Seller has complied with and performed its covenants and other obligations hereunder and (y) the conditions in Sections 7.1 and 7.2 are satisfied or waived, Purchaser does not have any reason to believe that any of the conditions to the Financing will not be satisfied (or



 

61 waived) by Purchaser on a timely basis. Purchaser has fully paid or caused to be paid in full any and all commitment fees and other fees required to be paid pursuant to the terms of the Commitment Letters that are earned, due and payable on or before the date hereof. As of the date hereof, none of the Commitment Letters has been modified, amended or altered and no waiver or consent of any provision of such Debt Commitment Letter is contemplated, and none of the respective commitments under any of the Commitment Letters have been terminated, reduced, withdrawn or rescinded in any respect and no termination, reduction, withdrawal, modification, amendment, alteration or rescission thereof is contemplated, in each case, other than in respect of adding additional agents to the Debt Commitment Letter as contemplated thereby to the extent permitted by Section 5.13(b). (g) Notwithstanding the foregoing or anything herein to the contrary, in no event shall the receipt or availability of any funds or financing (including, for the avoidance of doubt, the Financing) by Purchaser or any of its Affiliates or any other financing or other transactions be a condition to any of Purchaser's obligations under this Agreement. Section 4.5 Guarantee. Concurrently with the execution of this Agreement, Purchaser has delivered to Seller the guarantee addressed to Seller from the Equity Investors, guaranteeing certain obligations of Purchaser under this Agreement on the terms set forth therein (the "Guarantee"). The Guarantee is valid and in full force and effect and constitutes the valid and binding obligation of the Equity Investors, enforceable in accordance with its terms. Section 4.6 Proceedings. There are no Proceedings pending or, to the knowledge of Purchaser, threatened in writing, against Purchaser that would reasonably be expected to materially delay or impede the ability of Purchaser to perform its obligations under this Agreement. Section 4.7 Brokers. No
broker, investment banker, financial advisor or other Person is entitled to any broker's, finder's, financial advisor's or other similar fee or commission in connection with the Transaction and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of Purchaser for which Seller or its Affiliates could be liable. Section 4.8 Investigation. Purchaser has such knowledge and experience in financial and business matters, and is capable of evaluating the merits and risks of the Transaction and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Transaction Documents. Purchaser confirms that Seller has made available to Purchaser and its Affiliates and Representatives the opportunity to ask certain questions of certain officers and management of Seller or its Affiliates and the Business, as well as access to certain documents, information and records of or with respect to the Transferred Entities and the Business in order for Purchaser to conduct its own diligence review, analysis and evaluation of the Transferred Entities and the Business based on such information and access. Section 4.9 Securities Act. Purchaser is acquiring the Purchased Entity Equity solely for the purpose of investment and not with a view to, or for sale in connection with, any distribution, resale or other transfer thereof in violation of the Securities Act. Purchaser acknowledges that the Purchased Entity Equity is not registered under the Securities Act, any applicable state securities Laws or any applicable federal or other securities Laws, and that the



 

62 Purchased Entity Equity may not be sold or otherwise transferred except pursuant to the registration provisions of the Securities Act and applicable state and federal and other securities Laws or pursuant to applicable exemptions therefrom. Except for the representations and warranties expressly set forth in this Agreement, Purchaser has independently evaluated the merits and risks of its decision to enter into this Agreement, is consummating the transactions contemplated by this Agreement with an understanding, based exclusively on its own diligence review, of all of the terms, conditions and risks and willingly assumes those terms, conditions and risks, and disclaims reliance on any representations and warranties, either expressed or implied, by or on behalf of Seller or any of its Affiliates. Section 4.10 Solvency. No transfer of property is being made by Purchaser, and no obligation is being incurred by Purchaser in connection with the Transaction with the intent to hinder, delay or defraud either present or future creditors of Purchaser and its Affiliates (including the Transferred Entities). Assuming that the conditions in Sections 7.1 and 7.2 are satisfied or waived, immediately after giving effect to the consummation of the Transaction (including any financings being entered into in connection therewith): (a) the Fair Value of the assets of Purchaser and its Affiliates (including the Transferred Entities), taken as a whole, shall be greater than the total amount of the liabilities (including all liabilities, whether or not reflected in a balance sheet prepared in accordance with GAAP, and whether direct or indirect, fixed or contingent, secured or unsecured, disputed or undisputed) of Purchaser and its Affiliates (including the Transferred Entities), taken as a whole; (b) Purchaser and its Affiliates (including the Transferred Entities), taken as a whole, shall be able to pay their debts and obligations in the ordinary course of business as they become due; and (c)
Purchaser and its Affiliates (including the Transferred Entities), taken as a whole, shall have adequate capital to carry on the Business. For purposes of this Section 4.10, "Fair Value" means the amount at which the assets (both tangible and intangible), in their entirety, of Purchaser and its Affiliates (including the Transferred Entities) would change hands between a willing buyer and a willing seller, within a commercially reasonable period of time, each having reasonable knowledge of the relevant facts, with neither being under any compulsion to act. Section 4.11 No Competitive Assets. Neither Purchaser nor any of its "associates" or "affiliates" (each as defined in 16 C.F.R. 801.1(d)) hold 5% or more of the voting securities or non-corporate interests (as "hold," "voting securities" and "non-corporate interest" are defined under 16 C.F.R. 801) of any entity that competes with the Business or the business as conducted by any Transferred Entity that any such holdings would reasonably be expected to prevent or materially delay the expiration or termination of the applicable waiting period under any Competition/Foreign Investment Law in connection with the Transaction. Section 4.12 Exclusivity of Representations and Warranties. Except as expressly set forth in this Article IV and the other Transaction Documents, neither Purchaser nor any of its Affiliates, nor any of their respective Representatives has made, or is making, any representation



 

63 or warranty, whether express or implied, whatsoever to Seller or any of its Affiliates or their respective Representatives and neither Purchaser nor any of its Affiliates, nor any of their respective Representatives shall be liable in respect of the accuracy or completeness of any information provided to Seller or any of its Affiliates, or any of their respective Representatives. Section 4.13 Acknowledgment of No Other Representations or Warranties. (a) Purchaser acknowledges and agrees that, except for the representations and warranties expressly contained in Article III as modified by the Disclosure Schedules, and the Transaction Documents, neither Seller nor any of its Affiliates, Representatives or any other Person makes any express or implied representation or warranty with respect to the Transferred Entities or the Business or with respect to any other information provided, or made available, to Purchaser or any of its Affiliates or Representatives in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby and by the other Transaction Documents. Except as expressly covered by a representation and warranty contained in Article III as modified by the Disclosure Schedules, without limiting any other terms of this Agreement, Purchaser acknowledges and agrees that neither Seller nor any of its Affiliates, Representatives or any other Person will have, or be subject to, any Liability or other obligation to Purchaser, its Affiliates or Representatives or any other Person resulting from Purchaser's use of, or the use by any of Purchaser's Affiliates or Representatives, of any information, including information, documents, projections, forecasts, business plans or other material (including any Confidential Information) made available to Purchaser, its Affiliates or Representatives in any virtual data room, confidential information memorandum or presentations, management presentations, offering materials, site tours or visits, diligence calls or meetings or any documents
prepared by, or on behalf of, Seller or any of its Affiliates or Representatives, or Purchaser or its Affiliates or Representatives, the Debt Financing Sources or any of Purchaser's potential financing sources in connection with Purchaser's financing activities with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. Purchaser acknowledges and agrees that, in entering into this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents, it is not relying on any representation or warranty of Seller or any of its Affiliates or Representatives or any other Person, other than those representations and warranties expressly set forth in Article III as modified by the Disclosure Schedules and in the other Transaction Documents. Purchaser acknowledges and agrees that each of Seller and its Affiliates disclaims any and all representations and warranties, whether express or implied, except for the representations and warranties expressly contained in Article III as modified by the Disclosure Schedules and in the Transaction Documents. (b) Except for the representations and warranties expressly contained in Article III as modified by the Disclosure Schedules, Purchaser acknowledges that neither Seller nor any of its Affiliates or Representatives has made any representation and warranty, express or implied, as to the prospects of the Business or its profitability for Purchaser, or with respect to any forecasts, projections or business plans or other information (including any Confidential Information) delivered to Purchaser or any of its Affiliates or Representatives in connection with Purchaser's review of the Business and the negotiation and execution of this Agreement, including as to the accuracy or completeness thereof or the reasonableness of any assumptions underlying any such forecasts, projections or business plans or other information.



 

64 ARTICLE V COVENANTS Section 5.1 Efforts. (a) From and after the date hereof, subject to the terms of this Agreement, Purchaser and Seller shall take, or cause to be taken, all actions, and do, or cause to be done, and to assist and cooperate with the other Party in doing, all things reasonably necessary, proper or advisable under any applicable Law or Approval to consummate and make effective in the most expeditious manner possible the Transaction and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including: (i) the obtaining of all actions or non-actions, including any Approvals that are or may become necessary in connection with the consummation of the Transaction and the other transactions contemplated hereby; (ii) the preparation and filing of all forms, registrations, filings, petitions, statements, notices, submissions of information, applications and other documents (including filings with Governmental Entities) that are required to be filed to consummate the Transaction and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement; (iii) the taking of all actions reasonably necessary, proper or advisable to obtain (and cooperating with Seller and Purchaser, as applicable, in obtaining) any Approval of, or to avoid a Proceeding by, any third party, including any Governmental Entity (which actions shall include furnishing all information required in connection with any Regulatory Approvals) in connection with the Transaction, and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement; and (iv) the defending of any lawsuits or other Proceedings, whether judicial or administrative, challenging this Agreement or that would otherwise prevent or delay the consummation of the Transaction, or the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including seeking to have any stay, temporary restraining order or injunction entered by any court or other Governmental Entity vacated or reversed. Seller and Purchaser shall each use reasonable best
efforts to assist the other Party with its efforts under this Section 5.1(a). (b) Each of Purchaser and Seller shall, in consultation and cooperation with the other and as promptly as reasonably practicable, but in no event later than 10 Business Days from the date hereof, make its respective filing under the HSR Act, and Purchaser or Seller shall, as applicable, make any filings under any Competition/Foreign Investment Law set forth on Section 7.1(a) of the Disclosure Schedules, as promptly as practicable, but in no event later than as required by applicable Law. Neither Seller nor Purchaser will withdraw any such filings or applications, nor extend the timing for any review period by any Governmental Entity in connection with obtaining Regulatory Approvals, without the prior written consent of the other Party. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, without the prior written consent of the other Party, neither Seller nor any of its Affiliates, on the one hand, nor Purchaser or any of its Affiliates, on the other hand, will be required to pay prior to the Closing any fee, penalty or other consideration (other than customary filing and notification fees with Governmental Entities) to any third party in connection with seeking or obtaining its consent to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. For the avoidance of doubt, any references in this Section 5.1 to Approvals or Regulatory Approvals necessary or required to be obtained in connection with the Transaction or the Closing will include the Approvals or Regulatory Approvals required for the satisfaction of the conditions to the Closing set forth in Section 7.1(a). To the extent that transfers of any Permits are required as a result of the execution of this Agreement or the consummation of the Transaction or the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement, the Parties shall use reasonable best efforts to effect such transfers.



 

65 (c) In connection with and without limiting the efforts referenced in Section 5.1(a), the Parties shall jointly develop, and each of the Parties shall consult and cooperate in all respects with one another, and consider in good faith the views of one another, in connection with the form and content of any analyses, appearances, presentations, memoranda, briefs, arguments, opinions and proposals made or submitted by or on behalf of any Party in connection with Proceedings under or relating to any Competition/Foreign Investment Law prior to their submission. In that regard, prior to the Closing, subject to the Confidentiality Agreement and Section 5.3, each Party shall (i) promptly consult with the other Party to provide any necessary information with respect to (and, in the case of correspondence, provide the other Party (or their counsel) advance copies of) any governmental filings, submissions or other documents made by such Party with any Governmental Entity in connection with this Agreement, the Transaction and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement, (ii) promptly inform the other Party, and if in writing, furnish the other Party with copies of (or, in the case of oral communications, advise the other Party orally of) any communication with or from any Governmental Entity or any official, representative or staff thereof regarding the Transaction and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and permit the other Party to review and discuss in advance, and consider in good faith the views, and secure the participation, of the other party in connection with, any such governmental filing, submission or other document or communication with any such Governmental Entity, and (iii) cooperate in responding as promptly as practicable to any investigation or other inquiry from a Governmental Entity or any official, representative or staff thereof or in connection with any Proceeding initiated by a Governmental Entity or private party
including promptly notifying the other Party of any such investigation, inquiry or Proceeding, and consulting in advance before making any presentations or submissions to a Governmental Entity or any official, representative or staff thereof, or, in connection with any Proceeding initiated by a private party, to any other Person. If either Party or any Representative of such Party receives a request for additional information or documentary material from any Governmental Entity with respect to the Transaction or the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement, then such Party will use reasonable best efforts to make, or cause to be made, promptly and after consultation with the other Party, an appropriate response in compliance with such request. In addition, each of Seller and Purchaser shall promptly inform and consult with the other in advance of any meeting, conference or communication with any Governmental Entity or any official, representative or staff thereof, or, in connection with any Proceeding by a private party, with any other Person, and to the extent not prohibited by applicable Law or by the applicable Governmental Entity, not participate or attend any meeting or conference, or engage in any communication, with any Governmental Entity or any official, representative or staff thereof or such other Person in respect of the Transaction or other transactions contemplated by this Agreement without the other Party unless it reasonably consults with the other Party in advance and gives the other Party a reasonable opportunity to attend and participate therein, and in the event one Party is prohibited from, or unable to participate, attend or engage in any such meeting, conference or communication, keep such Party apprised with respect thereto. Subject to the Confidentiality Agreement and Section 5.3, each Party shall furnish the other Party with copies of all correspondence, filings, submissions and communications (and memoranda setting forth

the substance thereof) between it and its Affiliates and their respective Representatives, on the one hand, and any Governmental Entity or any official, representative or staff thereof (or any other Person in connection with any Proceeding initiated by a private party) with respect to this Agreement and the Transaction or the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement. Purchaser and Seller may, as each deems advisable and



 

66 necessary, reasonably designate any competitively sensitive material provided to the other under this Section 5.1 as "outside counsel/corporate in-house antitrust counsel only." Such materials and the information contained therein shall be given only to the outside legal counsel and corporate in- house antitrust counsel of the recipient and will not be disclosed by such outside counsel and corporate in-house antitrust counsel to employees (other than corporate in-house antitrust counsel), officers, or directors of the recipient unless express permission is obtained in advance from the source of the materials (Purchaser or Seller, as the case may be) or its legal counsel; provided that materials provided pursuant to this Section 5.1(c) may be redacted (1) to remove personally sensitive information, (2) to remove references concerning the valuation of or future plans for the Business or any other business of Seller or any of its Affiliates or the process in which Seller and its Affiliates have engaged in connection with a sale of the Business, (3) as necessary to comply with contractual obligations, (4) as necessary to comply with applicable Law, and (5) as necessary to address reasonable privilege concerns. Nothing in this Section 5.1(c) shall require either Party to share copies of filings made under the HSR Act. (d) Except as expressly provided in this Agreement, neither Seller nor Purchaser nor any of their respective Affiliates shall under any circumstance be required to pay or commit to pay any amount or incur any obligation in favor of or offer or grant any accommodation (financial or otherwise, regardless of any provision to the contrary in the underlying Contract, including any requirements for the securing or posting of any bonds, letters of credit or similar instruments, or the furnishing of any guarantees) to any Person to obtain any Approval. Purchaser and Seller each acknowledges that no representation, warranty or covenant of Seller or Purchaser, as applicable
contained herein shall be breached or deemed breached solely as a result of (A) the failure to obtain any Approval, (B) any such termination of a Contract, or (C) any Proceeding commenced or threatened by or on behalf of any Person arising out of or relating to the failure to obtain any such Approval or any such termination. Section 5.2 Covenants Relating to Conduct of Business. (a) Except (i) as set forth in Section 5.2 of the Disclosure Schedules, (ii) as required by applicable Law, (iii) as otherwise required or contemplated by the terms of this Agreement, or (iv) as part of any COVID-19 Measures or for any reasonable action that is otherwise taken, or omitted to be taken, in response to COVID-19 or any other pandemic, epidemic or disease outbreak, as determined by Seller in its reasonable discretion, to the extent not materially inconsistent with the actions taken or omitted by Seller or its Affiliates, as a whole, from the date hereof to the Closing, and except as Purchaser may otherwise consent to (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), Seller shall cause the Transferred Entities to use commercially reasonable efforts to (A) conduct the Business in all material respects in the ordinary course, including in respect of managing cash and working capital and (B) preserve intact the Business's organization and goodwill and relationships with customers, suppliers, payors, lenders, Governmental Entities and others having material business dealings with the Transferred Entities. (b) Except (i) as set forth in Section 5.2 of the Disclosure Schedules, (ii) as required by applicable Law, (iii) as otherwise required or permitted by the terms of this Agreement, including Section 5.2, (iv) as part of any COVID-19 Measures or for any reasonable action that is otherwise taken, or omitted to be taken, in response to COVID-19 or any other pandemic, epidemic or disease outbreak, as determined by Seller in its reasonable discretion, to the extent

not materially



 

67 inconsistent with the actions taken or omitted by Seller or its Affiliates, as a whole, from the date hereof to the Closing, and solely with respect to the Business, Seller shall not do any of the following in respect of the Transferred Entities or the Business, and shall cause the Transferred Entities not to do any of the following, in each case, without the prior consent of Purchaser (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed): (i) authorize or effect any amendment to, or change, the Organizational Documents of any Transferred Entity; (ii) issue, grant, repurchase, redeem, sell, pledge or transfer or propose to issue, grant, repurchase, redeem, sell, pledge or transfer any equity interests of any of the Transferred Entities, or securities convertible into, or exchangeable or exercisable for, or options with respect to, or warrants to purchase, or rights to subscribe for, equity interests, phantom equity, restricted stock units, restricted units, profit participation, unit appreciation rights of any of the Transferred Entities or any equity or equity-based awards in respect of the Business Employees or with respect to which Purchaser or any of its Affiliates (including, after the Closing, any of the Transferred Entities) could reasonably be expected to have any Liability or be subject to any requirement to assume or replace; (iii) except (A) as may be required under any Benefit Plan or Collective Bargaining Agreement in existence as of the date hereof and set forth on Sections 3.18(a), 3.18(b)(i) or 3.18(b)(ii) of the Disclosure Schedules, or (B) for any payment or award for which Seller or its Affiliates shall be solely obligated to pay (including any associated Tax liabilities or obligations) and which shall be deemed Excluded Benefits for purposes hereunder, (1) grant to any current or former Business Employee or other individual service provider of any Transferred Entity any severance, retention, change in control, transaction bonus, equity or equity-based
incentive or other compensation or benefit or any increase in compensation or benefits, other than any increase in the base salary of any Business Employee with annual compensation not exceeding $200,000 (both before and after any such increase) pursuant to annual performance reviews in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, (2) take any action to accelerate the time of payment, vesting or funding of any compensation or benefit of any current or former Business Employee or other individual service provider of any Transferred Entity, (3) enter into, establish, adopt, amend or terminate any Benefit Plan or any other benefit or compensation plan, policy, program, contract, agreement or arrangement that would be a Benefit Plan if in effect on the date hereof, or (4) hire, promote, engage or terminate (other than for cause) any Business Employee or other individual service provider of any Transferred Entity whose annual compensation exceeds or would exceed $200,000; (iv) solely with respect to the Transferred Entities (A) acquire any equity securities or a substantial portion of the assets of any Person, or otherwise acquire any business, other than acquisitions of (1) inventory and operating assets in the ordinary course of business or (2) to the extent already contracted by any Transferred Entity or their respective Affiliates pursuant to any Material Contract or (B) sell, pledge, dispose of or encumber any assets, other than sales of goods and services in the ordinary course of business or sales of obsolete assets that are of no value or de minimis value;



 

68 (v) enter into any Contract for the purchase, lease or sublease of real property providing for a purchase price or annual payments in excess of $500,000, in each case, other than amendments, modifications and renewals made to any Contract in effect on the date hereof in the ordinary course of business on substantially the same terms and after reasonable prior written notice to Purchaser of such amendment, modification or renewal; (vi) (A) settle or propose to settle any Proceeding, other than a settlement involving solely money damages in an amount less than $500,000 and which amount is paid prior to 12:01 a.m. (Eastern Time) on the Closing Date, or (B) initiate any lawsuit or similar legal Proceeding; (vii) except in the ordinary course of business or as expressly permitted as an exception to another clause of this Section 5.2(b), enter into any new Contract that would have been a Material Contract (or materially amend any Material Contract, other than a renewal in the ordinary course of business on substantially the same terms) if entered into prior to the date hereof; provided, that unless applicable to Seller and its Affiliates as a whole, no Benefit Plan shall be entered into or amended without Purchaser's prior written consent; (viii) make any change in any method of financial accounting or financial accounting practice or policy applicable to the Business, other than such changes as are required by GAAP or applicable Law or otherwise apply generally to Seller or the Transferred Entities (in which case Seller shall notify Purchaser in advance of such change); (ix) other than in the ordinary course of business, (A) sell, assign, transfer or grant any exclusive license to any Business Intellectual Property Rights or (B) allow any Business Registered Intellectual Property Rights to lapse or go abandoned, other than at the end of its term or otherwise in Seller's reasonable business judgment; (x) (A) issue, create, incur, assume, guarantee, endorse or otherwise
become liable or responsible with respect to (whether directly, contingently or otherwise) any Indebtedness, (B) modify in any material respect the terms of any Indebtedness, (C) cancel, forgive or compromise any debt owed to, or claim of, the Transferred Entities, or (D) make any loans, advances or capital contributions to, or investments in, any Person, other than (1) loans or advances to employees in the ordinary course of business for business expenses and loans, (2) loans, advances or capital contributions made solely among the respective Affiliates of Seller that will be settled at or prior to the Closing, and (3) Indebtedness solely among the Transferred Entities; (xi) solely with respect to the Transferred Entities, or Seller solely with respect to the Business Employees, (A) negotiate, modify, extend, terminate or enter into any Collective Bargaining Agreement, (B) recognize or certify any labor union, works council or other labor organization or group of employees as the bargaining representative for any Business Employees, or (C) implement or announce any employee layoffs, plant closings, or other personnel actions that could implicate WARN;



 

69 (xii) (A) reassign the duties of (1) a Business Employee such that he or she is no longer a Business Employee or (2) any other employee or service provider such that he or she would be a Business Employee, or (B) except as requested in writing by Purchaser, transfer the employment of (1) any Business Employee from the Transferred Entities or (2) any employee of the Seller or its Affiliates (other than the Transferred Entities) that is not a Business Employee from such entity to the Transferred Entities; (xiii) make, revoke or change any income or other material Tax election (except any annual elections made in the ordinary course of business with filing Tax Returns), adopt or change any accounting method, amend any income or other material Tax Return, change any Tax accounting period, surrender any right or claim to a refund of material Taxes, enter into any closing agreement with respect to Taxes or settle, compromise, concede or abandon any material Tax claim relating to any of the Purchased Entities, fail to pay any Tax when due and payable (including any estimated Tax payments), incur any Liability for Taxes outside the ordinary course of business, or consent to any extension or waiver of statute of limitations period relating to Taxes; (xiv) disclose or make accessible any confidential Owned Intellectual Property (including the source code to any Business Products) to any third party other than pursuant to a valid, written, and enforceable confidentiality agreement, entered into in the ordinary course of business, pursuant to which such third party agrees to protect such confidential information; (xv) solely with respect to the Transferred Entities, or Seller solely with respect to the Business, waive or release any noncompetition, nonsolicitation, nondisparagement, nondisclosure or other restrictive covenant obligation of any current or former individual service provider of the Business; (xvi) authorize any of, or commit or agree to take, whether in
writing or otherwise, or do any of, the foregoing actions. (c) Anything to the contrary in this Agreement notwithstanding, nothing in this Section 5.2 shall prohibit or otherwise restrict in any way the operation of the business of Seller, the Transferred Entities or their respective Affiliates, except solely with respect to the conduct of the Business by Seller, the Transferred Entities and their respective Affiliates. (d) Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be construed to give to Purchaser, directly or indirectly, rights to control or direct the Business's operations prior to the Closing. Prior to the Closing, Seller and its Affiliates shall exercise, consistent with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, complete control and supervision of the operations of the Business. Purchaser acknowledges and agrees that Seller and its Affiliates may, subject to the applicable limitations of Section 5.2(a) and Section 5.2(b) (i) repay or cause to be repaid any Indebtedness of the Transferred Entities or (ii) settle or eliminate any intercompany balances and accounts pursuant to Section 5.11. The Transferred Entities may make any distribution of Cash Amounts (provided that, with respect to the jurisdictions in which the Minimum Cash Amounts apply, such distributions may only be made in the ordinary course of business or in respect of amounts in excess of the



 

70 applicable Minimum Cash Amounts in such jurisdiction) at any time prior to the Closing, in each case, without the consent of, or notice to, Purchaser or any of its Affiliates or Representatives. Section 5.3 Confidentiality. Purchaser acknowledges that the information being provided to it in connection with the Transaction and the other transactions contemplated hereby is subject to the terms of that certain confidentiality agreement between STERIS Corporation and Peak Rock Capital LLC, dated September 27, 2023 (including any clean team agreement entered into in connection therewith, the "Confidentiality Agreement"). Effective upon, and only upon, the Closing, the Confidentiality Agreement shall terminate with respect to information of the Transferred Entities or information to the extent relating to the Business; provided that Purchaser acknowledges that its obligations of confidentiality and non-use with respect to any Confidential Information of Seller and its Affiliates delivered thereunder prior to the Closing to the extent relating to the Retained Business shall continue to remain subject to the terms and conditions of the Confidentiality Agreement for the stated duration therein. Section 5.4 Access to Information. (a) Subject to Section 6.1(b), Seller shall afford to Purchaser and its Affiliates and its and their respective Representatives reasonable access, upon reasonable notice during normal business hours, consistent with applicable Law (including, for the avoidance of doubt, applicable Data Protection Requirements) in furtherance of the consummation of the Transaction in accordance with the procedures reasonably established jointly by Seller and Purchaser, during the period prior to the Closing, and solely for purposes of integration planning and transitioning the ownership of the Business and the Transferred Entities to Purchaser, to the applicable Business Employees, properties, books, Contracts and records of the Transferred Entities; provided
that Seller shall only be obligated to provide access or make available such files, books, records and other materials (A) in the format they exist in Seller's or its Affiliates' files, and (B) subject to redaction of information that is not related to the Business or as required by Law or contractual confidentiality obligation, and prior to the Closing Date, Purchaser shall not conduct any invasive testing or any sampling of soil, surface or subsurface strata, sediment, surface water, groundwater, stormwater, soil vapor, building material or other environmental media at, on, under or within any property of the Transferred Entities or any of their respective Affiliates without Seller's prior written consent in Seller’s sole discretion; provided that, Phase I environmental site assessments which do not include any sampling or testing of any kind shall be permitted. (b) Purchaser agrees that any investigation undertaken pursuant to the access granted under Section 5.4(a) shall be conducted in such a manner as not to unreasonably interfere with the operation of the Business (or any other business of Seller or any of its Affiliates) and in a manner that complies with applicable Laws (including, for the avoidance of doubt, applicable Data Protection Requirements), and none of Purchaser or any of its Affiliates or Representatives shall communicate with any of the employees, customers or suppliers of the Business without the prior written consent of Seller, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, neither Seller nor any of its Affiliates shall be required to provide access to or disclose information if, on the advice of counsel, doing so would result in the loss of the ability to successfully assert attorney-client privilege or violate any applicable Law or contractual obligations, or such information concerns the valuation of the Business or the process in which Seller and its Affiliates have engaged in

connection with a



 

71 sale of the Business. All information obtained by Purchaser and its Representatives pursuant to this Section 5.4(b) shall be kept confidential in accordance with Section 5.3. (c) At and after the Closing (except to the extent relating to Tax matters, access, cooperation and procedures with respect to which are governed exclusively by Article VI), (x) Purchaser shall, and shall cause the Transferred Entities to, provide Seller, its Affiliates and their respective Representatives, reasonable access during normal business hours to copies of books, Contracts and records of the Business and the Transferred Entities to the extent that such books, Contracts and records relate to the conduct of the Business prior to the Closing for any reasonable business purpose (other than any commercial purpose), including to the extent reasonably relevant to financial and accounting matters, to complete any audits, reporting obligations, defenses of third-party claims and compliance with applicable Laws, in each case, affecting Seller and its Affiliates in respect of the conduct of the Business prior to the Closing, and (y) subject to Section 6.1(b), Seller shall, and shall cause its Affiliates to, provide Purchaser, its Affiliates (including the Transferred Entities) and their respective Representatives, reasonable access during normal business hours to copies of books, Contracts and records of the Business and the Transferred Entities to the extent that such copies of such books, Contracts and records relate to the conduct of the Business prior to the Closing and remain in the possession of Seller and such Affiliates for any reasonable business purpose (other than any commercial purpose), including to the extent reasonably relevant to financial and accounting matters, to complete any audits, reporting obligations, defenses of third-party claims and compliance with applicable Laws, in each case, affecting Purchaser or the Transferred Entities in respect of the conduct of the Business prior to the
Closing; provided that nothing in this Agreement shall limit any of Seller's or Purchaser's or any of their respective Affiliates' rights of discovery; provided further, that in respect of any Proceeding between Purchaser and any of its Affiliates, on the one hand, and Seller and any of its Affiliates, on the other hand, the applicable rules of discovery (and not this Section 5.4(c)) shall apply. (d) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 5.4, no Party shall be deemed to have breached this Section 5.4 if such party cannot provide to the other party access of the other party pursuant to this Section 5.4 as a result of COVID-19 or the COVID-19 Measures or any other pandemic, epidemic or disease outbreak; provided that for so long as any applicable COVID-19 Measures are in effect, the providing party shall, and shall cause its Subsidiaries to, use commercially reasonable efforts to provide access to the receiving party and its Representatives under this Section 5.4 through virtual or other remote means. (e) Except for Tax Returns and other documents governed by Article VI, Purchaser agrees to hold all the books and records related to financial and accounting matters of the Business existing on the Closing Date and not to destroy or dispose of any thereof for a period of six years from the Closing Date or such longer time as may be required by Law, and thereafter, if it desires to destroy or dispose of such books and records, to offer first in writing at least 60 days prior to such destruction or disposition to surrender them to Seller. (f) Seller may, in a manner that is in compliance with applicable Data Protection Requirements and that does not otherwise adversely impact the Business IT Assets or the Business (including the irrevocable erasure of material Business Product Data), (i) erase any and all data and/or software from the Business IT Assets solely to the extent necessary to prevent unauthorized



 

72 access to the information technology systems and Technology of the Retained Businesses from and after the Closing and (ii) take any other measures with respect to the Business IT Assets reasonably necessary to ensure that the transfer of the Business IT Assets to Purchaser complies with applicable Laws (including applicable Data Protection Requirements). Section 5.5 Publicity. No Party nor any Affiliate or Representative of such Party shall issue or cause the publication of any press release or public announcement in respect of this Agreement or the transactions contemplated by this Agreement without the prior written consent of the other Party (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), except as may be required by Law or stock exchange rules, in which case the Party required to publish such press release or public announcement shall use reasonable efforts to provide the other Party a reasonable opportunity to comment on such press release or public announcement in advance of such publication; provided that, (a) without prior consent of the other Party, each Party hereto or any of its Affiliates or Representatives may disseminate information substantially consistent with information included in a press release or other document previously approved for external distribution pursuant to this Section 5.5 and (b) without limiting Section 5.3, Purchaser and its Affiliates may disclose such information to its and their respective direct and indirect investors, partners and financing sources and their respective Representatives, in the ordinary course, provided that any such recipient of information is informed of the confidential nature of such information and is bound by an obligation of confidentiality with respect to such information. Section 5.6 Employee Matters. (a) Treatment of Business Employees. (i) Employee Transfer Legislation Obligations. Seller and Purchaser acknowledge and agree that the sale of the Business
may result in one or more "transfer(s)" within the meaning of the Employee Transfer Legislation and that, subject to the provisions of this Section 5.6 and applicable Law, Business Employees who transfer automatically by operation of Law and are employed by Seller or its Affiliates (other than a Transferred Entity) on the Closing Date (such Business Employees, the "Continuing Asset Employees") will transfer automatically to Purchaser or its Affiliates at the end of the Seconded Employee Term on the same contractual terms and length of service (save in so far as such contracts or any part of them relate to benefits for old age, invalidity or survivors under any occupational pension scheme, unless such exclusion is prohibited by applicable Law). With effect from the end of the Seconded Employee Term, all obligations and Liabilities of Seller or its Affiliates (other than a Transferred Entity) in relation to the Continuing Asset Employees (other than any Continuing Asset Employee who objects to the transfer of such individual's employment to Purchaser or its Affiliate for the purposes of the Employee Transfer Legislation), will be discharged by Purchaser or its Affiliates. (ii) Bipartite and Tripartite Agreements. Where required by Law in order to effectuate the transfer of employment of a Business Employee from Seller or an Affiliate of Seller to Purchaser or an Affiliate of Purchaser, Seller and Purchaser shall cooperate and work in good faith to enter into necessary and appropriate employment transfer documents with the affected employees, including bipartite and tripartite agreements, in each case recognizing continuity of service and any accrued rights to payments on termination of



 

73 employment and otherwise on terms and conditions consistent with this Section 5.6, and in compliance with applicable Law. (iii) With respect to each Seconded Employee (other than those Seconded Employees covered by Section 5.6(a)(i)), Purchaser shall, or shall cause its applicable Affiliate to, provide no later than five Business Days prior to the Employee Hire Date a written offer of employment that is effective as of the Employee Hire Date and that provides for employment with Purchaser or its Affiliate (or, where permitted by Law, any employer of record, professional employer organization or similar third party entity designated by Purchaser) commencing as of the Employee Hire Date recognizing continuity of service and any accrued rights to payments on termination of employment on terms and conditions consistent with Section 5.6, and in compliance with applicable Law. Seller shall inform each Seconded Employee covered by this Section 5.6(a)(iii) (which for the avoidance of doubt, does not include LTD Employees) that Seller, or its Affiliates, as applicable, will, effective as of the end of the Seconded Employee Term, terminate the employment of each Seconded Employee who does not accept Purchaser's or its Affiliate's offer of employment described in this Section 5.6(a)(iii). (iv) Each Business Employee who is employed by a Transferred Entity as of immediately prior to the Closing or who commences employment with Purchaser or an Affiliate thereof as of the Closing in accordance with clause (i), (ii) or (iii) of this Section 5.6(a) or as of a later date in accordance with Section 5.6(j), shall be referred to herein as a "Transferred Business Employee." Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, for purposes of this Section 5.6(excluding the first sentence of Section 5.6(a)(iii), clauses (i) and (ii) of Section 5.6(b), all of Section 5.6(a)(i), Section 5.6(a)(ii), and Section 5.6(j)) with regard to Seconded Employees, references
to the "Closing" and "Closing Date" shall mean 12:00 a.m. Eastern Time on the Employee Hire Date. (b) Compensation and Benefit Continuation. With respect to each Transferred Business Employee, Purchaser shall cause the applicable Transferred Entity (or other applicable Affiliate of Purchaser) to maintain, for a period of 12 months following the Closing Date (or, if earlier, the date of the Transferred Business Employee's termination of employment), unless otherwise agreed by the Business's chief executive officer or by such Transferred Business Employee (the "Continuation Period"), (i) a base wage rate or cash base salary level, as applicable, that is no less favorable than the base wage rate or cash base salary level, as applicable, in effect for such Transferred Business Employee immediately prior to the Closing in the aggregate and (ii) employee benefit plans, programs, policies, target short-term cash-based incentive compensation opportunity, and fringe benefits (excluding any long-term incentive or equity or equity-based incentive, nonqualified deferred compensation, retention, change in control, transaction bonus, defined benefit pensions, and post-employment welfare benefits (the "Excluded Benefits")) that are substantially comparable, in the aggregate, to those in effect (other than the Excluded Benefits) immediately prior to the Closing, and (iii) solely for Transferred Business Employees located in Canada, a principal place of employment at a location no more than 50 miles from the job location to which such Transferred Business Employee reports immediately prior to the Closing Date or, if less, that adds no more than 30 minutes to such Transferred Business Employee's one-way commute time compared to the Transferred Business Employee's principal work location immediately prior to the Closing (whichever is less). The obligation set forth in this Section 5.6(b)



 

74 shall in no event limit Purchaser's obligations under applicable Law and Collective Bargaining Agreements, which shall apply in addition to the obligations set forth in this Section 5.6(b). (c) Collective Bargaining Agreements. (i) As of and following the Closing Date, Purchaser shall, or shall cause the applicable Transferred Entity or other applicable Affiliate of Purchaser to, recognize the unions that are signatories to the Collective Bargaining Agreements immediately prior to the Closing Date as the representatives of the Transferred Business Employees in the bargaining units described therein. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, the terms and conditions of employment for any employees covered by a Collective Bargaining Agreement shall be governed by the applicable Collective Bargaining Agreement until the expiration, modification or termination of such Collective Bargaining Agreement in accordance with its terms or applicable Law. (ii) Following the date hereof and prior to the Closing Date, Seller shall (or shall cause its Affiliates to), and Purchaser shall (or shall cause its Affiliates to), cooperate and use good faith efforts in carrying out requisite notifications to, and consultations, discussions or negotiations with, applicable unions, works councils, labor organizations or other employee representative groups in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. (d) Service Credit. Purchaser shall, or shall cause a Transferred Entity or other applicable Affiliate of Purchaser to, provide to each Transferred Business Employee full credit for the length of service with Seller and its Affiliates (and their predecessors) for purposes of eligibility to participate, vesting and determining levels of severance, vacation and paid time off benefits under any Transferred Entity Benefit Plan (other than the Excluded Benefits) or other employee benefit plan, policy or arrangement, each seniority-based entitlement and all
statutory purposes and common law entitlements, in each case, maintained for the benefit of Transferred Business Employees (other than the Excluded Benefits) as of and after the Closing by Purchaser or one its Affiliates (the "Purchaser Benefit Plans") to the same extent such service was recognized by Seller and its Affiliates immediately prior to the Closing, or as applicable, prior to the end of the applicable services period under the Transition Services Agreement, under the analogous Benefit Plan, provided that such credit shall not be given to the extent that it would result in a duplication of benefits, compensation or coverage for the same period of service. (e) Health Coverages. Purchaser shall or shall cause one of its Affiliates (including following the Closing, any Transferred Entities) to use commercially reasonable efforts to cause each Transferred Business Employee (and such Transferred Business Employee's "eligible dependents," as defined in the Seller Benefit Plans) to be covered immediately upon the Closing or end of the applicable service period under the Transition Services Agreement by a Purchaser Benefit Plan that is a group health plan. With respect to any Purchaser Benefit Plan that is a group health plan, Purchaser shall or shall cause one its Affiliates (including after the Closing Date, the Transferred Entities) to use commercially reasonable efforts to for the plan year in which the Closing occurs or, as applicable, the plan year in which the end of the applicable service period under the Transition Services Agreement occurs, (i) waive any pre-existing condition limitations applicable to such Transferred Business Employee or dependent or waiting period to the extent



 

75 waived or satisfied under the comparable Benefit Plan prior to the Closing or the end of the applicable service period under Transition Services Agreement, and (ii) provide each Transferred Business Employee credit, for the plan year in which the Closing Date occurs, or as applicable, the plan year in which the end of the applicable service period under the Transition Services Agreement occurs, for any deductible, coinsurance or other eligible out-of-pocket expenses already paid by and credited to the Transferred Business Employee under the applicable group health Seller Benefit Plan for purposes of satisfying the analogous deductible, coinsurance or other out-of-pocket requirements applicable to such Transferred Business Employee under the corresponding Purchaser Benefit Plan that is a group health plan. (f) Severance. With respect to each Transferred Business Employee who experiences a termination of employment within the 12-month period following the Closing Date, Purchaser shall, or shall cause the applicable Transferred Entity or other applicable Affiliate of Purchaser to, provide at least the same severance benefits such Transferred Business Employee would have received from Seller or its Affiliates (including the Transferred Entities) had the Transaction not occurred, pursuant to the applicable Benefit Plans as set forth on Section 5.6(f) of the Disclosure Schedules, and to the extent applicable, the amount of such severance benefits shall be calculated taking into account the Transferred Business Employee's period of employment with Seller and its Affiliates (and their predecessors) prior to the Closing and with Purchaser or its Affiliates on and after the Closing. (g) Cash Compensation Payments. (i) Effective as of the Closing, the Transferred Entities shall, and Purchaser shall cause the Transferred Entities to, assume all Liability for any short-term cash incentive compensation payable under each incentive compensation plan or
arrangement (excluding, for the avoidance of doubt, the Dayton Incentive Agreements) in which any Transferred Business Employee participates, solely in respect of the bonus year in which the Closing occurs (or any portion thereof), to such Transferred Business Employees in connection with their services to the Business (the "Cash Incentive Compensation"), and Seller and its Affiliates shall not have any Liability for the Cash Incentive Compensation. Purchaser shall, or shall cause its Affiliates to, provide the opportunity to earn Cash Incentive Compensation to Transferred Business Employees for the entirety of the applicable performance measurement period within the bonus year in which the Closing Date occurs. Such Cash Incentive Compensation shall be governed by plans, programs or arrangements maintained by Purchaser and its Affiliates (including the Transferred Entities), and each such Transferred Business Employee shall be entitled to the target incentive opportunities thereunder that applied to such Transferred Business Employee immediately prior to the Closing Date; provided that the amount of Cash Incentive Compensation actually paid by Purchaser and its Affiliates (including, after the Closing, the Transferred Entities) to Transferred Business Employees (including the employer portion of Taxes related thereto) shall be not less than the accrued amount of Cash Incentive Compensation included in Closing Working Capital or in Closing Indebtedness. To the extent that Seller or its Affiliates (other than the Transferred Entities) become liable for, or are legally required to make any payments in respect of the Cash Incentive Compensation to any Business Employee as a result of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, Purchaser shall, or shall cause its Affiliates to, reimburse Seller, as soon as practicable but



 

76 in any event within 30 days of receipt from Seller of an invoice, for any such Cash Incentive Compensation paid by Seller or its Affiliates (other than the Transferred Entities) up to the amount therefor (including the employer portion of Taxes related thereto) accounted for in Closing Working Capital or included in Closing Indebtedness. Prior to the Closing, Seller shall notify Purchaser in writing of the attainment rate of earned or accrued but unpaid performance bonuses in respect of fiscal year 2024 as determined by the board of directors of STERIS plc following the date of this Agreement and the resulting aggregate bonus amount payable to all recipients thereof (the "Specified 2024 Bonus Amount"). (ii) Purchaser shall cooperate with Seller and its Affiliates to facilitate payment of (A) any unpaid annual bonus payments for the bonus year ending prior to the bonus year in which the Closing Date occurs to Transferred Business Employees, and (B) any amount due under the Dayton Incentive Agreements, including, if requested by Seller, by paying such amounts to the applicable Transferred Business Employees subject to applicable Tax withholding and remitting the Tax withholding and payroll Taxes to the appropriate Tax authority, with all such payments (including the employer portion of any payroll, employment or similar Taxes related thereto) subject to reimbursement by Seller within 30 days following the applicable payment; provided, that (x) if Seller does not make such payments as required pursuant to or in settlement of the terms of the Dayton Incentive Agreements, then, without limiting Seller's reimbursement obligation hereunder, Purchaser or its Affiliates (including the Transferred Entities) may make such payments (provided that Purchaser notifies Seller thereof, prior to making such payments), and (y) if any such payments (including the employer portion of any payroll, employment or similar Taxes related thereto) have not been
reimbursed by Seller prior to the date on which the Post- Closing Statement is delivered, then such amounts shall be included in Indebtedness for purposes of determining the Final Purchase Price ("Specified Dayton Incentive Agreement Amount"). (h) WARN and Corresponding State Laws. Purchaser shall be solely responsible for and agrees to indemnify, hold harmless and, at the option of Seller, to defend Seller and its Affiliates from and against any Liability under WARN or any similar state Law, to any Business Employee who is found to have suffered an "employment loss" under WARN on or within 90 days after the Closing Date as a result of the actions of Purchaser or any of its Affiliates, and any and all other Liabilities, including attorneys' fees, arising out of or resulting from the actions Purchaser or any of its Affiliates, or their failure to serve sufficient notice pursuant to WARN or any similar state Law. (i) Paid Time Off. Purchaser shall, or shall cause the applicable Transferred Entity or other applicable Affiliate of Purchaser to, recognize and assume or honor, as applicable, all Liabilities with respect to accrued but unused vacation time for all Transferred Business Employees (solely to the extent reflected in Working Capital including any Liabilities to Transferred Business Employees for payments in respect of earned but unused paid time off that arise as a result of the transfer of employment contemplated by this Article V). Purchaser shall, or shall cause the applicable Transferred Entity or other applicable Affiliate of Purchaser to, allow Transferred Business Employees to use the paid time off in accordance with the terms of the Purchaser’s policies.



 

77 (j) STD/LTD Employees. On the Closing Date, Seller shall transfer the employment of each Business Employee who is on a leave of absence, or is receiving short-term or long-term disability benefits from a Seller Benefit Plan, in each case, as of immediately prior to the Closing (each, an "LTD Employee") to Seller or any of its Affiliates (other than a Transferred Entity) and each LTD Employee shall remain an employee of Seller or its Affiliates, and shall continue to participate in the applicable Seller Benefit Plan providing short-term or long-term disability benefits in accordance with the terms of that plan, as in effect from time to time. Subject to Seller notifying Purchaser of an LTD Employee's return to active employment within 10 Business Days of such return, Purchaser shall, or shall cause one of its Affiliates to, make an offer of employment to such LTD Employee on terms consistent with those applicable to Business Employees generally under this Section 5.6; provided that the LTD Employee returned to active employment with Seller or one of its Affiliates on or prior to the expiration date of such LTD Employee's eligibility for disability benefits or related approved leave period and within six months following the Closing Date (or such longer period required by applicable Law). For purposes of applying the provisions of this Section 5.6 to any LTD Employee who accepts such offer of employment, all references in this Section 5.6 to the Closing Date (other than the Continuation Period) shall instead be deemed to refer to the LTD Employee's first day of employment with Purchaser or one of its Affiliates (or, where permitted by Law, any employer of record, professional employer organization or similar third party entity designated by Purchaser), and such employee shall not be deemed a Transferred Business Employee under this Agreement until such date. (k) 401(k) Plan. Effective as soon as reasonably practicable following the Closing,
Purchaser shall cause each Transferred Business Employee who, as of immediately prior to the Closing, was eligible to participate in a Seller Benefit Plan that is intended to be a U.S. tax- qualified defined contribution plan to be eligible to participate in a Purchaser Benefit Plan that is intended to be a U.S. tax-qualified defined contribution plan (the "Purchaser 401(k) Plan"). Purchaser shall (or shall cause one of its Affiliates to) cause the Purchaser 401(k) Plan to accept "eligible rollover distributions" (as such term is defined under Section 402 of the Code) of Transferred Business Employees from the STERIS Corporation 401(k) Plan (in cash, but including notes corresponding to participant loans). Effective at the Closing, Transferred Business Employees shall be eligible to effect a "direct rollover" (as described in Section 401(a)(31) of the Code) of their account balances under the STERIS Corporation 401(k) Plan to the Purchaser 401(k) Plan in the form of cash and promissory notes for associated participant loans, and Purchaser shall cause the Purchaser 401(k) Plan to accept "eligible rollover distributions" (as such term is defined under Section 402 of the Code) of Transferred Business Employees from the STERIS Corporation 401(k) Plan. Seller shall inform Purchaser following the receipt of a closing agreement, compliance statement, or favorable determination letter from the IRS related to the Cantel Medical Retirement Savings Plan and, following receipt of such closing agreement, compliance statement, or favorable determination letter, Purchaser shall cause the Purchaser 401(k) Plan to accept "eligible rollover distributions" of Transferred Business Employees' account balances under the Cantel Medical Retirement Savings Plan in the form of cash and promissory notes for associated participant loans. (l) Benefit Plan Liabilities; COBRA. Except as otherwise set forth in the Transition Services Agreement or this Section 5.6, effective as of the Closin

Date, Seller and its Affiliates (other than any Transferred Entity) shall retain the sponsorship of and all Liabilities at any time arising under, pursuant to or in connection with any Seller Benefit Plan or any other benefit or



 

78 compensation plan, program, policy, agreement or arrangement at any time sponsored, maintained, contributed to (or required to be contributed to) by Seller or any of its Affiliates or otherwise with respect to which Seller or any of its Affiliates has any Liability (other than any Transferred Entity Benefit Plan). Seller and its Affiliates (other than any Transferred Entity) shall be solely responsible for any obligations arising under Section 4980B of the Code with respect to all "M&A qualified beneficiaries" (as defined in Treasury Regulation Section 54.4980B-9). (m) Immigration Compliance. Seller shall, and shall cause its Affiliates to, use reasonable best efforts to ensure that any Business Employee who requires a visa, work permit, green card or similar applications to work for Seller and its Affiliates in his or her current position may continue to work in such position as a Business Employee as of the Closing Date. To the extent reasonably required, following the Closing Date, Purchaser shall, and shall cause its Affiliates to, use best efforts to process and support such visas, work permits, green cards, or similar applications. (n) Restrictive Covenants. Seller agrees that, notwithstanding the terms of any non- competition, non-solicitation or other restrictive covenant obligation between Seller and its Affiliates and any Business Employee, such Business Employee shall be permitted to provide services to Purchaser and its Affiliates (including the Transferred Entities) following the Closing, and Seller will not seek to enforce the terms of any such restrictive covenant following the Closing with respect to such Business Employee's services to Purchaser or its Affiliates, in each case, to the extent exclusively related to the Business. To the extent assignable under applicable Law, Seller hereby assigns all such restrictive covenants, in each case, to the extent exclusively related to the Business, to Purchaser and its applicable Affiliates, and Purchaser and its Affiliate
have the right, but not the obligation, to enforce such restrictive covenants. (o) Contingent Workers. During the period prior to the Closing, upon Purchaser's reasonable request, Seller shall use commercially reasonable efforts to (i) make introductions and coordinate discussions between Purchaser and individual natural person independent contractors who provide services exclusively related to the Business and who are engaged by Seller or its Affiliates and (ii) provide to Purchaser contact information for third-party service providers providing contingent personnel exclusively dedicated to the Business and reasonably cooperate in identifying and transferring such contingent work force to the extent related to the Business and requested by Purchaser. (p) No Third-Party Rights. Without limiting Section 9.5, this Section 5.6 will not create any third-party beneficiary rights, express or implied, and will not be enforceable by any Transferred Business Employee or any other current or former employee, any spouse, dependent or beneficiary of any current or former employee, or any other Person who is not a party to this Agreement. This Section 5.6 will not be deemed to be an establishment of or amendment to any Seller Benefit Plan, Transferred Entity Benefit Plan, or any other compensation or benefit plan, program, contract, policy, arrangement or agreement. No term of this Agreement will be deemed to create any Contract with any Transferred Business Employee or any other employee or to give any such Person the right to be retained in the employment of Seller or any of its Affiliates, or, after the Closing, Purchaser or any of its Affiliates, or to any particular term or condition of employment, or to interfere with the rights of Seller or any of its Affiliates or, after the Closing,



 

79 Purchaser or any of its Affiliates, to terminate the employment of any employee at any time or for any reason. Section 5.7 Reserved. Section 5.8 Names Following Closing. (a) Neither Purchaser nor any of its Affiliates (including the Transferred Entities) shall acquire any rights in, or use, or have the right to use, the "STERIS," "Cantel" and "Cantel Medical" names or any variations or derivatives thereof or any Trademarks of Seller or any of its Affiliates (the "Names"), or any name that, in the reasonable judgment of Seller, is confusingly similar to the Names, except as provided in Section 5.8(b). (b) Purchaser and its Affiliates will have the right to (i) sell existing inventory of the Business and (ii) use existing packaging, labeling, containers, stationery, business forms, supplies, advertising and promotional materials and any similar materials, in each case, bearing the Names for 12 months following Closing; provided that (A) neither Purchaser nor any of its Affiliates will intentionally take any action that could materially impair the value of the Names, (B) when using the items listed in clause (ii) above in the context of entering into or conducting contractual relationships, Purchaser will make clear to all other applicable parties that Purchaser or any of its Affiliates, rather than Seller or any of its Affiliates, is the party entering into or conducting the contractual relationship, and (C) personnel of Purchaser or its Affiliates using the above items will not, and will have no authority to, hold themselves out as officers, employees or agents of Seller or any of its Affiliates; provided, further that Purchaser will use commercially reasonable efforts to minimize and eliminate its and its Affiliates' (including the Transferred Entities') use of the Names as soon as reasonably practicable after the Closing Date and will cease using the Names on fixed assets as soon as practicable and in any event within nine months after the Closing. From and after the Closing, Purchaser
will, and will cause its Affiliates (including the Transferred Entities) to, use commercially reasonable efforts to comply with applicable Laws in any use of packaging or labeling containing the Names. Purchaser will and will cause its Affiliates (including the Transferred Entities) to, exhaust inventory, packaging, labeling, containers, stationery, business forms, supplies, advertising and promotional materials and any similar materials bearing any Name before using any inventory, packaging, labeling, containers, stationery, business forms, supplies, advertising and promotional materials and any similar materials that do not bear any Name. (c) As promptly as practicable after the Closing (but in any event within 12 months after the Closing), Purchaser shall take all actions necessary to change the legal names, corporate names and business names of the Transferred Entities and apply for their Organizational Documents and business registration certificate or licenses, as applicable, to be amended to remove any reference to the Names, in all jurisdictions, and shall promptly take any and all follow-up actions that may be required or requested by any Governmental Entity to effect such changes as soon as practicable. Section 5.9 Payments from Third Parties. (a) Seller shall, or shall cause its applicable Affiliate to, (i) promptly pay or deliver to Purchaser (or Purchaser's designated Affiliate) any monies or checks that are in respect of the



 

80 Business that have been delivered to Seller or any of its Affiliates following the Closing, including any monies or checks sent by customers, suppliers or other contracting parties in respect of the Business, and (ii) promptly reimburse Purchaser (or its designated Affiliate) for any amounts paid by Purchaser (or its designated Affiliates) to the extent such payments are in respect of any Retained Business. (b) Purchaser shall, or shall cause its applicable Affiliate to, (i) promptly pay or deliver to Seller (or its designated Affiliate) any monies or checks that have been sent to Purchaser or any of its Affiliates after the Closing to the extent such monies or checks are in respect of a Retained Business, and (ii) promptly reimburse Seller (or its designated Affiliate) for any amounts paid by Seller to the extent such payments are in respect of the Business. Section 5.10 R&W Insurance Policy. In the event Purchaser obtains a representations and warranties insurance policy in respect of the representations and warranties contained in this Agreement (the "R&W Insurance Policy"), Purchaser shall pay, or cause to be paid, the premium and all other costs required for issuance of the R&W Insurance Policy and such R&W Insurance Policy shall include a provision whereby the insurer expressly waives, and irrevocably agrees not to pursue, directly or indirectly, any subrogation rights in connection with this Agreement, the other Transaction Documents, and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby against Seller and any of its direct or indirect past or present shareholders, members, partners, stockholders, employees, directors, or officers (or the functional equivalent of any such Person) (the "Seller Persons") with respect to any claim made by any insured thereunder other than in the event of Fraud in respect of any of the representations and warranties set forth in Article III (the "Subrogation Waiver"). Purchaser shall not waive, amend, modify or otherwise revise the
Subrogation Waiver, or allow such provision to be waived, amended, modified or otherwise revised by any other Person, in a manner adverse to the Seller Persons, in each case, without Seller's prior written consent, which Seller may grant or withhold in its sole discretion. For the avoidance of doubt, the Parties acknowledge and agree that the obtaining of the R&W Insurance Policy is not a condition to Closing. Purchaser's failure to obtain the R&W Insurance Policy shall in no way alter or increase any of Seller's obligations hereunder. Section 5.11 Termination of Intercompany Balances and Intercompany Agreements. (a) Immediately prior to the Closing (or prior thereto, if so determined by Seller acting reasonably and in compliance with this Agreement), all intercompany balances and accounts (other than intercompany balances and accounts reflected in the Closing Working Capital, Closing Indebtedness or Closing Transaction Expenses or as specifically identified on Section 5.11(a) of the Disclosure Schedules) between Seller and any of its Affiliates (other than the Transferred Entities), on the one hand, and the Transferred Entities, on the other hand, shall be settled or otherwise eliminated without any Liabilities (including Taxes), including any Liabilities (including Taxes) arising from such termination, on the part of Purchaser or any of its Affiliates (including, after the Closing, the Transferred Entities). In furtherance of the foregoing, from the date hereof until the Closing, Seller shall cooperate with Purchaser in good faith and consult with Purchaser in good faith prior to effectuating the settlement or elimination of all applicable intercompany balances and accounts contemplated by this Section 5.11, all in a manner that does not create any Liabilities (including Taxes) on the part of Purchaser or any of its Affiliates (including, after the Closing, the Transferred Entities). Intercompany balances and accounts solely



 

81 among any of the Transferred Entities shall not be affected by the provisions of this Section 5.11(a). (b) Immediately prior to the Closing (or prior thereto, if so determined by Seller), except for (i) the Transaction Documents to be entered into in connection with this Agreement and (ii) the Intercompany Agreements and intercompany balances and accounts set forth in Section 5.11(a) of the Disclosure Schedules, all Intercompany Agreements shall automatically be terminated without further payment or performance and cease to have any further force and effect, such that neither party thereto nor Purchaser shall have any further obligations or Liabilities therefor or thereunder. Section 5.12 Directors' and Officers' Indemnification. For a period of six years from Closing, Purchaser will not permit the Transferred Entities to amend, repeal or otherwise modify any provision of the Organizational Documents relating to indemnification, advancement of expenses or exculpation on any manner that would adversely affect the right thereunder of any present and former manager, director and officer of the Transferred Entities (each, a "D&O Indemnified Party") in respect of any acts or omissions occurring prior to the Closing, unless such modification is required by applicable Law. Notwithstanding the foregoing or anything to the contrary herein, no person serving as a manager, director, officer, employee or agent of Transferred Entity shall have any right to indemnification, advancement, contribution, reimbursement of expenses or recovery from Purchaser or any of its Affiliates (including, following the Closing, the Transferred Entities) in respect of any claims by Purchaser or any of its Affiliates in respect of this Agreement, the Transaction Documents or the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby. The obligations of Purchaser under this Section 5.12 shall not be terminated or modified in such a manner as to adversely affect any D&O Indemnified Party
without the express written consent of such affected D&O Indemnified Party. Section 5.13 Financing. (a) Subject to the other terms and conditions of this Agreement, from the date hereof and until the earlier of the termination of this Agreement and the Closing, Purchaser shall use and shall cause each of its controlled Affiliates to use their respective commercially reasonable efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all actions, and do, or cause to be done, all things necessary, proper or advisable to arrange and consummate the Financing on the terms and subject only to the conditions described in the Commitment Letters as promptly as possible but in any event, on or, prior to the date on which the Transaction is required to be consummated pursuant to the terms hereof, including using commercially reasonable efforts to: (i) maintain in effect the Commitment Letters; (ii) negotiate and enter into definitive agreements with respect to the Debt Financing (the "Definitive Agreements") consistent with the terms and conditions precedent contained in the Debt Commitment Letter and on terms not less favorable to the Purchaser than those contained in the Debt Commitment Letter (including, as necessary, the "flex" provisions related thereto as in effect on the date hereof ) so that such agreements are in effect no later than the Closing; and



 

82 (iii) satisfy (or obtain a waiver of) on a timely basis all conditions in the Debt Commitment Letter that are within its control. (b) Neither Purchaser nor any of its controlled Affiliates shall, without the prior written consent of Seller (such approval not to be unreasonably withheld, delayed, denied or conditioned), permit, consent to or agree to any amendment, replacement, supplement, termination or modification to, or any waiver of any provision or remedy under, the Debt Commitment Letter if such amendment, replacement, supplement, termination, modification or waiver (A) imposes new or additional conditions precedent to the funding of the Financing which adversely in any material respect modifies, expands or amends any existing conditions to the consummation of all or any portion of the Financing, (B) reduces the aggregate principal amount of cash proceeds available from the Financing below an amount that, when combined with Purchaser's other sources of funds, is sufficient to pay the Financing Amounts or (C) materially adversely impacts the ability of Purchaser to enforce its rights against other parties to the Debt Commitment Letter or the Definitive Agreements as so amended, replaced, supplemented or otherwise modified, relative to the ability of Purchaser to enforce its rights against such other parties to the Commitment Letters as in effect on the date hereof (the effects described in clauses (A) through (C), collectively the "Prohibited Modifications"); provided, that Purchaser may modify, supplement or amend the Debt Commitment Letter to (x) correct typographical errors, or (y) add (or assign or reassign commitments and roles to) lenders, lead arrangers, bookrunners, syndication agents or similar entities as contemplated by the Debt Commitment Letter. Purchaser shall promptly deliver to Seller copies of any amendment, modification, waiver, replacement, supplement or termination to the Commitment Letters or any related
agreements (including fee letters, which letters may be delivered in redacted form removing only the fee information and market "flex" information (if applicable) and other customary information). (c) If, notwithstanding the use of its commercially reasonable efforts to satisfy its obligations under this Section 5.13, any portion of the Debt Financing becomes unavailable and the remaining amount available under the Commitment Letters and other available sources would be less than an amount that would be required to fund the Financing Amounts, Purchaser will, as promptly as practicable following the occurrence of such event, (i) notify the Seller in writing thereof, (ii) use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain alternative financing for any such unavailable portion from the same or alternative sources (the "Alternative Financing") in an amount sufficient, when taken together with the available portion of the Financing and other available sources, to enable the Purchaser to fund the Financing Amounts, (iii) use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain a new financing commitment letter that provides for such Alternative Financing to be on terms, taken as a whole, not more adverse to the Purchaser than those set forth in the Debt Commitment Letter in effect on the date hereof and to not include any Prohibited Modification and (iv) deliver to Seller true and complete copies of the new financing commitment that provides for such Alternative Financing (including all related exhibits, schedules, annexes, supplements and term sheets thereto, and including any related fee letters, which fee letters may be delivered in redacted form removing only the fee information and market "flex" information (if applicable) and other customary information). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, nothing in this Section 5.13(c) will require, and in no event will the commercially reasonable efforts of Purchaser be deemed or construed to

require, Purchaser to (i) seek the Equity Financing from any source other than a counterparty to, or in any amount in excess of that contemplated by, the Equity Commitment Letter and (ii) pay any fees in excess of those



 

83 contemplated by the Equity Commitment Letter or Debt Commitment Letter as in effect on the date hereof or (iii) agree to terms more adverse to Purchaser than as set forth in the Debt Commitment Letter as of the date of this Agreement. Purchaser shall, as promptly after obtaining knowledge thereof, provide Seller with written notice of any (A) actual material breach or material default, or any cancellation, termination or repudiation by any party to the Debt Commitment Letter, or (B) copy of any written notice or other written communication from any Lender, Equity Investor, or other financing source with respect to any actual material default or material breach, or any cancellation, termination or repudiation by any party to the Commitment Letters. Upon the request of Seller from time to time prior to the Closing Date, Purchaser shall keep Seller reasonably informed of the status of its efforts to arrange and obtain the Financing, including any Alternative Financing. (d) The foregoing notwithstanding, compliance by Purchaser with this Section 5.13 shall not relieve Purchaser of its obligations to consummate the Transaction and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement whether or not the Financing or any Alternative Financing is available. To the extent Purchaser obtains Alternative Financing or amends, replaces, supplements, terminates, modifies or waives any of the Financing, in each case pursuant to and in accordance with this Section 5.13 and without any Prohibited Modification, references to the "Financing," "Debt Financing Sources," "Commitment Letters" and "Definitive Agreements" (and other like terms in this Agreement) shall be deemed to refer to such Alternative Financing, the commitments thereunder and the agreements with respect thereto, or the Financing as so amended, replaced, supplemented, terminated, modified or waived. Section 5.14 Financing Cooperation. (a) From the date hereof and until the earlier of the
termination of this Agreement and the Closing, Seller shall, and shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to provide, and shall cause its applicable Subsidiaries and their respective Representatives to use their respective commercially reasonable efforts to provide Purchaser all reasonable cooperation as may be reasonably requested by Purchaser in connection with the Debt Financing, including to take the following actions: (i) upon reasonable notice, causing appropriate members of the Transferred Entities' management teams to participate in a reasonable number of meetings with the lead arrangers under the Debt Commitment Letter (and, to the extent reasonably necessary, additional conference calls with potential Lenders), all of which may be telephonic or virtual, in connection with the Debt Financing at reasonable times and locations mutually agreed; (ii) promptly as reasonably practicable, furnishing Purchaser and the Lenders with the Business Financial Statements (provided that in no event shall the foregoing be deemed to include, nor shall Seller otherwise be required to provide, any information regarding any post-Closing or pro forma financial statements, post-Closing pro forma adjustments desired to be incorporated into any information used in connection with the Debt Financing (including any synergies or cost savings), projections, ownership or an as- adjusted capitalization table);



 

84 (iii) (x) reasonably cooperating with the marketing and due diligence efforts of Purchaser and the Lenders, including reasonably assisting in the preparation of customary materials for confidential information memoranda, lender and investor presentations and similar documents or materials for any portion of the Debt Financing, including the execution and delivery of customary representation letters in connection with bank information memoranda, and materials for rating agency presentations and (y) furnishing Purchaser such other information regarding the Transferred Entities reasonably requested by Purchaser and customary for financings similar to the financings contemplated by the Debt Commitment Letter; (iv) in the case of the applicable Transferred Entities only, reasonably assisting in the preparation, execution and delivery of definitive written financing documentation evidencing such Debt Financing and the schedules and exhibits thereto (including loan agreements, guarantees, collateral agreements, hedging arrangements, pledge and security agreements, customary officer's certificates and corporate resolutions and other definitive documentation (including a customary solvency certificate (in the form of the solvency certificate attached as Annex I to Exhibit C of the Commitment Letter) (or the analogous provision in any amendment, modification, supplement, restatement or replacement thereof permitted or required hereunder), to the extent executed by a financial officer of the Transferred Entities who shall continue to act in such capacity following the Closing; provided that the effectiveness thereof shall be conditioned upon, or become effective after, the occurrence of Closing), as applicable) as may reasonably be requested by Purchaser and taking all corporate or other organizational actions to authorize and permit the consummation of the Financing, in each case, subject to the occurrence of the Closing; (v) using reasonable efforts to
facilitate the pledging of collateral and the granting of a security interest (and perfection thereof) in collateral; and (vi) in the case of the applicable Transferred Entities only, providing at least three Business Days prior to the Closing Date all documentation and other information as is required by regulatory authorities under applicable "know your customer" and anti- money laundering rules and regulations including the USA Patriot Act of 2001 and Beneficial Ownership Certificates, to the extent requested in writing by Purchaser at least ten Business Days prior to the Closing Date; provided that neither Seller nor any of its Affiliates shall be required to take or permit the taking of any action pursuant to this Section 5.14 that would (A) require Seller or any of its Affiliates or any persons who are officers or directors of such entities (other than, after Closing, only those officers or directors of the Transferred Entities who shall continue to act in such capacities following the Closing; provided that the effectiveness thereof shall be conditioned upon, or become effective after, the occurrence of Closing) to pass resolutions or consents to approve or authorize the execution of the Debt Financing or enter into, execute or deliver any certificate, document, instrument or agreement (other than customary authorization letters contemplated pursuant to clause (iii) above) or agree to any change or modification of any existing certificate, document, instrument or agreement prior to the Closing, (B) cause Seller to breach any representation, warranty or covenant in this Agreement, (C) require Seller or any of its Affiliates to pay any commitment or other similar fee or incur or reimburse any other unreimbursed expense, liability or obligation, or give indemnities in connection with the



 

85 Debt Financing or otherwise incur any obligation under any agreement, certificate, document or instrument in connection with the Debt Financing prior to the Closing Date in respect of the Transactions, (D) reasonably be expected to cause any director, officer, employee or equityholder of Seller or any of its Affiliates to incur personal liability, (E) reasonably be expected to conflict with the Organizational Documents of Seller or any of its Affiliates or any material Laws, (F) reasonably be expected to result in a material violation or breach of, or material default (with or without notice, lapse of time or both), under any material Contract to which Seller or any of its Affiliates is a party or by which such Person is bound, (G) provide access to or disclose information that Seller reasonably believes would cause the loss of attorney-client privilege or other similar legal privilege of Seller or any of its Affiliates, (H) require the delivery of any opinion of counsel, (I) require Seller or any of its Affiliates to prepare or deliver (1) pro forma financial information; (2) any description of all or any component of the Debt Financing; (3) projections or other forward looking statements relating to all or any component of the Debt Financing or (4) any financial statements that are not available to it and prepared in the ordinary course of its financial reporting practice, or (J) unreasonably interfere with the ongoing operations of Seller or any of its Affiliates in their reasonable judgment. (vii) Subject to Purchaser's indemnification obligations under this Section 5.14, Seller consents to the use of all of the Transferred Entities' corporate logos in connection with the Financing, provided that such logos are used solely in a manner that is reasonable and customary for such purpose and does not violate any existing Contract of Seller or of the Transferred Entities and is not intended to, nor reasonably likely to, harm or disparage Seller or the Transferred Entities. (viii) Nothing contained
in this Section 5.14(a) or otherwise shall require Seller or any of its Affiliates, prior to the Closing, to be an issuer or other obligor with respect to the Debt Financing. Seller's cooperation pursuant to this Section 5.14 shall be at the sole expense of Purchaser (other than in respect of the expense to prepare customary audited and other historical financial statements, in each case, prepared in the ordinary course of Seller's financial reporting practice), and Purchaser shall, promptly upon request by Seller, reimburse Seller and its Affiliates for all reasonable and documented out-of-pocket fees, costs and expenses incurred by them or their respective Representatives in connection with such cooperation contemplated by this Section 5.14, in each case, other than in respect of the preparation of audited or other historical financial statements, and shall reimburse, indemnify and hold harmless Seller and its Affiliates and their respective Representatives from and against any and all losses suffered or incurred by them in connection with or arising from any cooperation that Seller and its Affiliates and their respective Representatives provides pursuant to this Section 5.14, except in the event such liabilities, obligations or losses arose of or result from the gross negligence, fraud, material breach of this Agreement or willful misconduct by Seller or its Affiliates. (b) In no event shall the receipt or availability of any funds or financing (including the Financing) by Purchaser or any of its Affiliates or any other financing or other transactions be a condition to any of Purchaser's obligations under this Agreement.



 

86 (c) All non-public or otherwise confidential information regarding Seller or its Affiliates obtained by Purchaser or its Representatives pursuant to this Section 5.14 shall be kept confidential in accordance with the Confidentiality Agreement. (d) Notwithstanding this Section 5.14, any request for any Tax Returns (or related workpapers) of Seller or any of its Affiliates (including the Transferred Entities prior to the Closing) shall be governed by Section 6.1(b) and shall be subject to any limitations therein. Section 5.15 Misallocated Assets. (a) If, at any time within 12 months following the Closing, any right, property, asset or Liability primarily relating to the Retained Business is found to have been transferred to Purchaser or its Affiliates (including any Transferred Entity) in error, either directly or indirectly, Purchaser shall transfer, or shall cause its Affiliates (including the Transferred Entities) to transfer, at Seller's sole cost and expense (except for any cost or expense that is an obligation of Purchaser pursuant to another Transaction Document) and for no consideration, such right, property, asset or Liability as soon as practicable to Seller or its designated Affiliate, indicated by Seller in writing. (b) If, at any time within 12 months following the Closing, any right, property, asset or Liability primarily relating to the Business is found to have been retained by Seller or its Affiliates in error, either directly or indirectly, Seller shall transfer, or shall cause the applicable Affiliate to transfer, at Seller's sole cost and expense (other than the portion of any Transfer Taxes for which Purchaser is responsible pursuant to this Agreement) and for no additional consideration, such right, property, asset or Liability as soon as practicable to Purchaser or its designated Affiliate, indicated by Purchaser in writing (c) Until such time as such misallocated right, property, or asset (each, a "Misallocated Asset") is transferred (to Purchaser or its Affiliates, pursuant to Section 5.15(b) or
Seller or its Affiliates pursuant to Section 5.15(a), above), the transferring Party on behalf of itself and its Affiliates, hereby (i) agrees to hold, maintain and utilize its right, title and interest in such Misallocated Asset in trust for the transferee Party for no additional consideration; and (ii) grants to the transferee Party (A) a non-exclusive, royalty-free, fully paid-up, worldwide, irrevocable, sub-licensable and transferable right and license (or sub-license, as the case may be) under the transferring Party's rights in such Misallocated Asset to use, practice and otherwise exploit such Misallocated Asset; and (B) a covenant not to sue with respect to transferee Party's use, practice and exploitation of any Intellectual Property associated with such Misallocated Asset solely to the extent that such Misallocated Asset is used, practiced and exploited in substantially the same manner as it was used, practiced and exploited in the 12-month period immediately prior to the Closing Date, in each case of clauses (i) and (ii), effective as of the Closing Date until such Misallocated Asset is so transferred. Section 5.16 Acknowledgment of Pre-Closing Services. Purchaser acknowledges that Seller and its Affiliates provide various services, rights and support to the Business (including with respect to the following matters: tax, legal, compliance and governmental affairs, information technology support, audit, accounting, treasury, insurance, business development, capital raising and intercompany financing and access to shared facilities, including any research centers), in each



 

87 case, that will not continue after the Closing except to the extent expressly provided in the Transaction Documents. Section 5.17 Further Assurances. Seller and Purchaser agree that, from and after the Closing Date, each of them shall, and shall cause their respective Affiliates to, execute and deliver, or cause to be executed and delivered, such further instruments of conveyance and transfer and take such other action as may be necessary and reasonably requested by such Party to carry out the purposes and intents hereof. Section 5.18 Post-Closing License to the Transferred Entities. (a) Without limiting Section 5.8, effective upon the occurrence of the Closing, Seller and its Affiliates hereby grant to each Transferred Entity a worldwide, perpetual, irrevocable (except to the extent provided in this Section 5.18(a)), royalty-free, fully paid-up, freely transferable (solely to the extent provided for in this Section 5.18(a)), sublicensable (through multiple tiers solely to service providers and Affiliates providing services for or on behalf of a Transferred Entity and customers and end users of Transferred Entities' products exploiting the Licensed Seller Intellectual Property), non-exclusive license under the Licensed Seller Intellectual Property to use and exploit the Licensed Seller Intellectual Property solely as it is exploited in the Business as currently conducted and as it has been conducted in the 12-month period immediately preceding the Closing, including, on a Business Product-by-Business Product basis, to use, reproduce, make, distribute, sell, offer for sale or import such Business Product and any reasonable extensions and natural evolutions thereof and as applicable, to develop, copy, modify, and create Derivatives of such Licensed Seller Intellectual Property in connection therewith; provided that solely in the case of biological indicator and chemical integrator products set forth in Exhibit A (as amended by the Parties from time to time) of the Seller Supply
Agreement and supplied thereunder, Buyer shall exercise the license set forth in this provision consistent with the restrictions set forth in Section 2.1(b) of the Seller Supply Agreement during the term of such agreement. For clarity, the dental field is outside the field in which the Retained Business operates. The Transferred Entities, the Purchaser and their Affiliates may assign and otherwise transfer such license, in whole, in connection with the assignment, sale, merger, or other transfer of all or substantially all of the Business (regardless of the form of transaction or series of transactions). (b) Purchaser, on behalf of itself and each Transferred Entity, acknowledges that the Licensed Seller Intellectual Property is the proprietary and confidential information of Seller and its Affiliates and that, except for the license expressly granted in Section 5.18(a), Seller and its Affiliates retain all right, title and interest in and to the Licensed Seller Intellectual Property. As between the Parties, each Party shall own and retain all Intellectual Property Rights to all Derivatives of any Licensed Seller Intellectual Property created, conceived or otherwise developed by or for such Party as from the Closing (it being understood and agreed the Transferred Entities shall not own any Licensed Seller Intellectual Property, even if used to create, conceive or otherwise develop or used with such Derivatives), and no Party has any obligation to provide any such Derivatives to any other Party. The Transferred Entities will have no rights over or license to any such Derivatives created, conceived or otherwise developed by or for Seller or any its Affiliates on or after the Closing. As between the Parties, all Derivatives created, conceived or otherwise developed by or on behalf of a Transferred Entity (other than by any of the Seller and its Affiliates) shall be owned exclusively by such Transferred Entity and this Agreement shall not



 

88 limit any Transferred Entity's exploitation of such Derivatives. Each Transferred Entity shall maintain the Licensed Seller Intellectual Property in strict confidence, except to the extent that such Licensed Seller Intellectual Property (A) has been published in a form generally available to the public other than as a result of Purchaser's or any of its Affiliates' acts or omissions to act prior to the date such Person proposes to disclose such Licensed Seller Intellectual Property or (B) is required to be disclosed pursuant to any applicable Law or court order. (c) Subject to the representations and warranties granted by Seller to Purchaser in this Agreement, Purchaser shall, and shall cause each applicable Transferred Entity to, reimburse, indemnify and hold harmless Seller and its Affiliates and its and their respective Representatives from and against all Losses suffered by any of them in connection with or arising from any Transferred Entity's exploitation of the Licensed Seller Intellectual Property in intentional breach of the license provided in Section 5.18(a). Section 5.19 Pre-Closing Actions. Seller and Purchaser shall, and shall cause their respective (a) Affiliates in the case of Seller, and (b) Representatives to, use their respective commercially reasonable efforts, including cooperating with the other Party in good faith, to negotiate and complete the transactions or perform the actions, as applicable, set forth on Section 5.19(a) of the Disclosure Schedules (collectively, the "Pre-Closing Actions") as promptly as reasonably practicable following the date of this Agreement and prior to the Closing, or if not completed prior to Closing, as promptly as reasonably practicable thereafter. In furtherance of the transition of the ownership and operation of the Business from Seller to Purchaser, Seller shall notify Purchaser promptly on becoming aware of any event that has or would reasonably be expected to have a material impact on the Business taken as a whole; provided,
that any failure by Seller to provide such notice shall not provide Purchaser with a right not to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, except to the extent that such other provision of this Agreement independently provides such right. Section 5.20 Restrictive Covenants. (a) In further consideration of the amounts to be paid by or on behalf of Purchaser hereunder, for a period of five years commencing on the Closing Date (the "Restricted Period"), Seller shall not, and shall cause its Affiliates not to, whether directly or indirectly and whether actively or passively, in the jurisdictions set forth on Section 5.20 of the Disclosure Schedules, whether as principal, manager, agent, consultant, equity holder, partner, investor, lender, member or in any other capacity, conduct, manage, operate, engage in, or have an ownership interest in any business or enterprise engaged in, any business or enterprise (or Subsidiary or division thereof) that directly or indirectly competes with the Business. (b) During the Restricted Period, Seller shall, and shall cause its Affiliates not to, directly or indirectly, hire, solicit, or induce, or attempt to hire, solicit or induce, any employees or independent contractors of Purchaser or any of its Affiliates (including any former employees or independent contractors who were employed or retained by Purchaser or any of its Affiliates at any time during the twelve month period prior to the solicitation), to leave the employ or service of Purchaser or any of its Affiliates for any reason whatsoever; otherwise interfere with the relationship of Purchaser or any of its Affiliates with any such employees or independent contractor; or offer or provide employment (whether such employment is for Seller, its Affiliates



 

89 or any other business or enterprise), either on a full-time basis or part-time or consulting basis, to any such employees or independent contractor. (c) Each Party shall not, and Seller shall cause its Affiliates not to and Purchaser shall cause the Transferred Entities not to, directly or indirectly through another Person, except to the extent done in good faith in any Proceeding against the other Party or any of their respective Affiliates or as otherwise protected by Law, (i) make any negative statement or communication regarding the other Party or any of their respective Affiliates with the intent to harm any such Person or (ii) make any derogatory or disparaging statement or communication regarding the other Party or any of their respective Affiliates. Nothing in this Section 5.20 shall limit any Party or their respective Affiliates' ability to make true and accurate statements or communications in connection with any disclosure such Party or their respective Affiliates reasonably believe is required pursuant to applicable Law. (d) Subject to this Section 5.20(d) or as otherwise permitted by this Agreement, Seller shall not, and shall cause its Affiliates not to, at any time disclose or use any Confidential Information relating to the Business of which Seller or its Affiliates is or becomes aware. Seller shall take all commercially reasonable steps to safeguard Confidential Information relating to the Business and to protect it against disclosure, misuse, espionage, loss and theft. In the event Seller or any of its Affiliates is required by Law to disclose any Confidential Information relating to the Business, Seller shall, to the extent legally permissible, promptly notify Purchaser in writing, which notification shall include the nature of the legal requirement and the extent of the required disclosure, and Seller shall reasonably cooperate with Purchaser, at Purchaser's sole cost and expense, to preserve the confidentiality of such information consistent with applicable Law. The
foregoing shall not, however, prohibit disclosure by any Person of Confidential Information relating to the Business that (i) has been published in a form generally available to the public other than as a result of Seller's or any of Seller's Affiliates' acts or omissions to act prior to the date such Person proposes to disclose such information or (ii) is required to be disclosed pursuant to any applicable Law or court order. (e) During the Restricted Period, Seller shall not, and Seller shall cause its Affiliates not to, directly or indirectly, call on, solicit, or induce, or attempt to solicit or induce, any contractor, service provider, vendor, agent, client, customer, supplier, licensor or other business relation of the Business for the purpose of causing, or that would reasonably be expected to cause, any thereof to modify or terminate their relationship (contractual or otherwise) with the Transferred Entities (in whole or in part), or to refrain from entering into a relationship (contractual or otherwise) with the Transferred Entities, or otherwise materially interfere with any such relationship with the Transferred Entities. (f) For purposes of this Section 5.20, (i) the "Business" means the Business as conducted by the Transferred Entities on the Closing Date, and (ii) "Affiliates" shall not include any actual or potential acquiror of Seller or any of its Affiliates ("Acquiror") (provided that the acquisition of Seller or its Affiliates shall not limit the applicability of the restrictive covenants herein to Seller or its Affiliates; provided, further, that it shall be deemed a breach of this Section 5.20 if such Acquiror takes any action for the benefit of Seller or its Affiliates that, if such action were taken by Seller or its Affiliates, would constitute a breach of this Section 5.20).



 

90 (g) Nothing in this Section 5.20 shall prevent Seller or its Affiliates from: (i) acquiring, or owning a passive investment of less than 5% of the issued and outstanding securities or interests convertible into securities in a business or enterprise engaged in, or that competes with, the Business, so long as Seller and its Affiliates have no active participation in the business or management of such business or enterprise; (ii) acquiring or owning an investment in any business or enterprise that is engaged in, or that competes with, the Business, provided that if the gross revenues of such business or enterprise from operations that are competitive with the Business (1) exceed or are expected to exceed (x) 10% of the overall gross revenues of such business or enterprise or (y) $50,000,000 or (2) increase during Seller's or its applicable Affiliate's ownership to (x) exceed 10% of the overall gross revenues of such business or enterprise or (y) $50,000,000 (the "Competitive Operations"), Seller or its applicable Affiliate shall sell, divest or otherwise dispose of the portion of such business within 12 months of acquiring such business; or (iii) conducting any Retained Business as conducted by Seller or its Affiliates on or prior to the Closing Date. (h) The Parties acknowledge that any breach or threatened breach of this Section 5.20 would give rise to irreparable harm to the other Party, for which monetary damages would not be an adequate remedy, and hereby agree that in the event of a breach by the other Party or any of their respective Affiliates of any such obligations, the non-breaching Party shall, in addition to any and all other rights and remedies that may be available to it in respect of such breach or threatened breach, be entitled to equitable relief, including a temporary restraining order, an injunction, specific performance and any other relief that may be available from a court of competent jurisdiction in order to enforce or prevent any violations of threatened
violations of the applicable provisions of this Section 5.20 (including any extension of the Restricted Period by a period equal to the length of the court proceedings necessary to stop such violation). Any injunction shall be available without necessity of proving damages or any requirement for posting of any bond or other security. In the event of a Proceeding initiated by a Party against the other Party that alleges breach or violation by such Party of Section 5.20, the Restricted Period will be tolled until such alleged breach or violation is resolved; provided, that if such Party is found to have not breached or violated the applicable provisions of this Section 5.20, then the Restricted Period will not be deemed to have been so tolled. (i) Seller hereby acknowledges that (i) it is familiar with the trade secrets and other Confidential Information of the Transferred Entities and the Business, the value of such trade secrets and Confidential Information arises in part from the fact that such information is not generally known in the marketplace and such trade secrets and Confidential Information will have continuing vitality throughout and beyond the Restricted Period and Seller acknowledges and agrees that Purchaser and its Affiliates (including, post-Closing, the Transferred Entities) would be irreparably damaged if it were to disclose such information or provide services to or otherwise participate in the business of any Person competing with the Business and that any such disclosure or competition by Seller or its Affiliates would result in a significant loss of goodwill by Purchaser and its Affiliates (including, post-Closing, the Transferred Entities) for which money damages



 

91 would be an insufficient remedy. The Parties acknowledge that the restrictions contained in this Section 5.20 are reasonable and necessary to protect the legitimate interests of the Parties and constitute a material inducement to the Parties to enter into this Agreement and consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. In the event that any covenant contained in this Section 5.20 should ever be adjudicated to exceed the time, geographic, product or service or other limitations permitted by applicable Law in any jurisdiction, then any court is expressly empowered to reform such covenant, and such covenant shall be deemed reformed, in such jurisdiction to the maximum time, geographic, product or service or other limitations permitted by applicable Law. The Parties have consulted with legal counsel regarding the covenants in this Section 5.20 (the "Restrictive Covenants") and based on such consultation have determined and hereby acknowledge that the Restrictive Covenants are reasonable in terms of duration, scope and area restrictions and are necessary to protect the legitimate interests of the Parties and the goodwill of the Transferred Entities and the Business and the substantial investment in the Transferred Entities and the Business made by Purchaser hereunder. Seller further acknowledges and agrees that the Restrictive Covenants are being entered into by it in connection with the sale of the Transferred Entities and the Business owned by Seller and the goodwill of the Transferred Entities and the Business pursuant to this Agreement and not directly or indirectly in connection with Seller's relationship with the Transferred Entities and the Business. The covenants contained in this Section 5.20 and each provision hereof are severable and distinct covenants and provisions. The invalidity or unenforceability of any such covenant or provision as written shall not invalidate or render unenforceable the remaining covenants or provisions
hereof, and any such invalidity or unenforceability in any jurisdiction shall not invalidate or render unenforceable such covenant or provision in any other jurisdiction. If, at the time of enforcement of any of the provisions of this Section 5.20, a court of competent jurisdiction determines that the restrictions stated herein are unreasonable under the circumstances then existing, then the maximum period, scope or geographical area reasonable under the circumstances shall be substituted for the stated period, scope or geographical area permitted by law, as determined by such court. Neither Party shall, in any Proceeding to enforce any of the provisions of this Section 5.20, assert the claim or defense that an adequate remedy at law exists or that this Section 5.20 is unreasonable or otherwise not enforceable in accordance with its terms. Section 5.21 Insurance. As of the Closing Date, the coverage under all Policies shall cease with respect to any acts, events, facts, circumstances, matters, incidents or omissions involving the Transferred Entities or the Business that occur on or after the Closing Date (including, for "claims-made" policies only, any matters that have not been the subject of a notice of claim or circumstance prior to the Closing Date) (the "Post-Closing Insurance Matters"). Purchaser shall arrange for coverage under its own insurance policies covering all periods from and after the Closing Date and shall not seek, through any means, to benefit from any Policies with respect to any Post-Closing Insurance Matters. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in respect of any coverages under "occurrence" based third party Policies, or, in respect of any coverages under "claims made" based third party Policies for any matters that have been the subject of a notice of claim or circumstance prior to the Closing Date, with respect to Existing Claims or otherwise, upon the written request of Purchaser, from and after the Closing Date, Seller shall use its commercially

reasonable efforts to assist Purchaser and the Transferred Entities, at Purchaser's sole cost and expense (except as otherwise provided herein), in processing any claims with respect to any acts, events, facts, circumstances, matters, incidents or omissions involving the Transferred Entities or the Business that occurred prior to the Closing Date (together with the Existing Claims,



 

92 the "Pre-Closing Insurance Matters") to the extent permitted under the applicable Policy. Purchaser shall (and shall cause its Affiliates to) reasonably cooperate with Seller in connection with (a) any insurance claim reported prior to the Closing Date involving the Transferred Entities or the Business made under a "claims made" Policy, and (b) any insurance claim (including a Pre- Closing Insurance Matter) involving the Transferred Entities or the Business under an "occurrence" based Policy that relates to an act, event, fact, circumstance, matter, incident or omission that occurred prior to the Closing Date, including, in each case, by making available to Seller, during normal business hours and upon reasonable advance notice, all information and personnel of the Transferred Entities reasonably requested by Seller that is required to process and manage such claims. At the Closing, Seller shall deliver in writing to Purchaser a summary of each pending claim, solely to the extent such claims relate to a Transferred Entity, made under Seller's "claims made" or "occurrence" based third party Policies (collectively, the "Existing Claims"). In the event of a qualifying claim with respect to any Pre-Closing Insurance Matters under any such third-party Policies, Purchaser and the Transferred Entities shall be responsible for the amounts specified in Section 5.21 of the Disclosure Schedules, per occurrence, of any deductible or self- insured retention under the terms of the applicable Policy including reasonable and documented out-of-pocket costs and expenses (including reasonable attorneys' fees) incurred by Seller or any of its Affiliates in connection with any such claim and the processing thereof, and Purchaser shall, or shall cause its applicable Affiliates to, reimburse Seller, as soon as practicable, but in any event within 10 Business Days of receipt from Seller of an invoice with respect to such deductible or self-insured retention amounts (with accompanying
evidence such deductible or self-insured retention amounts have been actually paid by Seller) incurred by Seller or any of its Affiliates on behalf of Purchaser or its Affiliates in connection with any such claim and the processing thereof. Other than as set forth in this Section 5.21, from and after the Closing Date, Seller shall have no duties with regard to insurance for the Transferred Entities. ARTICLE VI CERTAIN TAX MATTERS Section 6.1 Cooperation and Exchange of Information. (a) From and after the Closing, each Party shall, and shall cause its Affiliates to, provide to the other Party such cooperation, documentation and information relating to the Business as either of them may reasonably request in (i) filing or amending any Tax Return or claiming a refund (including any Tax Return or refund related to the Cash Repatriation Actions or Taxes described in clause (b)(ii) of the definition of Cash Amounts), (ii) determining a Liability for Taxes or a right to refund of Taxes, (iii) conducting any Tax Proceeding or (iv) making any Tax Election. Subject to Section 6.1(b), such cooperation and information shall include providing copies of all relevant portions of relevant Tax Returns, together with all relevant portions of relevant accompanying schedules and relevant work papers, relevant documents relating to rulings or other determinations by Taxing Authorities and relevant records concerning the ownership and Tax basis of property and other information, which any party hereto (or any of their respective Affiliates) may possess, with respect to any Transferred Entity. (b) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, neither Purchaser nor any of its Affiliates will be entitled to review any income Tax Return of Seller or any of Seller's respective Affiliates (other than the Tax Returns that relate solely to any of the Transferred Entities



 

93 to the extent not included in a consolidated, combined, unitary or similar group Tax Return with an Affiliate of Seller that is not a Transferred Entity) or any work papers related thereto. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Seller shall (and shall cause its Affiliates to) reasonably cooperate with requests from Purchaser or its Affiliates for Tax-related information that may be included in such Tax Returns that is reasonably requested by Purchaser or its Affiliates in connection with Purchaser's acquisition of the Transferred Entities. (c) Each Party shall retain all Tax Returns, schedules and work papers and all material records and other documents relating to Tax matters of the Transferred Entities for their respective Tax periods ending on or prior to the Closing Date until the later of (i) the expiration of the statute of limitations for the Tax periods to which the Tax Returns and other documents relate or (ii) eight years following the due date (without extension) for such Tax Returns. Thereafter, the Party holding such Tax Returns or other documents may dispose of them after offering the other Party reasonable notice and opportunity to take possession of such Tax Returns and other documents at such other Party's own expense. (d) Purchaser and Seller agree that any refunds for Taxes related to the Cash Repatriation Actions or described in clause (b)(ii) of the definition of Cash Amounts shall be for the benefit of Seller. Within five calendar days after receipt of such refund by Purchaser or any Transferred Entity after the Closing Date, Purchaser shall pay to Seller an amount equal to such refund by wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account designated in writing by Seller to Purchaser, net of (A) any Taxes that are incurred or will be incurred on the receipt of such refund and (B) all out-of-pocket costs of Purchaser and any Transferred Entity attributable to such refund. Purchaser and Seller further agree that any such refund amount shall not be included in
the calculation of Working Capital or Accrued Income Tax Liability pursuant to this Agreement. Except with respect to Purchaser's obligations pursuant to Section 6.1(a) and this Section 6.1(d), nothing in this Agreement shall require Purchaser to take any actions with respect to Cash Repatriation Actions. In the event that any Governmental Entity disallows any such refund and requires Purchaser or any Transferred Entity to repay such refund, Seller shall repay to Purchaser or any Transferred Entity the amount paid over pursuant to this Section 6.1(d) (plus any penalties, interest or other charges imposed by the applicable Governmental Entity) promptly upon the request of Purchaser accompanied by documentary evidence of disallowance of any such refund by the applicable Governmental Entity. (e) If, within the first anniversary of the Closing Date, the Purchaser or any of its Affiliates receives a refund of Income Taxes for or with respect to Omnia S.r.l. with respect to any Pre-Closing Tax Period (any such refund, a "Tax Refund"), then the Purchaser shall, within ten (10) days of receiving such Tax Refund pay, or cause to be paid, the amount of such Tax Refund (up to a maximum of $250,000), net of any reasonable out-of-pocket expenses or Taxes incurred in connection with receiving such Tax Refund, to the Seller; provided that the definition of Tax Refund will exclude (a) any Tax Refunds resulting from the carryback of a net operating loss from a Post-Closing Tax Period and (b) any Tax Refunds to the extent specifically included in the final calculation of the purchase price pursuant to this Agreement. In the event that any Governmental Entity disallows any such Tax Refunds and requires the Purchaser or any of its Affiliates to repay such Tax Refund, the Seller shall repay, or cause to be repaid, to the Purchaser or any of its Affiliates the amount paid over pursuant to this Section 6.1(e) (plus any penalties, interest or other charges imposed by the

Governmental Entity) promptly upon the request of the Purchaser.



 

94 Section 6.2 Transfer Taxes. Each amount stated as payable by Purchaser under or pursuant to this Agreement is exclusive of Transfer Taxes. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, any and all Transfer Taxes related to any transaction contemplated by this Agreement shall be borne and paid by Seller and Purchaser in equal shares. The Party (or its Affiliates) responsible under applicable Law for filing the Tax Returns with respect to any such Transfer Taxes shall prepare and timely file such Tax Returns and promptly provide a copy of each such Tax Return to the other Party. To the extent the Party filing a Tax Return pursuant to this Section 6.2 remits the full amount of Transfer Taxes due with such Tax Return, the other Party shall promptly reimburse such Party for its share of Transfer Taxes. Seller and Purchaser shall, and shall cause their respective Affiliates to, cooperate to timely prepare and file any Tax Returns or other filings relating to such Transfer Taxes, including any claim for exemption or exclusion from the application or imposition of any Transfer Taxes. For the avoidance of doubt, any foreign Taxes imposed with respect to Seller's (or its Affiliates) gain or receipts from the sale of foreign subsidiaries shall be charged in its entirety to Seller (or its Affiliates) and not borne on an equal basis with Purchaser, even if such Taxes are enforced by means of a withholding requirement imposed on Purchaser. Section 6.3 Tax Sharing Agreements. On or before the Closing Date, the rights and obligations of the Transferred Entities pursuant to all Tax sharing agreements or arrangements (other than this Agreement), if any, to which any of the Transferred Entities, on the one hand, and Seller or any of its Affiliates, on the other hand, are parties, shall terminate, and neither Seller nor any of its Affiliates, on the one hand, nor any of the Transferred Entities, on the other hand, shall have any rights or obligations to each other after the
Closing in respect of such agreements or arrangements. Section 6.4 Tax Treatment of Payments. Except to the extent otherwise required pursuant to a "determination" (within the meaning of Section 1313(a) of the Code or any similar provision of state, local or non-U.S. Law), Seller, Purchaser and their respective Affiliates shall treat any and all payments under Section 2.4 as an adjustment to the Total Purchase Price for Tax purposes. Section 6.5 Elections and Post-Closing Actions. (a) Subject to Section 6.5(b), Section 6.5(c) and Section 6.5(d), Purchaser shall not (i) make, and shall cause its Affiliates (including the Transferred Entities) not to make, any election with respect to any Transferred Entity (including any entity classification election pursuant to Treasury Regulations Section 301.7701-3), or change any method of Tax accounting or any Tax accounting period of any Transferred Entity, which election or change would be effective on or prior to the Closing Date, (ii) take, and shall cause its Affiliates (including the Transferred Entities) not to take, any action or engage in any transaction that would reasonably be expected to increase any Tax liability required to be reflected as a reserve or Liability in Closing Working Capital, Closing Indebtedness or Closing Transaction Expenses, in each case, taking into account any adjustments under Section 2.4 (or otherwise require any Tax liability to be reflected as a reserve or Liability in Closing Working Capital, Closing Indebtedness or Closing Transaction Expenses, in each case, taking into account any adjustments under Section 2.4, that would not otherwise be required to be so reflected), (iii) take, and shall cause its Affiliates (including the Transferred Entities) not to take, any action or engage in any transaction outside the ordinary course of business



 

95 after the Closing to the extent such action or transaction could reasonably be expected to cause any Taxes of the Transferred Entities (or with respect to earnings of the Transferred Entities) to be allocated from any Post-Closing Tax Period to any Pre-Closing Tax Period, (iv) take any action on the Closing Date after the Closing outside the ordinary course of business with respect to the Business or the Transferred Entities, or (v) voluntarily approach a Taxing Authority regarding Taxes of the Transferred Entities for any Tax period (or portion thereof) ending on or prior to the Closing Date, in each case, if such action could reasonably be expected to result in Seller or any of its Affiliates incurring a Liability for Taxes that would not otherwise be so incurred or would impact the amount that Seller is entitled to receive pursuant to Section 2.4. (b) Seller and Purchaser (or its relevant Affiliate) shall join in making a timely and irrevocable election under Section 338(h)(10) of the Code (and any corresponding elections under applicable state or local Law) with respect to the acquisition of the Section 338(h)(10) Transferred Entities pursuant to this Agreement (collectively, the "Section 338(h)(10) Elections"). Neither Seller nor Purchaser shall (and each shall cause its Affiliates not to) take or agree to take any action that would prevent or impede, or could reasonably be expected to prevent or impede, the making of any of the Section 338(h)(10) Elections. Seller and Purchaser shall (and shall cause their relevant Affiliates to) cooperate in the preparation of all forms, attachments, and schedules necessary to effectuate any Section 338(h)(10) Elections, including IRS Forms 8023 and 8883 and any similar forms under applicable state and local income Tax Laws (collectively, the "Section 338(h)(10) Forms") in a manner consistent with the Allocation Schedule and any Allocation. Seller and Purchaser shall (or shall cause their relevant Affiliates to) timely file such Section
338(h)(10) Forms with the applicable Taxing Authorities. Seller and Purchaser agree that neither of them shall, or shall permit any of their respective Affiliates to, revoke any Section 338(h)(10) Election following the filing of the relevant Section 338(h)(10) Forms without the prior mutual written consent of Seller and Purchaser (in each case, not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed). Prior to the Closing, Seller and Purchaser shall agree on the form and content of, and at the Closing, Seller and Purchaser shall each deliver to the other party duly executed Section 338(h)(10) Elections and Section 338(h)(10) Forms. (c) Purchaser shall make (and shall cause its relevant Affiliates to make) an election under Section 338(g) of the Code (and any corresponding elections under applicable state or local Law) with respect to the acquisition of any Section 338(g) Eligible Subsidiary (the "Section 338(g) Elections"). Neither Seller nor Purchaser shall (and each shall cause its Affiliates not to) take or agree to take any action that would prevent or impede, or could reasonably be expected to prevent or impede, the making of any of the Section 338(g) Elections. Seller and Purchaser shall (and shall cause their relevant Affiliates to) cooperate in the preparation of all forms, attachments, and schedules necessary to effectuate any Section 338(g) Elections, including IRS Forms 8023 and 8883 and any similar forms under applicable state and local income Tax Laws (collectively, the "Section 338(g) Forms," and together with Section 338(h)(10) Forms, the "Section 338 Forms") in a manner consistent with the Allocation Schedule and any Allocation. Promptly following the making of any Section 338(g) Election, Purchaser shall deliver to Seller a copy of IRS Form 8023 with respect to such Section 338(g) Election. Seller and Purchaser agree that neither of them shall, or shall permit any of their Affiliates to, revoke any Section 338(g) Election following the filing o

the relevant Section 338(g) Forms without the prior mutual written consent of Seller and Purchaser.



 

96 (d) Seller may make (and may cause its relevant Affiliates to make) an election pursuant to Treasury Regulations Section 1.245A-5(e)(3)(i) (and any corresponding elections under applicable state or local Law) with respect to any Transferred Entity for which such an election is available (such entities for which the election is made, the "Section 245A Subsidiaries" and such elections, the "Section 245A Elections" and the Section 245A Elections, together with the Section 338(h)(10) Elections and the Section 338(g) Elections, the "Tax Elections"). Purchaser shall cooperate in good faith with Seller with respect to the making of any Section 245A Elections, including by entering into, and otherwise with respect to, any binding agreements required by Treasury Regulations Section 1.245A-5(e)(3)(i)(C)(2). (e) Seller and Purchaser shall (and shall cause their respective Affiliates to) (i) prepare and file all federal, state, and local Tax Returns in a manner consistent with any Tax Elections and (ii) not take any position for U.S. federal (or other applicable state or local) income Tax purposes inconsistent therewith on any Tax Return, in connection with any Tax Proceeding or otherwise, in each case, except to the extent otherwise required pursuant to a "determination" within the meaning of Section 1313(a) of the Code (or any analogous provision of state, local or non-U.S. Law). (f) With respect to any of the Transferred Entities that is characterized as a foreign corporation for U.S. federal income Tax purposes (other than any Section 338(g) Subsidiary or any Section 245A Subsidiary), from the Closing Date through the end of the taxable period of such entity that includes the Closing Date, Purchaser shall not, and shall cause its Affiliates (including the Transferred Entities) not to, (i) take any action outside the ordinary course of business that could reasonably be expected to increase Seller's (or any of its Affiliates') pro rata share of amounts determined under Section
951(a)(1) or 951A(a) of the Code or (ii) enter into any extraordinary transaction with respect to such Transferred Entities or otherwise take any action or enter into any transaction that would be considered under the Code to constitute the payment of an actual or deemed dividend by such Transferred Entity, including pursuant to Section 304 of the Code, or that would otherwise result in a diminution of foreign Tax credits that, absent such transaction, may be claimed by Seller or any of its Affiliates or a change in the application of Section 245A of the Code to Seller or any of its Affiliates as compared with such application absent such action or transaction. Section 6.6 Tax Returns. (a) All Tax Returns of the Transferred Entities required to be filed for a Pre-Closing Tax Period that is not included in a Straddle Period and that are not described in Section 6.6(c) and due after the Closing Date will be prepared (or will be caused to be prepared) by Seller prior to the due date (after taking into account timely filed extensions) in accordance with all applicable Laws. Seller shall provide a copy of each such income Tax Return and material non-income Tax Return to Purchaser for review, comment and consent no later than 30 calendar days prior to the due date thereof (or within such other reasonable time as may be applicable if the due date for filing any such Tax Return is within 30 calendar days following the Closing Date). Purchaser shall deliver its comments, if any, to any such Tax Return to Seller no later than 10 calendar days prior to the due date of such Tax Return (or within such other reasonable time as may be applicable if the due date for filing any such Tax Return is within 30 calendar days following the Closing Date), and Seller shall consider in good faith all reasonable written comments of Purchaser with respect to such Tax Returns prior to the due date for filing such Tax Returns, and subject to the following



 

97 provisions, shall obtain Purchaser's written consent to such Tax Returns, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. Seller and Purchaser will endeavor in good faith to resolve any disputes with respect to such Tax Return. Any unresolved disputes regarding any such Tax Returns will be resolved by the Independent Accounting Firm in substantial accordance with the procedures set forth in Section 2.4(d) applied mutatis mutandis (including the provisions set forth therein for the sharing of costs). In the event the Independent Accounting Firm does not resolve all disputed issues prior to the due date for such Tax Return, then such Tax Return shall be filed as previously prepared by Seller, but reflect any changes agreed to by Purchaser and Seller and any final resolutions by the Independent Accounting Firm of disputed issues, and shall subsequently be amended to reflect further resolution of the disputed issues by the Independent Accounting Firm. Purchaser shall timely file all Tax Returns prepared by Seller pursuant to this Section 6.6(a). (b) Except as otherwise provided in Section 6.6(c), all Tax Returns of the Transferred Entities for any Straddle Period will be prepared and filed (or will be caused to be prepared and filed) by Purchaser when due (after taking into account timely filed extensions) in accordance with all applicable Laws. Purchaser shall provide a copy of each such income Tax Return and material non-income Tax Return to Seller for its review, comment and consent at least 30 calendar days prior to the due date thereof (or within such other reasonable time as may be applicable if the due date for filing any such Tax Return is within 30 calendar days following the Closing Date). Seller shall deliver its comments, if any, to any such Tax Return to Purchaser no later than 10 calendar days prior to the due date of such Tax Return (or within such other reasonable time as may be applicable if the due date for filing any
such Tax Return is within 30 calendar days following the Closing Date), and Purchaser shall accept all reasonable written comments of Seller with respect to such Tax Returns prior to filing such Tax Returns, and subject to the following provisions, shall obtain Seller's written consent to such Tax Returns, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. Any unresolved disputes regarding any such Tax Returns will be resolved by the Independent Accounting Firm in substantial accordance with the procedures set forth in Section 2.4(d) applied mutatis mutandis (including the provisions set forth therein for the sharing of costs). In the event the Independent Accounting Firm does not resolve all disputed issues prior to the due date for such Tax Return, then such Tax Return shall be filed as previously prepared by Purchaser, but reflect any changes agreed to by Purchaser and Seller and any final resolutions by the Independent Accounting Firm of disputed issues, and shall subsequently be amended to reflect further resolution of the disputed issues by the Independent Accounting Firm. Purchaser shall timely file all Tax Returns prepared by Purchaser pursuant to this Section 6.6(b). (c) All consolidated, combined, unitary or other similar group Tax Returns that include any of the Transferred Entities, on the one hand, and Seller or any of its Affiliates (other than the Transferred Entities), on the other hand, for any Straddle Period will be prepared (or will be caused to be prepared) by Seller prior to the due date (after taking into account timely filed extensions) in accordance with all applicable Laws. Seller shall provide only a pro-forma schedule of the portion of such Tax Return that pertains to the Transferred Entities included in such Tax Return, to Purchaser for review no later than 30 calendar days prior to the due date thereof (or within such other reasonable time as may be applicable if the due date for filing any such Tax Return is within

30 calendar days following the Closing Date). Purchaser shall deliver its comments, if any, to any such pro-forma schedules to Seller no later than 10 calendar days prior to the due date of such Tax Return (or within such other reasonable time as may be applicable if the due date for filing any



 

98 such Tax Return is within thirty 30 calendar days following the Closing Date), and Seller shall consider in good faith all reasonable written comments of Purchaser with respect to such pro-forma schedules prior to the due date for filing such Tax Returns. Seller shall timely file all Tax Returns prepared by Seller pursuant to this Section 6.6(c). (d) In order to apportion any Taxes relating to a Straddle Period, the portion of any Taxes that are allocable to the portion of the Straddle Period ending on the Closing Date shall be: (i) in the case of Taxes that are imposed on a periodic basis (e.g., real and personal property Taxes and similar Taxes that are not based on invoices, receipts, sales or payments), deemed to be the amount of such Taxes for the entire period multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of calendar days in the Straddle Period ending on (and including) the Closing Date and the denominator of which is the number of calendar days in the entire relevant Straddle Period, and (ii) in the case of Taxes not described in clause (i) above (including Income Taxes and other Taxes based upon sale, gross receipts, payroll, or withholding), deemed equal to the amount that would be payable if the taxable year or period ended and the books closed at the close of the Closing Date (and for such purpose, the taxable period of any entity that is a partnership or other pass-through entity in which any Transferred Entity holds interests or any Transferred Entity that is a partnership or other pass-through entity or a controlled foreign corporation within the meaning of Section 957 of the Code shall be deemed to terminate at such time); provided, that, exemptions, allowances or deductions that are calculated on an annual basis shall be allocated between the period ending on and including the Closing Date and the period beginning after the Closing Date in proportion to the number of days in each period (but any items attributable to property placed in
service after the Closing Date shall be allocated to the portion of the Straddle Period beginning after the Closing Date). (e) Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, the Parties agree that any and all Transaction Tax Deductions shall be treated as allocable to the Pre-Closing Tax Period (or a portion thereof) of Seller or any of its Affiliates (including the Transferred Entities prior to the Closing), as may be applicable, to the extent deductible in such period (or a portion thereof) at a "more likely than not" (or higher) level of comfort. ARTICLE VII CONDITIONS PRECEDENT Section 7.1 Conditions to Each Party's Obligations to Close. The respective obligations of Seller and Purchaser to effect the Closing are subject to the satisfaction or (to the extent permitted by Law) waiver in writing by each of Seller and Purchaser at or prior to the Closing of the following conditions: (a) Regulatory Approvals. (i) The waiting period applicable to the consummation of the Transaction under the HSR Act shall have expired or been earlier terminated, and (ii) all Regulatory Approvals set forth on Section 7.1(a) of the Disclosure Schedules shall have been obtained; and (b) No Injunctions or Restraints. No Law shall be in effect or Judgment issued by any Governmental Entity of competent jurisdiction shall have been entered and remain in effect which prevents the consummation of the Closing, nor shall there be any pending lawsuit filed by any



 

99 Governmental Entity seeking to enjoin or prevent the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby. Section 7.2 Conditions to Obligations of Purchaser to Close. The obligation of Purchaser to effect the Closing is subject to the satisfaction (or waiver in writing by Purchaser) at or prior to the Closing of the following additional conditions: (a) Representations and Warranties. The representations and warranties of Seller contained in Article III (other than the Seller Fundamental Representations and Section 3.8 (Title to and Sufficiency of Assets)) shall be true and correct as of the Closing Date as if made on and as of the Closing Date, except (i) that representations and warranties contained in Article III (other than the Seller Fundamental Representations and Section 3.8 (Title to and Sufficiency of Assets)) that are made as of a specific date shall be tested only on and as of such date and (ii) where the failure of such representations and warranties to be true and correct (without giving regard to any materiality or "Business Material Adverse Effect" qualifications set forth therein) would not have a Business Material Adverse Effect. The Seller Fundamental Representations shall be true and correct in all but de minimis respects (except with respect to Sections 3.2 and 3.3, which shall be true and correct in all respects) as of the Closing Date as if made on and as of the Closing Date (or, in the case of representations and warranties that are made as of a specific date, as of such date). The representations and warranties of Seller in Section 3.8 (Title to and Sufficiency of Assets) shall be true and correct in all material respects as of the Closing Date as if made on and as of the Closing Date; (b) Performance of Obligations of Seller. The covenants and agreements of Seller to be performed or complied with on or before the Closing Date in accordance with this Agreement shall have been performed or complied with in all material respects; (c) Business Material
Adverse Effect. No Business Material Adverse Effect shall have occurred since the date of this Agreement; and (d) Officer's Certificate. Purchaser shall have received a certificate, dated as of the Closing Date and signed by a duly authorized executive officer of Seller, certifying that the conditions specified in Section 7.2(a), Section 7.2(b) and Section 7.2(c) have been satisfied. Section 7.3 Conditions to Obligations of Seller to Close. The obligation of Seller to effect the Closing is subject to the satisfaction (or waiver in writing by Seller) at or prior to the Closing of the following additional conditions: (a) Representations and Warranties. The representations and warranties of Purchaser contained in Article IV shall be true and correct as of the Closing Date as if made on and as of the Closing Date (or, in the case of representations and warranties that are made as of a specific date, as of such date), except where the failure of such representations and warranties to be true and correct (without giving regard to any materiality qualifications set forth therein) would not reasonably be expected to, individually or in the aggregate, prevent or materially impair the ability of Purchaser to consummate the Transaction and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement;



 

100 (b) Performance of Obligations of Purchaser. The covenants and agreements of Purchaser to be performed or complied with on or before the Closing Date in accordance with this Agreement shall have been performed and complied with in all material respects; and (c) Officer's Certificate. Seller shall have received a certificate, dated as of the Closing Date and signed by an officer of Purchaser, certifying that the conditions specified in Section 7.3(a) and Section 7.3(b) have been satisfied. ARTICLE VIII TERMINATION; EFFECT OF TERMINATION Section 8.1 Termination. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, this Agreement may be terminated and the Transaction and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement abandoned at any time prior to the Closing: (a) by mutual written consent of Seller and Purchaser; (b) by Seller by written notice to Purchaser, if any of Purchaser's representations and warranties contained in Article IV shall fail to be true and correct or Purchaser shall have breached or failed to perform in any respect any of its covenants or other agreements contained in this Agreement, and such failure or breach would give rise to the failure of a condition set forth in Section 7.3(a) or Section 7.3(b) and has not been cured by the earlier of (i) the date that is 30 days after the date that Seller has notified Purchaser in writing of such failure or breach and (ii) the Outside Date; provided that Seller is not then in breach of any of its representations, warranties, covenants or agreements contained in this Agreement such that the conditions set forth in Section 7.2(a) or Section 7.2(b) would fail to be satisfied; (c) by Purchaser by written notice to Seller, if any of Seller's representations and warranties contained in Article III shall fail to be true and correct or Seller shall have breached or failed to perform in any respect any of its covenants or other agreements contained in this Agreement, and such failure or breach would
give rise to the failure of a condition set forth in Section 7.2(a) or Section 7.2(b) and has not been cured by the earlier of (i) the date that is 30 days after the date that Purchaser has notified Seller in writing of such failure or breach and (ii) the Outside Date; provided that Purchaser is not then in breach of any of its representations, warranties, covenants or agreements contained in this Agreement such that the conditions set forth in Section 7.3(a) or Section 7.3(b) would fail to be satisfied; (d) by Seller or by Purchaser, by written notice to the other Party, if the Closing shall not have occurred on or prior to July 10, 2024; provided that if any of the conditions set forth in Section 7.1 have not been satisfied by such date, then either Seller or Purchaser may extend such date to August 10, 2024, (such date, as may be so extended in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, the "Outside Date"); provided, further, that the right to terminate this Agreement under this Section 8.1(d) shall not be available to any Party whose failure to perform any covenant or obligation under this Agreement has been the primary cause of, or primarily resulted in, the failure of the Closing to occur on or before such date; (e) by Seller or by Purchaser, by written notice to the other Party, if any Governmental Entity shall have issued a Judgment pursuant to the Regulatory Approvals set forth on Section



 

101 7.1(a) of the Disclosure Schedules, and such Judgment shall have become final and nonappealable; provided that the Party seeking to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 8.1(e) shall have complied with its obligations under Section 5.1 to obtain such Approval, or to prevent the entry of such final and nonappealable Judgment, to the extent required by Section 5.1; or (f) by Seller, by written notice to Purchaser, if: (i) all of the conditions to Closing have been satisfied or waived (other than those conditions that by their nature only can be satisfied or waived at Closing; provided that each such condition is then capable of and would be satisfied or waived assuming a Closing would occur at such time); (ii) Purchaser fails to consummate the Closing on or before the date on which the Closing should have occurred pursuant to Section 2.2; (iii) Seller has delivered to Purchaser a written certificate irrevocably certifying that (A) as of the date the Closing was required to occur pursuant to Section 2.2, all of the conditions set forth in Section 7.1 and Section 7.3 were satisfied or waived (other than those conditions that by their nature only can be satisfied or waived at Closing; provided that each such condition would be satisfied or waived assuming a Closing would occur at such time), and all such conditions remain satisfied as of the date of such certification and will remain satisfied as of the date of the Closing, or that Seller is irrevocably waiving any unsatisfied conditions set forth in Section 7.1 and Section 7.3 and (B) as of the date the Closing was required to occur pursuant to Section 2.2, Seller was ready, willing and able, and continues to be ready, willing and able, to consummate the Closing; and (iv) the Closing shall have not been consummated within three Business Days after the delivery of such certificate. Section 8.2 Effect of Termination. (a) If this Agreement is terminated pursuant to Section 8.1, this Agreement shall become null and void
and of no further force and effect, except that Section 5.3, Section 5.14(a)(viii), Section 5.14(c), Section 8.1, this Section 8.2 and Article IX will survive the termination hereof. Nothing in this Section 8.2 shall be deemed to release (i) any Party from any liability for Fraud, (ii) Seller from any liability for Willful Breach by Seller of the terms and provisions of this Agreement or (iii) Purchaser of any liability to pay the Reverse Termination Fee (if required to be paid pursuant to Section 8.2(b)). (b) In the event that this Agreement is validly terminated pursuant to Section 8.1(b) or Section 8.1(f), then Purchaser shall pay or cause to be paid to Seller (or its designee) (i) an aggregate termination fee of $35,000,000 (the "Reverse Termination Fee") plus (ii) all other fees, amounts and Losses payable by Purchaser or its Affiliates to Seller and its Affiliates pursuant to Section 5.14(a)(viii), within five Business Days of the date of such termination by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the account designated by Seller. Payment of the Reverse Termination Fee, if, as and when required to be paid in accordance with this Section 8.2, shall constitute liquidated damages and not a penalty. (c) Without limiting the second sentence of Section 8.2(a) or the rights or obligations under Section 9.9 following the valid termination of this Agreement: (i) the sole and exclusive remedy of Seller, the Transferred Entities and their respective current, former or future Affiliates and any of their respective direct or indirect Affiliates, equityholders, partners, managers, members, controlling persons, officers,



 

102 directors, employees, agents, Representatives, successors or assignees (collectively, the "Releasing Parties") against Purchaser, the Equity Investors, the Lenders, any of their respective Affiliates or any of their respective current, former or future direct or indirect affiliates, equityholders, partners, managers, members, controlling persons, officers, directors, employees, agents, Representatives, successors or assignees (collectively, the "Released Parties") for any and all liabilities, damages, costs, obligations or expenses suffered or incurred by any Releasing Party based upon, resulting from, arising out of or in connection with this Agreement, the Transaction Documents and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, including the termination of this Agreement, the failure to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby or any breach of any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement in this Agreement or any other Transaction Document or circumstances giving rise to such breach or termination, in each case, under any legal theory, whether sounding in law (including tort or otherwise) or in equity, shall be to terminate this Agreement and, solely to the extent payable in accordance herewith, receive payment of the Reverse Termination Fee; (ii) the Releasing Parties shall not be entitled to commence or pursue any Proceeding against the Released Parties arising out of or in connection with this Agreement or the other Transaction Documents, or the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby (including the failure to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby), other than a Proceeding against Purchaser under this Agreement or the Equity Investors under the Guarantee on the terms hereof and thereof to enforce the payment of the Reverse Termination Fee pursuant to this Agreement or the Guarantee; and (iii) none of the Released Parties shall have any further liability or obligation relating to or arising out of this Agreement, any other
Transaction Document or the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby (including the failure to consummate the Closing), other than the liability of Purchaser and the Equity Investors under the Guarantee to pay the Reverse Termination Fee pursuant to this Agreement and the Guarantee. For the avoidance of doubt, in no event shall Purchaser or the Equity Investors be obligated to pay the Reverse Termination Fee on more than one occasion. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, if this Agreement is terminated, either Party may, without the consent of the other Party, issue or cause the publication of any press release or public announcement in respect of the termination of this Agreement or the transactions contemplated by this Agreement as may be required by Law or stock exchange rules. ARTICLE IX GENERAL PROVISIONS Section 9.1 Entire Agreement. This Agreement and the other Transaction Documents, and the Schedules and Exhibits attached hereto and thereto, and the Confidentiality Agreement, along with the Disclosure Schedules, constitute the entire agreement and understanding among the Parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and thereof and supersede all prior agreements and understandings, whether written or oral, relating to such subject matter.



 

103 Section 9.2 Survival. Other than in the case of Fraud and Section 4.13 (Acknowledgement of No Other Representations or Warranties), (a) the representations and warranties contained in this Agreement or in any Transaction Documents shall not survive the Closing and (b) no covenant that requires compliance or performance on or prior to the Closing shall survive the Closing. Any covenant contemplated to be performed hereunder or under any Transaction Documents, in whole or in part, after the Closing shall survive the Closing until performed in accordance with its terms, which includes, for the avoidance of doubt, Section 2.7 (Earnout) and Section 2.8 (Deferred Purchase Price). Nothing in this Agreement, including the foregoing, shall limit the liability of any Person in respect of Fraud or the right or ability to recover in respect thereof, it being acknowledged and agreed that the representations and warranties contained in Article III (as modified by the Disclosure Schedules) and Article IV were a material inducement to the Parties entering into this Agreement and consummating the transactions contemplated hereby. Section 9.3 Assignment. Neither this Agreement nor any of the rights and obligations hereunder may be directly or indirectly assigned by either Party (whether by operation of Law or otherwise) without the prior written consent of the other Party; provided that, without limiting Section 2.7, Purchaser may assign, without the prior written consent of Seller, any of its rights in whole or in part under this Agreement (a) collaterally to any provider of Debt Financing or to (b) any (i) purchaser of the assets or business of Purchaser or any Transferred Entity, (ii) any insurer or underwriter of any insurance policy issued to Purchaser or any of its Affiliates in connection with this Transaction, or (iii) Affiliate of Purchaser; provided, further, that no such assignment will relieve Purchaser's obligations or liabilities under this Agreement. Any
attempted assignment in violation of this Section 9.3 shall be null and void ab initio. Subject to the two preceding sentences, this Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the Parties and their respective successors and permitted assigns. Section 9.4 Amendments and Waivers. This Agreement may not be amended or otherwise modified, except by an instrument in writing signed on behalf of each of the Parties. By an instrument in writing, Purchaser, on the one hand, or Seller, on the other hand, may waive compliance by the other with any term or provision of this Agreement that the other Party was or is obligated to comply with or perform. The waiver by any Party of a breach of any term or provision of this Agreement shall not be construed as a waiver, or estoppel with respect to, any subsequent breach. No failure or delay by any Party in exercising any right, power or privilege hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof nor shall any single or partial exercise thereof preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, power or privilege. Section 9.5 No Third-Party Beneficiaries. Except for the D&O Indemnified Parties with respect to Section 5.12, the Non-Party Affiliates with respect to Section 9.7 and the applicable Persons expressly set forth in, and with respect to, Section 9.8, this Agreement is not intended to confer in or on behalf of any Person not a party to this Agreement (and their respective successors and assigns) any rights, benefits, causes of action or remedies with respect to the subject matter or any provision hereof. Section 9.6 Notices. All notices and other communications to be given to any Party pursuant to this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be sufficiently given and received for all purposes hereunder (a) on the date delivered by hand (b) or on the date sent if transmitted by



 

104 electronic mail unless the sending Party receives an automatically generated message from the recipient's email server that such email could not be delivered to such recipient, and shall be directed to the addresses set forth below (or at such other address as such Party shall designate by like notice): (i) if to Purchaser, c/o Peak Rock Capital 13413 Galleria Circle Suite Q-300 Austin, TX 78738 Attention: Spencer Moore Email: moore@peakrockcapital.com with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to: Kirkland & Ellis LLP 555 California Street, 27th Floor San Francisco, CA 94104 Attention: Benjamin P. Clinger, P.C.; Matthew Goulding, P.C.; Matthew Dunnet E-mail: bclinger@kirkland.com; matthew.goulding@kirkland.com; matthew.dunnet@kirkland.com (ii) if to Seller, STERIS Corporation 5960 Heisley Road Mentor, OH 44060 Attention: Adam Zangerle Email: Adam_zangerle@steris.com with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to: Jones Day 901 Lakeside Avenue Cleveland, OH 44114 Attention: Benjamin Stulberg Brian Grady Email: blstulberg@jonesday.com bgrady@jonesday.com Section 9.7 Non-Recourse. Except as otherwise provided in another Transaction Document, the Commitment Letters or the Guarantee, (a) all Proceedings at Law or in equity, or arbitration or administrative or other proceedings by or before any Governmental Entity (whether in contract or in tort, in Law or in equity) that may be based upon, arise out of or relate to this Agreement, or the negotiation, execution or performance of this Agreement (including any



 

105 representation and warranty made in or in connection with this Agreement or as an inducement to enter into this Agreement), may be made only against Persons that are expressly identified as Parties, and then only with respect to the specific obligations set forth herein with respect to the applicable Persons and (b) no Person who is not a Party to this Agreement, including any Affiliate or other Representative of any Party ("Non-Party Affiliate"), shall have any liability for any Liabilities arising under, in connection with or related to this Agreement or for any claim based on, in respect of, or by reason of this Agreement or its negotiation or execution, and each Party waives and releases all such Liabilities against any Non-Party Affiliate. In the event that any provision of this Agreement provides that a Party shall cause its Affiliates or Representatives to take any action (or refrain from taking any action) or otherwise purports to be binding on such party's Affiliates or Representatives, such Party shall be liable for any breach of such provision by any such Affiliate or Representative. Section 9.8 Releases. (a) Except to the extent provided to the contrary in this Section 9.8(a), effective as of the Closing, each of the Transferred Entities (each, a "Releasor"), hereby releases, and from and after the Closing, Purchaser will cause each Transferred Entity to continue to release, Seller and each of its Affiliates (other than the Transferred Entities) (in their capacities as equityholders of the Transferred Entities) and their respective officers, directors and employees, acting in their capacities as such from any Liability, obligation or responsibility to any Releasor for any and all past actions or failures to take action prior to the Closing directly or indirectly relating to or arising out of the Business, the Retained Businesses or the operations and ownership of the Transferred Entities prior to the Closing. Notwithstanding the foregoing, each Releasor and its successors and assigns
retains and does not release its rights and interests under this Agreement or the other Transaction Documents and any arrangements, understandings or Contracts set forth in Section 5.11 of the Disclosure Schedules. (b) Except to the extent provided to the contrary in this Section 9.8(b), effective as of the Closing, Seller, on behalf of itself and its Affiliates, hereby releases the Transferred Entities and their respective officers, directors and employees, acting in their capacities as such from any Liability, obligation or responsibility to any of them for any and all past actions or failures to take action prior to the Closing directly or indirectly relating to or arising out of the Business, the Retained Businesses, or the operations or ownership of the Transferred Entities prior to the Closing, except for any rights and interests under this Agreement or the other Transaction Documents and any arrangements, understandings or Contracts set forth in Section 5.11 of the Disclosure Schedules. Section 9.9 Specific Performance. (a) The Parties agree that irreparable damage, for which monetary damages (even if available) would not be an adequate remedy, would occur in the event that a Party does not perform any provision of this Agreement in accordance with its specified terms or otherwise breach such provisions. Accordingly, the Parties acknowledge and agree that the Parties shall be entitled to an injunction, specific performance and other equitable relief to prevent breaches or threatened breaches of this Agreement and to enforce specifically the terms and provisions hereof without proof of actual damages or the inadequacy of monetary relief, in addition to any other remedy to



 

106 which such Party is entitled in Law or in equity. Each Party agrees that it will not oppose the granting of an injunction, specific performance and other equitable relief on the basis that the other Party has an adequate remedy at Law or that any award of specific performance is not an appropriate remedy for any reason at Law or in equity. Any Party seeking an injunction or injunctions to prevent breaches or threatened breaches of this Agreement or to enforce specifically the terms and provisions of this Agreement shall not be required to provide any bond or other security in connection with such remedy. The foregoing is in addition to any other remedy to which any Party is entitled at Law, in equity or otherwise, including monetary damages. It is explicitly agreed that each Party shall have the right to an injunction, specific performance or other equitable remedies in connection with enforcing the other Party's obligations under this Agreement in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth herein. (b) Notwithstanding anything to contrary contained herein (including in Section 9.9(a)), Seller shall be entitled to specific performance against Purchaser of Purchaser's obligation to cause the Equity Investors to comply with their respective obligations under the Equity Commitment Letter (to the extent Seller is entitled to specific performance thereunder) and/or to cause Purchaser to consummate the Closing pursuant to Section 2.2, in each case, if and only if: (i) all of the conditions to Closing have been satisfied or waived (other than those conditions that by their nature only can be satisfied or waived at Closing, provided that each such condition would be satisfied or waived assuming a Closing would occur at such time) and remain satisfied or waived (other than those conditions that by their nature only can be satisfied or waived at Closing, provided that each such condition would be satisfied or waived assuming a Closing would occur at such time)
through the time that the Closing occurs; (ii) Purchaser fails to consummate the Closing on or before the date on which the Closing should have occurred pursuant to Section 2.2; (iii) the Debt Financing has been funded in accordance with the terms of the Debt Commitment Letter or will be funded in accordance with the terms thereof at the Closing; and (iv) Seller has delivered to Purchaser a certificate irrevocably certifying that (A) as of the date the Closing was required to occur pursuant to Section 2.2, all of the conditions set forth in Section 7.1 and Section 7.3 were satisfied or waived (other than those conditions that by their nature only can be satisfied or waived at Closing, provided that each such condition is then capable of and would be satisfied or waived assuming a Closing would occur at such time), and all such conditions remain satisfied as of the date of such certification, or that Seller is irrevocably waiving any unsatisfied conditions set forth in Section 7.1 and Section 7.3 and (B) as of the date the Closing was required to occur pursuant to Section 2.2 Seller was ready, willing and able, and continues to be ready, willing and able, to consummate the Closing, and if specific performance is granted pursuant to this Section 9.9 and the Debt Financing and the Equity Financing is funded, the Closing will occur. (c) In no event shall Seller be entitled to receive a grant of specific performance to cause the Closing to occur pursuant to this Section 9.9 and the payment of the Reverse Termination Fee. Seller's acceptance of the Reverse Termination Fee shall terminate any right of Seller to injunctive relief or specific performance hereunder to cause the Closing to occur. Section 9.10 Governing Law and Jurisdiction. This Agreement and all claims, controversies or causes of action (whether at law or in equity, in contract or tort) that may be based on, arise out of or relate to this Agreement shall be governed by, and construed and enforced in accordance with, th

laws of the State of Delaware, without regard to any choice or conflict of law provision or rule (whether of the State of Delaware or any other jurisdiction) that would cause the



 

107 application of the laws of any jurisdiction other than the State of Delaware. In addition, each Party (a) submits to the personal jurisdiction of the Chancery Courts of the State of Delaware and any appellate court hearing appeals therefrom, or in the event that such court declines jurisdiction over a particular matter or otherwise declines to adjudicate such matters, in any state or federal court sitting in Delaware, (b) agrees that it will not attempt to deny or defeat such personal jurisdiction by motion or other request for leave from any such court, and (c) agrees that it will not bring any Proceeding relating to this Agreement or the Transaction or the other transactions contemplated hereby in any court other than the Chancery Courts of the State of Delaware, or in the event that such court declines jurisdiction over a particular matter or otherwise declines to adjudicate such matters, in any state or federal court sitting in Delaware. Each Party agrees that service of process upon such Party in any such Proceeding shall be effective if notice is given in accordance with Section 9.6. Section 9.11 Waiver of Jury Trial. EACH PARTY TO THIS AGREEMENT WAIVES TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY PROCEEDING, COUNTERCLAIM OR OTHER LITIGATION PROCEDURE BROUGHT BY OR AGAINST EITHER OF THEM AGAINST OR BY THE OTHER ARISING OUT OF OR IN ANY WAY CONNECTED WITH THIS AGREEMENT, THE OTHER TRANSACTION DOCUMENTS OR ANY OTHER AGREEMENTS EXECUTED IN CONNECTION HEREWITH OR THEREWITH OR THE ADMINISTRATION THEREOF OR THE TRANSACTION OR ANY OF THE OTHER TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREIN OR THEREIN. NO PARTY TO THIS AGREEMENT SHALL SEEK A JURY TRIAL IN ANY PROCEEDING, COUNTERCLAIM OR ANY OTHER LITIGATION PROCEDURE BASED UPON, OR ARISING OUT OF,
THIS AGREEMENT, THE OTHER TRANSACTION DOCUMENTS OR ANY OTHER AGREEMENTS EXECUTED IN CONNECTION HEREWITH OR THEREWITH OR THE ADMINISTRATION THEREOF OR THE TRANSACTION OR ANY OF THE OTHER TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREIN OR THEREIN. NO PARTY HERETO WILL SEEK TO CONSOLIDATE ANY SUCH PROCEEDING IN WHICH A JURY TRIAL HAS BEEN WAIVED WITH ANY OTHER PROCEEDING IN WHICH A JURY TRIAL CANNOT BE OR HAS NOT BEEN WAIVED. EACH PARTY TO THIS AGREEMENT CERTIFIES THAT IT HAS BEEN INDUCED TO ENTER INTO THIS AGREEMENT OR INSTRUMENT BY, AMONG OTHER THINGS, THE MUTUAL WAIVERS AND CERTIFICATIONS SET FORTH ABOVE IN THIS SECTION 9.11. NO PARTY HAS IN ANY WAY AGREED WITH OR REPRESENTED TO ANY OTHER PARTY THAT THE PROVISIONS OF THIS SECTION 9.11 WILL NOT BE FULLY ENFORCED IN ALL INSTANCES. Section 9.12 Severability. If any term, provision, covenant or restriction of this Agreement is held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, void or unenforceable, the remainder of the terms, provisions, covenants and restrictions of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect and shall in no way be affected, impaired or invalidated so long as the economic or legal substance of the Transaction and the other transactions contemplated hereby is not affected in any manner materially adverse to any Party. Upon such a determination, the Parties shall negotiate in good faith to modify this Agreement so as to effect the original intent of the Parties as closely as possible in a mutually acceptable manner in order that the Transaction and the other transactions contemplated hereby are consummated as originally contemplated to the fullest extent possible.



 

108 Section 9.13 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, all of which shall be considered an original, with the same effect as if the signatures thereto and hereto were upon the same instrument, and shall become effective when one or more such counterparts have been signed by each Party and delivered (by email or otherwise) to the other Party. Signatures to this Agreement transmitted by electronic mail in "portable document format" format, or by any other electronic means intended to preserve the original graphic and pictorial appearance of a document, will have the same effect as physical delivery of the paper document bearing the original signatures. Section 9.14 Expenses. Whether or not the Closing is consummated, and except as expressly set forth otherwise in this Agreement, all costs, fees and expenses incurred in connection with this Agreement, the Transaction and the other transactions contemplated hereby shall be paid by the Party incurring such expense; provided, however, that Purchaser shall pay all filing fees of the Parties payable to any Governmental Entity in connection with any filings required under the HSR Act. Section 9.15 Interpretation; Absence of Presumption. It is understood and agreed that the specification of any dollar amount in the representations and warranties or covenants and agreements contained in this Agreement or the inclusion of any specific item in the Disclosure Schedules is not intended to imply that such amounts or higher or lower amounts, or the items so included or other items, are or are not material, and no Party shall use the fact of the setting of such amounts or the fact of the inclusion of any such item in the Disclosure Schedules in any dispute or controversy between the Parties as to whether any obligation, item or matter not described in this Agreement or included or not included in the Disclosure Schedules is or is not material for purposes of this Agreement. Nothing
herein (for the avoidance of doubt, including the Disclosure Schedules) shall be deemed an admission by either Party or any of its Affiliates, in any Proceeding, that such Party or any such Affiliate, or any third party, is or is not in breach or violation of, or in default in, the performance or observance of any term or provisions of any Contract or any Law. For the purposes of this Agreement: (a) words in the singular shall be held to include the plural and vice versa, and words of one gender shall be held to include the other gender as the context requires; (b) references to the terms Article, Section, Exhibit and Schedule are references to the Articles, Sections, Exhibits and Schedules to this Agreement unless otherwise specified; (c) the terms "hereof," "herein," "hereby," "hereto" and derivative or similar words refer to this entire Agreement, including the Schedules and Exhibits hereto and the words "date hereof" refer to the date of this Agreement; (d) references to "$" mean U.S. dollars; (e) the word "including" and words of similar import when used in this Agreement and the Transaction Documents mean "including, without limitation," unless otherwise specified; (f) the word "or" shall not be exclusive; (g) references to "written" or "in writing" include in electronic form; (h) the headings contained in this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents are for reference purposes only and shall not affect in any way the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents; (i) Seller and Purchaser have each participated in the negotiation and drafting of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents and if an ambiguity or question of interpretation should arise, this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents shall be construed as if drafted jointly by the Parties and no presumption or burden of proof shall arise favoring or burdening any Party by virtue of the authorship of any of the provisions in this Agreement or the

other Transaction Documents; (j) a reference to any Person includes such Person's successors and permitted assigns; (k) any reference to "days" means calendar days unless Business Days are expressly specified;



 

109 (l)(x) when calculating the period of time before which, within which or following which any act is to be done or step taken pursuant to this Agreement including giving any notice, the date that is the reference date in calculating such period shall be excluded and if the last day of such period is not a Business Day, the period shall end on the next succeeding Business Day and (y) any notice given or action taken prior to 11:59 p.m. Eastern Time on any Business Day shall be deemed to have been given or taken (as applicable) on such Business Day; (m) "extent" in the phrase "to the extent" shall mean the degree to which a subject or other thing extends, and such phrase shall not mean simply "if"; (n) any reference to a Law means such Law as amended from time to time and includes any successor legislation thereto and any rules and regulations promulgated thereunder; (o) any reference to a Contract or instrument means such Contract or instrument as amended, supplemented and modified from time to time, provided, that the foregoing shall not apply to any agreement, Contract, document or instrument referenced in the Disclosure Schedules unless the applicable amendment or modification is also referenced therein or made available to Purchaser, (p) the word "less" shall be construed to have the same meaning and effect as the word "minus"; (q) the phrases "commercially reasonable efforts," "reasonable efforts", "best efforts" and "reasonable best efforts" shall be deemed to have the same meaning; (r) a document shall be deemed to have been "made available" or "provided" to Purchaser if it was made continuously available to Purchaser or its Representatives for at least 48 hours prior to the signing of this Agreement in the "Project Dayton" electronic data room established by Seller and its Representatives in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby and hosted by Intralinks; and (s) the word "breach" means (A) in the context of a breach of a
representation and warranty, that such representation and warranty is not true and correct and (B) in the context of a covenant of a Party hereto, that such Party has not complied with or performed such covenant. Section 9.16 Waiver of Conflicts Regarding Representation; Nonassertion of Attorney- Client Privilege. (a) Purchaser waives and will not assert, and agrees to cause its Affiliates, including, from and following the Closing, the Transferred Entities, to waive and not assert, any conflict of interest arising out of or relating to the representation, after the Closing (the "Post-Closing Representation"), of Seller or any of its Affiliates, or any shareholder, officer, employee or director of Seller or any of its Affiliates (any such Person, a "Designated Person"), in any matter involving this Agreement, the other Transaction Documents or any other agreements, the Transaction or any other transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, by any legal counsel currently representing any Designated Person in connection with this Agreement, the other Transaction Documents or any other agreements, the Transaction or any other transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, including Jones Day, Miller Thomson LLP, PotamitisVekris and Shipman & Goodwin LLP (any such representation, the "Current Representation"). (b) Purchaser waives and will not assert, and agrees to cause its Affiliates, including, from and following the Closing, the Transferred Entities, to waive and not assert, any attorney- client privilege with respect to any communication between Jones Day, Miller Thomson LLP, PotamitisVekris or Shipman & Goodwin LLP and any Designated Person (including with respect to any communication occurring at or prior to the Closing, the Business) occurring during the Current Representation (the "Privileged Communications") or in connection with any Post- Closing Representation, including in connection with a dispute with Purchaser or its Affiliates

(including, following the Closing, any Transferred Entity), it being the intention of the Parties that



 

110 all such rights to such attorney-client privilege and to control such attorney-client privilege shall be retained by Seller and its Affiliates and that Seller, and not Purchaser or its Affiliates or the Transferred Entities, shall have the sole right to decide whether or not to waive any attorney-client privilege. From and after Closing, none of Purchaser or its Affiliates, including the Transferred Entities, shall have any access to any such Privileged Communications in the files of Jones Day, Miller Thomson LLP, PotamitisVekris or Shipman & Goodwin LLP, all of which shall be and remain the property of Seller and not of Purchaser or their Affiliates, including the Transferred Entities, and none of Purchaser or its Affiliates, including, following the Closing, the Transferred Entities, or any Person acting or purporting to act on their behalf shall seek to obtain the same by any process on the grounds that the attorney-client privilege attaching to such Privileged Communications belongs to Purchaser or its Affiliates, including, following the Closing, the Transferred Entities, or does not belong to Seller. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event that a dispute arises between Purchaser or its Affiliates, including, following the Closing, the Transferred Entities, on the one hand, and a third party other than Seller or its Affiliates, on the other hand, Purchaser or its Affiliates, including, following the Closing, the Transferred Entities, may seek to prevent the disclosure of the Privileged Communications to such third party and request that Seller not permit such disclosure, and Seller shall consider such request in good faith. Section 9.17 Certain Financing Provisions. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, each Party on behalf of itself, and each of their respective Affiliates hereby: (a) agrees that any Proceeding, whether in law or in equity, whether in contract or in tort or otherwise, involving the Debt Financing Sources, arising out of or relating to, this
Agreement or the Debt Financing shall be subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of any federal or state court in the Borough of Manhattan, New York, New York, so long as such forum is and remains available, and any appellate court thereof and each Party irrevocably submits itself and its property with respect to any such Proceeding to the exclusive jurisdiction of such court; (b) agrees that any such Proceeding shall be governed by the laws of the State of New York (without giving effect to any conflicts of law principles that would result in the application of the laws of another state), except as otherwise provided in any agreement relating to the Debt Financing and except to the extent relating to the interpretation of any provisions in this Agreement (including any provision in the Debt Commitment Letter or in any definitive documentation related to the Debt Financing that expressly specifies that the interpretation of such provisions shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the law of the State of Delaware); (c) knowingly, intentionally and voluntarily waives to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law trial by jury in any Proceeding brought against the Debt Financing Sources in any way arising out of or relating to, this Agreement or the Debt Financing; (d) agrees that none of the Debt Financing Sources will have any liability to Seller or any of its Affiliates (for the avoidance of doubt, not including Purchaser and its Subsidiaries or their respective Affiliates) relating to or arising out of this Agreement or the Debt Financing (subject to the last sentence of this Section 9.17); and (e) agrees that, notwithstanding Section 9.5, the Debt Financing Sources are express third party beneficiaries of, and may enforce, any of the provisions of this Section 9.17, and that this Section 9.17 may not be amended in a manner materially adverse to the Debt Financing Sources without the written consent of the Debt Financing Sources (such consent not to be

unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed). Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing in this Section 9.17 shall in any way limit or modify the rights and obligations of Purchaser under this Agreement, or any of the Debt Financing Sources' obligations under the Debt Commitment Letter



 

111 or under any definitive documentation related to the Debt Financing, or the rights of Seller and its Affiliates against the Debt Financing Sources with respect to the Debt Financing or any of the transactions contemplated thereby or any services thereunder following the Closing Date. Section 9.18 Disclosure Schedules. The Disclosure Schedules, and all schedules and attachments attached thereto, and all Exhibits attached to this Agreement shall be construed with and as an integral part of this Agreement to the same extent as if the same had been set forth verbatim herein. Any capitalized terms used in any Exhibit or in the Disclosure Schedules but not otherwise defined therein shall be defined as set forth in this Agreement and Section 9.15 shall apply to the Disclosure Schedules. Any information, item or other disclosure set forth in any Section of the Disclosure Schedules shall be deemed to be disclosed with respect to the corresponding Section of this Agreement and to any other Section of this Agreement (or to have been set forth in any other Section of the Disclosure Schedules), if the relevance and applicability of such disclosure to such other Section is reasonably apparent on its face notwithstanding the omission of a reference or a cross-reference with respect thereto and notwithstanding any reference to a Section of the Disclosure Schedules in such Section of this Agreement. Disclosure of any fact or item in the Disclosure Schedules shall not necessarily mean that such fact or item is material and shall not affect the interpretation of such term for the purposes of this Agreement. It may be that certain facts and items disclosed in the Disclosure Schedules are not material and are not required to be disclosed pursuant to the terms of this Agreement. Such facts and items are being disclosed for informational purposes only. No disclosure in the Disclosure Schedules relating to a possible breach or violation of any Contract or Law shall be construed as an
admission or indication to any third party that a breach or violation exists or has actually occurred. Section 9.19 Currency Adjustments. For purposes of calculating the Closing Working Capital, the Closing Cash Amounts, the Closing Indebtedness and the Closing Transaction Expenses (and, for the avoidance of doubt, the final determination of each such calculation pursuant to the terms hereof), any amounts that are not denominated in U.S. dollars will be determined in U.S. dollars using the applicable currency exchange rate reported by Bloomberg for the close of business in the United States on the date that such calculation is made in reference to (e.g., the Closing Date in respect of the Closing Working Capital, the Closing Cash Amounts, the Closing Indebtedness and the Closing Transaction Expenses). Any other amounts required to be paid by any Party not denominated in U.S. dollars will be converted to the U.S. dollars equivalent of such non-U.S. dollars amount using the applicable currency exchange rate reported by Bloomberg for the close of business in the United States on the date that is one Business Day prior to the required payment date. Section 9.20 Specified Coverage. Seller shall indemnify Purchaser and its Affiliates (including after the Closing, the Transferred Entities) in respect of certain Losses arising out of the specific matters set forth on Section 9.20 of the Disclosure Schedules, subject to the terms and conditions set forth on Section 9.20 of the Disclosure Schedules. [Remainder of page intentionally left blank]



 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have duly executed this Agreement as of the date first written above. STERIS CORPORATION By: /s/ Michael J. Tokich Name: Michael J. Tokich Title: Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer



 

HUFRIEDY GROUP HOLDING LLC By: /s/ Spencer Moore Name: Spencer Moore Title: Authorized Signatory



 

HU-FRIEDY MFG. CO., LLC, solely for the purpose of Section 2.10 By: /s/ Michael J. Tokich Name: Michael J. Tokich Title: Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer



 

CROSSTEX INTERNATIONAL, INC., solely for the purpose of Section 2.10 By: /s/ Michael J. Tokich Name: Michael J. Tokich Title: Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer



 



                                                Exhibit 15.1



LETTER REGARDING UNAUDITED INTERIM FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Shareholders and Board of Directors
STERIS plc
 
 
We are aware of the incorporation by reference in the following STERIS plc Registration Statements of our review report dated August 8, 2024 relating to the unaudited consolidated interim financial
statements of STERIS plc and subsidiaries that are included in its Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2024:

Registration 

Number

 
Description

 

333-230557 Form S-8 Registration Statement of STERIS plc pertaining to the STERIS Corporation 401(k) Plan

333-230558 Form S-8 Registration Statement of STERIS plc pertaining to the STERIS plc 2006 Long-Term Equity Incentive Plan (As Assumed, Amended and Restated
Effective March 28, 2019)

333-254608 Form S-3 Registration Statement of STERIS plc, STERIS Corporation, STERIS Ltd, and STERIS Irish FinCo Unlimited Co pertaining to the registration of
debt securities, guarantees of debt securities, ordinary shares, preferred shares, warrants, and units

333-256700 Form S-8 Registration Statement of STERIS plc pertaining to the Cantel Medical Corp. 2020 Equity Incentive Plan (As assumed and amended effective June 2,
2021) and the Cantel Medical Corp. 2016 Equity Incentive Plan (As assumed and amended effective June 2, 2021)

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Cleveland, Ohio
August 8, 2024






Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF THE PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER

I, Daniel A. Carestio, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of STERIS plc;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the
circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations,
and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))
and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information
relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being
prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth
fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit
committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the
registrant's ability to record, process, summarize, and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.
 

Date: August 8, 2024

/s/ DANIEL A. CARESTIO
Daniel A. Carestio


President and Chief Executive Officer



 

Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF THE PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER

I, Michael J. Tokich, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of STERIS plc;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the
circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations,
and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))
and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information
relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being
prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth
fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit
committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the
registrant's ability to record, process, summarize, and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.
 

Date: August 8, 2024

/s/ MICHAEL J. TOKICH
Michael J. Tokich


Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer






 

Exhibit 32.1

Certification Pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, in connection with the filing of the Form 10-Q of STERIS plc (the “Company”) for the quarter
ended June 30, 2024, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), each of the undersigned officers of the Company certifies, that, to such officer's
knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company as of the dates and for the periods
expressed in the Report. 

    /s/ DANIEL A. CARESTIO
Name:    Daniel A. Carestio
Title:   President and Chief Executive Officer

    /s/ MICHAEL J. TOKICH
Name:    Michael J. Tokich
Title:   Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Dated: August 8, 2024





